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THIS KEY INFORMATION DOCUMENT IS PREPARED IN CONFORMITY WITH THE APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE AND LISTING 
OF NON-CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES) REGULATIONS, 2021, READ WITH THE SEBI MASTER CIRCULAR DATED 22 MAY 2024, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (LISTING 
OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS REGULATIONS), 2015 AND THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 (AS APPLICABLE), EACH AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME. THIS KEY 
INFORMATION DOCUMENT IS NEITHER A PROSPECTUS NOR A STATEMENT IN LIEU OF PROSPECTUS. 
 

 
 

KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD 
(a body corporate constituted by the Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Act, 1999 (as amended by the Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund 

(Amendment) Act, 2016) and incorporated on 11 November 1999 in Kerala) 
 

Corporate Identification Number (CIN): Not Applicable; PAN: AAAJK0192K; RBI Registration No: Not Applicable 
Date and Place of Incorporation: Incorporated on 11 November 1999 in Kerala 

Registered Office: 2nd Floor, Felicity Square, MG Road, Statue, Thiruvananthapuram – 695 001 
Corporate Office: 2nd Floor, Felicity Square, MG Road, Statue, Thiruvananthapuram – 695 001 

Tel.: 0471-2780900; Email: financeadmin@kiifb.org; Website: https://kiifb.org/ 
Company Secretary and Compliance Officer: Mr. Sabareeswar Thampan; Tel.: 9645544074; E-mail: co.fa@kiifb.org  

Promoter: State Government of Kerala 
 
PRIVATE PLACEMENT OF UNSECURED, RATED, REDEEMABLE, TAXABLE, LISTED NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 
(“DEBENTURES”) BY WAY OF ISSUANCE, COMPRISING SEVEN STRPPs 'A' THROUGH 'G' OF FACE VALUE OF INR 1,00,000 (INDIAN 
RUPEES ONE LAKH ONLY) EACH (“FACE VALUE”) WITH EACH BOND AGGREGATING TO A VALUE OF INR 7,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES 
SEVEN LAKH ONLY), FOR AMOUNTS OF UP TO INR 500,01,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES FIVE HUNDRED CRORES AND ONE LAKH ONLY), 
WITH A GREEN-SHOE OPTION TO RETAIN OVERSUBSCRIPTION OF UP TO INR 1499,96,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES ONE THOUSAND 
FOUR HUNDRED AND NINETY NINE CRORES AND NINETY SIX LAKHS ONLY), BY KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND 
BOARD (“ISSUER”) AND COUPON OF 9.42% PER ANNUM PAYABLE QUARTERLY FOR A TENOR OF APPROXIMATELY 4 - 10 YEARS, 
AT PAR AGGREGATING TO TOTAL ISSUE SIZE NOT EXCEEDING INR 1999,97,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES ONE THOUSAND NINE 
HUNDRED AND NINETY NINE CRORES AND NINETY SEVEN LAKHS ONLY) UNDER ISINs [●] (“ISSUE”).  

THIS ISSUANCE WOULD BE UNDER THE ELECTRONIC BOOK MECHANISM FOR ISSUANCE OF DEBT SECURITIES ON PRIVATE 
PLACEMENT BASIS AS PER SEBI MASTER CIRCULAR ISSUED BY SEBI UNDER THE SEBI NON-CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES LISTING 
REGULATIONS. THE ISSUER INTENDS TO USE BSE LIMITED (“BSE”) ELECTRONIC BIDDING PLATFORM (“BSE-BOND EBP”) FOR 
THIS ISSUE. THIS KEY INFORMATION DOCUMENT WILL BE UPLOADED ON THE BSE BOND-EBP TO COMPLY WITH THE SEBI 
MASTER CIRCULAR READ WITH THE OPERATIONAL GUIDELINES FOR ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES ON PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS 
THROUGH THE ELECTRONIC BOOK MECHANISM ISSUED BY BSE DATED 17 APRIL 2023 AND AN OFFER WILL BE MADE TO 
SUCCESFUL BIDDERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE LAW. NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR ANY OF ITS MEMBERS HAVE 
BEEN DECLARED AS A WILFUL DEFAULTER.  

This Key Information Document contains relevant information and disclosures required for issue of the Debentures. The issue of the Debentures comprised in 
the Issue and described under this Key Information Document has been authorised by the Issuer through the resolution passed by the board of members of the 
Issuer on 12 July 2024 and the investment management committee of the Issuer on 16 December 2024. The Issue shall be subject to the provisions of the Kerala 
Infrastructure Investment Fund Act, 1999 as amended by the Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund (Amendment) Act, 2016 (the “KIIF Act”), the Act (as 
applicable), the rules notified pursuant to the Act (as applicable), the terms and conditions of this Key Information Document and the General Information 
Document filed with the relevant Stock Exchanges, the Application Form, and other terms and conditions as may be incorporated in the Debenture Trust Deed 
and other documents in relation to each such Issue. The present issue of Debentures is not underwritten.  

THESE DEBENTURES TO BE ISSUED DO NOT FORM PART OF NON-EQUITY REGULATORY CAPITAL MENTIONED UNDER CHAPTER 
V OF THE SEBI NON-CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES LISTING REGULATIONS. 

GENERAL RISK 

Investment in non-convertible securities is risky and Investors should not invest any funds in such securities unless they can afford to take the risk attached to 
such investments. Investors are advised to take an informed decision and to read the risk factors carefully before investing in this offering. For taking an 
investment decision, Investors must rely on their examination of the issue including the risks involved in it. Specific attention of Investors is invited to statement 
of risk factors contained in Section 1 (Risk Factors) of this Key Information Document. These risks are not, and are not intended to be, a complete list of all 
risks and considerations relevant to the non-convertible securities or Investor’s decision to purchase such securities. 

LISTING 

The Debentures offered through this Key Information Document are initially proposed to be listed on the Wholesale Debt Market (“WDM”) Segment of the 
Stock Exchange. The Issuer, with prior notice to the Debenture Trustee, may get the Debentures listed on other material stock exchanges as it deems fit. The 
Issuer shall comply with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
and the listing agreement (to the extent applicable) on a continuous basis. 

ELIGIBLE INVESTORS 

The Eligible Investors are: (a) resident individuals; (b) HUF; (c) trust; (d) limited liability partnerships; (e) partnership firm(s); (f) portfolio managers registered 
with SEBI; (g) association of persons; (h) companies and bodies corporate including public sector undertakings; (i) scheduled commercial banks; (j) regional 
rural banks; (k) financial institutions; (l) insurance companies; (m) mutual funds; (n) foreign portfolio investors (if permitted under Applicable Law); and (o) 
any other investor eligible to invest in these Debentures in accordance with Applicable Law. 

CREDIT RATING 

The Debentures have been rated:  
(a) “Provisional IND AA (CE)” with stable outlook by India Ratings and Research Private Limited for an amount up to INR 19,999,79,00,000 (Indian Rupees 

Nineteen Thousand Nine Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and Seventy Nine Lakhs only) vide its rating letter dated 28 November 2024.  
(b) “Provisional ACUITE AA (CE)” with stable outlook by Acuité Ratings & Research Limited for an aggregate amount up to INR 2000,06,00,000 (Indian 

Rupees Two Thousand Crores and Six Lakhs only) vide its rating letter dated 30 November 2024.  



 

The above ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and Investors should take their own decisions. The ratings may be subject to revision 
or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agencies and the ratings should be evaluated independently of any other rating. The rating agencies have the 
right to suspend, withdraw the rating at any time on the basis of new information etc. The Issuer declares that the credit ratings assigned to the Debentures are 
valid as on the date of issuance and listing. Please refer to Schedule II (Credit Rating Letter(s) and Rating Rationale from the Credit Rating Agency(ies)) of this 
Key Information Document for rationale for the above ratings. 

COMPLIANCE CLAUSE OF EBP 

The Issue shall be open for bidding in accordance with the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations, read with the circulars/guidelines/notifications 
issued by SEBI (including the SEBI Master Circular) and related operational guidelines issued by BSE as the electronic bidding platform (“EBP Platform”) 
provider from time to time including the EBP Guidelines issued by BSE.  

ISSUE PROGRAMME* 

ISSUE OPENING DATE ISSUE CLOSING DATE DATE OF EARLIEST CLOSING 

27 December 2024  27 December 2024 Not applicable 
COUPON COUPON PAYMENT 

FREQUENCY 
REDEMPTION DATE REDEMPTION AMOUNT 

9.42% per annum Quarterly  30 December 2034 At par  

ARRANGERS TO THE ISSUE  

  
TIPSONS CONSULTANCY SERVICES 
PRIVATE LIMITED 
Address: Shaeraton House, Opp Keshav Petrol 
Pump, Polytechnic Road, Ambawadi, Ahmedabad, 
380015 
Tel.: 9099933611 
Website: www.tipsons.com 
Email: sandeep.bhansali@tipsons.com 

 

  
 
AK CAPITAL SERVICES LIMITED 
Address: Unit No. 603, 6th floor, Windsor, Off 
CST Road, Kalina, Santacruz-(East), Mumbai- 400 
098 
Tel.: 022-67546500/ 66349300 
Website: www.akgroup.co.in  
Email: varun.kaushik@akgroup.co.in   
 

 
TRUST INVESTMENT ADVISORS PRIVATE 
LIMITED 
Address: 1101, Naman Centre, G Block, BKC, 
Bandra East, Mumbai, 400051 
Tel.: +91224062005 
Website: trustgroup.in/trust-investment-advisers-
private-limited.php 
Email: dushyant.lalwani@trustgroup.in  
 

DEBENTURE TRUSTEE REGISTRAR TO THE ISSUE 

 
CATALYST TRUSTEESHIP LIMITED 
Address: GDA House, Plot No. 85, Bhusari Colony (Right), Paud Road, 
Kothrud, Pune – 411 038.  
Contact Person: Mr. Umesh Salvi, Managing Director  
Tel: +91 20 66807200  
Website: www.catalysttrustee.com 
Email: mailto:dt@ctltrustee.com; ComplianceCTL– Mumbai@ctltrustee.com  

  
CAMEO CORPORATE SERVICES LIMITED 
Address: Subramanian Building, #1, Club House Road, Chennai 600 002 - 
India.  
Contact Person: Mr. RD Ramaswamy  
Tel: 044 – 40020710/044 - 2846 0390  
Website: https://cameoindia.com  
Email: cameo@cameoindia.com  

CREDIT RATING AGENCIES STATUTORY AUDITOR 

 
ACUITE RATINGS & RESEARCH LIMITED 
Address: 708, Lodha Supremus Lodha iThink 
Techno Campus, Kanjurmarg (East), Mumbai 400 
042.  
Contact Person: Ms. Varsha Bist  
Tel: 91 2249294000/ 022-49294011  
Website: https://www.acuite.in  
Email: info@acuite.in  

 
INDIA RATINGS AND RESEARCH 
PRIVATE LIMITED 
Address: Wockhardt Towers, 4th Floor, West 
WinG, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra East, 
Mumbai – 400051.  
Contact Person: Mr. Suyash Gangwal  
Tel: +91 22 4000 1700; +91 22 4035 6125  
Website: https://www.indiaratings.co.in/  
Email: infogrp@indiaratings.co.in  

 
M/s SURI & CO., CHARTERED 
ACCOUNTANTS 
 
Address: TC 25/434, 44 Santhi Nagar, Near Housing 
Board Junction, Thiruvananthapuram – 695 001 
Contact Person: CA Gopikrishnan S 
Tel: 0471 2333053 
Website: www.suriandco.com 
Email: surikiifb@suriandco.com 
Peer Review Certificate No: 016670 

 
* The Issuer reserves the right to change the issue schedule including the Deemed Date of Allotment at its sole and absolute discretion without giving any 
reasons or prior notice. In the event of a change in the above issue schedule, the Issuer shall communicate the revised issue schedule to the Investors. 
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ISSUER’S ABSOLUTE RESPONSIBILITY 

The Issuer, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms (i) that this Key 
Information Document contains all information with regard to the Issuer and the Issue which are material in 
the context of the Issue; (ii) that the information contained in this Key Information Document is true and correct 
in all material aspects and is not misleading; and (iii) that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are 
honestly stated and that there are no other facts, the omission of which make this document as a whole or any 
of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading.  

 
DISCLAIMERS 

DISCLAIMER OF THE ISSUER 

The distribution of this Key Information Document and the Issue, to be initially listed on the WDM segment of 
the BSE, is being made strictly on a private placement basis. This Key Information Document is not intended 
to be circulated to any person other than Eligible Investors. Multiple copies hereof or of any Key Information 
Document given to the same entity shall be deemed to be given to the same person and shall be treated as such. 
It does not constitute and shall not be deemed to constitute an offer or an invitation to subscribe to the 
Debentures to the public of India in general. This Key Information Document should not be construed to be a 
prospectus or a statement in lieu of prospectus under Applicable Law. Apart from this Key Information 
Document, no offer document or prospectus has been or will be prepared in connection with the offering of the 
Debentures or in relation to the Issuer nor is such a prospectus required to be registered under Applicable 
Laws. This Key Information Document has been prepared in conformity with the SEBI Non-Convertible 
Securities Listing Regulations and the rules thereunder.  

This Key Information Document has been prepared to provide key information about the Issuer to potential 
Investors to whom it is addressed and who are willing and eligible to subscribe to the Debentures. This Key 
Information Document does not purport to contain all the information that any potential Eligible Investor may 
require. Neither this Key Information Document nor any other information supplied in connection with the 
Debentures is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and any recipient of this Key 
Information Document should not consider such receipt a recommendation to purchase any Debentures. Each 
Eligible Investor contemplating purchasing any Debentures should make its own independent investigation of 
the financial condition and affairs of the Issuer, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of the Issuer as 
well as the structure of the Issue. Potential Investors should consult their own financial, legal, tax and other 
professional advisors as to the risks and investment considerations arising from an investment in the 
Debentures and should possess the appropriate resources to analyse such investment and the suitability of such 
investment to such Investor’s particular circumstances. It is the responsibility of the potential Investors to also 
ensure that they will sell these Debentures in strict accordance with this Key Information Document, the 
Debenture Trust Deed, and Applicable Laws, so that the sale does not constitute an offer to the public in terms 
of Applicable Law. Neither the intermediaries nor their agents nor advisors associated with the Issue undertake 
to review the financial condition nor affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by 
this Key Information Document or have any responsibility to advise any Eligible Investor or potential Eligible 
Investors on the Debentures of any information coming to the attention of any other intermediary. 

The Issuer, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for, and confirms that this Key 
Information Document contains all information with regard to the Issuer and the Issue, that the information 
contained in this Key Information Document is true and correct in all material aspects and is not misleading 
in any material respect, that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly held and that there are 
no other facts, the omission of which make this Key Information Document as a whole or any of such 
information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in any material respect. The Issuer 
has no side letter with any debt securities holder except the ones disclosed in this Key Information Document. 
Any covenants later added shall be disclosed on the stock exchange website where the Debentures are listed. 
No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained or 
incorporated by reference in this Key Information Document or in any material made available by the Issuer 
to any potential Eligible Investor pursuant hereto and, if given or made, such information or representation 
must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer. The legal advisors to the Issuer and any other 
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intermediaries and their agents or advisors associated with the Issue have not separately verified the 
information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is 
made and no responsibility is accepted by any such legal advisors or intermediary as to the accuracy or 
completeness of the information contained in this Key Information Document or any other information 
provided by the Issuer. Accordingly, the legal advisors to the Issuer and other intermediaries associated with 
the Issue shall have no liability in relation to the information contained in this Key Information Document or 
any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Issue. 

The Issuer does not undertake to update the Key Information Document to reflect subsequent events after the 
date of the Key Information Document and thus it should not be relied upon with respect to such subsequent 
events without first confirming its accuracy with the Issuer. 

Neither the delivery of this Key Information Document nor any Issue made hereunder shall, under any 
circumstances, constitute a representation or create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs 
of the Issuer since the date hereof. 

Recipients shall not be entitled to use any of the information otherwise than for the purpose of deciding whether 
or not to invest in the Debentures. 

This Key Information Document and the contents hereof and thereof are restricted only for the intended 
recipient(s) who have been addressed directly and specifically through a communication by the or on behalf 
of the Issuer and only such recipients are eligible to apply for the Debentures. All Investors are required to 
comply with the relevant regulations/guidelines applicable to them for investing in this Issue. The contents of 
this Key Information Document and any other information supplied in connection with this Key Information 
Document or the Debentures are intended to be used only by those potential Investors to whom it is distributed. 
It is not intended for distribution to any other person and should not be reproduced by them or the disseminated 
recipient. 

Invitations, offers and allotment of the Debentures shall only be made pursuant to this Key Information 
Document. You may not be and are not authorised to (1) deliver this Key Information Document or any other 
information supplied in connection with this Key Information Document or the Debentures to any other person; 
or (2) reproduce this Key Information Document or any other information supplied in connection with this Key 
Information Document or the Debentures in any manner whatsoever. Any distribution or reproduction of this 
Key Information Document in whole or in part or any public announcement or any announcement to third 
parties regarding the contents of this Key Information Document or any other information supplied in 
connection with this Key Information Document or the Debentures. Failure to comply with this instruction may 
result in a violation of the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations or other Applicable Laws of 
India and other jurisdictions. This Key Information Document has been prepared by the Issuer for providing 
information in connection with the proposed Issue described in this Key Information Document.  

Each person receiving this Key Information Document acknowledges that such person has been afforded an 
opportunity to request and to review and has received all additional information considered by it to be 
necessary to verify the accuracy of or to supplement the information herein and such person has not relied on 
any intermediary associated with the Issue in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such 
information or its investment decision. Each person in possession of this Key Information Document should 
carefully read and retain this Key Information Document. However, each such person in possession of this Key 
Information Document is not to construe the contents of this Key Information Document as investment, legal, 
accounting, regulatory or tax advice, and such persons in possession of this Key Information Document should 
consult with their own advisors as to all legal, accounting, regulatory, tax, financial and related matters 
concerning an investment in the Debentures. 

Investors are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment decision in this Issue. For 
taking an investment decision, Investors must rely on their own examination of the Issuer and the offer including 
the risks involved. The Debentures have not been recommended or approved by any regulatory authority in 
India, including the SEBI nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of this Key Information 
Document. Specific attention of Investors is invited to the statement of ‘Risk factors’ under the Section 1 (Risk 
Factors) of the General Information Document.  
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The Issue will be a domestic issue restricted to India and no steps have been taken or will be taken to facilitate 

the Issue in any jurisdictions other than India. This Key Information Document is not intended for distribution 

to, or use by, any person or entity in any jurisdiction or country where distribution or use of such information 

would be contrary to law or regulation. This Key Information Document does not constitute, nor may it be used 

for or in connection with, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation 

is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation. Persons into 

whose possession this Key Information Document comes are required to inform themselves about and to 

observe any such restrictions. This Key Information Document is made available to Investors in the Issue on 

the strict understanding that it is confidential and may not be transmitted to others, whether in electronic form 

or otherwise. 

DISCLAIMER OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA 

IT IS TO BE DISTINCTLY UNDERSTOOD THAT FILING OF THIS KEY INFORMATION 

DOCUMENT WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (“SEBI”) SHOULD 

NOT IN ANY WAY BE DEEMED OR CONSTRUED TO MEAN THAT THE SAME HAS BEEN 

CLEARED OR APPROVED BY SEBI. SEBI DOES NOT TAKE ANY RESPONSIBILITY EITHER 

FOR THE FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS OF ANY SCHEME OR THE PROJECT FOR WHICH THE 

ISSUE IS PROPOSED TO BE MADE OR FOR THE CORRECTNESS OF THE STATEMENTS 

MADE OR OPINIONS EXPRESSED IN THIS KEY INFORMATION DOCUMENT. THE 

ARRANGER HAS CERTIFIED THAT THE DISCLOSURES MADE IN THIS KEY INFORMATION 

DOCUMENT ARE GENERALLY ADEQUATE AND ARE IN CONFORMITY WITH THE 

REGULATIONS. THIS REQUIREMENT IS TO FACILITATE INVESTORS TO TAKE AN 

INFORMED DECISION FOR MAKING INVESTMENT IN THE PROPOSED ISSUE. 

As per the provisions of the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations, it is not stipulated that a 

copy of this Key Information Document has to be filed with or submitted to SEBI for its review/approval. It is 

to be distinctly understood that this Key Information Document should not in any way be deemed or construed 

to have been approved or vetted by SEBI and that this Issue is not recommended or approved by SEBI. SEBI 

does not take any responsibility either for the financial soundness of any proposal for which the Debentures 

are issued/ proposed to be issued, or for the correctness of the statements made or opinions expressed in this 

Key Information Document. 

DISCLAIMER OF THE ARRANGER 

Mechanism adopted in compliance with Regulation 13 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India 

(Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992:  

It is disclosed to all the stakeholders including but not limited to potential investors that, the Issuer has 

appointed A. K. Capital Services Limited, Trust Investment Advisors Private Limited and Tipsons Consultancy 

Services Private Limited as Arrangers to the Issue. We further would like to disclose that lead managers/ 

merchant bankers/ arrangers either directly or through its affiliates or it associates or its subsidiaries may 

invest in the proposed issue through EBP mechanism in transparent manner. EBP mechanism is adopted to 

ensure fair, objective, and unbiased opportunity to all investors. 

Nothing in this Key Information Document constitutes an offer of securities for sale in any other jurisdiction 

where such offer or placement would be in violation of any law, rule or regulation. 

The Issuer has prepared this Key Information Document and the Issuer is solely responsible for its contents. 

The Issuer will comply with all laws, rules and regulations and has obtained all regulatory, governmental and 

corporate approvals for the issuance of the Debentures. All the information contained in this Key Information 

Document has been provided by the Issuer or is publicly available information, and such information has not 

been independently verified by the Arranger(s). No representation or warranty, expressed or implied, is or will 

be made, and no responsibility or liability is or will be accepted, by the Arranger(s) or its affiliates for the 

accuracy, completeness, reliability, correctness or fairness of this Key Information Document or any of the 

information or opinions contained therein, and the Arranger(s) hereby expressly disclaims, to the fullest extent 

permitted by law, any responsibility for the contents of this Key Information Document and any liability, 

whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise, relating to or resulting from this Key Information Document 
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or any information or errors contained therein or any omissions therefrom. By accepting this Key Information 

Document, you agree that the Arranger(s) will not have any such liability. 

You should carefully read and retain this Key Information Document. However, you are not to construe the 

contents of this Key Information Document as investment, legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice, and you 

should consult with your own advisors as to all legal, accounting, regulatory, tax, financial and related matters 

concerning an investment in the Debentures. 

DISCLAIMER IN RESPECT OF JURISDICTION 

The Issue will be made to the Investors as specified under “Eligible Investors” of this Key Information 

Document, who shall be specifically approached by the Issuer. This Key Information Document does not 

constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to subscribe to the Debentures offered hereby to any person to whom 

it is not specifically addressed. Any disputes arising out of this Issue will be subject to the jurisdiction of the 

courts and tribunals of Thiruvananthapuram. This Key Information Document does not constitute an offer to 

sell or an invitation to subscribe to the Debentures herein, in any jurisdiction and to any person to whom it is 

unlawful to make an offer or invitation in such jurisdiction. 

DISCLAIMER OF THE BSE 

As required, a copy of this Key Information Document has been submitted to BSE. It is to be distinctly 

understood that the aforesaid submission or hosting the same on the website of BSE in terms of the SEBI Non-

Convertible Securities Listing Regulations, should not in any way be deemed or construed to mean that this 

Key Information Document has been cleared or approved by BSE; nor does it in any manner warrant, certify 

or endorse the correctness or completeness of any of the contents of this Key Information Document; nor does 

it warrant that the Issuer’s Debentures will be listed or will continue to be listed on the BSE; nor does it take 

any responsibility for the financial or other soundness of the Issuer, its members, its management or any scheme 

or project of the Issuer.  

Every person who desires to apply for or otherwise acquire any securities of the Issuer may do so pursuant to 

independent inquiry, investigation and analysis and shall not have any claim against BSE whatsoever by reason 

of any loss which may be suffered by such person consequent to or in connection with such 

subscription/acquisition whether by reason of anything stated or omitted to be stated herein or any other reason 

whatsoever. 

DISCLAIMER OF THE CREDIT RATING AGENCIES  

All credit ratings assigned are subject to certain limitations and disclaimers. Please read these limitations and 

disclaimers on the website of the Credit Rating Agencies. In addition, rating definitions and the terms of use of 

such ratings are available on the public website of the Credit Rating Agencies. published ratings, criteria, and 

methodologies are available from this site at all times. Code of conduct, confidentiality, conflicts of interest, 

affiliate firewall, compliance, and other relevant policies and procedures may also apply. 

Ratings are opinions on credit quality and are not recommendations to sanction, renew, disburse or recall the 

concerned bank facilities or to buy, sell or hold any security. The Credit Rating Agencies has based its ratings 

on information obtained from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. The Credit Rating Agencies 

do not, however, guarantee the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any information and is not responsible 

for any errors or omissions or for the results obtained from the use of such information. Most entities whose 

bank facilities or instruments are rated by the Credit Rating Agencies have paid a credit rating fee, based on 

the amount and type of bank facilities/instruments. Further, in this connection, please also refer to the copies 

of the rating letter, press release and the rating rationale issued by the Credit Rating Agencies in respect of 

the rating for the Debentures provided in this Key Information Document.  

DISCLAIMER OF THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE 

Unless as required under Applicable Law, the Debenture Trustee does not undertake to review the financial 

condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Key Information 

Document and does not have any responsibility to advise any Investor or prospective Investor in the Debentures 

of any information available with or subsequently coming to the attention of the Debenture Trustee, its agents 

or advisors except as specifically provided for in the Debenture Trust Deed.  
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The Debenture Trustee has not separately verified the information contained in this Key Information 

Document, accordingly no representation, warranty or undertaking express or implied, is made and no 

responsibility is accepted by Debenture Trustee as to the accuracy or any other information provided by the 

Issuer. Accordingly, the Debenture Trustee associated with the Issue shall have no liability in relation to the 

information contained in this Debenture Trustee or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection 

with this Issue. 

The Debenture Trustee, “ipso facto” does not have the obligations of the Issuer or a principal debtor or a 

guarantor as to the monies paid / invested by the Investors for the Debentures. 

CONFIDENTIALITY 

The information and data contained herein is submitted to each recipient of this Key Information Document 

on a strictly private and confidential basis. By accepting a copy of this Key Information Document or any other 

information supplied in connection with this Key Information Document or the Debentures, each recipient 

agrees that neither it nor any of its employees or advisors will use the information contained herein for any 

purpose other than evaluating the specific transactions described herein or will divulge to any other party any 

such information. This Key Information Document or any other information supplied in connection with this 

Key Information Document or the Debentures must not be photocopied, reproduced, extracted or distributed 

in full or in part to any person other than the recipient without the prior written consent of the Issuer. 

CAUTIONARY NOTE 

The Investors have confirmed that they, (i) are knowledgeable and experienced in financial and business 

matters, have expertise in assessing credit, market and all other relevant risk and are capable of evaluating, 

and have evaluated, independently the merits, risks and suitability of purchasing the Debentures; (ii) 

understand that the Issuer has not provided, and will not provide, any material or other information regarding 

the Debentures, except as included in the General Information Document and this Key Information Document, 

(iii) have not requested the Issuer to provide it with any such material or other information, (iv) have not relied 

on any investigation that any person acting on their behalf may have conducted with respect to the Debentures, 

(v) have made their own investment decision regarding the Debentures based on their own knowledge (and 

information they have or which is publicly available) with respect to the Debentures or the Issuer, (vi) have 

had access to such information as deemed necessary or appropriate in connection with purchase of the 

Debentures, (vii) are not relying upon, and have not relied upon, any statement, representation or warranty 

made by any person, including, without limitation, the Issuer, and (viii) understand that, by purchase or holding 

of the Debentures, they are assuming and are capable of bearing the risk of loss that may occur with respect 

to the Debentures, including the possibility that they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment 

in the Debentures, and they will not look to the Debenture Trustee appointed for the Debentures for all or part 

of any such loss or losses that they may suffer. 

No person, including any employee of the Issuer, has been authorised any information or to make any 

representation not contained in this Key Information Document. Any information or representation not 

contained herein must not be relied upon as having been authorised on behalf of the Issuer. Neither the delivery 

of this Key Information Document at any time nor any statement made in connection with the offering of the 

Debentures shall under the circumstances imply that any information/ representation contained herein is 

correct at any time subsequent to the date of this Key Information Document. The distribution of this Key 

Information Document and the offer, sale, pledge or disposal of the Debentures may be restricted by law in 

certain jurisdictions. This Key Information Document does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to 

subscribe to the Debentures in any other jurisdiction and to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such 

offer or invitation in such jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this Key Information Document comes 

are required by the Issuer to inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements in this Key Information Document are not historical facts but are “forward-looking” in 

nature. Forward-looking statements appear throughout this Key Information Document, including, without 

limitation, under Section 1 (Risk Factors) of this Key Information Document. Forward-looking statements 

include statements concerning the Issuer’s plans or financial performance, capital expenditure, etc. If any, the 

Issuer’s competitive strengths and weaknesses and the trends the Issuer anticipates in the industry, along with 



 

6 

the political and legal environment, and geographical locations, in which the Issuer operates, and other 

information that is not historical information.  

Words such as “aims”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “future”, 

“goal”, “intend”, “is likely to”, “may”, “plan”, “predict”, “project”, “seek”, “should”, “targets”, “would” 

and similar expressions, or variations of such expressions, are intended to identify and may be deemed to be 

forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, 

and assumptions about the Issuer, and risks exist that the predictions, forecasts, projections and other forward-

looking statements will not be achieved. 

These risks, uncertainties and other factors include, among other things, those listed under the Section 1 (Risk 

Factors) of this Key Information Document, as well as those included elsewhere in this Key Information 

Document. Prospective Investors should be aware that a number of important factors could cause actual results 

to differ materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and intentions expressed in such forward-

looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited, to:  

• General, political, economic, social and business conditions in Indian and other global markets; 

• The Issuer’s ability to successfully implement its strategy, growth and expansion plans; 

• Competition in the Indian markets; 

• Adverse rulings against the Issuer by courts or tribunals in the legal proceedings; 

• Inability of the Issuer to employ substantial number of qualified personnel for operating its business 

and project operations; 

• Occurrence of strikes, work stoppages and/or increased wage demands by the employees/labour 

employed for the Issuer’s business operations, resulting in a material adverse effect on the business 

of the Issuer, results of operations and cash flows; 

• Availability of adequate debt financing at reasonable terms; 

• Inability of the Issuer to obtain or maintain adequate insurance cover for its projects; 

• Performance of the Indian debt and equity markets; and 

• Changes in laws and regulations applicable to body corporates in India, including foreign exchange 

control regulations in India. 

For a further discussion of factors that could cause the Issuer’s actual results to differ, please refer to the 

Section 1 (Risk Factors) of this Key Information Document. By their nature, certain market risk disclosures 

are only estimates and could be materially different from what actually occurs in the future. Although the Issuer 

believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable at this time, the 

Issuer cannot assure Investors that such expectations will prove to be correct. Given these uncertainties, the 

Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. If any of these risks 

and uncertainties materialise, or if any of the Issuer’s underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, the 

Issuer’s actual results of operations or financial condition could differ materially from that described herein 

as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to the 

Issuer are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference to these cautionary statements. As a result, actual 

future gains or losses could materially differ from those that have been estimated. The Issuer undertakes no 

obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof. 

Forward looking statements speak only as of the date of this Key Information Document. None of the Issuer, 

its members, its officers or any of their respective affiliates or associates has any obligation to update or 

otherwise revise any statement reflecting circumstances arising after the date hereof or to reflect the 

occurrence of underlying events, even if the underlying assumptions do not come to fruition. 

 

  



 

DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

References to any legislation, act, regulations, rules, guidelines or policies shall be to such legislation, act, 
regulations, rules, guidelines or policies as amended, supplemented, or re-enacted from time to time and any 
reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation made under that provision. 

Capitalised terms used, but not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to it under the General Information 
Document. Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, the following terms used in this Key Information 
Document shall have the meanings given below.  

TERM DESCRIPTION 

“Accounts Agreement”  Means the accounts agreement entered into by the Issuer, the Account Bank and 
the Debenture Trustee (as amended from time to time). 

“Account Bank” Means State Bank of India, Trivandrum City Branch or any other replacement, 
branch, or scheduled commercial bank, acceptable to the Debenture Trustee. 

“Applicants” Means and refer to the Persons, who have made an application for subscription to 
the Debentures pursuant to this Key Information Document. 

“Application Form” Means an application form to be filled by the Eligible Investors for the subscription 
of the Debentures. 

“Critical Rating 
Downgrade Event” 

Means the downgrade of the credit rating of the Debentures by any Credit Rating 
Agency, to below A+ (A or below) (i.e., a three-notch credit downgrade (or any 
subsequent credit downgrade therefrom) from the credit rating allotted at the time 
of issuance of the Debentures by a Credit Rating Agency)  

“Credit Rating 
Agencies” 

Means: 

(a) India Ratings and Research Private Limited; and 

(b) Acuité Ratings & Research Limited  

“Debenture Trust 
Deed” 

Means the debenture trust deed entered into by and between the Issuer and the 
Debenture Trustee (as amended from time to time). 

“Debenture Trustee” Means the trustee for the Debenture Holders, in this case being Catalyst 
Trusteeship Limited, a company incorporated under the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1956 and existing under the Act, with corporate identification 
number U74999PN1997PLC110262 and having its registered office at GDA 
House, First Floor, Plot No. 85, Bhusari Colony (Right), Kothrud, Pune, 
Maharashtra, India, 411038. 

“Debenture Trustee 
Agreement” 

Means the debenture trustee agreement dated 23 December 2024 entered into by 
and between the Issuer and the Debenture Trustee (as amended from time to time).  

“Debentures” Unsecured, rated, redeemable, taxable, listed non-convertible debentures 
comprising seven STRPPs 'A' through 'G' of a face value of INR 1,00,000 (Indian 
Rupees One Lakh only) each (with each bond aggregating to a value of INR 
7,00,000 (Indian Rupees Seven Lakh only)), for amounts of up to INR 
500,01,00,000 (Indian Rupees Five Hundred Crores and One Lakh only), with a 
green-shoe option to retain over-subscription of up to INR 1499,96,00,000 (Indian 
Rupees One Thousand Four Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Six 
Lakhs only), such that the aggregate issue size of the Debentures does not exceed 
an amount of up to INR 1999,97,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Thousand Nine 
Hundred Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Seven Lakhs only) through private 
placement route under the terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, General Information 
Document and this Key information Document as issuance of Debentures under 
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TERM DESCRIPTION 

ISIN [●]. This issuance of Debentures under ISIN [●] is made pursuant to the SEBI 
Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations and the SEBI DT Master Circular.  

“Debt Service Reserve 
Account” 

Means the no lien, no set-off bank account of the Issuer, titled “Kerala 
Infrastructure Investment Fund Board” bearing account number 43634842494, 
opened and maintained by the Issuer with the Account Bank and IFSC Code 
SBIN0008635. 

“Deed of Guarantee” Means the deed of guarantee executed by GoK in favour of the Debenture Trustee 
(as amended from time to time). 

“Deed of 
Hypothecation” 

Means the deed of hypothecation entered into by and between the Issuer and 
Debenture Trustee (as amended from time to time). 

“Deemed Date of 
Allotment” 

The day on which the Issuer receives the Subscription Amount (which, for 
avoidance of doubt, shall mean the day on which the Subscription Amount is paid 
into the Issue Proceeds Account), and such date shall be no later than 2 (two) 
Working Days from the Issue Closing Date.  

“Default” Means an Event of Default, or any event or circumstance specified in Clause 2.1 
of Article XXVI (Remedies and Events of Default) of the Debenture Trust Deed, 
which would (pursuant the expiry of a grace period (if any) and/or the giving of 
notice) be or become an Event of Default. 

“Default Interest” Has the meaning as provided in Row 31 (Default Interest Rate) of the Section 6 
(Summary of Terms) under this Key Information Document. 

“EBP Guidelines” Means the SEBI Master Circular read with the “Operational Guidelines for 
participation on BSE-BOND (EBP platform of BSE)” issued by BSE dated 17 
April 2023 in relation to EBP, as amended, modified and supplemented, from time 
to time. 

“Eligible Investors” Shall have the meaning as provided on the first page of this Key Information 
Document. 

“Events of Default” Means any event or circumstances as specified in Row 64 (Event of Default) of the 
Section 6 (Summary of Terms) of this Key Information Document. 

“General Information 
Document” 

Means the general information document dated 18 April 2024  
issued by the Issuer in respect of the issue of the Debentures.  

“Interest” / “Coupon” Means in respect of a Debenture, the accrued interest on each Debenture calculated 
at the Interest Rate (as provided in this Key Information Document) on each 
applicable Interest Payment Date (as provided in the Row 18 (Coupon/Dividend 
Rate) of the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) under this Key Information Document). 

“Interest Payment 
Date” / “Coupon 
Payment Date” 

Has the meaning ascribed to such term in Row 21 (Coupon/Dividend Payment 
Date(s) of the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) under this Key Information 
Document. 

“Interest Rate/Coupon 
Rate”  

Means the rate of interest on the face value of the Debentures which is as provided 
in Row 18 (Coupon/Dividend Rate) of Section 6 (Summary of Terms) under this 
Key Information Document. 

“Issue Closing Date” Means 27 December 2024 

“Issue Opening Date” Means 27 December 2024 

“Issue Proceeds 
Account” 

Means the no lien account opened by the Issuer with State Bank of India, in their 
branch office at Trivandrum city bearing account number 43634842711 and IFSC 
SBIN0070028, wherein the Subscription Amount shall be deposited by the Indian 
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TERM DESCRIPTION 

Clearing Corporation Limited as per the end use in terms of the Debenture Trust 
Deed, the General Information Document and this Key Information Document. 

“KIIFB Bond Servicing 
Account” 

Means the no lien, no set-off bank account of the Issuer, titled “KIIFB Bond 
Servicing Account” bearing account number 43634731339 opened and maintained 
by the Issuer with State Bank of India having its branch at Trivandrum city and 
IFSC Code SBIN0070028. 

“Listing Agreement” Means the agreement to be entered into between the Issuer and the Stock Exchange 
for the purpose of listing the Debentures on the Stock Exchange. 

“Nominal Value” or 
“Face Value” 

Means INR 1,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Lakh only) being the nominal face value 
of each Debenture under each STRPPs/Sub-Series. 

“Pay In Date” Means 30 December 2024 

“Permitted 
Investments” 

Has the meaning set out in Row 81 (Permitted Investments) in the Section 6 
(Summary of Terms) under this Key Information Document.  

“Purpose” Has the meaning set out in Row 16 (Objects of the Issue / Purpose for which there 
is requirement of funds) in the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) under this Key 
Information Document. 

“Put Option Event”  Means the occurrence of: (a) a Cross Default; and/or (b) a Critical Rating 
Downgrade Event. 

“Put Option Debenture 
Holders” 

Mean the Debenture Holders who shall direct the Debenture Trustee to exercise 
the Put Option in respect of the Debentures held by them as per the terms of the 
Transaction Documents. 

“Record Date” Means the date falling 15 (fifteen) days prior to any due date. In the event the 
Record Date falls on a day which is not a Business Day, the immediately 
succeeding Business Day shall be the Record Date. 

“Redemption Date” Means 30 December 2034 

“Registrar and 
Transfer Agent” 

Means Cameo Corporate Services Limited and unless repugnant to or inconsistent 
with the context or meaning thereof, the term shall be deemed to mean and include 
its successors and permitted assigns.  

“SEBI DT Master 
Circular” 

Means the Master Circular for debenture trustees dated 16 May 2024 bearing 
reference number SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD3/P/CIR/2024/46, as amended.  

“SEBI Master 
Circular” 

Means the Master Circular for issue and listing of Non-Convertible Securities, 
Securities Debt Instruments, Security Receipts, Municipal Debt Securities and 
Commercial Paper dated 22 May 2024 issued by SEBI, as amended from time to 
time. 

“Subscription Amount” Means amount equivalent to the amount of the principal in respect of the 
Debentures which are allotted in terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, the General 
Information Document and Key Information Document.  

“Tenor” Means approximately 4 – 10 years under 7 different STRPPs/sub-series. 

“Transaction 
Documents”  

Means: 

(a) this Key Information Document; 

(b) the General Information Document; 

(c) the Debenture Trust Deed;  
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TERM DESCRIPTION 

(d) the Debenture Trustee Agreement; 

(e) the Deed of Guarantee; 

(f) the Accounts Agreement; 

(g) the Deed of Hypothecation; and 

(h) any other document designated as a “Transaction Document” in writing by 
the Debenture Trustee and the Issuer jointly. 
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SECTION 1 
 

RISK FACTORS 

General Risk 

Investment in non-convertible securities is risky, and Investors should not invest any funds in such securities 
unless they can afford to take the risk attached to such investments. Investors are advised to take an informed 
decision and to read the risk factors carefully before investing in this offering. For taking an investment 
decision, Investors must rely on their examination of the issue including the risks involved in it. Specific 
attention of Investors is invited to statement of risk factors contained in the section on ‘Risk Factors’ of the 
General Information Document. These risks are not, and are not intended to be, a complete list of all risks and 
considerations relevant to the non-convertible securities or Investor’s decision to purchase such securities. 

 
The risk factors set out in Section 1 (Risk Factors) of the General Information Document shall be deemed to be 
incorporated in this Key Information Document and shall apply mutatis mutandis as if it were set out in full herein.  
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SECTION 2 
 

DISCLOSURES (IN ACCORDANCE WITH SEBI NON-CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES LISTING 
REGULATIONS) 

1. Details of credit rating along with the latest press release of the Credit Rating Agency in relation 
to the issue, and a declaration that the rating is valid as on the date of the issuance and listing. Such 
press release shall not be older than one year from the date of opening of the issue. 

India Ratings and Research Private Limited has assigned a rating of Provisional IND AA (CE) with 
stable outlook to the Debentures. The rating letter from India Ratings and Research Private Limited is 
provided in Schedule II (Credit Rating Letter(s) and Rating Rationale from the Credit Rating 
Agency(ies)) of this Key Information Document. India Ratings and Research Private Limited has issued 
a press release of the credit rating in respect of the Debentures on 28 November 2024.  

Acuité Ratings & Research Limited has assigned a rating of Provisional ACUITE AA (CE) with stable 
outlook to the Debentures. The rating letter from Acuité Ratings & Research Limited is provided in 
Schedule II (Credit Rating Letter(s) and Rating Rationale from the Credit Rating Agency(ies)) of this 
Key Information Document. Acuité Ratings & Research Limited has issued a press release of the credit 
rating in respect of the Debentures on 30 November 2024.  

These ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and Investors should take their 
own decisions. The ratings may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating 
agencies and the ratings should be evaluated independently of any other rating. The rating agencies have 
the right to suspend, withdraw the rating at any time on the basis of new information etc. The Issuer 
declares that the credit ratings assigned to the Debentures are valid as on the date of issuance and listing. 
Please refer to Schedule II (Credit Rating Letter(s) and Rating Rationale from the Credit Rating 
Agency(ies)) of this Key Information Document for rationale for the above ratings. 

2. Name(s) of the stock exchange(s) where the non-convertible securities are proposed to be listed and 
the details of their in-principle approval for listing obtained from these stock exchange(s). If non-
convertible securities are proposed to be listed on more than one stock exchange(s) then the issuer 
shall specify the designated stock exchange for the issue. The Issuer shall specify the stock exchange 
where the recovery expense fund is being or has been created, as specified by the Board. 

Name of the Stock Exchange BSE 

Details of in-principle 
approval obtained from the 
Stock Exchange 

The Issuer has obtained an ‘in-principle’ approval from the Stock 
Exchange for listing of the Debentures vide letter / e-mail 
communication dated 16 April 2024.  

In-principle approval from the Stock Exchange has been appended 
as Schedule V (In-principle Approval from the Stock Exchange) to 
this Key Information Document. 

If non-convertible securities 
are proposed to be listed on 
more than one stock 
exchange(s) then the issuer 
shall specify the designated 
stock exchange for the issue. 

The Debentures are not proposed to be listed on more than one stock 
exchange. 

Details of recovery expense 
fund 

The Issuer has created/shall create a Recovery Expense Fund for an 
amount equal to 0.01% of the Issue subject to maximum of INR 
25,00,000 with the Stock Exchange, in accordance with the 
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provisions of the Applicable Law, including but not limited to the 
SEBI DT Master Circular, as amended from time to time. 

The Recovery Expense Fund shall be utilised for meeting the 
expenses incurred by the Debenture Trustee with respect to 
enforcement of security and recovery of all outstanding amounts 
with respect to the Debentures.  

 
3. Issue Schedule* 

Particulars Date 

Issue Opening Date 27 December 2024 

Issue Closing Date 27 December 2024 

Pay In date 30 December 2024 

Deemed Date of Allotment 30 December 2024 

 
* The Issuer reserves the right to change the issue schedule including the Deemed Date of Allotment at 
its sole and absolute discretion without giving any reasons or prior notice. In the event of a change in 
the above issue schedule, the Issuer shall communicate the revised issue schedule to the Investors. 

4. Details of the following parties pertaining to the Issue: 

Legal counsel TRILEGAL  

Address: One World Centre, 10th Floor, Tower 2A & 2B, Senapati 
Bapat Marg, Lower Parel (West), Mumbai - 400 013 

Tel: +912240791000 

E-mail: joseph.jimmy@trilegal.com 

Website: https:/trilegal.com 

Contact Person: Joseph Jimmy  

Guarantor 

 

Government of Kerala  

Address: Finance Department, Government Secretariat, Statue, 
Thiruvananthpuram, Kerala - 695001 

Tel: 04712336576 

E-mail: Osgadibmc@gmail.com 

Website: https://kerala.gov.in/ 

Contact Person: Additional Chief Secretary to Government of 
Kerala, Finance Department 

Arrangers Specified on the front page of this Key Information Document. 

 
5. Expenses of the Issue*  

Particulars Amount 
(INR in lakhs) 

% of the total issue 
expense 

% of total issue size 

Lead manager(s) fees     

13 

1032.52 99.19 2.07

mailto:Osgadibmc@gmail.com


 

Particulars Amount 
(INR in lakhs) 

% of the total issue 
expense 

% of total issue size 

Fees payable to the legal 
advisors 

7  0.67 0.014 

Underwriting commission NIL NIL NIL 

Brokerage, selling 
commission and upload fees 

NIL NIL NIL 

Fees payable to the 
registrars to the issue 

0.94 0.09 0.00188 

Advertising and marketing 
expenses 

NIL NIL NIL 

Fees payable to the 
regulators including stock 
exchanges 

.41 0.039  0.000826 

Expenses incurred on 
printing and distribution of 
issue stationary 

NIL NIL NIL 

Any other fees, commission 
or payments under 
whatever nomenclature 

NIL NIL NIL 

*Assuming the base issue is fully subscribed. The expenses are indicative and are subject to change 
depending on the actual level of subscription to the Issue and the number of allottees, market conditions 
and other relevant factors. 

6. Financial Information of the Issuer  

(a) The audited financial statements of the Issuer (i.e. profit and loss statement, balance sheet 
and cash flow statement) on a standalone basis for a period of three completed years which 
shall not be more than six months old from the date of the issue document or issue opening 
date, as applicable. Such financial statements should be audited and certified by the 
statutory auditor(s) who holds a valid certificate issued by the Peer Review Board of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). The financial statements shall be 
accompanied with auditor’s report along with requisite schedules, footnotes, summary, 
etc.  

Audited financial statements on a standalone basis: The audited financial statements of the 
Issuer along with Auditor’s Report for the financial years 2020-2021, 2021-2022, 2022-2023 
and the unaudited financial statements along with the limited review report for the period ending 
31 December 2023 is provided in Annexure A (Audited Financial Statements for the Issuer 
along with Auditor’s Report) of the General Information Document read along with the audited 
financial statements of the Issuer along with Auditor’s Report for the complete financial year 
ending 31 March 2024 and the unaudited financial statements along with the limited review 
report for the period ending 30 September 2024 is provided in Annexure B (Updated Financial 
Statements) of this Key Information Document.  

The certificates issued by the Peer Review Board of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India of the Statutory Auditor to – (i) M/s Varma and Varma Chartered Accountants (certificate 
dated 18 May 2022 and bearing number: 014223); and (ii) M/s  Suri and Co LLP (certificate 
dated 1 May 2024 and bearing number: 016670); as provided in Schedule VIII (Peer Reviewed 
Certificates of the Statutory Auditor) to this Key Information Document. 
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Audited financial statements on a consolidated basis: Not Applicable. 

(b) Key operational and financial parameters on consolidated and standalone basis in respect 
of the financial information provided under paragraph 6 (a) above.  

Key operational and financial parameters on a standalone basis: The key operational and 
financial parameters for the financial years 2020-2021, 2021-2022, 2022-2023 and the 
unaudited financial statements along with the limited review report for the period ending 31 
December 2023 of the Issuer are provided in Schedule I (Key Operational and Financial 
Parameters of the Issuer) of the General Information Document read along with the key 
operational and financial parameters of the Issuer for complete financial year ending 31 March 
2024 and the unaudited financial statements along with the limited review report for the period 
ending 30 September 2024 are  provided in Annexure C (Key Operational and Financial 
Parameters of the Issuer) of this Key Information Document. 

Key operational and financial parameters on a consolidated basis: Not applicable. 

(c) Details of any other contingent liabilities (including debt service reserve account, 
guarantees, any put options, etc.) of the Issuer based on the last audited Financial 
Statements including amount and nature of liability  

For details of the contingent liabilities and commitments, please refer to Paragraph 9(c) of 
Section 2 of the General Information Document. 

(d) The amount of corporate guarantee issued by the Issuer along with details of the 
counterparty (like name and nature of the counterparty i.e. subsidiary, joint venture 
entity, group company etc.) on behalf of whom it has been issued. 

Nil 

(e) Material changes, if any, in the information provided in the General Information 
Document  

Material changes in the information are provided in Annexure A (Material changes to 
information provided in the General Information Document) of this Key information Document.  

(f) Any material developments not disclosed in the General Information Document, since the 
issue of the General Information Document relevant to the offer of non-convertible 
securities in respect of which this Key Information Document is being issued 

Not applicable. 

7. Details regarding the auditors of the Issuer: 

(a) Details of the auditors of the Issuer  

Name of the Auditors Address Date of appointment 

M/s Suri & Co., Chartered 
Accountants 

Address: TC 25/434, 44 
Santha Nagar, Near 
Housing Board Junction, 
Thiruvananthapuram - 
695001 

6 May 2024 
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(b) Details of change in the auditor since last 3 (three) financial years and the current financial 
year 

Please refer to Annexure A of this Key Information Document. 

8. Contribution being made by the members as part of the offer or separately in 
furtherance of such objects. 

Not applicable. 

9. Consent of directors, auditors, bankers to issue, solicitors or advocates to the issue, legal advisors 
to the issue, lead managers to the issue, Registrar to the Issue, and lenders (if required, as per the 
terms of the agreement) and experts.  

Please refer to Schedule III (Resolutions) in respect to the resolutions passed at the meeting of the board 
of members of the Issuer and the investment management committee of the Issuer, Schedule I (Consent 
Letter of the Debenture Trustee) for consent letter of Debenture Trustee and Schedule VI (Consent Letter 
of Registrar and Transfer Agent) for consent letter of Registrar to the Issue. 

10. Details of the Debenture Trustee. 

(A) In accordance with Regulation 8 of the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations, 
Section 71 of the Act read with (Share Capital and Debenture) Rules, 2014 and SEBI Debenture 
Trustees Regulations, the Issuer has appointed Catalyst Trusteeship Limited to act as debenture 
trustee for the Debenture Holders and Catalyst Trusteeship Limited has given its consent to the 
Issuer for its appointment as Debenture Trustee vide its letter dated 16 December 2024 for the 
Issue and for inclusion of its name in the form and context in which it appears in this Key 
Information Document. Copy of the consent letter dated 16 December 2024 enclosed in this Key 
Information Document as Schedule I (Consent Letter of the Debenture Trustee).  

(B) The Issuer and the Debenture Trustee have entered into a Debenture Trustee Agreement inter 
alia, specifying the powers, authorities and obligations of the Debenture Trustee and the Issuer, 
and specifying the terms and conditions of the appointment of the Debenture Trustee (including 
fees and remuneration) and the due diligence to be carried out by the Debenture Trustee. The 
Debenture Trustee Agreement has been executed as per required regulations before opening of 
Issue, a copy of which is available at https://kiifb-
my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/ast6_fa_kiifb_org/EbnjSc8z4qxLjECx0IWDdgwByQ_L6x
QO9vPTuqGIflOIwQ?e=HItgD1  

(C) The Debenture Trustee shall adhere to the requirements of the SEBI DT Master Circular.  

(D) The Debenture Trustee will protect the interest of the Debenture Holders in the event of default 
by the Issuer in regard to timely payment of interest and repayment of principal and they will 
take necessary action at the cost of the Issuer. 

(E) Any payment made by the Issuer to the Debenture Trustee on behalf of the Debenture Holder(s) 
shall discharge the Issuer pro-tanto to the Debenture Holder(s). The Issuer and the Debenture 
Trustee shall execute the debenture trust deed, within such timelines as may be specified by 
SEBI. In case the Issuer fails to execute the debenture trust deed, within specified timelines, 
without prejudice to any liability arising on account of violation of the provisions of the Act (as 
applicable) and the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations, the Issuer shall also 
pay interest of at least 2% (two percent) per annum or such other rate, as specified by SEBI to 
the Debenture Holders, over and above the agreed coupon/interest rate, till the execution of the 
debenture trust deed. In this regard, it is clarified that the debenture trust deed which shall be 
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executed (as amended from time to time) by the Issuer and Debenture Trustee shall apply to the 
terms and provisions of the Debentures. 

11. If the security is backed by a guarantee or letter of comfort or any other document / letter with 
similar intent, a copy of the same shall be disclosed. In case such document does not contain 
detailed payment structure (procedure of invocation of guarantee and receipt of payment by the 
investor along with timelines), the same shall be disclosed in the issue document. 

The Debentures are guaranteed by an irrevocable and unconditional guarantee issued by GoK. Copies of 
the government orders dated 8 August 2024 and 11 August 2024, issued by GoK approving the extension 
of such unconditional and irrevocable guarantee is annexed as Schedule VII (Guarantee Orders) to this 
Key Information Document. 

12. Disclosure of cash flow with date of interest/dividend/ redemption payment as per day count 
convention 

Illustration of Debenture Cash Flows to be shown in Key Information Document 

Issuer Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board 

Nominal Value (per security) INR 1,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Lakh only) 

Date of Allotment 30 December 2024 

Redemption Date 30 December 2034 

Interest Rate 9.42% p.a. payable quarterly 

Frequency of the Interest Payment with 
specified dates 

 

Quarterly. Payable at the last date falling at the 
expiry of each calendar quarter after the Deemed 
Date of Allotment, provided that the last Coupon 
Payment Date shall fall on the final Redemption 
Date.  

Sl no. Coupon Payment Date  

1.  Interest Payment Dates 
31-03-2025 
30-06-2025 
30-09-2025 
30-12-2025 
30-03-2026 
30-06-2026 
30-09-2026 
30-12-2026 
30-03-2027 
30-06-2027 
30-09-2027 
30-12-2027 
30-03-2028 
30-06-2028 
29-09-2028 
29-12-2028 
30-03-2029 
29-06-2029 
28-09-2029 
28-12-2029 
29-03-2030 

17 
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Illustration of Debenture Cash Flows to be shown in Key Information Document 

28-06-2030 

30-09-2030 

30-12-2030 

28-03-2031 

30-06-2031 

30-09-2031 

30-12-2031 

30-03-2032 

30-06-2032 

30-09-2032 

30-12-2032 

30-03-2033 

30-06-2033 

30-09-2033 

30-12-2033 

30-03-2034 

30-06-2034 

29-09-2034 

29-12-2034 
 

 

Day Count Convention Actual/actual 

Procedure and time schedule for allotment 

and issue of securities 

As detailed in the section titled “Application 

Process” (in accordance with SEBI Non-Convertible 

Securities Listing Regulations). 

 

Illustrative Cash flow:  

The following cash flow figures are basis the below assumptions:  

Date considered for computing redemption 

dates (Deemed Date of Allotment)  

30 December 2024 

Face Value INR 1,00,000 under each STRPPs/Sub-Series 

Coupon/ Interest Rate 9.42 % p.a., payable quarterly 

 

Days Due Dates Interest Payment 

Dates 

STRP

P A 

STRP

P B 

STRP

P C 

STRP

P D 

STRP

P E 

STRP

P F 

STRP

P G 

90 Sunday, March 

30, 2025 

Monday, March 

31, 2025 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

92 Monday, June 

30, 2025 

Monday, June 30, 

2025 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

92 Tuesday, 

September 30, 

2025 

Tuesday, 

September 30, 

2025 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

91 Tuesday, 

December 30, 

2025 

Tuesday, 

December 30, 

2025 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

90 Monday, March 

30, 2026 

Monday, March 

30, 2026 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 
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Days Due Dates Interest Payment 

Dates 

STRP

P A 

STRP

P B 

STRP

P C 

STRP

P D 

STRP

P E 

STRP

P F 

STRP

P G 

92 Tuesday, June 

30, 2026 

Tuesday, June 30, 

2026 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

92 Wednesday, 

September 30, 

2026 

Wednesday, 

September 30, 

2026 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

91 Wednesday, 

December 30, 

2026 

Wednesday, 

December 30, 

2026 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

90 Tuesday, March 

30, 2027 

Tuesday, March 

30, 2027 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

92 Wednesday, 

June 30, 2027 

Wednesday, June 

30, 2027 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

92 Thursday, 

September 30, 

2027 

Thursday, 

September 30, 

2027 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

91 Thursday, 

December 30, 

2027 

Thursday, 

December 30, 

2027 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

91 Thursday, March 

30, 2028 

Thursday, March 

30, 2028 

27,342.

13 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

92 Friday, June 30, 

2028 

Friday, June 30, 

2028 

26,775.

90 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

92 Saturday, 

September 30, 

2028 

Friday, September 

29, 2028 

26,183.

93 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

91 Saturday, 

December 30, 

2028 

Friday, December 

29, 2028 

25,585.

53 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

90 Friday, March 

30, 2029 

Friday, March 30, 

2029 

 
27,322.

74 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

92 Saturday, June 

30, 2029 

Friday, June 29, 

2029 

 
26,780.

77 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

92 Sunday, 

September 30, 

2029 

Friday, September 

28, 2029 

 
26,187.

18 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

91 Sunday, 

December 30, 

2029 

Friday, December 

28, 2029 

 
25,587.

14 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

90 Saturday, March 

30, 2030 

Friday, March 29, 

2030 

  
27,322.

74 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

92 Sunday, June 30, 

2030 

Friday, June 28, 

2030 

  
26,780.

77 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

92 Monday, 

September 30, 

2030 

Monday, 

September 30, 

2030 

  
26,187.

18 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

91 Monday, 

December 30, 

2030 

Monday, 

December 30, 

2030 

  
25,587.

14 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

90 Sunday, March 

30, 2031 

Friday, March 28, 

2031 

   
27,322.

74 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 

2,322.7

4 
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Days Due Dates Interest Payment 

Dates 

STRP

P A 

STRP

P B 

STRP

P C 

STRP

P D 

STRP

P E 

STRP

P F 

STRP

P G 

92 Monday, June 

30, 2031 

Monday, June 30, 

2031 

   
26,780.

77 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

92 Tuesday, 

September 30, 

2031 

Tuesday, 

September 30, 

2031 

   
26,187.

18 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

2,374.3

6 

91 Tuesday, 

December 30, 

2031 

Tuesday, 

December 30, 

2031 

   
25,587.

14 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

2,348.5

5 

91 Tuesday, March 

30, 2032 

Tuesday, March 

30, 2032 

    
27,342.

13 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

92 Wednesday, 

June 30, 2032 

Wednesday, June 

30, 2032 

    
26,775.

90 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

92 Thursday, 

September 30, 

2032 

Thursday, 

September 30, 

2032 

    
26,183.

93 

2,367.8

7 

2,367.8

7 

91 Thursday, 

December 30, 

2032 

Thursday, 

December 30, 

2032 

    
25,585.

53 

2,342.1

3 

2,342.1

3 

90 Wednesday, 

March 30, 2033 

Wednesday, March 

30, 2033 

     
27,322.

74 

2,322.7

4 

92 Thursday, June 

30, 2033 

Thursday, June 30, 

2033 

     
26,780.

77 

2,374.3

6 

92 Friday, 

September 30, 

2033 

Friday, September 

30, 2033 

     
26,187.

18 

2,374.3

6 

91 Friday, 

December 30, 

2033 

Friday, December 

30, 2033 

     
25,587.

14 

2,348.5

5 

90 Thursday, March 

30, 2034 

Thursday, March 

30, 2034 

      
27,322.

74 

92 Friday, June 30, 

2034 

Friday, June 30, 

2034 

      
26,780.

77 

92 Saturday, 

September 30, 

2034 

Friday, September 

29, 2034 

      
26,187.

18 

91 Saturday, 

December 30, 

2034 

Friday, December 

29, 2034 

      
25,587.

14 

3652 TOTAL 
 

134,14

7.50 

143,55

7.82 

152,97

7.82 

162,39

7.82 

171,82

7.50 

181,23

7.82 

190,65

7.82 

 

13. Undertakings by the Issuer  

(a) Investors are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment decision in 

this Issue. For taking an investment decision, Investors must rely on their own examination of 

the Issuer and the offer including the risks involved. The securities have not been recommended 

or approved by the any regulatory authority in India, including the SEBI nor does SEBI 

guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of this document. Specific attention of Investors is invited 

to the statement of ‘Risk Factors’ provided under Section 1 (Risk Factors) of the General 

Information Document and this Key Information Document. 



 

(b) The Issuer, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for, and confirms that 
the General Information Document and this Key Information Document contain all information 
with regard to the Issuer and the Issue, that the information contained in the General Information 
Document and this Key Information Document is true and correct in all material aspects and is 
not misleading in any material respect, that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are 
honestly held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which make this document as a 
whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading 
in any material respect. 

(c) The Issuer has no side letter with any debt securities holder except the one(s) disclosed in the 
General Information Document and/or this Key Information Document. Any covenants later 
added shall be disclosed on the Stock Exchange website where the debt is listed.  

14. Other details pertaining to the Issue 

A. Creation of Debenture Redemption Reserve – relevant legislations and applicability 

Not applicable as the Issuer is not a company incorporated under the Act. 

B. Recovery Expense Fund 

The Issuer has created/shall create and maintain a Recovery Expense Fund, in accordance with 
the regulations, guidelines and circulars issued by SEBI, and if during the currency of these 
presents any guidelines are formulated (or modified or revised) by any authority having 
authority under Applicable Law in respect of creation of the Recovery Expense Fund within the 
timelines prescribed under Applicable Law. The Issuer shall abide by such guidelines and issue 
supplemental letters, agreements and deeds of modification, as may be required, by the 
Debenture Holders or the Debenture Trustee and shall also cause the same to be registered, 
where necessary subject to the same being applicable. If a Recovery Expense Fund is created, 
the Issuer shall submit to the Debenture Trustee evidence in form of a certificate duly certified 
by the statutory auditor of the Issuer.  

C. Issue/instrument specific regulations – relevant details 

(a) Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956; 

(b) Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992; 

(c) The Depositories Act, 1996; 

(d) SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations; 

(e) SEBI LODR Regulations, 2015; 

(f) SEBI Debenture Trustees Regulations;  

(g) the KIIF Act; and 

(h) all other relevant laws (including rules, regulations, clarifications, notifications, 
directives, circulars as may be issued by the Securities Exchange Board of India, and 
any statutory, regulatory, judicial, quasi-judicial authority). 

D. Default in Payment 

In case of default in payment of the Interest and/or redemption on the due dates of the 
Debentures, additional interest shall be payable in accordance with the provisions in the Row 
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31 (Default Interest Rate) in the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) of this Key Information 
Document. 

E. Delay in Listing 

In case of delay in listing of the Debentures beyond 3 (three) Working Days from the date of 
closure of the Issue or such other timelines as prescribed under the Applicable Laws, whichever 
is earlier. The Issuer shall pay penal interest of 1% p.a. over the interest/ Coupon Rate for the 
period of delay to the Investor (i.e. from the date of allotment to the date of listing), until the 
Debentures are listed on the Stock Exchange. Further, the Issuer shall be permitted to utilize the 
issue proceeds of its subsequent two privately placed issuances of securities only after receiving 
final listing approval from Stock Exchange. 

F. Delay in allotment of Debentures  

The allotment shall happen in accordance with Applicable Laws within 1 (one) business day 
from the Issue Closing Date (as per the settlement cycle chosen by the Issuer). In the event of 
failure to do so, the Issuer shall pay interest for the delayed period as per the provision specified 
by regulatory authority from time to time.  

G. Delay in execution of Debenture Trust Deed 

Where the Issuer fails to execute the debenture trust deed within the period specified in the sub-
regulation (1) of Regulation 18 of SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations as 
amended from time to time, without prejudice to any liability arising on account of violation of 
the provisions of the Act (as applicable) and the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing 
Regulations, the Issuer shall also pay interest of at least 2% (two percent) per annum to the 
Debenture Holder, over and above the agreed Coupon Rate, till the execution of the debenture 
trust deed. In this regard, it is clarified that the debenture trust deed that shall be executed (as 
amended from time to time) by the Issuer and Debenture Trustee, shall apply to the terms and 
provisions of the Debentures. 

H. Issue Details 

Terms of the offer are set out in the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) of this Key Information 
Document.  

I. Disclosure prescribed under PAS-4 of Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of 
Securities), Rules, 2014 but not contained in this schedule, if any: 

Not applicable, as the Issuer is not a company incorporated under the Act. 

J. Project details: gestation period of the project; extent of progress made in the project; 
deadlines for completion of the project; the summary of the project appraisal report (if 
any), schedule of implementation of the project: 

The Issue proceeds shall be used for providing financing to various infrastructure projects in the 
State of Kerala and to repay any financial indebtedness availed by the Issuer, as approved by 
the board members of the Issuer from time to time.  

K. Disclosure regarding Security 

The Debentures are not “secured debt securities” for the purposes of the SEBI Non-Convertible 
Securities Listing Regulations. The Debentures are not secured by creation of a charge on the 
properties or assets of the Issuer or its subsidiaries or its holding companies or its associate 
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companies having a value which is sufficient for the due repayment of principal and payment 
of interest thereon.  
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SECTION 3 
 

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES  

1. General Information 

A. Name, address, website and other contact details of the Issuer indicating both registered 
office and corporate office:  

Name of the Issuer Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board 

Registered Office 2nd Floor, Felicity Square, MG Road, Statue, Thiruvananthapuram – 
695 001 

Corporate Office 2nd Floor, Felicity Square, MG Road, Statue, Thiruvananthapuram – 
695 001 

Website https://kiifb.org/ 

Contact details Tel.: 0471-2780900 

Email: financeadmin@kiifb.org 

 
B. Date of incorporation of the Issuer: 

11 November 1999 

C. Business carried on by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries with the details of branches or units, if 
any:  

Please refer to Section 3 of the General Information Document. 

D. Use of proceeds (in the order of priority for which the said proceeds will be utilized):  

(i) purpose of the placement;  

Please refer to Row 17 (Details of the utilisation of the Proceeds) of Section 6 
(Summary of Terms) of this Key Information Document. 

(ii) break-up of the cost of the project for which the money is being raised;  

Please refer to Paragraph 7(e) of Section 2 of the General Information Document.  

(iii) means of financing for the project;  

Please refer to Paragraph 7(e) of Section 2 of the General Information Document.  

(iv) proposed deployment status of the proceeds at each stage of the project. 

Not applicable 

Brief particulars of the management of the Issuer: Please refer to Section 2 of the General Information 
Document.  
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2. Names, addresses, director identification number and occupations of the directors: Please refer to 
Section 2 of the General Information Document and Annexure A of this Key Information Document.  

Management’s perception of risk factors: Please refer to Section 1 of the General Information 
Document. 

Details of default, if any, including therein the amount involved, duration of default and present 
status, in repayment of: Nil 

3. Names, designation, address and phone number, email ID of the nodal/ compliance officer of the 
Issuer, if any, for the private placement offer process: Please refer to Section 3 of the General 
Information Document.  

4. Any default in Annual filing the Issuer under the Act or the rules made thereunder: Not applicable 

Particulars of the Offer 

Financial position of the Issuer 
for the last 3 (three) Financial 
Year 

Please refer to Annexure A (Audited Financial Statements for 
the Issuer along with Auditor’s Report) of the General 
Information Document read along with Annexure B (Updated 
Financial Statements) of this Key Information Document read 
along with the key operational and financial parameters of the 
Issuer for the complete financial year ending 31 March 2024 
and for the period ending 30 September 2024 is provided in 
Annexure C (Key Operational and Financial Parameters of the 
Issuer) of this Key Information Document. 

Date of passing of resolution by 
the board of the Issuer and the 
shareholders of the Issuer 

Resolutions of the board of members of the Issuer passed on 12 
July 2024 and the investment management committee of the 
Issuer on 16 December 2024.  

Copy of the said resolutions are annexed herewith and marked 
as Schedule III (Resolutions).  

Date of passing of resolution in 
general meeting of the 
shareholders of the Issuer, 
authorizing the offer of securities 

Not applicable  

Kinds of securities offered (i.e. 
whether shares or debenture) 
and class of security; the total 
number of shares or debentures 
or other securities to be issued 

Issue of unsecured, rated, listed, redeemable, taxable and non-
convertible bonds, in the nature of debentures, comprising 
seven STRPPs/sub-series 'A' through 'G’ of a face value of INR 
1,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Lakh only) each (with each bond 
aggregating to a value of INR 7,00,000 (Indian Rupees Seven 
Lakh only)), for amounts of up to INR 500,01,00,000 (Indian 
Rupees Five Hundred Crores and One Lakh only), with a green-
shoe option to retain oversubscription of up to INR 
1499,96,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Thousand Four Hundred 
and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Six Lakhs only), such that 
the aggregate issue size of the Debentures does not exceed an 
amount of up to INR 1999,97,00,000 (Indian Rupees  One 
Thousand Nine Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety 
Seven Lakhs only) to be issued under ISIN [●]. 

Price at which the security is 
being offered, including 

Through BSE EBP. 
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premium if any, along with 
justification of the price 

Name and address of the valuer 
who performed valuation of the 
security offered and basis on 
which the price has been arrived 
at along with report of the 
registered valuer 

Not applicable  

Relevant date with reference to 
which the price has been arrived 
at 

Not applicable 

The class or classes of persons to 
whom the allotment is proposed 
to be made 

Please refer Row 8 (Eligible Investors) of the Section 6 
(Summary of Terms) under this Key Information Document. 

Intention of promoters, directors 
or key managerial personnel to 
subscribe to the offer (applicable 
in case they intend to subscribe to 
the offer) 

Not applicable  

The proposed time within which 
the allotment shall be completed 

Issue Opening Date: 27 December 2024 

Issue Closing Date: 27 December 2024 

Pay In Date: 30 December 2024 

Deemed Date of Allotment: 30 December 2024 

The change in control, if any, in 
the Issuer that would occur 
consequent to the private 
placement 

Not applicable  

The number of persons to whom 
allotment on preferential basis/ 
private placement/ rights issue 
has already been made during 
the year, in terms of number of 
securities as well as price. 

Please refer to Paragraph 13(d) of Section 2 (Disclosures (In 
Accordance with the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing 
Regulations)) of the General Information Document read along 
with the details as provided in Annexure A (Material changes 
to information provided in the General Information Document) 
of this Key Information Document.  

The justification for the 
allotment proposed to be made 
for consideration other than cash 
together with valuation report of 
the registered valuer. 

Not applicable  

Amount which the Issuer intends 
to raise by way of proposed offer 
of securities 

Up to INR 500,01,00,000 (Indian Rupees Five Hundred Crores 
and One Lakh only), with a green-shoe option to retain 
oversubscription of up to INR 1499,96,00,000 (Indian Rupees 
One Thousand Four Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and 
Ninety Six Lakhs only), such that the aggregate issue size of the 
Debentures does not exceed an amount of up to INR 
1999,97,00,000 (Indian Rupees  One Thousand Nine Hundred 
and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Seven Lakhs only)  
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Debenture Trust Deed In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the 
Debenture Trust Deed and this Key Information Document, the 
provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed shall prevail. 

Terms of raising of securities:  Duration, if 
applicable 

Approximately 4 – 10 years 

Rate of 
Interest 

9.42%, payable quarterly  

Mode of 
Payment 

RTGS / NEFT 

Mode of 
Repayment 

RTGS / NEFT 

 

Proposed time schedule for 
which this Key Information 
Document is valid 

Issue Opening Date: 27 December 2024 

Issue Closing Date: 27 December 2024 

Pay In Date: 30 December 2024 

Deemed Date of Allotment: 30 December 2024 

Purpose and objects of the Issue The funds raised by the Issue shall be utilised by the Issuer in 
compliance with the Applicable Law and in accordance with 
the Debenture Trust Deed, for the purpose of: 

(a) Providing financing to infrastructure projects in the State 
of Kerala as approved by the Issuer’s board of members 
including but not limited to for acquisition of immoveable 
assets for setting up such infrastructure projects; 

(b) Repayment of any financial indebtedness availed by 
Issuer; and 

(c) Any other objectives of the Issuer pursuant to the KIIF 
Act. 

Contribution being made by the 
promoter or directors of either as 
part of the offer or separately in 
furtherance of the object 

Nil 

Principal terms of assets charged 
as security, if applicable 

Please refer to Section 6 (Summary of Terms) of this Key 
Information Document.  

The details of significant and 
material orders passed by the 
regulators, courts and tribunals 
impacting the going concern 
status of the Issuer and its future 
operations 

Nil 

If the proceeds, or any part of the 
proceeds, of the issue of the 
Debentures are or is to be applied 
directly or indirectly in the 
purchase of any business; or in 
the purchase of an interest in any 
business and by reason of that 
purchase, or anything to be done 
in consequence thereof, or in 

Nil 
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connection therewith, the Issuer 
shall become entitled to an 
interest in either the capital or 
profits and losses or both, in such 
business exceeding 50% (fifty per 
cent).  

Whether the proceeds, or any 
part of the proceeds, of the issue 
of the Debentures are or are to be 
applied directly or indirectly, and 
in any manner resulting in the 
acquisition by the Issuer of the 
shares in any other body 
corporate. 

Nil 

 
Pre-issue and Post-issue shareholding pattern of the Issuer as on 30 September 2024 

Not applicable  

Note: The Issuer is a body corporate viz., a board constituted under KIIF Act and has not issued any 
equity shares. 

Disclosure with regard to interest of the directors of the Issuer, litigation, etc.: 

Please refer to Section 3 of the General Information Document.  

5. Financial position of the Issuer:  

Please refer to Annexure A (Audited Financial Statements for the Issuer along with Auditor’s Report) of 
the General Information Document read along with Annexure B (Updated Financial Statements) of this 
Key Information Document read along with the key operational and financial parameters of the Issuer 
for the complete financial year ending 31 March 2024 and for the period ending 30 September 2024 is 
provided in Annexure C (Key Operational and Financial Parameters of the Issuer) of this Key 
Information Document. 
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SECTION 4 
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE DEBENTURES 

1. Issue 

Issue of unsecured, rated, listed, redeemable, taxable and non-convertible bonds, in the nature of 
debentures, comprising seven STRPPs 'A' through 'G' of a face value of INR 1,00,000 (Indian Rupees 
One Lakh only) each (with each bond aggregating to a value of INR 7,00,000 (Indian Rupees Seven 
Lakh only)), for amounts of up to INR 500,01,00,000 (Indian Rupees Five Hundred Crores and One Lakh 
only), with a green-shoe option to retain oversubscription of up to INR 1499,96,00,000 (Indian Rupees 
One Thousand Four Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Six Lakhs only), such that the aggregate 
issue size of the Debentures does not exceed an amount of up to INR 1999,97,00,000 (Indian Rupees 
One Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Seven Lakhs only), through private 
placement route under the terms of this Key Information Document as issuance of Debentures.  

2. Mode of bidding 

The Debentures are proposed to be issued in the closed bidding mode in accordance with the EBP 
Guidelines. There are two modes of bidding prescribed by the EBP Guidelines, namely: (a) open bidding; 
and (b) closed bidding.  

3. Minimum Subscription 

As the current issue of Debentures is being made on a private placement basis, the requirement of 
minimum subscription shall not be applicable and therefore the Issuer shall not be liable to refund the 
Issue subscription(s)/ proceed(s) in the event of the total issue collection falling short of issue size or 
certain percentage of issue size. 

4. Force Majeure 

The Issuer reserves the right to withdraw the Issue prior to the Issue Closing Date in the event of any 
unforeseen development adversely affecting the economic and regulatory environment. 

5. Post-allocation disclosures 

In line with the EBP Guidelines and as per provisions under the SEBI NCS Regulations and the SEBI 
Master Circular. 

6. Procedure for applying for the demat facility 

(a) Applicant(s) must have a beneficiary account with any Depository Participant of NSDL/CDSL 
prior to making the application. 

(b) For subscribing to the Debentures, names should be identical to those appearing in the account 
details of the Depository. In case of joint holders, the names should necessarily be in the same 
sequence as they appear in the account details in the Depository. 

(c) If incomplete/ incorrect beneficiary account details are given which does not match with the 
details in the depository system, it will be deemed to be an incomplete application and the same 
be held liable for rejection at the sole discretion of the Issuer. 

(d) The Debentures shall be directly credited to the beneficiary account and after due verification, 
allotment advice, would be sent directly to the Applicant by the Registrar and Transfer Agent 
but the confirmation of the credit of the Debentures to the Applicant’s depository account will 
be provided to the Applicant by the Depository Participant of the Applicant. 
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(e) Interest or other benefits with respect to the Debentures would be paid to those holders whose 
names appear on the list of beneficial owners given by the depository to the Issuer as on the 
Record Date. In case, the beneficial owner is not identified by the depository on the Record 
Date due to any reason whatsoever, the Issuer shall keep in abeyance the payment of Interest or 
other benefits, till such time the beneficial owner is identified by the Depository and intimated 
to the Issuer. On receiving such intimation, the Issuer shall pay the Interest or other benefits to 
the beneficiaries identified, within a period of 15 (fifteen) calendar days from the date of 
receiving such intimation.  

(f) Applicants may please note that the Debentures shall be allotted and traded on the Stock 
Exchange only in dematerialized form.  

7. Allotment resolutions and credit of Debentures  

The beneficiary account of the Investor(s) with NSDL/ CDSL/ Depository Participant will be given initial 
credit within 3 (three) Business Days from the date of closure of the Issue and confirmation of the credit 
of Debentures shall be provided by the relevant Depository within 3 (three) Business Days from the date 
of closure of the Issue.  

Subject to the completion of all statutory formalities within time frame prescribed in the Applicable 
Laws, an allotment resolution shall be passed by the board of members of the Issuer on the Pay In Date 
to record the allotment of the Debentures to the relevant Investor(s) on the said date and the beneficiary 
demat account of the Investor(s) would be credited with the number of Debentures so allotted. The 
Debentures since issued in electronic (dematerialized) form, will be governed as per the provisions of 
the Depository Act, SEBI (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 1996, rules notified by NSDL/ 
CDSL/ Depository Participant from time to time and other Applicable Laws and rules notified in respect 
thereof. The Debentures shall be allotted in dematerialized form only. 

8. Compliance with Applicable Laws  

The Issue of Debentures is being made in compliance with the Act and the rules made thereunder (as 
applicable), the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations, the SEBI LODR Regulations, the 
SEBI Debenture Trustees Regulations, the KIIF Act and amendments thereto, circulars enacted 
thereunder, and other Applicable Laws in this regard.  

9. Who Can Apply  

This Key Information Document and the contents hereof are restricted to only the intended recipient(s) 
who have been addressed directly through a communication by or on behalf of the Issuer, and only such 
recipients are eligible to apply for the Debentures. The investors, when specifically approached, who are 
eligible to apply for this private placement of Debentures are mentioned in Row 8 (Eligible Investors) of 
the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) of this Key Information Document. All investors are required to 
comply with the relevant regulations/guidelines applicable to them for investing in this Issue. 

10. Who Cannot Apply 

The entities apart from Row 8 (Eligible Investors) of the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) under this Key 
Information Document, shall not be eligible to participate in the Issue and any applications from such 
persons and entities shall be rejected. 

Prospective subscribers must make their own independent evaluation and judgment regarding their 
eligibility to invest in the Issue. Prior to making any investment in these Debentures, each Investor should 
satisfy and assure herself/ himself/ itself that it is authorized and eligible to invest in these Debentures. 
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Disclaimer: An application, even if complete in all respects, is liable to be rejected without assigning 
any reason for the same. The Issuer may but is not bound to revert to any investor for any additional 
documents/ information and can accept or reject an application as it deems fit. Investment by Investors 
falling in the categories mentioned above are merely indicative and the Issuer does not warrant that 
they are permitted to invest as per extant laws, regulations, etc. Each of the above categories of 
Investors is required to check and comply with extant rules/ regulations/ guidelines, etc. Governing 
or regulating their investments as applicable to them and the Issuer is not, in any way, directly or 
indirectly, responsible for any statutory or regulatory breaches by any Investor, neither is the issuer 
required to check or confirm the same. 

 
11. How to Apply  

All Eligible Investors will have to register themselves as a one-time exercise (if not already registered) 
with the EBP Platform for participating in electronic book building mechanism. Eligible Investors should 
refer to the EBP Guidelines for issuance of debt securities on private placement basis through an 
electronic book mechanism. Eligible Investors will also have to complete the mandatory know-your-
customer verification process. Eligible Investors should refer to the EBP Guidelines. 

 (i) The details of the Issue shall be entered on the EBP by the Issuer at least 2 (two) Business Days 
prior to the Issue Opening Date, in accordance with the EBP Guidelines. 

 (ii) The Issue will be open for bidding for the duration of the bidding window that would be 
communicated through the Issuer’s bidding announcement on the EBP, at least 1 (one) Business 
Day before the start of the Issue Opening Date. 

Some of the key guidelines in terms of the current EBP Guidelines, are as follows: 

(a) Modification of Bid 

Eligible Investors may note that modification of bid is allowed during the bidding period. 
However, in the last 10 (ten) minutes of the bidding period, revision of bid is only allowed for 
improvement of yield and upward revision of the bid size. Note that the present Issue is a 
variable coupon instrument.  

(b) Cancellation of Bid 

Eligible Investors may note that cancellation of bid is allowed during the bidding period. 
However, in the last 10 (ten) minutes of the bidding period/ window, no cancellation of bids is 
permitted. 

(c) Multiple Bids 

Eligible Investors may note that multiple bids are permitted, in line with the provisions of the 
SEBI NCS Regulations and SEBI Master Circular (as applicable). 

(d) Withdrawal of Issue 

The Issuer may, at its discretion, withdraw the issue process on the following conditions: 

 (i) Non-receipt of bids up to the issue size; 

 (ii) The bidder has defaulted on payment towards the allotment, within the stipulated time 
frame, due to which the Issuer is unable to fulfil the issue size; 
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 (iii) The cut-off yield entered by the bidder is higher than the estimated cut-off yield 
disclosed to the EBP. 

Provided that the Issuer shall accept or withdraw the Issue on the EBP within 1 (one) hour of 
the closing of the bidding window, and not later than 6 pm on the Issue Closing Date. 

However, Eligible Investors should also refer to the EBP Guidelines, as prevailing on the date 
of the bid. 

(e) Provisional/ Final allocation 

Allocation shall be made on a uniform yield basis. Post completion of bidding process, the 
Issuer will upload the provisional allocation on the EBP Platform. Once the allocation is done 
then the successful bidders can see their respective allocations on the allocation report generated 
by the EBP Platform.  

Application(s) for the Debentures must be made by submitting the Application Forms which must be 
completed in block letters in English. Application Form must be accompanied by electronic fund transfer 
instruction as per below details. 

This being a private placement offer, Applicants who have been addressed through this communication 
directly, i.e., the Applicant can alone apply. 

All Application Forms, duly completed, together with cheque/ demand draft for the amount payable 
drawn or made payable in favour of KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD 
and crossed “Account Payee only”, on application must be delivered before the closing date of the Issue 
to the Issuer. 

Applications complete in all respects (along with all necessary documents as detailed in this Key 
Information Document) must be submitted before the last date indicated in the issue time table or such 
extended time as decided by the Issuer, at the registered office of the Issuer, accompanied by the 
Subscription Amount by way of cheque(s)/ demand draft(s) drawn on any bank including a co-operative 
bank which is situated at and is a member of the bankers’ clearing house located at a place where the 
Application Form is submitted. Such Subscription Amount for subscription of the Debentures shall be 
made from the bank account of the Applicant and the Issuer shall keep the record of the bank account 
from where such payments of subscription have been received. However, where the Debenture(s) is held 
by joint holders, then Subscription Amount in respect of such Debentures shall be paid from the bank 
account of the Applicant whose name appears first in the Application Form. 

Outstation cheque(s)/ bank draft(s) drawn on bank(s) not participating in the clearing process at the 
designated clearing centres will not be accepted. Money orders/ postal orders/ cash will also not be 
accepted. The Issuer assumes no responsibility for any applications/ cheques/ demand drafts lost in mail. 

No separate receipt will be issued for the Subscription Amount. However, the Issuer receiving the duly 
completed Application Form will acknowledge receipt of the application by stamping and returning to 
the Applicant the acknowledgment slip at the bottom of each Application Form. 

As a matter of precaution against possible fraudulent encashment of interest warrants/ cheques due to 
loss/ misplacement, the Applicant should furnish the full particulars of his or her bank account (i.e. 
account number, name of the bank and branch) at the appropriate place in the Application Form.  

The payment can be made by real time gross settlement (“RTGS”)/ national electronic funds transfer 
(“NEFT”) by crediting the funds to the bank account of the Indian Clearing Corporation Limited of the 
Stock Exchange (“Designated Bank Account”) for pay in of Subscription Amount as prescribed under 
the electronic book building procedure.  
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The subscription monies transferred to Designated Bank Account, by the Applicants successful under 
the electronic book building procedure will, subsequent to the fulfilment of procedural requirements 
under the Applicable Law, be transferred to the Designated Bank Account. The details of the Designated 
Bank Account are as follows:  

Name of Bank HDFC BANK 

IFSC Code HDFC0000060 

Account number ICCLEB 

Name of beneficiary INDIAN CLEARING CORPORATION LIMITED 

 
Name of Bank ICICI Bank Ltd. 

IFSC Code ICIC0000106 

Account number ICCLEB 

Name of beneficiary INDIAN CLEARING CORPORATION LTD 

 
Name of Bank YES BANK 

IFSC Code YESB0CMSNOC 

Account number ICCLEB 

Name of beneficiary INDIAN CLEARING CORPORATION LTD 

 
The applications must be accompanied by certified true copies of (i) a letter of authorization, and (ii) 
specimen signatures of authorised signatories.  

12. Instructions for filling up the Application Form 

(a) Application must be completed in BLOCK LETTERS IN ENGLISH. A blank must be left 
between two or more parts of the name. 

(b) Signatures should be made in English.  

(c) Full amount has to be paid on application per Debenture applied for. Applications for incorrect 
amounts are liable to be rejected. Nominal Value: INR 1,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Lakh only)  
under each STRPPs/Sub-Series.  

(d) Money orders or postal orders will not be accepted. The payments can be made by NEFT/ 
RTGS, the details of which are given above. Payment shall be made from the bank account of 
the Person subscribing. In case of joint-holders, monies payable shall be paid from the bank 
account of the Person whose name appears first in the application.  

(e) No cash will be accepted. 

(f) The Applicant should mention its permanent account number or the GIR number allotted to it 
under the Income Tax Act, 1961 and also the relevant income-tax circle/ward/district. 

(g) Applications under power of attorney/relevant authority. 

(h) In case of an application made under a power of attorney or resolution or authority to make the 
application a certified true copy of such power of attorney or resolution or authority to make the 
application and the memorandum and articles of association and/or bye-laws of the Investor 
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must be attached to the Application Form at the time of making the application, failing which, 
the Issuer reserves the full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any application in 
whole or in part and in either case without assigning any reason therefore. Further any 
modifications / additions in the power of attorney or authority should be notified to the Issuer 
at its registered office. Names and specimen signatures of all the authorised signatories must 
also be lodged along with the submission of the completed application. 

(i) An application once submitted cannot be withdrawn.  

(j) The applications would be scrutinised and accepted as per the terms and conditions specified in 
this Key Information Document. 

(k) Any application, which is not complete in any respect, is liable to be rejected. 

(l) The Investor/ Applicant shall apply for the Debentures in electronic, i.e., dematerialised form 
only. Applicants should mention their Depository Participant’s name, DP-ID and beneficiary 
account number in the Application Form. In case of any discrepancy in the information of 
Depository/beneficiary account, the Issuer shall be entitled to not credit the beneficiary’s demat 
account pending resolution of the discrepancy.  

The Applicant is requested to contact the office of the Issuer as mentioned above for any clarifications. 

13. Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 2018 

The Issue is governed by the provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and 
Participants) Regulations, 2018. 

Over and above the aforesaid terms and conditions, the Debentures, if any issued under this Key 
Information Document, shall be subject to this Key Information Document, the Debenture Trust Deed 
and also be subject to the provisions of the KIIF Act.  

14. Option to Subscribe 

The Issuer has made arrangements for issue and holding of the Debentures in dematerialized form. 

15. Right to Debenture Holders: 

The Debentures shall not, confer upon the Debenture Holders thereof any rights or privileges available 
to the shareholders of the Issuer. 

16. Right to accept or reject applications 

The Issuer reserves its full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any application, in part or 
in full, without assigning any reason thereof. The rejected Applicants will be intimated along with the 
refund warrant, if applicable, to be sent. Application would be liable to be rejected on one or more 
technical grounds, including but not restricted to:  

(a) incomplete Application Form; 

(b) applications exceeding the Issue size; 

(c) bank account details have not been provided; 

(d) details for issue of Debentures in electronic / dematerialized form not given; 

(e) PAN or GIR No. and the income tax circle / ward / district is not given; and 
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(f) in case of applications made through power of attorneys, if the relevant documents are not 
submitted.  

The full amount of the Debentures has to be submitted along with the Application Form.  

The Issuer shall circulate copies of this Key Information Document along with the serially numbered 
Application Form, either in electronic or physical form, to the Applicants and the Application Form will 
be specifically addressed to such Applicants.  

17. Submission of Documents by Applicants 

The Applicants shall submit the following additional documents along with the Application Form as may 
be relevant:  

(a) KIIF Act; 

(b) Government notification/certificate of incorporation; 

(c) Specimen signatures of authorised persons; and 

(d) Copy of PAN card. 

18. Basis of Allotment 

Notwithstanding anything stated elsewhere, Issuer reserves the right to accept or reject any application, 
in part or in full, without assigning any reason. The Issuer may stop accepting subscription in consultation 
with arranger team at any time during the private placement. Banks cumulatively will not be allotted 
more than 20% of primary issue size. The Investors will be required to remit the funds as well as submit 
the duly completed Application Form along with other necessary documents to the Issuer by the Issue 
Closing Date. 

Date and Time of Receipt of Subscription Amount: 30 December 2024; Pay In Date: 30 December 2024 

The Time of Receipt of Funds shall be the time of receipt of Subscription Amount in the Designated Bank 
Account on the Pay In Date for the purpose of subscribing in the Issue.  

Notwithstanding the above, the Issuer reserves the right to determine the basis of Allotment at its sole 
discretion. For further clarity, please refer to Section 11 titled “How to Apply”. 

19. Allotment  

The Debentures allotted to Investor in dematerialized form would be directly credited to the beneficiary 
account as given in the Application Form after verification. The Debentures will be credited to the 
account of the allottee(s) as soon as practicable but in any event within 2 (two) Business Days from the 
date of closure of the Issue.  

If the Debentures are not allotted within 60 (sixty) days from the date of receipt of the payments from 
the Applicants, the Issuer shall repay such monies to the Applicants within 15 (fifteen) days from the 
date of completion of the aforesaid 60 (sixty) days. If the Issuer fails to repay the payments within the 
aforesaid period, it shall be liable to repay that money with interest at the rate of 12% (twelve per cent) 
per annum from the expiry of the 60th (sixtieth) day. 
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20. Register of Debenture Holders 

A Register of Debenture Holders containing necessary particulars of the Debenture Holders will be 
maintained with the Depository. The Issuer shall at all times duly maintain all details of Debenture 
Holders in the form and manner as required under Applicable Laws.  

21. Transfer / Transmission / Trading of Debentures  

The Debentures shall be transferable freely to all classes of Eligible Investors. It is clarified that the 
Debentures are not intended to be held by any category of persons who are not Eligible Investors. Subject 
to the foregoing, the Debentures may be transferred and/or transmitted in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of the Applicable Laws. The Debentures held in dematerialised form shall be transferred 
subject to and in accordance with the rules/procedures as prescribed by depositories and the relevant 
Depository Participants of the transferor or transferee and any other Applicable Laws and rules notified 
in respect thereof. The transferee(s) should ensure that the transfer formalities are completed prior to the 
Record Date. In the absence of the same, Interest will be paid/redemption will be made to the person, 
whose name appears in the Register of Debenture Holders maintained by the Depositories. In such cases, 
claims, if any, by the transferees would need to be settled with the transferor(s) and not with the Issuer.  

Provided further that nothing in this section shall prejudice any power of the Issuer to register as 
Debenture Holder any Person to whom the right to any Debenture of the Issuer has been transmitted by 
operation of law. 

Subject to the terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, the normal procedure followed for transfer of securities 
held in dematerialized form shall be followed for transfer of these Debentures held in electronic form. 
The seller should give delivery instructions containing details of the buyer’s Depository Participant 
account to its Depository Participant. The Issuer undertakes that there will be a common transfer form / 
procedure for transfer of Debentures. 

The Debentures shall be issued only in authorizing form in compliance with the provisions of the 
Depositories Act (as amended from time to time), any other applicable regulations (including of any 
relevant stock exchange) and these conditions. No physical certificates of the Debentures would be 
issued. 

22. Authority for the placement  

This private placement of Debentures is being made pursuant to the resolutions passed by the board of 
members on 12 July 2024 and the investment management committee of the Issuer on 16 December 2024 
authorizing the Issuer to borrow monies by way of issue of Debentures.  

The Issuer can carry on its existing activities and future activities planned by it in view of the existing 
approvals, and no further approvals from any Governmental Agency are required by the Issuer to carry 
on its said activities.  

23. Record Date 

This will be 15 (fifteen) days prior to each Coupon Payment Date and Redemption Date in accordance 
with the Transaction Documents (“Record Date”). The list of beneficial owner(s) provided by the 
Depository as at the end of day of Record Date shall be used to determine the name(s) of person(s) to 
whom the Interest and/or principal instalment is to be paid notwithstanding any subsequent transfer by 
the existing Debenture Holders after the Record Date.  
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24. Effect of Holidays  

As specified in Row 51 (Business Day Convention) in the Section 6 (Summary of Terms) of this Key 
Information Document. 

25. Redemption on Maturity of Debenture  

The Issuer shall pay, in respect of each outstanding Debenture, an amount that is equal to the outstanding 
principal amount of that Debenture as on 3 (three) years from the Deemed Date of Allotment, any accrued 
but unpaid Interest applicable to the principal amount of each Debenture is payable on relevant Interest 
Payment Date and any other amounts that are payable in accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed.  

The details of the settlement mechanism upon redemption of Debentures have been specified in Row 53 
(Settlement mode of the Instrument) of Section 6 (Summary of Terms) of this Key Information Document. 

26. Resolution for pre and post issue related difficulties  

The Investor may contact the Issuer in case of any pre-issue/ post-issue related problems such as non-
receipt of credit of Debentures / refund orders etc. 

27. Debentures to Rank Pari-Passu 

The Debentures of this Issue shall rank pari-passu inter-se without preference or priority of one other or 
others. 

28. Payments at Par  

Payment of the principal, all Interest and other monies will be made to the registered Debenture holder(s)/ 
beneficial owner(s) and in case of joint holders to the one whose name stands first in the Register of 
Debenture Holder(s) / in the list of beneficial owner(s) provided to the Issuer by the Depository. Such 
payment shall be made through electronic clearing services (ECS), real time gross settlement (RTGS), 
direct credit or national electronic fund transfer (NEFT). Upon failure of the Issuer to make the relevant 
payments through the aforesaid mode, the Issuer shall pay the redemption, Interest and all other amounts 
to the registered Debenture Holders by way of demand draft(s)/ credit in the name of the Debenture 
Holder(s) whose names appear on the list of beneficial owners given by the Depository to the Issuer as 
on the Record Date. The Debentures shall be taken as discharged on payment of the redemption amount 
by the Issuer on maturity to the registered Debenture Holder(s) whose name appears in the Register of 
Debenture Holder(s) on the Record Date. On such payment being made, the Issuer will inform NSDL/ 
CDSL and accordingly the account of the Debenture Holder(s) with NSDL/ CDSL will be adjusted. 

29. Tax Deduction at Source  

(a) Interest on the Debentures issued pursuant to this Issue is subject to deduction of income Tax 
under the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961 (“IT Act”) or any other statutory 
modification or re-enactment thereof, as applicable. The Debenture Holders desirous of 
claiming non-deduction or lower deduction of Tax at source under Applicable Laws, as the case 
may be, shall be required to submit the declaration/ certificates as per format prescribed under 
Applicable Laws with the Issuer and the Registrar to the Issue (“RTA”) at the below mentioned 
address on or prior to the relevant Record Date for payment of interest on the Debentures: 

Particulars Contact Details of the Issuer Contact Details of the RTA 

Name Kerala Infrastructure Investment 
Fund Board 

Cameo Corporate Services Limited 
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Particulars Contact Details of the Issuer Contact Details of the RTA 

Correspondence 
Address 

2nd Floor, Felicity Square, Mg 
Road, Thiruvananthapuram 
695001, Kerala (India) 

5th Floor, Subramanian Building 
No.1, Club House Road Chennai 
600002 Tamil Nadu India 

Contact Person Sabareeswar Thampan Mohanavalli E. 

Designation Compliance Officer Asst. Manager 

E-mail ID Co.Fa@Kiifb.Org Mohana@Cameoindia.Com  

Investor1@Cameoindia.Com 

Tel. No. 0471-2780900 044 – 400 20780752 

Fax No. Not Applicable Not Applicable  

Link for online 
submission 

Https://Kiifb.Org/Certupld.Jsp Https://Investors.Cameoindia.Com/ 

 
(b) In case of non-receipt of such prescribed declaration/ certificate from the Debenture Holders 

claiming non-deduction or lower deduction of Tax at source under Applicable Laws, on or prior 
to the relevant Record Date, the Issuer shall make Tax deduction at source deductions in 
accordance with the prescribed rates prior to credit of interest on Debentures. 

(c) Income Tax is deductible at source at the rate of 10% on interest on the Debentures held by 
resident Indians in accordance with Section 193 of the IT Act. In cases where interest is to be 
paid to an individual or hindu undivided family (“HUF”) (being the Debenture Holder) is less 
than INR 5,000 and interest is to be paid by way of account payee cheque then the relevant 
Debenture Holder may seek non deduction of Tax at source on the interest on Debentures by 
submitting the prescribed declaration/certificates with the Issuer and the RTA at the aforesaid 
address on or prior to the relevant Record Date.  

(d) In case of Debenture Holder who is a resident individual or resident HUF claiming non-
deduction or lower deduction of Tax at source under Section 193 of the IT Act, as the case may 
be, the Debenture Holder should furnish either (a) a declaration (in duplicate) in the prescribed 
form i.e. (i) Form 15H which can be given by individuals who are of the age of 60 years or more 
(ii) Form 15G which can be given by all Debenture Holders (other than companies and firms), 
or (b) a certificate, from the relevant assessing officer which can be obtained by all Debenture 
Holders (including companies and firms) by making an application in the prescribed form i.e. 
Form No. 13. 

(e) Debenture Holders may seek/ may be granted, as the case may be, non-deduction or lower 
deduction of Tax at source in following instances under the IT Act: 

(i) When the relevant assessing officer issues a certificate on an application by a 
Debenture Holder on satisfaction that the total income of the Debenture Holder 
justifies no/lower deduction of Tax at source as per the provisions of Section 197(1) 
of the IT Act; and that a valid certificate is filed by the Debenture Holder with the 
Issuer before the Record Date for payment of interest; 

(ii) When the resident Debenture Holder with Permanent Account Number (“PAN”) (not 
being a company or a firm) submits a declaration as per the provisions of Section 
197A(1A) of the IT Act in the prescribed Form 15G verified in the prescribed manner 
to the effect that the Tax on his estimated total income of the financial year in which 
such income is to be included in computing his total income will be NIL. However, 
under Section 197A(1B) of the IT Act, Form 15G cannot be submitted nor considered 
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for exemption from Tax deduction at source if the dividend income referred to in 
Section 194, interest on securities, interest, withdrawal from National Savings Scheme 
and income from units of mutual fund or of Unit Trust of India as the case may be or 
the aggregate of the amounts of such incomes credited or paid or likely to be credited 
or paid during the financial year in which such income is to be included exceeds the 
maximum amount which is not chargeable to income Tax; 

(iii) Senior citizens, who are 60 or more years of age at any time during the financial year, 
enjoy the special privilege to submit a self-declaration in the prescribed Form 15H for 
non-deduction of Tax at source in accordance with the provisions of Section 197A(1C) 
of the IT Act even if the aggregate income credited or paid or likely to be credited or 
paid exceeds the maximum amount not chargeable to Tax, provided that the Tax due 
on the estimated total income of the year concerned will be NIL; 

(iv) All mutual funds registered under Securities and Exchange Board of India are exempt 
from Tax on all their income, including income from investment in Debentures under 
the provisions of Section 10 (23D) of the IT Act in accordance with the provisions 
contained therein. Further, as per the provisions of Section 196 of the IT Act, no 
deduction of Tax shall be made by any person from any sums payable to mutual funds 
specified under Section 10(23D) of the IT Act, where such sum is payable to it by way 
of interest or dividend in respect of any securities or shares owned by it or in which it 
has full beneficial interest, or any other income accruing or arising to it; 

(v) For any Debentures held by foreign institutional investors/ foreign portfolio investors/ 
qualified foreign investors, interest on Debentures may be eligible for concessional 
Tax rate of 5% (plus applicable surcharge and health and education cess) for interest 
referred under Section 194LD applicable in respect of rupee denominated bonds of an 
Indian entity between 1 June 2013 and 1 July 2023 provided such rate does not exceed 
the rate as may be notified by the Governmental Agency. Further, in case where 
Section 194LD is not applicable, the interest income earned by foreign institutional 
investors/ foreign portfolio investors should be chargeable to Tax at the rate of 20% 
under Section 115AD of the IT Act. Tax shall be deducted u/s. 196D of the IT Act on 
such income at 20%. Where double taxation avoidance agreement is applicable to the 
payee, the rate of Tax deduction shall be lower of rate as per double taxation avoidance 
agreement or 20%, subject to the conditions prescribed therein;  

(vi) Interest payable to Life Insurance Corporation, General Insurance Corporation and any 
other insurers are exempted from deductions of tax at source under Section 193 of the 
IT Act;  

(vii) Interest payable to entities falling under the list of entities exempted from Tax 
deduction at source by the circular no. 18/2017 by Central Board of Direct Taxes 
(whose income is unconditionally exempt under Section 10 of the IT Act and who are 
also statutorily not required to tile return of income as per Section 139 of the IT Act); 

(viii) Any other specific exemption available to any other category of Investors under the IT 
Act. 

(f) In case(s) where the Debentures Holder(s) do not submit the declaration/ certificates as per 
format prescribed under Applicable Laws with the Issuer and the RTA at the specified address 
on or prior to the relevant Record Date for payment of interest on the Debentures, the Issuer 
shall not be liable to refund the applicable amount of Tax deducted at source and the Debenture 
Holders would be required to directly take up with the Tax authorities for refund, if any. 
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(g) Exercise of any rights, privileges and obligations as set out above in sub-paragraphs (a) to (f) 
above under this paragraph, from time to time by the Debenture Holders, Debenture Trustee 
and / or the Issuer (as may be applicable) shall at all times be subject to Applicable Law 
(including but not limited to provisions on timelines for submission of documents.  

30. Payment Instruments (if applicable) 

Loss of any payment instrument, if applicable, should be intimated to the Issuer along with the request 
for issue of a duplicate payment instrument(s), if applicable. If any payment instrument(s), if applicable, 
is lost, stolen, or destroyed, then upon production of proof thereof, to the satisfaction of the Issuer and 
upon furnishing such indemnity, as the Issuer may deem adequate and upon payment of any expenses 
incurred by the Issuer in connection thereof, new payment instrument(s), if applicable shall be issued. 
Payments shall be made through electronic mode only. Upon failure of the Issuer to make the relevant 
payments through the aforesaid mode, the Issuer shall pay the redemption, Interest and all other amounts 
to the registered Debenture Holders by way of demand draft(s)/credit in the name of the Debenture 
Holder(s) whose names appear on the list of beneficial owners given by the Depository to the Issuer as 
on the Record Date. The Debentures shall be taken as discharged on payment of the redemption amount 
by the Issuer on maturity to the registered Debenture Holder(s) whose name appears in the Register of 
Debenture Holder(s) on the Record Date. On such payment being made, the Issuer will inform NSDL/ 
CDSL and accordingly the account of the Debenture Holder(s) with NSDL/ CDSL will be adjusted. 

31. Notices 

All notices to the Debenture Holder(s) required to be given by the Issuer shall be deemed to have been 
given to the sole/ first allottee or sole/ first registered holder of the Debentures, as the case may be if sent 
by facsimile, by email or by personal delivery or by sending the same by prepaid registered mail and 
shall be effective (a) if sent by fax, when sent (on receipt of a confirmation to the correct fax number) or 
if sent by email, when sent; (b) if sent by hand delivery, when delivered; (c) if sent by courier, 3 (three) 
Business Days after deposit with a courier; and (d) if sent by a registered letter, when the registered letter 
would, in the ordinary course of post be delivered, whether actually delivered or not. 

All notices to be given by the Debenture Holder(s) shall be sent by registered post or e-mail or by hand 
delivery to the registered office of the Issuer or to such Persons at such address as may be notified to the 
Issuer from time to time. All correspondence regarding the Debentures should be marked “Private 
Placement of Debentures”. 

32. Sharing of Information 

The Issuer may, at its option, use on its own, as well as exchange, share or part with any financial or 
other information about the Debenture Holders available with the Issuer, with its subsidiaries and 
affiliates and other banks, financial institutions, credit bureaus, agencies, statutory bodies, as may be 
required under Applicable Law and neither the Issuer or its subsidiaries and affiliates nor their agents 
shall be liable for use of the aforesaid information.  

33. Debentures subject to the Debenture Trust Deed, etc.  

Over and above the aforesaid terms and conditions, the Debentures, issued under this Key Information 
Document, shall be subject to prevailing guidelines/regulations of RBI and other authorities and also be 
subject to the provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed, and all documents to be entered into by the Issuer 
in relation to the Issue, including this Key Information Document, the Debenture Trust Deed, and other 
Transaction Documents.  
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34. Governing Law 

The Debentures are governed by and will be construed in accordance with Indian law. The Issuer and 
Issuer’s obligations under the Debentures shall, at all times, be subject to the directions of RBI, SEBI 
and Stock Exchanges and other applicable regulations from time to time. The applicable jurisdiction has 
been specified in Row 70 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction) in the Section 6 (Summary of Terms). 

35. Conflict 

This Key Information Document supersedes all previous deeds, documents arrangements, agreements, 
memoranda of understanding including any term sheet that may have been entered into by the Issuer with 
the Debenture Holders and/or the Debenture Trustee in connection with the Debentures and in the event 
of any conflict or inconsistency with such previous documents, deeds and agreements the provisions of 
this Key Information Document shall prevail. However, in case of any repugnancy, inconsistency or 
where there is a conflict between the conditions as are stipulated in this Key Information Document and 
the Debenture Trust Deed, executed by the Issuer, the provisions as contained in the Debenture Trust 
Deed shall prevail and override the provisions of such Key Information Document.  

36. Investor Relation and Grievance Redressal  

Arrangements have been made to redress Investor grievances expeditiously. The Issuer endeavours to 
resolve the Investors’ grievances within promptly upon receipt. All grievances related to the Issue 
quoting the application number (including prefix), number of Debentures applied for, amount paid on 
application, may be addressed to the Registrar and Transfer Agent/ compliance officer. All Investors are 
hereby informed that the Issuer has appointed a Registrar and Transfer Agent/ compliance officer who 
may be contacted in case of any problem related to this Issue. 
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SECTION 5 
 

MATERIAL DOCUMENTS 

By very nature of its business, the Issuer is involved in a large number of transactions involving financial 
obligations and therefore it may not be possible to furnish details of all material contracts and agreements 
involving financial obligations of the Issuer. However, the contracts and documents referred to in paragraph (a) 
below (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of the business carried on by the Issuer) which are 
or may be deemed to be material that have been entered into by the Issuer and are available with the Issuer with 
respect to the issuance. 

(a) Material Contracts and Documents  

(i) General Information Document dated 18 April 2024 and this Key Information Document; 

(ii) A certified copy of KIIF Act; 

(iii) Copy of the resolutions of the board of members of the Issuer passed at their meeting held on 
12 July 2024 and the investment management committee of the Issuer on 16 December 2024 
authorizing the borrowing and authorizing the allotment of the Debentures; 

(iv) Annual Report along with Audited financials and Audit Reports for the last three financial years 
and unaudited financials along with the limited review report for the period ending 30 
September 2024; 

(v) Letter of consent from the Registrar and Transfer Agent to act as Registrar and Transfer Agent 
to the Issue dated 13 December 2024. 

(vi) Letter appointing the Debenture Trustee to the Issue dated 9 August 2024.  

(vii) Letter of consent from the Debenture Trustee to act as Debenture Trustee to the Issue dated 16 
December 2024.  

(viii) In-principle Approval for listing of Debenture by the relevant Stock Exchange dated 16 April 
2024. 

(ix) Letter from the Credit Rating Agency conveying the credit rating for the Debentures dated 28 
November 2024 and 30 November 2024. 

(x) Tripartite Agreement between the Issuer, the relevant Depository and Registrars for issue of 
Debentures in dematerialized form dated 19 June 2024. 

(xi) Debenture Trust Deed dated 23 December 2024 and Debenture Trustee Agreement dated 23 
December 2024. 

The Issuer shall submit all documents, and make necessary disclosures, in accordance with the SEBI 
LODR Regulations. The Issuer shall comply with the SEBI LODR Regulations and SEBI Non-
Convertible Securities Listing Regulations. 

(b) Time and place at which the contracts together with documents will be available for inspection 
from the date of issue document until the date of closing of subscription list. 

On all Business Days at the registered office of the Issuer. 

Note: The Issuer is a body corporate constituted under the KIIF Act and has not issued any shares. 
Accordingly, the disclosures in respect of the share capital of the Issuer in General Information 
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Document. Further the Issuer does not have directors, and is being managed by a board of members, 
hence disclosures in the General Information Document are made in respect of such members. 
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SECTION 6 
 

SUMMARY OF TERMS 

Note: the summary of terms below is only indicative in nature and each condition below shall be subject to as 
further specified, modified, substituted or replaced in the Debenture Trust Deed once entered into. All the terms 
and conditions of the Debentures are subject to changes in Applicable Law.  

Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

1.  Security Name (Name of 
the debt securities/non-
convertible redeemable 
preference shares which 
includes 
(Coupon/dividend, Issuer’s 
name and maturity year) 
e.g. [·]% XXX [·]. 

KIIFB Domestic Bonds – Series IV 9.42% KERALA 
INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD 2034 

2.  ISINs [●]  

3.  Issuer Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board, a statutory body created by 
the Government of Kerala under the KIIF Act 

4.  Type of Instrument Unsecured, rated, listed, redeemable, taxable, non-convertible bonds in the 
form of non-convertible debentures supported by unconditional and 
irrevocable guarantee by the GoK as the principal debtor and not merely as 
a surety.  

5.  Nature of Instrument 
(secured or unsecured) 

Unsecured 

6.  Seniority (Senior or 
subordinated) 

Senior 

7.  Rating Agencies India Ratings and Research Private Limited and Acuite Ratings and 
Research Limited  

8.  Eligible Investors The following categories of Investors may apply for the Debentures, 
subject to Applicable Laws and subject to fulfilling their respective 
investment norms/ rules by submitting all the relevant documents along 
with the Application Form 

(a) resident individuals;  

(b) HUF;  

(c) trust;  

(d) limited liability partnerships;  

(e) partnership firm(s);  

(f) portfolio managers registered with SEBI;  

(g) association of persons;  

(h) companies and bodies corporate including public sector undertakings;  

(i) scheduled commercial banks;  

(j) regional rural banks;  
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Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

(k) financial institutions;  

(l) insurance companies;  

(m) mutual funds;  

(n) foreign portfolio investors (if permitted under Applicable Law); and  

(o) any other Investor eligible to invest in these Debentures in accordance 
with Applicable Law. 

9.  Mode of Issue Private Placement 

10.  Listing (name of stock 
Exchange(s) where it will 
be listed and timeline for 
listing) 

BSE 

The Issuer shall ensure that the Debentures are listed on wholesale debt 
market segment of the Stock Exchange within 3 (three) Working Days 
from the Issue Closing Date.  

Issue Opening Date: 27 December 2024 (T) 

Issue Closing Date: 27 December 2024 (T) 

Pay In Date: 30 December 2024 

Deemed Date of Allotment: 30 December 2024 

Listing of the Debentures: On or before T+3 (three) Working Days 

11.  Rating of the Instrument The Debentures have been rated: (a) Provisional IND AA (CE) with stable 
outlook by India Ratings and Research Private Limited for an amount up 
to INR 19,999,79,00,000 (Indian Rupees Nineteen Thousand Nine 
Hundred Ninety Nine Crores and Seventy Nine Lakhs only) vide its rating 
letter dated 28 November 2024; and (b) Provisional ACUITE AA (CE) 
with stable outlook by Acuité Ratings & Research Limited for an amount 
up to INR 2000,06,00,000 (Indian Rupees Two Thousand Crores and Six 
Lakhs only) vide its rating letter dated 30 November 2024. 

12.  Base Issue Size Up to INR 500,01,00,000 (Indian Rupees Five Hundred Crores and One 
Lakh only) 

13.  Aggregate Issue size Up to INR 1999,97,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Thousand Nine Hundred 
Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Seven Lakhs only) 

14.  Minimum Subscription Not applicable 

15.  Option to retain 
oversubscription (Amount) 

Green shoe option to retain over-subscription up to INR 1499,96,00,000 
(Indian Rupees One Thousand Four Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and 
Ninety Six Lakhs only)  

16.  Objects of the Issue / 
Purpose for which there is 
requirement of funds 

To augment the long-term resources of the Issuer. 

17.  Details of the utilisation of 
the Proceeds 

The funds raised by the Issue shall be utilised by the Issuer in compliance 
with the Applicable Law and in accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed, 
for the purpose of: 

(a) Providing financing to infrastructure projects in the State of Kerala as 
approved by the Issuer’s board of members including but not limited 
to for acquisition of immoveable assets for setting up such 
infrastructure projects; 
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Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

(b) Repayment of any financial indebtedness availed by Issuer; and 

(c) Any other objectives of the Issuer pursuant to the KIIF Act. 

18.  Coupon/Dividend Rate 9.42% per annum, payable quarterly 

19.  Step Up / Step Down 
Coupon Rate 

In case of any rating downgrade, the Issuer shall inform the Debenture 
Trustee of the rating downgrade on the immediately next calendar day. 

25 basis points as step up coupon for rating downgrade (by any one of the 
rating agencies), from rating at the time of issuance, of every notch. For 
avoidance of doubt it is clarified that in case, credit rating available from 
each of the rating agencies are different, the lowest credit rating available 
shall be considered for the purpose of levying the step up coupon.  

Any Critical Rating Downgrade Event, will give each Investor, the right to 
either exercise additional 25 bps step up coupon rate or exercise the put 
option for premature redemption subject to Applicable Laws and 
regulations.  

In case of a Critical Rating Downgrade Event, each Investor can exercise 
the put option within 30 days from the date the Debenture Trustee informs 
the Debenture Holders of the rating downgrade in manner set out in Row 
85 below.  

Further, in respect of the Investors that do not exercise the put option as set 
out above, existing step-up coupon shall be enhanced by additional 25 basis 
points on the Debentures held by such Investors.  

It is clarified that such higher coupon rates would be effective only from 
the date of downgrade.  

In case post downgrade of rating, any upgrade in future will have rates 
reversed effective from the date of such upgrade, subject to minimum 
initial coupon rate.  

20.  Coupon/Dividend Payment 
Frequency 

Quarterly 

21.  Coupon/Dividend Payment 
Date(s) 

 

Interest Payment Dates 

31-03-2025 

30-06-2025 

30-09-2025 

30-12-2025 

30-03-2026 

30-06-2026 

30-09-2026 

30-12-2026 

30-03-2027 

30-06-2027 

30-09-2027 

46 



 

Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

30-12-2027 

30-03-2028 

30-06-2028 

29-09-2028 

29-12-2028 

30-03-2029 

29-06-2029 

28-09-2029 

28-12-2029 

29-03-2030 

28-06-2030 

30-09-2030 

30-12-2030 

28-03-2031 

30-06-2031 

30-09-2031 

30-12-2031 

30-03-2032 

30-06-2032 

30-09-2032 

30-12-2032 

30-03-2033 

30-06-2033 

30-09-2033 

30-12-2033 

30-03-2034 

30-06-2034 

29-09-2034 

29-12-2034 
 

22.  Cumulative /Non-
cumulative, in case of 
dividend 

Not applicable 

23.  Coupon Type (fixed, 
floating or other structure) 

Fixed 

24.  Coupon Reset Process 
(including rates, spread, 

Not applicable 
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Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

effective date, interest rate 
cap and floor etc). 

25.  Day Count Basis 
(Actual/Actual) 

Actual/Actual Interest shall be computed on an “actual/actual basis”, 
wherein the interest period (start date to end date) includes February 29, 
interest shall be computed on 366 days-a-year basis. 

26.  Tenure and Tenor of this 
issuance of Debentures  

Approximately 4 – 10 years under 7 different STRPPs/sub-series as below: 

On considering the issue for an amount up to INR 500,01,00,000 (Indian 
Rupees Five Hundred Crores and One Lakh only), with a green-shoe option 
to retain oversubscription of up to INR 1499,96,00,000 (Indian Rupees One 
Thousad Four Hundred Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Six Lakhs only), 
such that the aggregate issue size of the Debentures does not exceed an 
amount of up to INR 1999,97,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Thousand Nine 
Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Seven Lakhs only) 

Sub- 
Series 

As percentage 
of Issue 

Amount as per 
base issue size 

(excluding green- 
shoe option to 

retain 
oversubscription) 

(INR in crore) 

Redemption Dates 

A 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2028 

30 June 2028 

30 September 2028 

30 December 2028 
 

B 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2029 

30 June 2029 

30 September 2029 

30 December 2029 
 

C 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2030 

30 June 2030 

30 September 2030 

30 December 2030 
 

D 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2031 

30 June 2031 

30 September 2031 

30 December 2031 
 

E 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2032 

30 June 2032 

30 September 2032 
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Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

30 December 2032 
 

F 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2033 

30 June 2033 

30 September 2033 

30 December 2033 
 

G 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2034 

30 June 2034 

30 September 2034 

30 December 2034 
 

Total 100% 500.01  
 

27.  Interest on Application 
Money 

Not applicable 

28.  Debt Service Reserve 
Account 

The Issuer would be required to open a designated escrow account titled, 
“Debt Service Reserve Account” bearing account number 43634842494 
with State Bank of India – “KERALA INFRSTRUCTURE 
INVETSMENT FUND BOARD” to maintain the Required DSRA Amount 
exclusively for the benefit and charged in favour of the Debenture Trustee 
(on behalf of the bond holders) (“DSRA”).  

The DSRA would be in the form of cash or cash equivalent (investment in 
Permitted Investments).  

29.  Required DSRA Amount An amount equivalent to the interest obligation of one succeeding quarter 
and principal redemption amount of one quarter (“Required DSRA 
Amount”). The Issuer would need to maintain the Required DSRA 
Amount on rolling basis and the initial Required DSRA Amount so 
calculated would need to be deposited at least one day prior to the Pay In 
Date.  

Although redemption shall start from the 13th quarter, the DSRA of one 
quarter principal redemption amount starting from 13th Quarter along with 
the interest obligation of one succeeding quarter shall be created upfront 
only. 

30.  Re-issuance and 
consolidation 

The Issuer shall have right to reissue and/or consolidate its debt securities 
(including the Debentures) in accordance with Applicable Law from time 
to time. 

31.  Default Interest Rate In the event of delay in the payment of interest amount and/ or principal 
amount on the due date(s), the Issuer shall pay additional interest of 2.00% 
per annum in addition to the respective Coupon Rate payable on the 
Debentures, on such amounts due, for the defaulting period. 

32.  Redemption Date and 
Redemption Amount 

The issue for an amount up to INR 500,01,00,000 (Indian Rupees Five 
Hundred Crores and One Lakh only), with a green-shoe option to retain 
oversubscription of up to INR 1499,96,00,000 (Indian Rupees One 
Thousand Four Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Six Lakhs 
only), such that the aggregate issue size of the Debentures does not exceed 
an amount of up to INR 1999,97,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Thousand 
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Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

Nine Hundred and Ninety Nine Crores and Ninety Seven Lakhs only ), 
would comprise of 7 (seven) STRPPs/Sub-Series (A to G) as mentioned 
above of sequentially, redeemable bonds in equal quarterly amount. 

Each of the STRPPs/Sub-Series ‘A’ to STRPPs/Sub-Series ‘G’ would be 
redeemed in 4 (four) equal quarterly installments of 14.2857% of the 
aggregate issue size (i.e. 3.5714% of each Sub-Series ‘A’ to Sub-Series ‘G’ 
of the Debentures), with redemption of STRPPs/Sub-Series ‘A’ 
commencing from the end of 13th quarter, STRPPs/Sub-Series ‘B’ 
commencing from the end of 17th quarter and so on.  

The Tenor for the Debentures shall approximately be 4 – 10 years under 7 
different STRPPs/sub-series as below:  

STRPPs/Sub- 
Series 

As 
percentage 

of Issue 

Amount as per 
base issue size 

(excluding green- 
shoe option to 

retain 
oversubscription) 

(INR in crore) 

Redemption Dates 

A 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2028 

30 June 2028 

30 September 
2028 

30 December 2028 
 

B 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2029 

30 June 2029 

30 September 
2029 

30 December 2029 
 

C 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2030 

30 June 2030 

30 September 
2030 

30 December 2030 
 

D 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2031 

30 June 2031 

30 September 
2031 

30 December 2031 
 

E 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2032 

30 June 2032 
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30 September 
2032 

30 December 3032 
 

F 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2033 

30 June 2033 

30 September 
2033 

30 December 2033 
 

G 14.2857% 71.43 30 March 2034 

30 June 2034 

30 September 
2034 

30 December 2034 
 

Total 100% 500.01  
 

33.  Redemption Premium / 
Discount 

At par of INR 1 Lakh per Debenture under each STRPPs/Sub-Series 

34.  Issue Price Through BSE EBP 

35.  Discount at which security 
is issued and the effective 
yield as a result of such 
discount 

Not applicable 

36.  Premium/Discount at 
which security is redeemed 
and the effective yield as a 
result of such premium/ 
discount 

Not applicable 

37.  Put Date Applicable in case of a Put Option Event 

38.  Put Price Applicable in case of a Put Option Event 

39.  Call Date Not applicable 

40.  Call Price Not applicable 

41.  Put Notification Time 
(Timelines by which the 
investor need to intimate 
Issuer before exercising the 
put) 

Applicable in case of a Put Option Event 

42.  Call Notification Time 
(Timelines by which the 
Issuer need to intimate 
investor before exercising 
the call) 

Not applicable 

51 



 

Sr. 
No. 

Terms Details 

43.  Face Value 1,00,000 (Indian Rupees One Lakh only) per Debenture under each 
STRPPs/Sub-Series 

44.  Minimum Application and 
in multiples thereafter 

1 Debenture, and in multiples of 1 Debenture thereafter 

45.  Issue Timing  27 December 2024 to 30 December 2024 

46.  Issue / Bid Opening Date  27 December 2024 

47.  Issue / Bid Closing Date 27 December 2024 

48.  Date of earliest closing of 
the issue 

27 December 2024 

49.  Pay – in Date 30 December 2024 

50.  Deemed Date of Allotment 30 December 2024 

51.  Business Day Convention “Business Day”/ “Working Day” means all days on which commercial 
banks in Thiruvananthapuram and Mumbai are open for business.  

If the coupon payment date falls on a Sunday or a holiday, the coupon 
payment shall be made on the next Working Day. However, the dates of 
the future payments would continue to be as per the schedule originally 
stipulated in this Key Information Document. 

If the maturity date of the debentures, falls on a Sunday or a holiday, the 
redemption proceeds shall be paid on the previous Working Day along with 
interest accrued on the Debentures until but excluding the date of such 
payment.  

If a leap year (i.e. February 29) falls during the Tenor of the debentures, 
then the number of days shall be reckoned as 366 days (actual/ actual day 
count convention) for the entire year. 

52.  Issue Premium/ Discount Not applicable 

53.  Settlement mode of the 
Instrument  

Dematerialised only.  

54.  Trading mode of the 
Instrument  

Dematerialised only.  

55.  Depository National Securities Depository Limited and Central Depository Services 
(India) Limited 

56.  Disclosure of interest / 
Redemption Dates  

As per cash flow details provided in this Key Information Document 

57.  Record Date 15 days prior to each Coupon Payment Date and Redemption Date. 

In the event the Record Date falls on a day which is not a Business Day, 
the immediately succeeding Business Day will be considered as the Record 
Date. 

58.  All covenants of the Issue 
(including side letters, 
accelerated payment 
clause etc.) 

Please refer to Annexure D (Covenants) to this Key Information 
Document.   
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59.  Description regarding 
Security (where 
applicable) including type 
of security (movable / 
immovable / tangible etc.), 
type of charge (pledge/ 
hypothecation/ mortgage 
etc.), date of creation of 
security/ likely date of 
creation of security, 
minimum security cover, 
revaluation  

The Debentures are not “secured debt securities” for the purposes of the 
SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations and corresponding 
provisions of Applicable Law. The Debentures are not secured by creation 
of a charge on the properties or assets of the Issuer or its subsidiaries or its 
holding companies or its associate companies having a value which is 
sufficient for the due repayment of principal and payment of interest 
thereon.  

The Debentures shall be supported by unconditional and irrevocable 
guarantee by the GoK as a principal debtor and not merely as a surety. 
Additionally, the Debentures shall be secured by the following nominal 
security interest: 

(a) Hypothecation over DSRA and all the amounts credited / to be 
credited therein 

(b) Hypothecation over KIIFB Bond Servicing Account and all the 
amounts credited / to be credited therein 

(c) Security interest over the Permitted Investments  

(d) Hypothecation in the form of lien over the Fixed Deposit. 

60.  Replacement of security, 
interest to the debenture 
holder over and above the 
coupon rate as specified in 
the Trust Deed and 
disclosed in the issue 
document 

Please see Row 59 (Description regarding Security (where applicable) 
including type of security (movable / immovable / tangible etc.), type of 
charge (pledge/ hypothecation/ mortgage etc.), date of creation of security/ 
likely date of creation of security, minimum security cover, revaluation) 
above.  

61.  Transaction Documents 

 

(a) The Debenture Trust Deed; 

(b) The Debenture Trustee Agreement; 

(c) The General Information Document; 

(d) This Key Information Document; 

(e) The Deed of Guarantee issued by the Government of Kerala;  

(f) The Accounts Agreement; 

(g) The Deed of Hypothecation; and 

(h) The Application Form.  

62.  Conditions Precedent to 
Disbursement 

As per the Third Schedule (Conditions Precedent) of the Debenture Trust 
Deed. 

63.  Conditions Subsequent to 
Disbursement 

As per the Fourth Schedule (Conditions Subsequent) of the Debenture 
Trust Deed. 

64.  Event of Default (including 
manner of voting 
/conditions of joining Inter 
Creditor Agreement 
(“ICA”)  

The following shall constitute an “Event of Default” under the Debenture 
Trust Deed: 

As is set out in the Debenture Trust Deed, and shall include, without 
limitation, the following events (each an “Event of Default”): 

(a) Non-payment of any Debenture servicing obligation on due date. 
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(b) Failure to adequately restore the DSRA/ Fixed Deposit within 
stipulated timelines.  

(c) Failure to list or cessation of listing of the Debentures on the BSE.  

(d) Insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, suspension of payment of 
debts, winding up, illegality, cessation of business by the Issuer. 

(e) Non redemption of the outstanding Debentures by the Issuer on which 
the Put Option is exercised upon expiry of the stipulated timelines.  

(f) Any insolvency, liquidation or dissolution petition filed against the 
Issuer which is not discharged or stayed or withdrawn within 5 
calendar days. 

(g) Breach of covenants and such breach is not cured within 7 Working 
Days. 

(h) Breach of any of the terms of the Transaction Documents by the 
Issuer and such breach is not cured within 7 Working Days. 

(i) Repudiation of any Transaction Document. 

(j) Illegality for the Issuer to perform any of its obligations under the 
Transaction Document. 

(k) Any material act of fraud, embezzlement, misstatement, 
misappropriation or siphoning off of Issuer funds or revenues or any 
other act having a similar effect being committed by the management 
or an officer of the Issuer.  

(l) Representations or warranties are found to be untrue or misleading 
when made or at the time of repetition during the term of the 
Debentures, which representations or warranties are by nature 
required to be repeated at any time during the term and is not cured 
within 15 Working Days. 

(m) Winding up of the Issuer, including initiation of any proceedings.  

(n) In case the rating is withdrawn or suspended. 

(o) Any material adverse event, as defined in the Transaction Documents 
and such default is not cured within 15 Working Days.  

(p) If the guarantee obligations are not met by the GoK within 30 days of 
guarantee invocation, it would be construed as an Event of Default.  

Conditions of joining an Inter Creditor Agreement: As per the Article III 
(Requirement of an Inter Creditor Agreement) of the Debenture Trust 
Deed. 

65.  Creation of recovery 
expense fund 

As per the Chapter IV of the SEBI DT Master Circular, the Issuer has 
created the recovery expense fund (“REF”) for an amount equivalent to 
0.01% of the final issue size subject to a maximum amount of INR 25 
Lakhs in the manner specified by SEBI and have informed the Debenture 
Trustee about the same. 

An amount equal to 0.01% of the relevant issue size subject to a maximum 
amount of INR 25 lakhs shall be utilized towards the REF with the BSE as 
per the timeline prescribed by the SEBI. 
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66.  Conditions for breach of 
covenants (as specified in 
Debenture Trust Deed) 

Breach of any covenants other than those in respect of a payment default 
would have a cure period of 7 Working Days beyond which it would be 
construed as an Event of Default. 

67.  Cross Default/Acceleration In case of an event wherein any financial indebtedness of the Issuer or its 
subsidiaries is not paid to a creditor when due or an Event of Default 
(however described) has occurred in relation to any credit facility and such 
facility has been accelerated (other than in respect of the Debentures) 
(“Cross Default”), each Investor can exercise the put option within 30 days 
from the date the Debenture Trustee informs the Debenture Holders of the 
Cross Default in manner set out in Row 85 below. 

68.  Role and Responsibilities 
of Debenture Trustee 

As provided in the Transaction Documents and required under Applicable 
Law. 

69.  Risk factors pertaining to 
the issue 

Please refer Section 1 of the General Information Document.  

70.  Governing Law and 
Jurisdiction 

The Debentures are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with 
the existing laws of India. Any dispute arising thereof shall be subject to 
the jurisdiction of courts and tribunals of Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala. 

71.  Registrar Cameo Corporate Services Limited 

72.  Debenture Trustee Catalyst Trusteeship Limited 

73.  Delay in execution of 
Debenture Trust Deed 

In case of delay in execution of Debenture Trust Deed and security 
documents, the Issuer will refund the subscription with agreed Interest Rate 
or will pay penal interest of at least 2% per annum to the Debenture 
Holders, over and above the agreed Interest Rate till these conditions are 
complied with at the option of the Debenture Holders. 

74.  Delay in Listing ln case of delay in listing of the debt securities with the timelines of T+3 
trading days as under the SEBI Master Circular, the Issuer shall pay penal 
interest of 1% per annum over the Coupon Rate for the period of delay to 
the Debenture Holder (i.e. from date of allotment to the date of listing).  

75.  Remedies In the event of occurrence of the Event of Default mentioned above, the 
Debenture Trustee shall give a final notice to the Issuer and the GoK clearly 
stating its intention to invoke the Security Interest and enforce its rights 
under the Deed of Guarantee: (a) for Events of Default where cure period 
is provided as above and is not cured within the stipulated cure period; and 
(b) for all other Events of Default, a period of not more than 3 Working 
Days from the date of such notice.  

Upon continuation of such event, beyond the time stipulated above, the 
Debenture Trustee shall invoke the Security Interest and the guarantee of 
the GoK on the next Working Day.  

The invocation of security interest and the guarantee for any default would 
cover the entire liabilities remaining outstanding in these Debentures.  

Further, the Debenture Trustee shall be able to exercise such other rights 
and remedies as set out in the Debenture Trust Deed. 

76.  Financial Covenants The Issuer shall ensure that, in respect of any Relevant Period, the Liability 
Service Coverage Ratio for such Relevant Period shall not be less than 1.1 
times. For the purposes of this Row 76 (Financial Covenants): 
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"Liability Service Coverage Ratio" means the ratio of FC Cash flow to 
Liability Service; 

"Relevant Period" means the period ending 12 months from the end of 
each financial quarter; 

"FC Cash flow" means, with respect to any Relevant Period, the aggregate 
of (a) share of Motor Vehicle Taxes and Cess levied on petroleum products 
received by the Issuer pursuant to KIIF Act; (b) any other amount 
appropriated by the GoK for the Issuer's sole usage; (c) any other payments 
to the Issuer other than proceeds from any Financial Indebtedness; and (d) 
the total amount of cash and cash equivalent investments controlled by the 
Issuer at the beginning of the Relevant Period, excluding any debt service 
reserve account and sinking fund or any other debt servicing account of 
similar intent (except those created towards the Financial Indebtedness of 
the Issuer payable during the Relevant Period); and 

"Liability Service" means, with respect to the Relevant Period, the 
aggregate of (a) all scheduled payments (including balloon payments) on 
account of principal and interest and other charges on all Financial 
Indebtedness, as applicable; and (b) any payment made or required to be 
made to any debt service account under the terms of any agreement 
providing for any Financial Indebtedness. For the avoidance of doubt, it is 
clarified that, any payments (including for principal and / or interest and 
payments in relation to debt service reserve account or any other debt 
servicing account of similar intent) in respect of borrowings availed by the 
Issuer in the Relevant Period shall be excluded in computation of Liability 
Service. 

77.  Guarantor State Government of Kerala 

78.  Remedial Action 
Consequential to 
Impairment of DSRA 

In case of any impairment of DSRA, on any payout date (T) leading to the 
funds available in DSRA being lower than the Required DSRA Amount, a 
notice would be served to the Issuer by the Debenture Trustee on the next 
day (T + 1) to fully replenish the DSRA impairment within 5 days (T + 6) 
(“DSRA Payment Date”). 

In the event of DSRA not getting fully reinstated by the DSRA Payment 
Date, the Debenture Trustee would notify the GoK by the calendar day 
immediately succeeding the DSRA Payment Date (T+7) about its intention 
for invocation of the guarantee if the shortfall is not fully bridged within 
the next 21 days (T + 27).  

If the irregularity continues beyond the above timeline, the Debenture 
Trustee shall invoke the Deed of Guarantee, from GoK on the next day (T 
+ 28) to the extent of such shortfall in DSRA from the stipulated level.  

The Deed of Guarantee would specifically provide obligation on the part 
of the GoK to fund the shortfall in DSRA when called upon by the 
Debenture Trustee, as per the above stipulated timeline. If the guarantee 
obligations are not met by GoK within 30 days of Guarantee invocation, it 
would be construed as an ‘Event of Default’ 

79.  Structured Payment 
Mechanism 

The Issuer would be required to adequately fund the KIIFB Bond Servicing 
Account through periodic transfer of funds received by it from Motor 
Vehicles Tax and Cess allocation. The Issuer would, starting from the 1st 
day of each quarterly servicing cycle remit, by way of irrevocable standing 
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instruction to the collection bank, on every Working Day an amount 
equivalent to 2% of the aggregate servicing requirement for such quarterly 
servicing cycle of the outstanding Debentures to the KIIFB Bond Servicing 
Account until the required debt servicing amount for the said quarter is 
fully built in the KIIFB Bond Servicing Account. The Debenture Trustee 
shall independently monitor the amounts required for servicing of the 
Debentures (principal and/or interest as the case may be) in the KIIFB 
Bond Servicing Account, 7 days prior to the relevant servicing date (T-7).  

The Debenture Trustee should independently monitor the adequacy of 
availability of such fund in the KIIFB Bond Servicing Account, 7 days 
prior to the relevant servicing date (T-7), and in case of any inadequacy, 
fund the same through liquidation of the Fixed Deposit to the extent of such 
shortfall.  

However, if due to any reason, it is not possible to fully fund the KIIFB 
Bond Servicing Account by T-5th day, the Debenture Trustee should advise 
the Issuer to immediately bridge the shortfall, under intimation to the GoK.  

In the event of shortfall still persisting on T-3rd day, the Debenture Trustee 
would transfer the requisite funds from the DSRA to bridge the gap.  

This event of DSRA impairment should be immediately notified to the 
GoK by the Debenture Trustee on the next day. 

In case any relevant event or date as set out above takes place or occurs on 
a day which is not a Working Day, then the immediately preceding 
Working Day shall be the deemed Working Day for complying with the 
provisions set out above in this Row 79. 

80.  Collateral Support 
Structure 

The Debentures would have further collateral support by way of 
unconditional and irrevocable guarantee as a continuing obligation by the 
GoK. 

81.  Permitted Investments The funds in the KIIFB Bond Servicing Account and DSRA till such time 
being utilized would be allowed to be invested in Permitted Investments in 
Fixed Deposits with Scheduled Commercial Banks and units of Debt 
Mutual Fund Schemes of highest possible investment grade rating as 
defined below: 

(a) Fixed Deposits with nationalized/ public sector banks featuring in the 
top 10 public sector undertaking banks in terms of total asset size and 
having either short term rating of A1+ or a long-term rating of AAA;  

(b) Fixed Deposits with private sector banks featuring in the top 10 
private sector banks in terms of total asset size and having short term 
rating of A1+ and a long-term rating of AAA; and  

(c) Investments in units of debt mutual funds schemes of highest possible 
investment grade rating.  

These investments would be made and liquidated by the Debenture Trustee 
as per the instruction of the Issuer from time to time. 

82.  KIIFB Bond Servicing 
Account 

The Issuer would be required to open a designated escrow account titled 
“KIIFB Bond Servicing Account” bearing account number 43634731339 
with State Bank of India exclusively for the benefit and charged in favour 
of the Debenture Trustee (on behalf of the Investors). for remitting the 
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payments to be made by the Issuer to the Investors in respect of the 
Debentures.  

83.  Daily Transfer of Funds to 
KIIFB Bond Servicing 
Account  

Daily allocation of Motor Vehicle Tax and Cess pursuant to section 7 of 
KIIF Act is being received by the Issuer into its “Collection Account” 
bearing account name Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board and 
account number 39351427592 (IFSC Code: SBIN0070028) maintained 
with the collection bank i.e., State Bank of India, Trivandrum City branch 
(as on the date of this Key Information Document) during the 9 Months 
period commencing from 1st April till 31st December every year on a 
regular basis.  

The Issuer would, starting from the 1st day of each quarterly servicing 
cycle remit, by way of irrevocable standing instruction to the collection 
bank, on every Working Day, an amount equivalent to 2% of the aggregate 
servicing requirement for such quarterly servicing cycle of the outstanding 
Debentures to the KIIFB Bond Servicing Account until the Required 
DSRA amount for the said quarter is fully built in the KIIFB Bond 
Servicing Account.  

For the period of 1st January to 31st March the Issuer, by way of standing 
instruction, shall transfer an upfront amount on 1st January each year to the 
KIIFB Bond Servicing Account equivalent to the amount required towards 
the aggregate daily transfer amounts for the said period. 

The said irrevocable standing instruction shall be given upfront by the 
Issuer to the bank for the entire tenure of the Debentures i.e. approximately 
10 years.  

On the first day of every quarterly payment cycle, Issuer shall also maintain 
a fixed deposit in a scheduled public commercial bank, at least to the extent 
of the interest obligation on immediately succeeding quarterly payout date 
and principal redemption amount of one quarter and create/maintain 
charge/lien on the same in favour of the Debenture Trustee at all the times 
(“Fixed Deposit”).  

Although redemption shall start from the 13th quarter, the Fixed Deposit 
of one quarter principal redemption amount starting from 13th Quarter 
along with the interest obligation of one succeeding quarter shall be created 
upfront only. 

The initial Fixed Deposit shall be created one day before the Pay In Date. 
The Debenture Trustee would have an irrevocable authorization from the 
Issuer to liquidate an amount out of the said Fixed Deposit to the extent of 
any shortfall in the KIIFB Bond Servicing Account, 7 days prior to any 
quarterly servicing date i.e. T-7 day. The said Fixed Deposit shall be 
created by the Issuer from the receivables of the Issuer from allocation of 
Motor Vehicles Tax and Cess. 

84.  Remedial Action 
Consequential to 
Impairment of Fixed 
Deposit 

In case of any impairment of Fixed Deposit on T-7th day to meet the 
servicing obligation on any payout date (T) resulting in the amount 
available in the Fixed Deposit less than the stipulated amount for the next 
Quarter, the Debenture Trustee shall give a notice to the KIIFB on T-6th 
day to create a new Fixed Deposit or replenish the Fixed Deposit within 
the next 5 calendar days i.e. T-1. 
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The Debenture Trustee shall monitor the amounts deposited in the Fixed 
Deposit on any payout date (T). In case the amounts deposited in the Fixed 
Deposit are less than the requisite amounts, a notice would be served to the 
Issuer by the Debenture Trustee on the next day (T + 1) to create a new 
Fixed Deposit or replenish the Fixed Deposit within 5 days (T + 6) (“Fixed 
Deposit Payment Date”).  

In the event the Fixed Deposit is not created or replenished by the Fixed 
Deposit Payment Date, the Debenture Trustee would notify the GoK by the 
calendar day immediately succeeding the Fixed Deposit Payment Date 
(T+7), about its intention for invocation of the guarantee if the Fixed 
Deposit is not created or replenished within the next 21 days (T + 27).  

If the irregularity continues beyond the above timeline, the Debenture 
Trustee shall invoke the Deed of Guarantee, from GoK on the next day (T 
+ 28) to the extent of such shortfall in the Fixed Deposit from the stipulated 
level.  

The Deed of Guarantee would specifically provide obligation on the part 
of the GoK to create a new Fixed Deposit or replenish the Fixed Deposit 
when called upon by the Debenture Trustee, as per the above stipulated 
timeline. If the guarantee obligations are not met by GoK within 30 days 
of invocation of the guarantee, it would be construed as an ‘Event of 
Default’. 

85.  Redemption Procedure 
upon exercise of put option 

 On occurrence of a Put Option Event, the Issuer shall within 1 calendar 
day from the date of the Put Option Event, notify the Debenture Trustee in 
writing of the occurrence of a Put Option Event. 

The Debenture Trustee shall within 1 calendar day of receipt of the notice, 
issue a notice to the Debenture Holders informing them about the 
occurrence of a Put Option Event and request their instructions to redeem 
the relevant Debentures (“Put Option”). The Debenture Holders shall 
within 30 calendar days from such date, direct the Debenture Trustee in 
writing if they intend to exercise the Put Option (“Put Option Exercise 
Period”). The Debenture Trustee shall within 3 calendar days of expiry of 
the Put Option Exercise Period, issue a written notice to the Issuer on the 
outstanding Debenture payments to be paid to the relevant Debenture 
Holders and within 15 calendar days, from the date of such notice, the 
Issuer shall be required to redeem the relevant Debentures and pay the 
outstanding Debenture payments (“Put Option Redemption Date”). 

In the event the Issuer fails to redeem the relevant Debentures and pay the 
outstanding Debenture payments by the Put Option Redemption Date, the 
Debenture Trustee shall intimate the Guarantor to infuse or credit 
additional amounts into the KIIFB Bond Servicing Account within 5 
calendar days from the Put Option Redemption Date.  

In the event the Guarantor fails to infuse or credit the requisite amounts or 
any part thereof and the Issuer fails to redeem the relevant Debentures and 
pay the outstanding Debenture payments within 5 calendar days from the 
Put Option Redemption Date, the Debenture Trustee shall on the 
immediately succeeding calendar day issue a notice to invoke the Deed of 
Guarantee to infuse or credit the outstanding relevant Debenture Payments 
into the KIIFB Bond Servicing Account within 30 (thirty) calendar days 
from the date of the invocation of the Deed of Guarantee (“Put Option 
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Final Notice”). It is clarified that in the event the Guarantor infuses or 
credits the requisite amounts towards relevant Debenture payments to the 
Put Option Debenture Holders in accordance with the aforementioned 
timelines and the Issuer fails to redeem the relevant Debentures and pay 
the outstanding Debenture payments to the Put Option Debenture Holders 
within the aforementioned time period, the Guarantor shall not be liable to 
make any payments towards the settlement of the outstanding relevant 
Debenture payments payable to the Put Option Debenture Holders 
(including under the Put Option Final Notice, if any).  

Failure of GoK to infuse or credit the outstanding relevant Debenture 
payments such that the Issuer redeems the relevant Debentures and pays 
the outstanding relevant Debenture payments within 30 calendar days from 
the date of the invocation of the Deed of Guarantee shall constitute an 
“Event of Default” under the Transaction Documents. 

In the event that a Put Option Event occurs before the expiry of 1 (one) 
year from the Deemed Date of Allotment and continues to exist/subsist on 
the day immediately following the expiry of 1 (one) year from the Deemed 
Date of Allotment, the Debenture Holders shall have the right to exercise 
their put option within 30 calendar days from the expiry of 1 year from the 
Deemed Date of Allotment as if such Put Option Event occurred after 
expiry of one year from the Deemed Date of Allotment i.e., on the day 
immediately following the expiry of 1 (one) year from the Deemed Date of 
Allotment. 

 
Notes: 

If there is any change in Coupon Rate pursuant to any event including lapse of certain time period or downgrade 
in rating, then such new coupon rate and the events which lead to such change should be disclosed. 
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DECLARATION 

The Issuer hereby declares that this Key Information Document contains full disclosure in accordance with SEBI 
Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations and provisions of Applicable Law. 

The Issuer also confirms that this Key Information Document does not omit disclosure of any material fact which 
may make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, misleading. 
The Key Information Document also does not contain any false or misleading statement. The Issuer accepts no 
responsibility for the statements made otherwise than in this Key Information Document or in any other material 
issued by or at the instance of the Issuer and that anyone placing reliance on any other source of information would 
be doing so at his own risk. 

The Issuer declares that all the relevant provisions of the relevant regulations or guidelines issued by SEBI and 
other Applicable Laws have been complied with and no statement made in this Key Information Document is 
contrary to the provisions of the regulations or guidelines issued by SEBI and other Applicable Law, as the case 
may be.  

For KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD  

 
Name: Dr. K.M. Abraham 
Designation: Chief Executive Officer 
DIN: 05178826 
Dated: 24 December 2024 
Place: Thiruvananthapuram  

 
Name: Shri. Reji John 
Designation: Joint Fund Manager 
Dated: 24 December 2024 
Place: Thiruvananthapuram  
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DECLARATION BY THE AUTHORISED PERSONS OF THE ISSUER 

The persons authorised by the Issuer attest that:  

(a) the Issuer has complied with the provisions of the Act (as applicable), the Securities Contracts 
(Regulation) Act, 1956 and the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992, the KIIF Act and the 
rules and regulations made thereunder; 

(b) the compliance with the Act (as applicable) and the rules made thereunder does not imply that payment 
of Interest or repayment of the Debentures, is guaranteed by the Central Government; 

(c) the monies received under the Issue shall be used only for the purposes and objects indicated in the Key 
Information Document; 

(d) whatever is stated in this Key Information Document and in the attachments thereto is true, correct and 
complete and no information material to the subject matter of this form has been suppressed or concealed 
and is as per the original records maintained by the Promoter; and 

(e) the contents of this Key Information Document have been perused by the Members and the final and 
ultimate responsibility of the contents mentioned herein shall also lie with the Members.  

We are authorized by the board of members of the Issuer vide resolution passed by the board of members of the 
Issuer on 12 July 2024 and the investment management committee on 16 December 2024 to sign this Key 
Information Document, copies of which are disclosed in this Key Information Document and declare that all the 
requirements of the Act (as applicable) and the rules made thereunder in respect of the subject matter of this Key 
Information Document and matters incidental thereto have been complied with.  

Whatever is stated in this Key Information Document and in the attachments thereto is true, correct and complete 
and no information material to the subject matter of this Key Information Document has been suppressed or 
concealed and is as per the original records maintained by the Promoter. It is further declared and verified that all 
the required attachments have been completely, correctly and legibly attached to this Key Information Document.  

For KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD  

 
Name: Dr. K.M. Abraham 
Designation: Chief Executive Officer 
DIN: 05178826 
Dated: 24 December 2024 
Place: Thiruvananthapuram  

 
Name: Shri. Reji John 
Designation: Joint Fund Manager 
Dated: 24 December 2024 
Place: Thiruvananthapuram 
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ANNEXURE A 
 

(MATERIAL CHANGES TO INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THE GENERAL INFORMATION 
DOCUMENT) 

Following are the material changes since the issue of the General Information Document, which are required to 
be disclosed under this Key Information Document:  

1. Clause 11(a) of Section 2 of the General Information Document (Details of the current directors of 
the Issuer) 

As per the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations (as applicable), particulars as identified 
therein are to be disclosed in respect of “current directors of the Company”. However, the Issuer is a 
body corporate in the nature of a board constituted under the KIIF Act and as per its constitution and 
KIIF Act, it does not have any directors and the Issuer is governed by a board of members. Accordingly, 
we have provided the relevant details of the Issuer’s members below:  

S. No. Name, Designation, DIN Age (in 
years) 

Address Date of 
Appointment 

1 Shri. Pinarayi Vijayan 

Chairperson 

78 3rd Floor, North Block, 
Government Secretariat, 
Thiruvananthapuram. 

25/05/2016 

2 Shri. K. N. Balagopal 

Vice-Chairperson 

60 4th Floor, North Block, 
Government Secretariat, 
Thiruvananthapuram  

20/05/2021 

3 Dr. V Venu IAS Member  59 Government Secretariat, 
Thiruvananthapuram 

10/07/2023 

4 3 Shri. KG Sanal Kumar 

Member 

56 Government Secretariat, 
Thiruvananthapuram. 

03/08/2023 

5 Shri. Rabindra Kumar 
Agarwal 

54 Government Secretariat, 
Thiruvananthapuram 

01/08/2023 

6 4 Shri V.K. Ramachandran 

Member 

70 Kerala State Planning Board, 
Thiruvananthapuram. 

19/08/2016 

7 5 Prof. Sushil Khanna 

Independent Member 

72 IIM Calcutta Hemant 
Mukhupadhyay Sarani Keyatala, 
Calcutta- 700029. 

19/09/2016 

8 6 Shri. Salim Gangadharan 

Independent Member 

70 C-26, RNP Lane, Near Jawahar 
Nagar, Vellayambalarn, 
Sasthmangalam P.O., 
Thiruvananthapuram-695010 

19/09/2016 

9 7 Shri. J.N. Gupta 

Independent Member 

69 B 204, Muktangan, Upper Govind 
Nagar, Malad East, Mumbai 
400097 

19/09/2016 

10 8 Shri. Radhakrishanan Nair 

Independent Member 

68 J1403, Raheja Vistas, Raheja 
Vihar, Chandivali, Powai, Mumbai 
- 400072 

31/10/2016 
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S. No. Name, Designation, DIN Age (in 
years) 

Address Date of 
Appointment 

11 9 Dr. Ajay Kumar Independent 
Member 

61 Bungalow No 7, New Moti Bag, 
Sarojini Nagar, South West Delhi 
110023  

08/06/2023 

12 10  Shri T.S Vijayan 

Independent Member 

70 Sunnyvale, TC 8/725(1), 
Thirumala, Thiruvananthapuram-
695 006. 

18/03/2020 

13 11  Dr. K. M. Abraham CFA, IAS 
(Retd.), 

CEO & Member Secretary 

66 B 4 Lower, Millenium Apartments, 
Jagathy, Thycaud P O, 
Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, 
695014 

19/08/2016 

12 Smt. Sarada Muraleedharan, 
IAS 

Member  

59 Government Secretariat, 
Thiruvananthapuram. 

31/08/2024 

13 Dr. A Jayathilak, IAS 

Member 

58 Finance Department, Government 
Secretariat, Thiruvananthapuram 

20/08/2024 

 
2. Paragraph 11(b) of Section 2 of the General Information Document (Details of change in directors 

in the preceding three financial years and the current financial year) 

As per the SEBI Non-Convertible Securities Listing Regulations (as applicable), particulars as identified 
therein are to be disclosed in respect of “change in directors”. However, the Issuer is a body corporate in 
the nature of a board constituted under the KIIF Act and as per its constitution and KIIF Act, it does not 
have any directors and the Issuer is governed by a board of members. Accordingly, we have provided 
the relevant details of change in its members. 

Name and designation  Date of 
appointment 

Date of 
resignation, if 

applicable 

Date of 
cessation, if 
applicable 

Remarks 

Shri. CP Chandrasekhar  

Independent Member  

19/09/2016 02/06/2021 Not Applicable Not Applicable 

Dr. TM Thomas Isaac  25/05/2016 Not Applicable 03/05/2021 Former Minister 
for Finance  

Dr. Vishwas Mehta  31/05/2020 Not Applicable 28/02/2021 Former Chief 
Secretary  

Shri. Tom Jose  01/07/2018 Not Applicable 31/05/2020 Former Chief 
Secretary  

Shri. Aravind Babu 07/06/2019 Not Applicable 31/05/2021 Former Law 
Secretary  

Shri. Rajesh Kumar 
Singh, IAS 

14/01/2022 Not Applicable 22/09/2022 Former Finance 
Secretary  

Shri. K. N. Balagopal 03/05/2021 Not Applicable Not Applicable Current Finance 
Minister  

Shri. V. Hari Nair 01/06/2022 Not Applicable 31/07/2023 Former Law 
Secretary  

64 



 

Name and designation  Date of 
appointment 

Date of 
resignation, if 

applicable 

Date of 
cessation, if 
applicable 

Remarks 

Shri. Bishwanath Sinha 
IAS 

23/09/2022 Not Applicable 30/06/2023 Former Finance 
Secretary  

Dr. V. P. Joy IAS 01/03/2021 Not Applicable 31/06/2023 Former Chief 
Secretary 

Dr. Sudipto Mundle  31/10/2016 26/08/2023 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  

KG Sanal Kumar  03/08/2023 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Current Law 
Secretary  

Dr. Rabindra Kumar 
Agarwal 

01/08/2023 Not Applicable Not Applicable 
17/08/2024 

Current Finance 
Secretary Former 
Finance Secretary 

Dr. Ajay Kumar 08/06/2023 Not Applicable  Not Applicable Independent 
Member  

Dr. V Venu, IAS  01/07/2023 Not Applicable 31/08/2024 Former Chief 
Secretary 

Smt. Sarada 
Muraleedharan, IAS 

31/08/2024 Not Applicable Not Applicable Current Chief 
Secretary 

Dr. A Jayathilak, IAS 20/08/2024 Not Applicable Not Applicable Current Finance 
Secretary 

 
3. Paragraph 12(b) of Section 2 of the General Information Document (Details of change in auditor 

since last 3 (three) financial years and the current financial year) 

Details of the auditors of the Issuer  

Name of the Auditors Address Date of appointment 

M/S Suri & Co., Chartered 
Accountants  

TC 25/434, 44 Santhi Nagar, 
Near Housing Board Junction, 
Thiruvananthapuram – 695 001 

06/05/2024 

 
Details of change in auditor since last 3 (three) financial years and the current financial year 

As of the date of this General Information Document: 

Name of the 
auditor 

Address Date of 
Appointment 

Date of 
cessation, if 
applicable 

Date of 
Resignation, 
if applicable 

M/S Varma & 
Varma, 
Chartered 
Accountants  

Address: TC9/1504, 
Galaxy SMRA -14, 
Sasthamangalam PO 
Thiruvananthapuram, 
Kerala 695010  

28/04/2020 31/03/2024 Not 
Applicable  

M/S Suri & Co., 
Chartered 
Accountants  

TC 25/434, 44 Santhi 
Nagar, Near Housing 
Board Junction, 

06/05/2024 Not 
Applicable  

Not 
Applicable 
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Name of the 
auditor 

Address Date of 
Appointment 

Date of 
cessation, if 
applicable 

Date of 
Resignation, 
if applicable 

Thiruvananthapuram – 695 
001 

 
4. Paragraph 11(b) of Section 2 of the General Information Document (Details of outstanding non-

convertible securities) 

Name of the 
Lender 

Type of 
Facility 

Principal 
Amount 

Outstanding 
(INR Crores) 

Original 
Sanctioned 

Amount 

Repayment 
Date / Schedule 

Credit rating, 
if applicable 

 

NABARD- 
NIDA 

(Tranche 1) 

Term Loan 287.14 565 12 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

Not applicable 

State Bank of 
India 

Term Loan 531.07 1000 10 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Indian Bank Term Loan 306.8 500 12 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Union Bank of 
India 

Term Loan 260.419 500 10 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Syndicate Bank 
(Canara) 

Term Loan 135 200 12 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Corporation 
Bank (UBI) 

Term Loan 181.25 250 12 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Bonds to KSFE 
Ltd 

Bond 1126.778 1473.14 Ranging from 3 
years to 6 Years 

Not applicable 

Pravasi 
Dividend 
Scheme 

Loan 330.69 330.57 NA (Subject to 
conditions of 
the scheme) 

Not applicable 

NABARD- 
NIDA (Tranche 

2) 

Term Loan 707.71 1061.73 15 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

Not applicable 

REC Ltd- I Term Loan 1429.76 2268.27 7 Years 
including 2 

Not applicable 
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Name of the 
Lender 

Type of 
Facility 

Principal 
Amount 

Outstanding 
(INR Crores) 

Original 
Sanctioned 

Amount 

Repayment 
Date / Schedule 

Credit rating, 
if applicable 

 

Year 
moratorium 

Bank of Baroda 
(Tranche 1) 

Term Loan 632.81 750 10 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Indian Bank  
(Tranche 2) 

Term Loan 428.6 500 12 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Bank of 
Maharashtra 

Term Loan 900 1000 12 Years 
including  
2 years 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Bank of Baroda 
(Tranche 2) 

Term Loan 1093.75 1250 10 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Bank of India Term Loan 647.5 700 12 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Canara Bank Term Loan 462.5 500 12 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

HUDCO-I Term Loan 461.54 1000 15 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

Not applicable 

ICICI Bank Ltd Term loan 125 300 5 years 
including 1 year 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

Kerala Financial 
Corporation 

Term Loan 750.068 1000 7 years 
including 1 year 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

REC Ltd- II Term Loan 902.11 1248.88 7 years 
including 2 year 

moratorium 

Not applicable 

REC Ltd- III Term Loan 216.16 228.65 7 years 
including 2 year 

moratorium 

Not applicable 
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Name of the 
Lender 

Type of 
Facility 

Principal 
Amount 

Outstanding 
(INR Crores) 

Original 
Sanctioned 

Amount 

Repayment 
Date / Schedule 

Credit rating, 
if applicable 

 

REC Ltd- IV Term Loan 125.96 160.73 7 years 
including 2 year 

moratorium 

Not applicable 

REC Ltd- V Term Loan 769.75 807.19 7 years 
including 2 year 

moratorium 

Not applicable 

Kotak Mahindra 
Bank Ltd 

Term Loan 94.44 100 5 years 
including 2 year 

moratorium 

CRISIL A+ 
(CE) /Negative 

HUDCO-II Term Loan 1361.54 2000 15 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

Not applicable 

HUDCO-III Term Loan 800 850 15 Years 
including 1 

Year 
moratorium 

Not applicable 

REC Ltd VI Term Loan 675.51 675.51 7 years 
including 2 year 

moratorium 

Not applicable 

PFC Term Loan 755.716 991.33 15 year 
including 2 year 

moratorium 

Not applicable 

NABARD- III Term Loan  618.82 1008.12 15 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

Not Applicable  

HUDCO-IV Term Loan  880 930 15 Years 
including 1 

years 
moratorium 

Not Applicable  

NABARD IV Term Loan  1499.93 3174.36 15 Years 
including 2 

years 
moratorium 

Not Applicable  

TOTAL  19,498.341 25,649.053   

 

5. Paragraph 13(c) of Section 2 of the General Information Document (Details of outstanding non-
convertible securities)  
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Sr. 
No. 

Series 
of NCS 

ISIN Tenor/ 
Period 

of 
Maturit

y 

Coupon Amount 
outstan

ding 

Date of 
allotme

nt 

Redempti
on Date/ 
Schedule 

Credit 
Rating 

Secured / 
unsecured 

Security 

1 KIIFB 
Green 
Bonds 
Series-I 
8.49% 
KERA
LA 
INFRA
STRUC
TURE 

INVES
TMEN
T 
FUND 
BOAR
D 2033 

(“Gree
n 
Bonds”
) 

INE658
F08011, 

INE658
F08029, 

INE658
F08037, 

INE658
F08045, 

INE658
F08052, 

INE658
F08060, 

INE658
F08078 

4-10 
Years 
under 7 
different 
STRPPs 
A 
though 
G  

8.49 300.02 
Crore  

03/07/2
023 

02-10-
2026 to 
04/07/203
3 

AA 
(CE) 
by 
India 
Rating
s and 
Resear
ch Ltd 
and 
Acuite 
Resear
ch Ltd  

Unsecured  Unsecure
d, Rated, 
Listed, 
Redeema
ble, 
Taxable, 
Non-
Converti
ble 

Green 
Bonds in 
the form 
of non-
convertib
le 
debenture
s 
supported 
by 

unconditi
onal and 
irrevocab
le 
guarantee 
by the 
GoK 

as a 
principal 
debtor 
and not 
merely as 
a surety. 

2 KIIFB 
Domest
ic 
Bonds 
8.95% 
KERA
LA 
INFRA
STRUC
TURE 

INVES
TMEN
T 
FUND 

INE658
F08086, 
INE658
F08128, 
INE658
F08110, 
INE658
F08102, 
INE658
F08094, 
INE658
F08144 
and 
INE658
F08136 

4-10 
Years 
under 7 
different 
STRPPs 
A 
though 
G  

8.95 1002.96 
Crore  

22/12/2
023 

22/03/202
7 to  

22/12/203
3 

AA 
(CE)/S
table 
by 
India 
Rating
s and 
Resear
ch Ltd 
and 
Acuite 
Resear
ch Ltd  

Unsecured  Unsecure
d, Rated, 
Listed, 
Redeema
ble, 
Taxable, 
Non-
Converti
ble 

bonds in 
the form 
of non-
convertib
le 
debenture

69 



 

Sr. 
No. 

Series 
of NCS 

ISIN Tenor/ 
Period 

of 
Maturit

y 

Coupon Amount 
outstan

ding 

Date of 
allotme

nt 

Redempti
on Date/ 
Schedule 

Credit 
Rating 

Secured / 
unsecured 

Security 

BOAR
D 2033 

(“Dome
stic 
Bonds 
Series 
I”) 

s 
supported 
by 
unconditi
onal and 
irrevocab
le 
guarantee 
by the 
GoK as a 
principal 
debtor 
and not 
merely as 
a surety. 

3 KIIFB 
Domest
ic 
Bonds 
8.95% 
KERA
LA 
INFRA
STRUC
TURE 

INVES
TMEN
T 
FUND 
BOAR
D 2033 
(re-
issue 
under 
ISINs: 
INE658
F08086, 
INE658
F08128, 
INE658
F08110, 
INE658
F08102, 
INE658
F08094, 
INE658
F08144 
and 

INE658
F08086, 
INE658
F08128, 
INE658
F08110, 
INE658
F08102, 
INE658
F08094, 
INE658
F08144 
and 
INE658
F08136 

Approxi
mately 
4-10 
Years 
under 7 
different 
STRPPs 
A 
though 
G  

8.95 497 
Crore  

18/01/2
024 

22/03/202
7 to  

22/12/203
3 

AA 
(CE)/S
table 
by 
India 
Rating
s and 
Resear
ch Ltd 
and 
Acuite 
Resear
ch Ltd  

Unsecured  Unsecure
d, Rated, 
Listed, 
Redeema
ble, 
Taxable, 
Non-
Converti
ble bonds 
in the 
form of 
non-
convertib
le 
debenture
s 
supported 
by 
unconditi
onal and 
irrevocab
le 
guarantee 
by the 
GoK as a 
principal 
debtor 
and not 
merely as 
a surety. 
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Sr. 
No. 

Series 
of NCS 

ISIN Tenor/ 
Period 

of 
Maturit

y 

Coupon Amount 
outstan

ding 

Date of 
allotme

nt 

Redempti
on Date/ 
Schedule 

Credit 
Rating 

Secured / 
unsecured 

Security 

INE658
F08136
) 

(“Re-
issuanc
e 
Bonds 
Series 
I”) 

4 KIIFB 
Domest
ic 
Bonds – 
Series 
II 
9.10% 
KERA
LA 
INFRA
STRUC
TURE 
INVES
TMEN
T 
FUND 
BOAR
D 2034 

(“Dome
stic 
Bonds 
Series 
II”) 

INE658
F08151, 

INE658
F08169, 

INE658
F08177, 

INE658
F08185, 

INE658
F08193, 

INE658
F08201, 

INE658
F08219 

4-10 
Years 
under 7 
different 
STRPPs 
A 
though 
G  

9.10 611.66 
Crore  

26/02/2
024 

26/06/202
7 to 
26/03/203
4 

AA 
(CE)/S
table 
by 
India 
Rating
s and 
Resear
ch Ltd 
and 
Acuite 
Resear
ch Ltd  

Unsecured  Unsecure
d, Rated, 
Listed, 
Redeema
ble, 
Taxable, 
Non-
Converti
ble 
Bonds in 
the form 
of non-
convertib
le 
debenture
s 
supported 
by 
unconditi
onal and 
irrevocab
le 
guarantee 
by the 
GoK as a 
principal 
debtor 
and not 
merely as 
a surety. 

5 KIIFB 
Domest
ic 
Bonds – 
Series 
II 
9.10% 
KERA
LA 

INE658
F08151, 

INE658
F08169, 

INE658
F08177, 

4-10 
Years 
under 7 
different 
STRPPs 
A 
though 
G 

9.10 238.28 
Crore  

26/02/2
024 

26/06/202
7 to 
26/03/203
4 

AA 
(CE)/S
table 
by 
India 
Rating
s and 
Resear
ch Ltd 

Unsecured  Unsecure
d, Rated, 
Listed, 
Redeema
ble, 
Taxable, 
Non-
Converti
ble 
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Sr. 
No. 

Series 
of NCS 

ISIN Tenor/ 
Period 

of 
Maturit

y 

Coupon Amount 
outstan

ding 

Date of 
allotme

nt 

Redempti
on Date/ 
Schedule 

Credit 
Rating 

Secured / 
unsecured 

Security 

INFRA
STRUC
TURE 
INVES
TMEN
T 
FUND 
BOAR
D 2034 

(“Re-
issuanc
e -
Domest
ic 
Bonds 
Series 
II  

INE658
F08185, 

INE658
F08193, 

INE658
F08201, 

INE658
F08219 

and 
Acuite 
Resear
ch Ltd  

Bonds in 
the form 
of non-
convertib
le 
debenture
s 
supported 
by 
unconditi
onal and 
irrevocab
le 
guarantee 
by the 
GoK as a 
principal 
debtor 
and not 
merely as 
a surety. 

6 KIIFB 
Domest
ic 
Bonds – 
Series 
III 
KERA
LA 
INFRA
STRUC
TURE 
INVET
SMEN
T 
FUND 
BOAR
D 2034 
(“Dome
stic 
Bonds 
Series 
III”) 

INE658
F08227, 
INE658
F08235, 
INE658
F08284, 
INE658
F08276, 
INE658
F08268, 
INE658
F08250, 
INE658
F08243 

4-10 
Years 
under 7 
different 
STRPPs 
A 
though 
G 

9.49 850.15 
Crore 

08/10/2
024 

08/01/202
8 to 
08/10/203
4 

AA 
(CE)/S
table 
by 
India 
Rating
s and 
Resear
ch 
private 
Limite
d and 
Acuite 
Rating
s & 
Resear
ch 
Limite
d 

Unsecured Unsecure
d, Rated, 
Listed, 
Redeema
ble, 
Taxable, 
Non-
Converti
ble 
Bonds in 
the form 
of non-
convertib
le 
debenture
s 
supported 
by an 
unconditi
onal and 
irrevocab
le 
guarantee 
by the 
GoK as a 
principal 
debtor 
and not 
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Sr. 
No. 

Series 
of NCS 

ISIN Tenor/ 
Period 

of 
Maturit

y 

Coupon Amount 
outstan

ding 

Date of 
allotme

nt 

Redempti
on Date/ 
Schedule 

Credit 
Rating 

Secured / 
unsecured 

Security 

merely as 
a surety.  

7 KIIFB 
Domest
ic 
Bonds – 
Series 
III 
KERA
LA 
INFRA
STRUC
TURE 
INVET
SMEN
T 
FUND 
BOAR
D 2034 
(“Re-
issuanc
e 
Domest
ic 
Bonds 
Series 
III”) 

INE658
F08227, 
INE658
F08235, 
INE658
F08284, 
INE658
F08276, 
INE658
F08268, 
INE658
F08250 
AND 
INE658
F08243 

4-10 
Years 
under 7 
different 
STRPPs 
A 
though 
G 

9.49 149.87 
Crores 

24/10/2
024 

08/01/202
8 to 
08/10/203
4 

AA 
(CE)/S
table 
by 
India 
Rating
s and 
Resear
ch 
private 
Limite
d and 
Acuite 
Rating
s & 
Resear
ch 
Limite
d 

Unsecured Unsecure
d, Rated, 
Listed, 
Redeema
ble, 
Taxable, 
Non-
Converti
ble 
Bonds in 
the form 
of non-
convertib
le 
debenture
s 
supported 
by an 
unconditi
onal and 
irrevocab
le 
guarantee 
by the 
GoK as a 
principal 
debtor 
and not 
merely as 
a surety.  

 
Additionally, the Issuer has issued unsecured and unlisted bonds in the form of promissory notes (7.50% 
redeemable non-convertible KIIFB bonds) to Kerala State Financial Enterprises Limited for outstanding 
principal amount of INR 1167.40.14 1473.14 Crore (guaranteed by a guarantee provided by GoK), as of 
30 September 2024 31 March 2024 (“Promissory Note Bonds”).  

6. Paragraph 13(j)(i) of Section 2 of the General Information Document 

Enforcement Directorate Investigation  

In connection with the Masala Bonds, the Directorate of Enforcement (“ED”) had issued several 
summons to the Issuer’s officials from 3 February 2021 onwards (“Summons”). The Summons have 
been issued under Section 37 of the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, read with Section 131(1) 
of the Income Tax Act, 1961 and Section 30 of the Civil Procedure Code, 1908. The Issuer and its 
officials have complied with the requirements under the Summons and have provided all information 
requisitioned by the ED. Till date, no formal complaint has been filed by the ED against the Issuer.  
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In this connection, the Issuer has filed a writ petition bearing number 26228 of 2022 before the Hon’ble 
High Court of Kerala for quashing the Summons and to restrict the ED from undertaking any action 
pursuant to the Summons. The Hon’ble High Court of Kerala by way of order dated 11 October 2022 in 
the writ petition has restricted ED from issuing further summons and the matter is currently sub-judice. 
The Hon’ble High Court of Kerala vide order dated 14 December 2023, partly allowed the writ petition 
and set aside the summons issued by ED to the officials of the Issuer.  

Subsequently, ED has issued summons to the Issuer’s officials on 5 January 2024 and 7 February 2024 
and the Issuer has filed a writ petition bearing number 1377 of 2024 before the Hon’ble High Court of 
Kerala challenging such summons. Thereafter the matter was posted before the Hon’ble High Court of 
Kerala on various occasions. The Hon’ble High Court was pleased to pass an interim order in the writ 
petition bearing number 1377 of 2024 directing the ED to maintain status quo, which was extended on 
subsequent occasions.  

The writ petition bearing number 1377 of 2024 was finally heard by the Hon’ble High Court of Kerala 
on 24 July 2024 and the Hon’ble High Court of Kerala was pleased to reserve the matter for judgment. 
The Judgment of the Hon’ble High Court of Kerala in writ petition bearing number 1377 of 2024 is still 
awaited as on date. 

7. Paragraph 13(j)(ii) of Section 2 of the General Information Document 

Directorate General of GST Intelligence Investigation 

In connection with the Masala Bonds, the Directorate General of GST Intelligence has issued a show 
cause notice dated 18 May 2022 to the Issuer, requesting the Issuer to provide the reason for not paying 
service tax on the services received by it from foreign entities under Sections 73 and 50 of the Central 
Goods and Service Tax Act, 2017, Section 20 of the Integrated Goods and Service Tax Act, 2017 and 
corresponding provisions of the Kerala State Goods and Service Tax Act, 2017. The Issuer responded to 
the notice vide its letter dated 29 April 2023 and appeared in the personal hearing on 2 May 2023 
conducted by the Additional Commissioner of Central Goods and Service Tax and Central Excise, 
Thiruvananthapuram (“AC GST”) stating that the concerned services were non-taxable under Applicable 
Law. The orders from the AC GST passed an order on 23 November 2023 in which the proposals made 
vide the show cause notice dated 18 May 2022 were confirmed without considering the Issuer’s 
arguments conclusively (in the Issuer’s opinion). The order of the AC GST has been challenged by the 
Issuer in appeal before the Appellate Commissioner on 28 February 2024. 

The appeal filed before the Appellate Commissioner was heard on 29 February 2024 and has been 
reserved for orders. The final order for the appeal is yet to be passed by the Appellate Authority.  
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Rs. In Lakhs

 As at 
30.09.2024 

 As at 
31.03.2024 

 Unaudited  Audited 

I. EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

1 Initial Corpus Fund 3,32,702                         3,32,702                         
2 Corpus Fund - Revolving ( shown on the asset side ) -                                 -                                 

3 Non-current liabilities
(a) Long-term borrowings 18,72,854                       17,88,950                       
(b) Other Long term liabilities 6,956                              7,100                              

4 Current liabilities
(a) Short-term borrowings 2,54,127                         2,85,204                         
(b) Other current liabilities 20,552                            21,945                            

Total 24,87,192                       24,35,901                       

II. ASSETS

1 Non-current assets

(a) Property, plant and equipment and Intangible Asset

(i)Tangible assets 468                                 471                                 
(ii)Intangible assets 513                                 586                                 
(b) Non-current investments 801                                 426                                 
(c) Long-term loans and advances 6,23,958                         5,52,026                         
(d)Corpus Fund - Revolving being the Statutory 
contribution receivable from GoK

9,71,797                         7,49,129                         

(e) Other Non Current Assets 5,388                              5,357                              

2 Current assets
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 6,41,239                         7,19,031                         
(b) Short term loans and advances 1,30,383                         89,361                            
(c)Corpus Fund - Revolving being the Statutory 
contribution receivable from GoK

1,04,713                         3,13,000                         

(d) Other current assets 7,933                              6,513                              

Total 24,87,192                       24,35,901                       

Notes forming part of unaudited financial statements 1-20

Report on Limited Review
As per our report of even date attached

for Suri & Co
Dr. K. M. ABRAHAM (CFA) Chartered Accountants
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Thiruvananthapuram 
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Unaudited Balance Sheet as at 30.09.2024

For KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT 
FUND BOARD 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the unaudited financial statements

Particulars



 Half year 
ended 

 Half year 
ended 

Year ended

30-09-2024 30-06-2024 30-09-2023 30-09-2024 30-09-2023 31-03-2024

Unaudited Unaudited  Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Audited

I. Revenue:

i)

Recoupment of statutory contribution from 
Government of Kerala  from Corpus Fund 
for financing of direct project cost as per 
Contra 

72,167                79,875                1,18,328        1,52,042        2,95,810        4,64,195        

ii)
Interest income from financial assistance 
for revenue generating projects

15,764                14,963                13,758           30,728           26,665           55,811           

iii)
Interest income from deposits and 
investments

4,446                  5,722                  3,362             10,167           7,186             17,188           

iv) Profit on Sale of Mutual Fund Investment -                      -                      -                  -                  -                  17,103           

v) Other income 85                      69                      1                    154                19                  8,634             

Total Revenue (I) 92,462                1,00,629             1,35,449        1,93,091        3,29,680        5,62,930        

II. Expenses:

i)
Financing of direct cost of projects -Out of 
Corpus Fund 

72,167                79,875                1,18,328        1,52,042        2,95,810        4,64,195        

ii) Employee benefits expense 222                    213                    188                435                374                784                

iii) Finance costs 49,573                48,360                44,119           97,933           85,680           1,83,464        

iv) Depreciation and amortisation expense 60                      57                      256                118                511                989                

v) Other expenses 2,771                  1,208                  2,083             3,979             5,919             10,638           

Total expenses (II) 1,24,794             1,29,714             1,64,973        2,54,507        3,88,294        6,60,070        

III. Profit / (Loss) (I- II) (32,332)              (29,085)              (29,524)          (61,417)          (58,614)          (97,140)          

Prior Period Item (5)                       (597)                   (602)               -                 

Profit / (Loss) after prior period item (32,336)              (29,682)              (29,524)          (62,019)          (58,614)          (97,140)          

IV. Tax expense:

(1) Current tax -                      -                      -                  -                  -                  -                  

(2) Tax for Earlier years -                      -                      -                  -                  -                  -                  

(3) Deferred tax(Expense)/Income -                     -                      (158)               -                  (314)               369                

Less : Statutory contribution from GoK 
under Corpus fund utilised to meet the net 
loss (deficit from operations)for the period  
in P& L account  transferred

32,336                29,682                29,682           62,019           58,928           96,771           

V. Net Profit / (Loss) for the period -                      -                      -                  -                  -                  -                  
   

Notes forming part of unaudited financial 
statements

1-20
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Unaudited Statement of Profit and Loss for the Quarter and Half year ended 30.09.2024

 Particulars 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the unaudited financial statements

Three months ended



Rs. In Lakhs

A. Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before income tax (62,018.56)                              (58,614.45)                              
Adjustments for:
      Depreciation and amortisation expense 117.51                                    511.48                                    
      Interest income (40,894.99)                              (33,851.47)                              
      Finance Cost 97,933.19                               85,679.52                               
      Provision for conversion of loan into Non income generating project(incl accured interest) -                                              20,277.81                               
      Provision for Standard Asset 432.20                                    2,450.32                                 
Operating profit / (loss) before working capital changes (4,430.65)                                16,453.21                               
Changes in working capital:
Adjustments for (increase) / Decrease in operating assets:
     Loans and Advances (10,517.20)                              102.65                                    
     Financial assistance made to Revenue Generating Projects (72,127.68)                              (15,796.65)                              
      Non Current Investments 375.22                                    -                                              
     Other Non Current and Current Assets (1,449.91)                                (2,681.77)                                
Adjustments for increase / (Decrease) in operating liabilities:
     Other Current/Non current Liabilities (22,011.80)                              (1,67,973.93)                           
Net Changes in working capital: (1,10,162.02)                           (1,69,896.49)                           

Cash generated from operations (1,10,162.02)                           (1,69,896.49)                           
     Net income tax (paid) / refunds -                                              (258.46)                                   
Net cash from/ (used in) operating activities (A) (1,10,162.02)                           (1,70,154.95)                           

B. Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of PPE (including changes in CWIP) (41.02)                                     (15.33)                                     
(Purchase)/ disposal proceeds of Investments (375.22)                                   -                                              

10,167.49                               7,186.19                                 
-                                              (11,298.71)                              

Net cash from/ (used in) investing activities (B) 9,751.25                                 (4,127.85)                                

C. Cash flow from financing activities
Loans from :-

1,18,002.00                            92,000.22                               
       (ii) Bonds 22,947.00                               15,387.00                               
       (iii) Pravasi Dividend Scheme (86.42)                                     2,680.86                                 
       (iv)Green Domestic Bond -                                              30,002.00                               
Loans repaid during the period (88,035.38)                              (34,631.76)                              

2,08,336.51                            1,86,946.15                            
CSR and PTA fund 2,067.00                                 (94.39)                                     

Recoupment by way  of  Statutory contribution from Govt of Kerala  from Corpus Fund for direct project 
cost (other than NABARD)

(1,63,612.91)                           (2,92,319.52)                           

Interest received during the period from Deposits made out of corpus fund 627.83                                    2,267.36                                 
Finance cost paid (77,457.33)                              84,310.91                               
Fund utilised for NABARD Projects (169.70)                                   (3,490.10)                                
Net cash from/ (used in) financing activities (C)                                 22,618.59                                 83,058.73 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (77,792.17)                              (91,224.07)                              
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the quarter 7,19,031.43                            5,92,470.47                            
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period                              6,41,239.26                              5,01,246.40 
Notes: 
1. The above cash flow statement has been prepared under indirect method prescribed in  AS 3 "Cash 
Flow Statements ".

0.02                                        0.10                                        
16.74                                      74.58                                      

2,73,623.68                            2,02,709.16                            
               Other deposit, savings and current accounts 34,896.89                               16,412.48                               

3,32,701.92                            2,82,049.28                            
-                                              0.80                                        

6,41,239.26                             5,01,246.40                             
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Report on Limited Review
As per our report of even date attached

Dr. K. M. ABRAHAM (CFA)
FUND MANAGER for Suri & Co

Chartered Accountants
FRN.004283S

G Rengarajan
Thiruvananthapuram (Partner)
Date : 07-11-2024 M.No. 219922

Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
2nd Floor,  Felicity Square, MG Road,  Statue, Trivandrum 695 001
Unaudited Cash Flow Statement for the Half year ended 30.09.2024

Particulars
 Half year ended    

30.09.2023
Unaudited 

 Half year ended     
30.09.2024
Unaudited 

Notes forming part of unaudited financial statements
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the unaudited financial statements

For KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD 

               Cash on Hand
               Balance with Treasury
               Term Deposits/Sweep

               Other Bank balance in Treasury Accounts
               In Masala Bond Sinking Fund Account

2. Components of cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks and cash on hand

Interest income received out of fixed deposit
Investment in Govt Securities

       (i) Banks and Financial Institutions 

Statutory contribution from GoK



Notes forming part of Unaudited Standalone Financial results for the Quarter and Half year ended 30-09-2024

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

The above Standalone Unaudited Financial Results of Statement of Profit & Loss, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement for the quarter and half year
ended September 30, 2024 were approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 07.11.2024.These financial results have been subjected to
limited review by the Statutory Auditors of the Board and a Limited Review Report has been issued.

Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board (referred to as KIIFB) was established on 11.11.1999 under the Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Act
1999 (Act 4 of 2000) with the main objective of financing the investment in critical and large infrastructure projects in the State of Kerala.
Comprehensive modification of the Act and Scheme has been made through an amendment Ordinance in August 2016. The unaudited financial results of
KIIFB have been prepared under the historical cost convention, in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles and Accounting Standard-
25 Interim Financial Reporting issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and as per Regulation 52 of the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015 KIIFB follows Mercantile System of Accounting and
recognizes significant items of income and expenditure on accrual basis, except to the extent otherwise stated. KIIFB, being a body corporate and not a
company as defined under Companies Act, 2013 do not adopt the Ind AS prescribed under Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Rules, 2015.

The Board has applied significant accounting policies in the preparation of these financial results consistent with those followed in the annual financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2024.

Payments towards direct project cost are accounted on actual payment basis. Centage/ additional centage charges to SPVs are accounted based on claims
received. The centage charges are paid as a percentage of project cost to SPVs as per Government order. The liability for centage is recognized based on
claims submitted through invoices after proper verification and authentications/ approval of claim by the management. Centage are allocated to project
cost based on Government Order and General body approval. Expenses towards Projects include expenses directly attributable to projects such as
Technical Resource Centre expenditure, Detailed Project Report support services, independent quality audit & design review charges, Land Acquisition
unit expenses, testing equipment's and Centage /additional centage charges which are allocated to cost of projects.

Promotional and advertisement expenses includes expense incurred towards media, promotional and advertisement of Rs 489.09 lakhs incurred through
parties to whom such works were outsourced. The selection of these parties were made on a nomination basis and subsequently ratified by Board in GB
dated 04.03.2024 and the rates are considered competitive considering the nature and exigency of the work involved and also taking into account the prior
experience with these parties. Out of the above, an amount of Rs 488.09 lakhs is incurred towards media and promotional campaign activities - KSFE
Pravasi Chitty and KNRKWB Customers & Other Pravasi malayalis serving as one of the major funding source of KIIFB.

The Corpus Fund-Revolving represents capital investment of State Goverment in KIIFB to meet its long term/short term capital requirements for
financing the infrastructure projects in the state as per the objectives in the KIIF ACT,2016 (Amended).The Corpus Fund-Revolving is received on an
annual basis towards financial support for Infrastructure Development by way of statutory contribution being share of KIIFB from Cess on petrol and
diesel and share of KIIFB from Motor Vehicle Tax as per the KIIF Act.The Government had sanctioned Rs 3,13,000 lakhs for reappropriation as per
GO(Rt)No.3157/2024/Fin. dated 01-04-2024.

During the half year ended September 30,2024,an amount of Rs 2,08,287.27 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs.1,86,843 lakhs) was received from
Government of Kerala towards Motor Vehicle Tax and Cess on Petrol and Diesel which was credited to Corpus Fund-Revolving account. Further KIIFB
had received Rs 2,000 lakhs vide GO(Rt) No.5195/2023/Fin dated 10/07/2023 being the first installment of Legislative Assembly Constituency Asset
Development Scheme (LAC ADS) share towards the project "Construction of isolation wards in 140 Assembly constituencies" and Rs 67 lakhs vide
GO(Rt) No.6076/2023/Fin dated 17/08/2023 being the LAC-ADS share towards the projects under Protection of Public Education Mission (PPE
Mission) in three schools which were also credited to the Corpus fund-Revolving . Interest generated from investments made directly out of corpus fund
amounting to Rs 627.83 lakhs forms part of statutory contribution and such interest is to be mandatorily used for the objectives of KIIFB.

The balances under statutory contribution receivable from GoK of Rs 10,76,510 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 9,43,625.48 lakhs) is considered good
and recoverable by the management. According to the management there is no uncertainty with regard to ultimate recovery, based on financial operational
model of KIIFB as per the KIIF Act, 1999 (amended by act of 2016) since such amounts are expected to be recouped from the statutory contribution
receivable from the State Government in future years. Current portion of statutory contribution receivable has been ascertained on the basis of Budgetary
allotment of statutory contribution as per annual Finance Act 2024 of GoK and balance amount has been shown under Non-Current Asset.

KIIFB had received Rs 33,064.05 lakhs till 30.09.2024 from Pravasi Dividend Scheme implemented by Kerala Non-Resident Keralites Welfare
Board(KNRKWB), a statutory body which came into existence under Kerala Non-Resident Keralites Welfare Act,2008. KIIFB is liable to pay interest at
the rate specified in the agreement to the beneficiaries for three year from the date of deposit of funds. The Principal portion of the loan along with the
accrued interest will be used by KIIFB for their operations. After three years KIIFB is liable to pay monthly dividend to the members/ beneficiaries till
end of their life. During the half year ended 30.09.2024,KIIFB had incurred interest expense of Rs 531.77 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 1048.02 lakhs)
against the fund received.
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10

a)

b)

11

Category Type of Category
No. of 

Projects
Loans                      

(Rs in lakhs)
Interest Accrued     

(Rs in Lakhs)
Total                   

(Rs in Lakhs)

             I.         Projects which have high commercial viability 7                   7,29,208.93                    15,663.97 7,44,872.89

           II.         Projects which have medium commercial viability 6                       8,933.46                         100.13 9,033.59

                                -   

         IV.         Projects which have no commercial viability 0                                  -                                   -                             -   

Total 16 7,90,533.91 15,764.10 8,06,298.01

11.1

11.2

0.40%

100%
100%
75%
50%

KIIFB has introduced revised prudential norms on Income recognition, asset classification and provisioning relevant and applicable for long term
infrastructure projects i.e. 01-04-2023 as per the decision of general body through circular resolution dated on 13.04.2023 and the same has been revised
in the 46th General Body meeting of KIIFB held on 02-09-2023.As per the said norms provisions for standard assets (for all revenue generating projects)
at 0.4% on the outstanding loan balance and accrued interest amounting to Rs.3059.03 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 2,450.32 lakhs) has been provided
in the books of accounts as on September 30,2024. As per the said norms, an asset is recognised as Non-performing when there is arrears of principal or
interest overdue for more than twelve months only. Once an asset is recognised as non-performing (Substandard or lower), entire unrealised interest is
reversed, and income is accounted for on cash basis only. 

As per revised IRACP norms, KIIFB has classified projects into four categories based on the viability of projects into High, Medium, Low and no
commercial viability projects .As per the provisions of IRACP Norms Projects identified and categorised as Category 1 or 2 earlier but later
recategorized as Category 3 projects ,entire interest accrued in the past period shall be reversed. Hence for such projects IRACP Norms are not applicable
from the effective date of classification till the such repayment agreement are executed or project identified as loan in books of accounts whichever is
earlier. Provisioning of non performing assets is done as per norms as under:

The assets are classified as follows.

Up To One year

II.   Substandard Assets -Beyond 12 months  but less than 24 months overdue.
III.   Doubtful Assets -Beyond 24 months overdue.
IV.   Loss Assets -fully written off subject to security value realisation
V.  In case of revenue generating projects (RGP) for which repayment agreements are pending to be entered and disbursement is more than 40% -such
RGP will be considered as substandard assets after 24 months from the date of 40% payment milestone has been reached or from the date of identification
of the project  as RGP in the books of accounts ,whichever is later.

Provisioning Norms

Type of Asset

Standard Asset
Substandard Asset
Beyond 12 months and up to 18 months overduefor repayment agreements executed and beyond 24 months 
and upto 30 months overdue for not executed

Beyond 18 months and up to 24 months overdue for repayment agreements executed and beyond 30 months 
and up to 36 months overdue for not executed.

Doubtful Assets

Provision Required (%)-Expected Credit 
Loss

25%

10%

One to three years
More than three years
Loss Assets

Prudential norms on Income recognition and asset classification and provisioning for long term infrastructure projects was adopted by KIIFB w.e.f 01-04-
2023,vide circular resolution stated above and the same has been revised in the 46th General Body meeting of KIIFB held on 02-09-2023.KIIFB has
classified projects into four categories based on the viability of projects. The categorisation of loans is as follows:

         III.         Project which have low commercial viability 3 52,391.53 52,391.53

On the facts of the case, in respect of many of the revenue generating projects financed, there have been certain inherent delays during implementation
which according to the management does not have adverse effect on the recovery of loans granted considering the operational model of KIIFB. Moreover,
since the borrowers are government owned or controlled agencies, the loans are considered by the management as good and recoverable based on the
confirmations from the borrowers including for land acquisition projects aggregating to Rs 5,06,001 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 3,95,397 lakhs)
(Total Loan outstanding as on September 30,2024).

Interest income for Category 1 projects are recognised at Average Cost of Domestic Borrowing (ACDB) of KIIFB reset every six months in a calendar
year with monthly compounding (in some cases rate agreed at the time of sanction), Category 2 projects at discounted rate of interest as compared to
category 1 and with respect to other two categories interest income is not recognised in the books of accounts.
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Dr. K. M. ABRAHAM (CFA)
FUND MANAGER

Thiruvananthapuram 
Date : 07-11-2024 G Rengarajan

(Partner)
M.No. 219922

Loan agreements are pending to be executed as on September 30,2024 with KSFDC for two project loans having loan outstanding aggregating to Rs
1376.24 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 600.20 lakhs) although more than 40 % stage of disbursement as per the terms of the tripartite agreement between
KIIFB, the SPV and the concerned Government department had exceeded. Steps are in process for the execution of the loan agreement, which is pending
requisite clearance from the concerned department of the Government of Kerala.

Interest income recognised during the quarter and half year includes an amount of Rs 9,209.30 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 2103.37 lakhs ) on which
40% stage of disbursement has not been reached. The rate of interest chargeable is fixed only on reaching of 40% stage is reached as per the terms of
tripartite agreement for the project. However, interest on such borrowing has been recognised based on rates agreed upon at the time of sanction of the
loan/ ACDB rate as decided by the management.

Interest income has been recognised on loans given to SPV's revenue generating projects in cases where there has been certain delays on implementation
of the projects financed by such loans. According to the management, payment of interest is not contingent on such projects earning revenue. The
management have further asserted that certain inherent delays which have occurred during implementation stage of infrastructure projects does not have
any adverse effect on the recoverability of loans granted considering the operational model of KIIFB. Hence, these loans are considered good and expected 
to be recovered from SPVs which are all government owned or controlled agencies.

Finance for Revenue Generating Projects treated as Loan receivable from SPV in the books are appraised by the Project Appraisal Division and
implementation is closely monitored. The division comprise of high-level technical expert team under the Executive Director, who is a senior chartered
engineer having vast experience in the field of construction and infrastructure. Each Project is reviewed by Project Manager as a Nodal Officer and
supervised by Senior General Manager of the Division. The detailed project report is appraised by the division which places its detailed appraisal report
before the EC/ Board of KIIFB. The detailed project report contains comments on review from technical, economic, financial, environment, social and
institutional angle. The functions as above is governed by the norms stipulated in Standard Operating Procedures for project acceptance and SPV on
boarding. In the opinion of management, the appraisal function done is sound and operating effectively.

For Suri and Co
Chartered Accountants

FRN:004283S

KIIFB receives income from KIIFCON Private Limited, a 100% subsidiary for rendering professional and consultancy services. The Chief Executive
Officer approves the income computation and terms prior to issuing the invoice. The contractual agreement for rendering these services will be executed
shortly. During the half year ended September 30,2024 an income of Rs 116.20 lakhs has been accounted as consultancy charges in the Statement of
profit and loss. The balance receivable as on 30-09-2024 is 249.03 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 177.68 lakhs) which is confirmed by KIIFCON Private
Limited.

KIIFB had incurred an expenditure of Rs 1180.33 Lakhs (Previous year to date Rs.457.65 lakhs) during the half year towards KSFE Software expenses
which includes an amount of Rs.1056.10 lakhs (Previous year to date Rs 435.17 lakhs) incurred through external agency (a Government PSU - KSIE
Limited) to which the activities for server hosting and licence renewal charges of KSFE Pravasi software have been outsourced by KIIFB on nomination
basis (single quote) which was noted by the Board dated 03.03.2024.These expenses are supported by invoices of first level intermediary agencies. KSIE
Limited has raised invoice on KIIFB ranging from 3% to 10% over cost incurred depending upon the nature of service provided through the intermediary
agency to whom the services have been sub-contracted.

The aggregate operating cost (Server hosting and License renewal charges) paid to KSIE Ltd till date from the date of commencement amounts to Rs
5,020.81 Lakhs against the capital cost of acquisition/ development of software of Rs 3,037.94 Lakhs (Gross carrying value). In terms of the MoA
between KIIFB and KSFE dt.01.06.2019, a separate agreement is to be entered into between the parties for recovery of the total cost (operating and
capital) of the software from KSFE which is pending to be executed.

GST department has issued a demand amounting to Rs.1,633.19 lakhs towards tax liability and Rs.163.32 lakhs towards applicable penalty under the act
vide order No.10/2023-24 GST ADC Section 73(9) of CGST Act 2017 pertaining to the period from 2017-18 to 2022-23 relating to certain transactions
under reverse charge mechanism payments. The matter is disputed by KIIFB based on the facts of the case and filed an appeal to GST appellate tribunal
against the order. The same is pending for disposal as at the reporting date.

Previous period's figures have been regrouped / reclassified, wherever necessary to conform to current period's classification.

For KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD 
Report on Limited Review

As per our report even date attached



Rs. In Lakhs
Year Ended

30-09-2024 30-06-2024 30-09-2023 30-09-2024 30-09-2023 31-03-2024
Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Audited

a. Debt- Equity Ratio 6.39 6.13 6.67 6.39 6.67 6.23
b. Debt Service Coverage Ratio 0.13 0.16 0.19 0.19 0.23 0.18
c. Interest Service Coverage Ratio 0.35 0.39 0.34 0.37 0.32 0.48

d.
Outstanding Redeemable Preference Shares (Quantity 
And Value)

NA NA NA NA NA NA

e.
Capital Redemption Reserve/Debenture Redemption 
Reserve

NA NA NA NA NA NA

f. Net Worth 3,32,701.92               3,32,701.92               2,82,049.28                 3,32,701.92                2,82,049.28                3,32,701.92                
g. Net Profit After Tax (32,336.44)               (29,682.12)               (29,524.16)                  (62,018.56)                 (58,928.46)                 (96,771.09)                 
h. Earnings Per Share NA NA NA NA NA NA
i. Current Ratio 3.22 3.29 2.45 3.22 2.45 3.67
j. Long Term Debt To Working Capital 2.46 2.99 1.98 2.46 1.98 1.88
k. Bad Debts To Account Receivable Ratio NA NA NA NA NA NA
l. Current Liability Ratio 0.13 0.13 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.15

m. Total Debts To Total Assets 0.86 0.85 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.85
n. Debtors Turnover NA NA NA NA NA NA
o. Inventory Turnover NA NA NA NA NA NA
p. Operating Margin (%) NA NA NA NA NA NA
q. Net Profit Margin (%) NA NA NA NA NA NA

Items included in numerator and denominator for computing the ratios:
a) Debt-Equity Ratio

Debt-Equity Ratio = Total Debt / Shareholder's Equity

b) Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR)

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) = Earning for Debt Service/ Debt service

Debt service = Interest + Principal Repayments+ Lease payments

c) Interest Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR)

Interest Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR)= Earnings available for Interest Service/ Gross Interest

d) Networth
Networth is used to measure the value of an entity
Networth = Total Asset - Total outside Liabilities which is equal to Initial Corpus Fund

e) Current Ratio
Current Ratio = Current Assets/ Current Liabilities
Current Assets include - Current investments, cash and bank balances (including interest accrued thereon) and short term loans and advances
Current Liabilities include -  Accrued liabilities, statutory liabilities, income tax liabilities and other short term provisions

f) Long Term Debt To Working Capital
Long Term Debt To Working Capital shows the financial leverage of a firm.
Long Term Debt = Non current borrowing + Current maturity of long term debt
Net working capital = Current Asset - Current liability excluding current borrowing

g) Current Liability Ratio
Current Liability Ratio = Current liability / Total Liabilities

h)Total Debts to Total Assets
Total Debt to Total Asset ratio = Outstanding Debt/Total Assets
Outstanding Debt = Long term borrowings +Other long term liabilities+short term borrowings

Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
2nd Floor, Felicity Square, MG Road, Statue, Trivandrum 695 001

Additional disclosure as per clause 52(4) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015

Particulars
Quarter Ended Half Year Ended

* For the Purpose of Debt Equity Ratio, Initial Corpus Fund being in nature of fixed capital has been treated as equity since KIIFB has no share capital as per KIIF Act 1999 as amended in 2016.
* For the purpose of Current Ratio, Current Asset also includes Current portion of Statutory Contribution receivable from Govt. Of Kerala

Earning for Debt Service = Net Profit before taxes + Non-cash operating expenses like depreciation and other amortizations + 
Interest + other adjustments like loss on sale of Fixed assets etc.

Earning for Interest Service= Net Profit before taxes + Non-cash operating expenses like depreciation and other amortizations + 
Interest + other adjustments like loss on sale of Fixed assets etc.

For the Purpose of Debt Equity Ratio, Initial Corpus Fund being in nature of fixed capital has been treated as equity since KIIFB has no share capital as per KIIF Act 1999 as amended in 2016.

* The figures for the previous quarter ended June 30, 2024, and the previous year ended March 31, 2024, have been reclassified in the current half-year, resulting in minor deviations in the ratios 
reported for the respective dates.

*Certain ratios/line items with remarks "NA" are not applicable since KIIFB is a Non Corporate Entity.



Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
Statement of Standalone Assets and Liabilities as at 31.O3.2024

(Figures in Lakhs Rs.)

Particulars As at
I t.0J.202.1

As at
31.03.2023

Audited Audited
L

I

2

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Initial Corpus Fund

Corpus Fund - Revolving ( shown on the asset side )

Non-current liabilities
(a) Long-term borrowings
(b) Defened tax liabilities
(c) Other Long term liabilities

Current liabilities
(a) Short-term borrowings
(b) Other cunent liabilities

ASSETS

Non-current assets

(a) Property, plant and equipment and Intangible Asset

(i)Tangible assets

(ii)lntangible assets

(b) Non-current investmenls
(c) Deferred tax assets

(d) Long-term loans and advances

(e) Corpus fund revolving being the Statutory
contribution receivable from GoK -Non current

(f) Other Non Cunent Assets

Current assets
(a) Cunent investments
(b) Cash and cash equivalents
(c) Short term loans and advances

(d) Corpus fund revolving being the Statutory
contribulion receivable from GoK -Current
(e) Other currenl assets

3,32,701.92

r 7,88,950.02

7,099.67

2.85,203.82

2.82.049.28

14,32,257.88

368.79

5,401.25

3,44,923.44

21.945.1O t 7.058.86

2{,J5,900.53 20,82,059.50

II.
1

470.91

586.13

425.52

5,24,104.58

7 ,49,129.01

5,351 .24

7.19.01 I .,13

t,)7,2.82.31

3, r3,000.00

6,513..10

485.21

1 ,473.66
425.52

4,86,946.0 r

4,97,t06.59

5,981.87

1,05,175.02

5,92,470.47
I ,05,791 .71

2,80,900.00

5,303.44

2.r,35,900.53 20,82,059.50
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Kelrle lnfrastruatur€ Investment Fund Bosrd
Statement ofStendelone Cesh Florrs for the verr end€d 31.03.2024

(fi,rures in l.sLhs Rs.)

Partirulars For thc y.rr end.d For th. y€rr .trd.d
31.03.2024 31.03.2023

Ardil€d \udiled
A. Crsh flow from op. rrlitrg ,ctiviti.s
Profit ttfor. itrcom. t x
Adiustnenb for:

Depreciatron and amortisation expense

Interest income
Finance Cost
Profit on Sale ofMutual Fund Investment

Provision for conversron of loan into Non income generating project(inclaccrued interest)

Dividend Income
Interest on income tax refund
hov,sion for Revenue generating project written back

[.an Asset conve(ed to non income generatjng project KINFRA
Receivable Written off
Provision for TDS Asset FY 2019-20

Provision for standad asset

Op.rrtiry profit / (loss) bcfor. working crpitrl chrnges

Chrnscs in worldnq ceoit|li
Adtuslmenls for (rncrease) / Decrease in opfmtinB assels

t-oans and Advances

Financial assistance made to Revenue Generating Projects

Other Non Currenl and Current Assets

Adjustrnents for increase / (Decrease) in operating liabilities:
Other CuneniNon current Liabiliries

N.t Chrngcs itr working c.pitrl:

Cssh g.n.rrtcd from opcr.tions
Net income ta\ (paid)/ refunds

NEt cish from/ (uscd in) oper.ling , ctiviti.s (A)

B. Crsh flow from inv€sting rctivid.s
Purchase ofPPE (including changes in CWIP)
Interest income received out of fixed deposit
(Purchasey Sale proceeds of Investments

Dividend lncome
N.t crsh fronr/ (us.d in) inv.sting rctiviti.s (B)

C. Crsh flow from fin.ncirg rctivitics
lnans from :-

(i) Banks and Financial Institutions
(ii) Bonds

(iii) Pravasi Dividend Scheme

Bonds repaid during the year

Loans repald during the year

Statutory contribution Iiom GoK
Additional Financial Support for Infrastructure Development

CSR and PTA fund
Unutilis€d portion of LAC ADS share repaid

Recoupment by way of Statutory contributron from Govt ofKerala from Corpus Fund for direct
project cost (other than NABARD)
Inter€st received during the period fiom Deposits made out ofcorpus fund

Finance cost paid

Fund utilised for NABARD Projects

Nct crsh frory' (lrscd in) fiutrcitrg rctiviti.s (C)

Net itrcr..s. (d.cr.rs.) itr crsh rtrd crsh cquiv.lcnts (A+B+C)
Cash and cash equivalenls at the beginning ofthe financial year

C.sh.nd c.sh.quivrlents ri.trd ofth. y.sr
Notcs:

(423r-E3't 49,672.U

1,26,56096 H,128. r l
5.92,470.4'7 5,8t,342 36

7,19,031.13 5.r.)2.170..17

(97,t 39 88)

989 42

112,998 t7t
r,83,464 l5
( r7, r03 06)

9,4',75.92

(51 6r )
(45 01)

(8.402.64)

2.565.1;

754 90

14,978.16
(l r,455.85)

(r,319.69)

( r2,373 8r)
(9,436 29)

(9,436 29)
'799 31

(85.327 6'.7)

1,100.04
(63,059.78)

r,4r,696.48

39,384.84

4,055.6;
164.56

375.7'7

38.389.88

17.98
(45,998.59)

(368.67)

(2,t48.61)
( r0,r08.0r)

(10,108.01)

713 56
(Il.636.92) (9..]9J.15)

(87.s7)
r7,187 58

t,22,218.09
51.61

(23s. r0)
r6,5r8.73

(4s,413.09)

t.39.J29.7t (29,rt9..16)

3,32,26r.68
2,66.868 00

t ,50'7 17
(2,15,000.00)

(88,664.93)

2.80,828.9r

42.250.00
24 64

(94.39)

(4.59.15s.83)

4,486 69

( 1.64,505 64)

(5,038.73)

4,7 3,204 .',78

26,433.00
3,520 62

(93,967.60)

2,47 ,8',7 6.35

436l0

(4,61,291.31)

1,163.7 r

( 1,34,962 I5)
(12,74r 68)

L Thc sbove cash llo\! stitement hfls b€en prepared under indirect mcthod prcscribcd in AS 3 "Cash rlou,Staicmcnrs "

2 Components ofcash and cash equivalents

Brlances wilh brnks
Cash in Hand
Balance with Treasury
Term DeFsitvs\\eep
Other deposit. savings and current accounts

other Bank balance in Treasury Accounrs

In Masala Bond Sinkrng Fund

0.06
0.02

1,82,103.95

53,224 48

3.32,70t.92

1.51,00t 00

0.02
0 0l

2,86,t56'12
21,24t 38

2-82,049.28

23.06

.iatt - ,' ,

Fixed Deposjt *rth
1,19,031-43 5,92,170,41
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Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
Notes to Standalone financial results for the quarter and year ended March 31 2024

I The above financial results of Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board (KIIFB) has been reviewed by the
executive commitee and approved by members of the General Body in respective meetings held on 2 5-05.2024.The
statutory auditors of KIIFB have carried out audit ofthese financial resulls.

2 Kerala Infrdstructure Investment Fund Board ( referred to as KIIFB) was established on I l.l1.1999 under the
Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Act 1999 (Act 4 of 2000) with the main objective of financing the
investment in critical and large infrastructure projects in the State ofKerala. Comprehensive modification ofthe Act
and Scheme has been made through an amendment Ordinance in August 2016. The financial results of KIIFB have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles
and as per Regulation 52 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations 2015 ('Listing Regulations'). KIIFB follows Mercantile System of Accounting ard
recognizes significant items of income and expenditure on accrual basis, except to the extent otherwise stated.
KIIFB, being a body corporate and not a company as defined under Companies Act,2013 do not adopt the Ind AS
prescribed under Companies (lndian Accounting Standard) Rules, 2015. KIIFB adopted the Accounting Standards
prescribed by the Institute ofchartered Accountants of India.

During the year KIIFB has issued Listed Non -Convertible Debentures (NCD's/Bonds in pursuant to the provisions
ofSEBI Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements,2ol5 (LODR) and the details of which are given below.

Domestic Bond Scries I

Domcstic Bond Series I issued on 22..12.2023 amounting to Rs. 149996 lakhs at a coupon rate o1' 8.95% per annum
payable quarterll,. Non convenible domcstic bond in nature of debenture comprising ol scvcn sub series 'A' throLrgh
'G'with maturity ranging fiorn.l-10 )ears *,hich is listed in Stock cxchange IISFI Limited.

Domestic Bond Serics ll
Domestic Bond Series ll issued on 26.03.2024 amounling to Rs.6ll66 lakhs at a coupon ratc ol9.lolo per annum
payable quarterly. Non convertible domestic bond in naturc oldebentr-rre comprising ofseyen sub series'A'through
'G'u'ith maturity ranging from,l-10 years which is listed in Stock exchangc BSE Limited.

Creen Bond
Grccn bond issued on 03.07.2023 tbr an amount of Rs.30002 lakhs at coupon rate of 8.499; perannum payable
quarterly. Non convcrtiblc grccn bond in nature of debenturc comprising of seven sub series 'A' through 'G' with
maturify ranging from,1-10 years rvhich is listed in Stock exchange BSE Limited.

The abovc bonds are backed by guarantce ofGovemment ofKerala.
Maturit) Profile of Bonds

Amount in

a)

b)

c)

Maturity Profile (in Years)

(EgF$
€?lt^,.'**t$



a)

KIIFB had raiscd an amoLrnt ofRs.2l5000 Iakhs through overseas Rupee denorninated Bond ollcring (Masala
Bond) uilh the clue approval of Rcserve llank o1'India as required undcr F'orcign c\changc managcmcnt Act 1999
intheyear20l8-l9.KllFBhasalsoensuredcornpliancc\\'ilhapprovalsorperrnissions.il'an1'requiredfionr othcr
regulatory authority or Covernmcnt undcr othcr relevanl laws 'regulations as statcd in the letter of RBI in due
consultation r,vitlr cmincntjurisl and legal expert. Thesc 5 1ear tenr-rre bonds rvere issued at a colrpon rate of9.72l%
p.a. Tcnurc ofthe bond has expired during thc vcar and liabilitr towards principal and interest has bccn fully repaid
as at thc rcporting date.

-l'he llnancial results fbr the quafter ended March 3 1.202,1 and March i 1.2023 are lhe balancing figures betwccn thc
auditcd figurcs in respect ol full ilnancial vcar and special purpose linancial statement fbr thc pcriod ended
31.12.2022i the unauditcd vear to date figrrres upto the third quafier 01-the respective tinancial year *.hich havc
been subjected to limitcd revierv b1'statutorv auditors ofthe companl.

Payments torvards direct projcct cost are accounted on actual pavn]cnt basis. Centage,l additional centage chargcs to
SPVs arc accountcd baseil on claims received. TIre ccntage charlles are paid as a percentage of projcct cost 10 SPVs
as pcr Govcrnntcnt order. 'l he liabilit) fbr centagc is recognized based on claims subnitted through invoices aler
proper verification aod authenlicalions,' approval of cJairn by thc manager]ren1. Cenlage is allocated to pro.icct cost
bascd on Govemment Ordcr and Gcneral bodl approval.

Various cxpcnscs inctrrred which are directlv attributable to projects such as Tecirnical Rcsourcc Cenlre
expenditure. Detailed Project Repon suppon services. Indcpcndcnt qLralil) iludit & design revie',v charges. [-and
Acquisition unit erpenses. Testing equiprnents and Ccntage,radditional centage charucs lhich arc allocated to cost
of p(rjects. Ho$evcr, thc same are pending b be allocatcd to individual projects as at quafter end fiorr the
inception.

During thc )car. an arrount of Rs..12.250 lakhs was rcccived liorn CoK vide (lO No.5,1,r202,1,'t'ln and CiO no.
92 l0t2023illn (read rvith Order No. FA-2i503.1,2024iK III;B dated 10.01 .202,1) torrards balancc ol' motor vehicle
ta\ \!hich was crediled to Revolving (lorpus Fund. Further. KSll)C has repaicl horrorving to c\tcnt of Rs.8:102.6:l

lakhs . which rvas lully' providcd 1br in carlicr ycars and accorclingll. the provision to c\tcnt of Rs.8.102.6,1 lakhs
uas rvritten back to P&1. and cil'10 Revolving Corpus Fund. The above antounls of Rs.50652.6,1 lakhs (Rs.,12-250

lakhs plus Rs.11,102.6,1 lakhs) which rvas lr ing in the Revolving Corpus l.'und $as lranslerred lcl Inilial Corpus Fund
by thc managemenl and equivalcnt firnd rvas dircctl_v creditedt transf'errecl to spccial trcasury accolllrt earntarked lbr
initial corpus. The transfcr as above has been approved b) Covt. ol-Kerala vide (;O Rt.No ,109tt,r202.1,1Fin dated
18.05.202.1 (Rs.,12250 lakhs) and GO RT No.,10991202,1,Irin dated 18.0-s.202.1 (Rs.8.102.6'1 Iakhs).

KIIFB has introduccd rcvised prudenlial norms on Incolnc rccognition. asset classification and provisioning rclevant
and applicable lbr long term infiastructurc pro-iccts \\,.e.1 01-0.1-2023 as pcr thc dccision olgcncral body through
circular rcsolution dated on ll.0,l.202l.Furthcr bascd on I)rudential norms on Incomc rccognirion. r\sct
classiflcation and provisioning (IRACP Noms) lbr long ternr infiastructure projects \\as adopted b) KIIFB r.v.c.l0l.
0'1-2023. vidc circular resolution stated above and thc same has been revised in thc 46th Gcncral Bodv Meetins of
KllF B held on 02.09.2023.

As per the revised IRACP nonns. KIllrB has classifled projects into lbur categories based on thc viabilitl, of
projects into IIigh. Mediun. l-ou and no colnmercial viabilitv projccts. As pcr the provisions of IRACIP Norms.
pro-iect idcntificd and categorised as Category Li Il carlier but later re-categorised as catcgory III project. entire
interest accrued in the past pcriods shall be reversed. Hencc 1br such projects IRACP Nornrs are not applicable
liom the eflective date ofclassiflcation till such time repayrncnt agrccmcnt are execLrted or project identilled as loan
in books ofaccounts wi'richever is earlier. Provis ion ing ofnon perlbnring assets is done as per norms as under :

lhe a:scls ar( clas.illed as lbllo\\r :

(i) Standard Assets - up to l2 months overdue
(ii) Substandard Assets Belond l2 months but lcss than 2,1 months overdue
(iii) Doubtlul Assets - Beyond 24 months overdue
(iv) Loss Assets - fully to be written off subject Yalue realisation
(v)In case of revenue generatinS proiects agreements are pending to he entered, and

disbursemcnt is morc than,l09'o:- such R after 24 monlhs from the date
40oh payment milestone has been

accounts. whichever is later.

project as RGP in books of



b)

(D

(ii)

Norms

Type ofAsset Provision Required
(%o)- Expected Credit

Standard Assct 0.40%
Substandard Asset

Beyond l2 months and up to
18 months overdue for
repayment agreements

executed and beyond 24
months and up to 30 months
overdue for not executed.

r0%

Beyond 18 months and up to
24 months overdue for
repayment agreements

executed and beyond 30
months and up to 36 months
overdue for not executed.

25%

Doubtful Assets

Up to One year s0%
Onc to three ],ears 75%

More than three years r 00%

Loss Assets 1009/"

(iii)

(iu)
As per the IRACP norms provision for standard assets (for all revenue generating projects) at 0.4Yo on the
outstanding loan balance and accrued interest amounting to Rs.2,565.78 Lakhs has been provided in the books of
accounts as at 31.03.2024.

8

9

There are no overdues in principal and interest outstanding as at 3l .03.2024 as per terms of loan agreement.

The categorisation of loanson as per IRACP Norms and balances are as follows-

Categor] Type of Category
No. of

Projects
Loan (Rs. in

lakhs)

Interest
Accrued(Rs. in

Lakhs)

Total(Rs. in
Lakhs)

I

Projects which have
high commercial
viability

8 4,96,610.56 1,25,466.03 6,22,076.59

II

Projects which have
medium commercial
viabiliW

6 17.461.56 l,906.48 19,368.04

III
Projects which have
low commercial
viability

2 30,323.88 t0,134.24 40,458. l2

IV
Projects which have
no commercial
viability

ik;:ffi-

Total s,.1,1,396.00 r,37,506.75 6,81,902.7s



9.1 At the meeting ofCEO. Principal Secretary oflndustrics deparlrnent ancl KSIDC otllcials hcld on 24.06.2023 it rvas

decided to place before the general bodl'of KIll-B. a proposal lbr conversion ofthc proicct Bio 160 lit-e science
park phase I rvhich was hitherto trcalcd as revenue generating. into non -revenue generating project. l'lte amount
disbursed to thc project till the close of the year is Rs. i0. I I 7.04 Lakhs and accrucd intcrcst Rs.9.267.80 l.akhs uplo
31.01.2021.No interest has been recogniscd on the project subsequcnt to 31.03.2021 pending implementation of
resolulion plan. The total cost of Rs.J9.184.8,1 Lakhs ( lncl accrued interest) has been lully provicled fbr as doubtlll
and charged to P&L Aic of the preceding year as proicct cost. F'urlher in the 46th general bodl ol KIIFB revised
IRACP norrns rvas placed and thc above loan 

"vas 
ciassitred as category lll proj ect.( Proj ects rvith low cornmcrcial

viabilit)). Accordingly no inlerest has been recognised on the project. During thc ycar, an arnount ol Rs.8.102.6:1

lakhs bcing lhe unutilisecl portion of loan has been refirnded by KSllxl bascd on the proceedings of Special
tahsildar LA((;eneral).Trivandrum daled 05.02.202,1. Accordinglr the said remittance has been acljusted against the
principal arrount of loan and corresponcling provision for loss macle in prior vear has bccn rvritten back in the
books ofaccounts undcr other income.

ln addilion to the above. 46th Gcneml body held on 02.09.2021 has classilled two projects narnelv lTD00l-02-SPV
KSITIL (Amount ois including accrued interest Rs.10850.82 lakhs) and LSG 007-01-SPV KSFIB (Amount or's

including accrued intcrcst Rs.9475.92 lakhs) into lower commcrcially viable project (Categor)' lll). Horvever
repaynrent agreemenl was e\ecLrted lor thc projcct IID 001-02 a11er the balancc sheet date on l3-0:l-2024. As per

the tenrs of agreement intercst ratc rvas reduced to llxed ratc of 59./o fiom the e\isting ACDB rate. On execution of
repayment agrecmcnt, such classification of pro.ject rvas upgraded to category II treating it as ad.justing cvcnl as per
AS-.1 and dilferential excess interest amounling to Rs.263.26 lakhs has bccn revcrsed lo inlercsl income ofthe year.

Additional provision amounting to Rs.9475.92 lakhs has bccn nrade in books of accounts towards outstanding loan

amount and accrued interest till 31.03.2021 lin LSG 007-01 project bcing classilied lo category Ill during the year.

No interest inconre has bccn recognised during the currcnt \ear lbr said proiect.

On lacls of the case. in respcct ofmany ol-the revenue gcncratinq projects llnanced. there have been certain inherent
delays during inrplementation u'hich according to lhe rnanagcmcnt does no1 have adverse ellect on the recovcry ol
loans grantcd considcring the operational rnodcl of Klllrl]. Moreover. since the borrorvcrs arc govcmnrcnt orvned or
controlled agencies. the loans are considered by the rnanagcmcnt as good ancl recoverable based on conflnlations
tiom the borrorvers including for land acquisition projects aggregating to Rs. 2.87.972.,10 Lakhs.(cost incurred till
31.03.2021\.

l-oaD agrccments are pending to be exccutcd with one SI'V as at 11.03.202'1 lbr loan outstanding itssrcBating ro
Rs.667.47 Jakhs although morc than,10% stage ofdisburscment as per the lerms ofthe tripartite agrccrncnt between
KIll'L]. the SPV and the conccmcd Govt depaftment has bccn cxcccdcd (uhich is less than one rnonth) as at the
year end. Steps are under process lor execution of loan agreement rvhich is pending thc requisite clearance lrom the
concemed departments ofthc Govt of Kerala.

lnterest income for Category I projccts are recognised at Avcrage Cost ()1-Domestic Borrorving (ACDB) of KllFLl
reset every six months in a calendar year with monthly conrpounding (in some cases rate agreed at thc time of
sanction). Calegory Il projects at discountcd rale of interest as comparcd to category I and with respect to othcr two
calegories interest incomc is not recognised in books ofaccounts.

l0 Balances under loan from Kerala Non-Resident Keralites Welfare Board (KNRKWB) amounts to Rs.33,800.56
lakhs. Revised Tripartite agreement is pending to be execuled between KNRKWB, KIIFB and GoK by
incorporating matters relating to treafinent / adjustment of TDS receivable for KNRKWB. Loan amount includes
interest accrued on loan upon maturity amounting to Rs-1776.23 lakhs (P.Y-1647.31 lakhs) as per the terms of
agreement and KNRKWB Scheme. Interest on loan are calcnlated hased on the records relating to loan balances
(yearly basis) tumished by KNRKWB.

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5



ll Allocation of Expenses towards Projects includcs cost incurred touarcls 'Ente Keralam' program during the year
amounting to Rs.67,1,1.96 lakhs. (iovemmcnt o1'Kerala vide G.O 2r2023/l&PRD daled 09.03.2021 has entrustcd
KIII--B to incur infrastructure and media publicity cost of 'Ente Keralam' activities. The "Lnte- Kcralam" program
expenses amounting to Rs.6,7,14.96 lakhs rvas incurred during the year through crtcnral agcncies rnainly (Kerala
State Industrial Enterprises Limitcd (Rs. 1.545.36 Lakhs), Cilobal Kerala lnitiative - (iKI (Rs. 1.861.51 Lakhs).
Indian Institute of Infiastructure & Construction rcfcrred to as IIIC (Rs. 3.047.23 I-akhs). rvhich are government
owned or controlled entiticsiNcO) to rvhom thc activitiesrllnctions were outsourccd b) Klll:8. Such outsourccd
agencics have been engaged by thc CL]O on nomination basis (single quote) \rhich has been ratillcd by the rneeling
ofthe general body hcld on 0.1.03.202:1. As dircctcd b1,24th executive cornnrincc thc invoiccs o1'1lrsl level servicc
providcrs (inlerrnediary agencies in some cases) to \\hom such services have been outsourced uerc obtained \v.r.t
IllC- GKI and KSIE Ltd. M/s Ill(l has provided with an adminislrative and lacilitation charges at 20% as provided
in the MOU and KSIE Ltd has raisl:d invoice al ,l% higher on the cost incurred by them and with respcct to GKI
such service charges is at 5%o higher on cost incurred by them. I he above e\penses uere incurrcd during the first
quarter crrdcd 30.06.2023. in the period on rvhich such programmc was undeflaken ancl these have been treated as a
part of projecl cosls shoun as contra in the slatement of P&1, account . No specilic budget provision $as made for
such expenses since thcsc are direct expenses incurrcd lbr various projects . Board has ratitled the decision takcn b1

CEO lbr award of contract on single lender basis u'ith rcspect to Ente keralanr expenscs at thcir mccting held on
04.03.202,1 (,17th gcncral bodr ).

12 Promotional and Adyertisement Erpenses
l2.l Prorrotional and advcrtiscment expenses includcs an amount of Rs.1295.,16 lakhs incurred lorvards providing

inliastructure facilitics to "Keraleeyam" event as per GO 15312023 dt.13.10.2021. l'he rvork rvas undertakcn by
Cihicf engineer Building PWD as recommended br programme committee of Kcralcc)am. Tenderinl process.
identillcation and cvaluation o1'bidder. supcrvision and execution is donc b1 Chiel-engineer tluilding PWD. Ihe
dctails ol successful biclder,ls arc ir)tinraled to KllF'B bl CF.. PWD.

I2.2 Promotional and advcrtiscnrcnt e\penses also includes expense incurrcd towards mcdia. promotional and
advertiselncnt c\penses of Rs. I 592.79 lakhs incurred through various panies to rvlrom such uorks u,erc outsourced.
I he selection of the pafty was made on a ncgolialed basis on rates considered competilive considering thc nalure
and exigenc) of the rvork involvcd ancl also taking into account the prior crpcricncc u,ith thc partv. Ihe above
expenses arc rlithin the budgetary limit approved bv general bodr'.

12.3 Out ofthc above an amount ofRs 538.80 lakhs incurred towards nalion rvide media and publicity campaign ofthc
(;overnmcnt ol Kerala against restriction on borrouing powers of the State irnposed by the Ccntral Government
since it rvould gravely in.rpact the operations of KIIFB rvhich is built up as a prcnricr agcncy providing qualitl
inliastrLrcture for tlrc Pcople of Kerala. The cxpcnses uere fully budgctcd and authorised by the Media Management
Group(MMG) of KIIFB.

l3 KIIFB had incurrcd an e\penditure of Rs.936.66 Lakhs during thc vcar torards KSIrE Software expcnscs rhich
includes an amount ol'Rs 861.22 incurrcd through external agcnc)'(a Government PStJ - KSIII I.imitcd) to which
the activities for servcr hosting and licence renerval charges of KSFE Pravasi solirvare haye been outsourced bv
KIIFB on nomination basis (single quote) which arc supported by invoices of first Ievel intermediary agencics and
invoice o1-end service providcr is nol available. KSIE Limited has raised invoicc on KIIFB at i9'o & 109/o over cost
incurred depending upon the nature of service provided through the intcrmediary agency to whom the services have
bccn sub-contracted. The aggregate operating cost (Scrvcr hosling and License rcncwal charges) paid to KSIE Ltd
during the years fiom 2020-21 to 2023-24 arrounts to Rs.3.964.81 lakhs against thc capital cost ol'acquisition,/
development of software of Rs.3.017.94 Lakhs (Gross carrying value). ln tenns of the MoA betwccn KIlt,B and
KSIiE d1.01.06.2019. a scparate agreerlrent is to bc cntered into betwecn the parties lbr recovery ofthe total cost
(operating and capital) ofthe soflrvarc liom KSFE which is pending to be executed. Thc Board had at its meeting
held on 04.03.2024 directed to expedite the sleps to enter into such an agreement and due to cenain rea:jon:.r. thc
sam( is )el lL) cr)mplicd u ilh.
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14 The balanccs under slatubr) contribution receivable from (joK ol Rs.10.62. i29.01 Iakhs is considered good and
rccovcrable and there is no uncertaint) r.vith regard to ultirnatc recovery. based on financial operational rnodel of
KIIFB as per thc KIIF Act. 1999 as such amounts are e\pected to be recoupcd iioln thc statutor)i contribution
receivablc in lirture years and arc ilrcorporaled in the Asset Liabilitv Management s]stem and represents net amoLlnl
spent as per thc opcrational rnodel implementcd by KIIITB as envisagecl in the KIIF Act.

KIIFB has put in place a s)stcmirproccss ofcomputation olAsset I-iability Management. A detailed external rcview
ofthe ALM system was conducted by independerrt IT consultants to assess the lunctionality and managcmenl of
flnancial risk of KIIFB and to conduct a comprehensive scenario-bascd testing of the ALM Systern t() ensure ils
robustness on l-5.02.2022. 'lhe observations olthe rcvi$vcrs u,as duly considered by the management o1-KllIB at
the meeting hcld on l5th February 2022 and the status ofALM rvas takcn oote 01'b),the General l3ody. Furtlrcr
tbllow up presentation ofALM uas made in lhe 47th general body held on 0,1.01.202.1. The board has takcn note of
the samc and as per lhe presentation. AI-M has been placed on record to bc sound,'stable. lhe ALM model is placed
lbr overseeing and monitoring at the periodical meetings of the Frrnd Irustee and Advisory Cornnittce (tjl AC) of
KIIFLI which conrpriscs ol entinent financial expcrts oltlrc countD, having rich and wide experiencc in the lleld of
frnancial managentent, Thc comnriltee reviews the sound functioning o1-the ALM Model and it rvas found 1o be
properly in placc to sal'eguard the best interest olKIIIrB.

Advance and receivable also includes an arnount ol tts 916.73 Lakhs incurred to\\ards c\penscs to be recovered
liom lnlbrration & Public Relations Dcpartment lor which claims arc raiscd and pending lbr more than onc )car
\vhich is subject to conllrmation as at 31.01.2024. FIowever. the balance has bccn contlrnrcd as a1 11.01.2021. In
the opinion of management such arrount is considcred good and recoverablc.

Reconciliation of F'orm 26 AS (as per Incomc Tar Act.l96l ) and Book ol accolinls - Reconcilialion of Incomc lbr
thc cunent reporting period and credit as per Form 264S with books ofaccounts could not be donc since lrornr
26AS in income 1ax web ponal is )'et 1o bc updatcd $ith the enlries lbr the 1.ear 2021-24 and c1ltct ofsuch non
reconciliation could not bc ascenained. An), adjustment lbund required shall be nrade in succccding period,lyear

Irinance for Revcnuc Generaling l)rcrjects treatcd as Loan receivable frorn SPV in thc books arc appraised bv thc
Project Appraisal Division and inrplementation is closcN monitored. fhe division cornprisc of high level technical
e\pert team undcr the Executive Director. rvho is a senior chartered enginecr having vast experience in the flcld ol'
construction and infiastructLrre. Each Prcrject is revierved by Project Manager as a Nodal Ofllccr and supervised by
Scnior Gcncral ManagerofthcDivision.'lhedetailedpro.jcctrcportisappraisedbythedivisionrvhichplacesits
detailed appraisal report betbre thc ECll Cicncral body of KIIFB. Thc dctailed project repon contains co[]rrenls on
rcvierv liom technical. cconomic. llnancial. environment, social and institutional angle. The functions as above is
governed bv thc norls slipulated in Standard Opcrating Procedures firr pro.jcct acccptance and SPV on boarding. In
the opinion ofmanagemenl. the appraisal function donc is sound and operating ef'fcctivell,.

17

19 ContingentLiabilities

l 9. l l he total income tax demands raised against K llFB ol Rs. l .59,l.38 Lakhs which are unpaid pcrtains to A Y 20 l 8- 1 9

19.2 Income tax procecdings lbr AY 2022-23 rvas conrplcted durinr the year vidc order u,'s 143(l) dated 21.03.202.1 and
disallorvances were madc by assessing aulhoritv to extcnt ol Rs -592. l6 lakhs. No dcmand has bccn raised sincc the
addition madc has been adjustcd against the loss lbr the vcar. KIIFB has liled appeal against the addition ntade as

above and is pending tbr disposal.

19.3 GST departrnent has issued a demand anounting to Rs.l613.l9 lakhs towards tax liabilitl and Rs.l63.l2 lakhs
tonards applicable penalty under thc act vide order No.1012023-2.1 GS'l ADC Section 7l(9) oICGST Act 2017
pertaininu to the period fron 20 I 7- I 8 Io 2022-23 relating to ccrtain transactions under reyerse chargc mechanism
payments. The mattcr is disputed by KIIFB based on the lhcts of the case and filcd an appcal to GS l appcllate
tribunal against thc order. Thc samc is pcnding lor disposal as at the rcporting date.

20 KIIFB is operating onlf in one segment in providing funds lbr inyestment lbr critical and large inlrastructurc
projects in the State of Kerala and hence there are

t5

t6

l8

ffiiffi"t*'
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as per AS l7 Segment Reporting.
reportable business and geographical segment



21 Notes to additional disclosures as per regulation 52(-l) ()f Securities and Exchange Board of lndia (Listing
Obligation and Disclosures Requirements) Regulation, 2015 as amendcd:

Debt equitv mtio represents total debt (long-tcrm borrorvings. shon-tern bonorvings and lease liabilit)) / tdal
eqLrity (equity sharc capital - other eqLrit)). For the Purpose o1'Debt [quit1, Ratio. Initial Corpus Fund being in
nature olllxcd capitirl has been treated as equitv since KIIFB has no sharc capital as pcr KIIIi Acl I999 as arnencled

in 20 16.

Dcbt service coverage ratio rcprcsgrts earnings availablc for dcbt scrvicing. (Net profit aiter taxes + Non cash

operating expcnses like depreciation and amortizations + Irinance costs ' other adiustments Iike loss on sale ofllxed
asscts),1 Debl service (lntercst pa)'nlcnts+ optinn prenriurr tlcasc pa\nlents - principal rcpa)lnents). Part ollhc
borrowing is repaid through refinancing. so principal rcpalnrent pertaining to such rcllrranccd Llorr(,r\ int\ ilrc nul
considcrcd. Intcrest pavnrents also includcs option premiurns and othcr borrouing costs capitalised during
constrLlction phase.

lnlerest service coveragc ratio rcpresenls earnings availablc fbr interesl servicing. (Net prof'lt aftcr taxcs Non-cash
opemting expenses likc dcprcciation and amortizations I Finance costs + other adiLrstmcnts likc loss onsalc ol'llxed
assets) /' Intcrcst service (interest pa)mentI option premium pa\mcnt). Intcrcst pa,\ntent also inclucles option
prerniums and othcr bomorliltg cosls capitalised during conslruction phase.

ClulTenl ratio represent currcnt assels ,r cLrrrent liability. For the purpose of Current Ratio. Currc|t Assel also
includcs Current ponion of Statutorv Contribution receivable fiom Gort. Ol Kerala

I-ong tcnr debt to workinS capital rcpresents long-terrn horro*ings including lease liabilities,'(current asscts less

current liabilities) (including crrrrent maturities of long tcrrr borrorings).

Cunent liability ratio represcnts currcnl liabilities (including current maluritieii of long-term borrorvings) r' total
liabilities (excludcs dct'crrcd tax liabilities on lair value ol equitv).
'Iotal debts to total asscts rcprcsenl lolal borrorvings (long tenu borrorvings. sltort tcrnt horrowings and current
rnaturities of long-tenn borro\! ings)'total assets.

Chief Executive Officer .

& Fund Manager
Kerda lntrasfudure lnreslmenl Fund Board

d.

ffi
Ar.-*.
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Independent Auditor's Report on Standalone Annual Financial Results of Kerala
lnfrastructure Investment Fund Board in pursuant to the Regulation 52 ofsEBI

(Listing obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,20l5 (as amended)
't'o

The Board of Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
Th iruvananthapuram

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accornpanying standalonc annual tinancial results of Kerala Infiastructure
Investment l--und Board (hereinatier relerred to as 'KIIFB'), lor the year ended 3lst March
2024. attached herewith, being submitted by KIIFB pursuant to the requirement ofRegulation
52 o1'the SEBI (Listing obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 201 5, as
amended ('Listing Regulations').

In our opinion and to the best ofour information and according to the explanations given to us
these standalone annual financial results.

a. arc presented in accordance with the requirements of Rcgulation 52 of the Listing
Regulations in this regard: and

b. cxcept tbr the eftect ofthc matters describcd in the Basis tbr Qualificd Opinion section
o1'our report, the accompanying annual financial results give a true and lair view in
conformity with the recognition and measurement principles laid dow,n in the applicable
accounting standards issued by the Institute ofChartered Accountants of India (lCAl)
and other acoounting principles generally accepted in India ofthe state oiafiairs ofthe
KIIFB as at March 31.2024 and of the nil profit/loss and its cash flows lbr the ycar
then ended.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

l. As stated in Note No. I I to the accom panying statement. invoices o1' first level service
providers to whom certain activities have been outsourced by KIIFB rclating to 'Ente
Ke.alam' programme expenditure amounting to Rs.6,744.96 lakhs have been rnade
available to our verification as directed by the Executive committee at its rreeting on
01.09.2023. However, the management is not able to confirrr whether flrst level service
provider is final end service provider, and internal controls in this rcgard need to be
strengthened while entering into contracts for better transparency. T'he expenditure
incurred as abovc has been chargcd to pro.iect costs since according to the management
sttch costs are directly relatable to projects and on account olthis no provision has been
made in the budget for such direct project costs.'lhe above expenses have been ratified
by the general body at their meering held on 04.03.2024.

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, O, Thiruvananthapuram-6950 l0
Tel : O47 1 -27 27 345, 27 27 346, @varmaandvarma.com
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2. Anamountof Rs.1,592.79 lakhs has been incured lor promotion and mediaactivities
through various parties to whom works were outsourced on nomination basis (single
tender). This procedure is not in compliance with the stipulations in SOp for
procurement of media services in force during the year requiring invitation of open
tender for such works. In the absence of proper tendering, the reasonableness of the
rates could not be verified by us. The above amount ol'Rs. I ,592.79 lakhs includes an
amount of Rs.745 lakhs incurred for promotional campaigns in social metlia,
international SMS services etc lor which invoices of first level service providers were
made available to us as directed by the executive committee and management is not
able to confirm whether such first level service provider is the final end service
provider. lnternal controls in entering into contracts required to be strengthened lor
better transparency. Further appropriate audit evidences to authenticate the receipt of
the services provided as claimed in the invoices ofthe first level service provider were
not available on record, explained to be due to practical difficulties. we have placed
reliance on the authentication and attestation ofreceipt ofservices by the Nodal olficer
media management group with the approval ofpayment by CEO. The above expenses
have been incurred within the budget approved by the General Body.

3. As stated in Note No.13 to the accompanying statement, KIIFB had incurred an
expenditure of Rs.936.66 Lakhs during the year towards KSFE Sofiware expenses
which includes amounts incurred through external agency (a Government psu - KSIE
Limited) to whom the activities for server hosting and licence renewal charges ofKSFE
Pravasi software have been outsourced by KIIFB on nomination basis (single quote).
The claims are suppofted by invoices of first level intermediary agencies and the
management is not able to confirm whether such first level service provider is the end
service provider. Internal controls needs to be strengthened while entering in to such
contracts fbr better transparency. KSIE Limited has raised invoice on KIIITB at 3o/o &
100% over cost incurred depending upon the nature of service provided through the
intermediary agency to whom the services have been sub-contracted.

KIIFB has paid operating cost (Server hosting and License renewal charges) to KSIE
I-td during the years from 2020-21 to 2023-24 amounting to Rs.3,964.91 lakhs against
the capital cost of acquisition/ development of software of Rs.3,037.94 Lakhs (cross
carrying value). The direction of the Executive committee meeting held on 01.09.2023
and also the General Body meeting held on 04.03.2024 to expedite steps to enter into
agreement with KSFE fbr recovery olthe cost incurred on the software till date is
pending to be implemented. In our opinion, such delay in execution ofthe agreement
requires to be avoided/ minimised.

TC 911504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, O, Thiruvananthapuram-6950 I 0
Tel : 047 1 -27 27 3 45, 27 27 346, Email : trivandrum @ varmaandvarma.com



of6*,,* ga %*,,,*
Chartered Accountants

3

In view ofthe facts and circumstances dealt with in para I to 3 above, we are not able to express
our opinion on the authenticity ofexpenses incured during the period dealt with in the above
paragraphs.

we conducted our audit in accordance with the standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by ICAI.
our responsibilities under those standards are furlher described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit ofthe Standalone Financial Results section ofour repofi. We are
independent o1'KIIFB in accordance with the code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have
lulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the said Code ol'Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
lor our qualified opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to the following matters described in the accompanying statement of the
standalone financial resu lts:

(i) As stated in Note No.6 to the accompanying statement, during the year an amount of
Rs.42,250 lakhs was received from GoK vide GO No.54l2O24lfin and GO no.
9210/20231fin (read with Order No .F A-2/5034/2024IKIIFB dated 10.01 .2024) towards
balance of motor vehicle tax which was credited to Revolving corpus Fund. F-urther,
KSIDC has repaid borrowing to extenr o1Rs.8,402.64 lakhs, which was fully provided
for in earlier years and accordingly, the provision to extent of Rs.8,402.64 lakhs was
written back to P&L and carried forward to Revolving Corpus Fund. The above
amounts of Rs.50,652.64 lakhs (Rs.42,250 lakhs plus Rs.8,402.64 lakhs) which was
lying in the Revolving corpus Fund was translerred to Initial corpus Fund during the
year by the management and equivalent fund was directly credited/ transferrecl to
special treasury account earmarked for initial corpus. The transler as above has been
approved by Govt. of Kerala vide GO Rt.No.409g/2024lFin dated 19.05.2024
(Rs.42,250 lakhs) and CO Rt No.4099/2024tFin dated 18.05.2024 (Rs.8,402.64 lakhs).

(ii) Interest income has been recognised on revenue generating projects in cases where
there have been certain delays on implementation of the projects financed by such
loans, as detailed in Note no.9.3 to the accompanying statement. According to the
management, certain inherent delays which have occurred during implementation stage
of infrastructure does not have adverse effect on the recovery of loans granted
considering the operational model ol' KIIFB and these loans are expected to be
recovered from SPVs which are all government owned or controlled agencies and hence
considered by the management as good and recoverable. Such recovery however would
depend upon actual income generation from land acquisition of projects having an
aggregate cost incurred till 3l .03.2024 amounting to Rs.2,87 ,972.40 lakhs so far as it
relates to income accrued on such projects.

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, vananthapuram-695010
Tel : 047I-2727345,2727346, Email @varmaandvarma,com
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(iii) Loan agreements are pending to be executed as on date with one Spv for loan
outstanding aggregating to Rs.667.47 Lakhs although more than 40% stage of
disbursement (as per the terms of rripartite Agreement between KIIFB, Spv and the
concemed Government department) has been exceeded requiring execution of such
loan agreement, as stated in Note no.9.4 to the accompanying statement. As explained
by the management, steps for execution of loan agreements is under process, which is
pending for requisite clearance from the concerned departments ofthe Govr ofKerala.

(iv) As stated in Note No 7 to accompanying statement, prudential norms on Income
recognition, asset classification and provisioning for long term infiastructure projects
was adopted by KIIFB w.e.f 0l -04-2023, vide circular resolution dated 13.04.2023 and
the same has been revised in the 46th General Body Meeting of KIIFB held on
02.09 -2023. KIIFB has classified projects into four categories based on the viability of
projects into High, Medium, Low and no commercial viability projects.

Based on the said norms, additional provision amounting to Rs.9475.92 lakhs have been
made in books ofaccounts forKSEB -Nilavu project towards outstanding loanamount
and unrealised interest accrued till 31.03.2023 since the said project has been classified
to category III during the year. No interest income has been recognised during the
current year on thc loans fbr said project as stated in Note No.9.2.

(v) As stated in Note No.l4 to the accompanying statement, the balances under statutory
contribution receivable from GoK of Rs.10,62,129.01 Lakhs upto 31.03.2024 is
considered good and recoverable by the management. According to the management
there is no uncertainly rvith regard to ultimate recoveryJ based on financial operational
model of KIIFB as perthe KIIF Act, r999 (amended by act of20l6) as such amounts
are expected to be recouped from the statutory contribution receivable in future. We
have relied entirely on the management representation in this regard considering the
facts ofthe case.

(vi) As stated in Note No.l8 to the accompanying statement the procedures followed for
appraisal of projects by the project appraisal division offers scope for improvement by
documentation ofthe assumptions followed in making financial projections relating to
estimated costs and revenues.

(vii) As stated in Note No.l6 to the accompanying statement, receivable fiom Information
& Public Relations Deparlment amounts to Rs.g16.73 lakhs for which claims raised are
pending for more than one year. However, the balance has been confirmed as at
31.03.2023

Our opinion is not modified in respect ofthese matters.

TC 9ll5O4, Galaxy, SMRA-14, P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
Tel : 047 1-2727345, 2727 346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial results of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial results as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
fcport.

Key Audit Mattcrs Ilou arldrcssetl itr,\rrdit
(i) As stated in Note No.7 to the lAs per the principles laid down in AS 9

accompanying statement, KIIFB has I R.u"nr" recognition. KIIFB has recognized
introduced prudential norms on I interest income on accrual basis as per the
lncome recognition, asset j terms of the loan agreement, wherever such
classification and provisioning 

I agreements have been entered into and for
relevant and applicable for long term I which agreenrent is not executed upon
infrastructure projects w.e.f I reaching 40% stage ol disbursement at rate
0l-04-2023 as per the decision of I agreed as per terms of sanction. (At
general body rhrough circular I discounled rare).

resolution dated on I3.04.2023. This I

was amended in the 46th General I 
Based on revised IRAC Nonns, 6 nos ol

I3ody Meeting of KIIFB held on lloans having principal of Rs.17,461.56

02.09.2023. According to the revised I 
Lakhs and interest ofRs.l906.48 lakhs have

norms, KIIFB has classified pro.lects I 
been classitied as Category II.

into lour cateBories based on the | _
viability of projects into High | :utt'd 

on revised. IRAC Norms' 2 nos ol
(category I), Medium (category ,;), l l"i'.' having principal of Rs 30'323'88

Low (Category III) una' no lLakhs 
and.'":Tt: ot Rs'1013424 lakhs

commercial viability proj".t, I 
have been^classified. as category ltl and this

(Category IV). I lut been lully provided for as doubtlul and

I income recognilion has been discontinued

I lrom the dale of such reclassification on
I

I prudential basis as sral.cd in Note no.7 to lhc

I accompanying sratement.

I

I 
Recognition of interesr revenue Ibr projecls

I 
are as per the IRACP Nonns adopted by

I KIIFB in rhe general body. lncome has been

I recognized based on rhe rerms of rhe loan

I sanctioned and catepuri/atiorr of loan.z=+-

TC 9ll5O4, Galaxy, SMRA-14, P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010Thiruvananthapuram-6950
Tel : 047 I -27 27 345, 27 27 346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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Ilul add resscd in Audit
(ii) Interest income for Category I projects

are recognised at Average Cost ol
Domestic Borrowing (ACDB) of KIIFB
reset every six months in a calendar year
with monthly compounding (in some
cases rate agreed at the time ofsanction),
Category II projects at discounted rate of
interest as compared to category I and
with respect to Category III and IV
projects interest income is not recognised
in books of account.

On facts ol the case. there have been

certain inherent delays in respect ofmany
of the projects financed with long
gestation periods. As per the terms of
the loan sanctioned. the repayment of
principal and interest commences on
completion ol moratorium period.
Interest is payable by the borrower as per
terrns of agreement as above regardless
of completion ol projecr. According to
the management such delays in project
implementation is not likely to have any
adverse impact on recovery of finance
granted for revenue generating projects.

Such recovery however would depend
upon actual income generation from land
acquisition of projects having an

aggregate cost incurred till 31.03.2024
amounting to Rs.2,87,972.40 lakhs in so

far as it is relatable to these projects.

There is no significant doubt as to realization
and recovery of interest at this stage for
category I and II loans. Loans categorized
under category III reckoned as Iow viability
has been fully provided lor and recognition
of income also has been stopped. The loans
are given to State Covernment controlled
entities and there are no over dues in
principal and interest outstanding as at

3l .03.2024 as per terms of loan agreement as

stated in Note No.8 ro lhe accompanying
statement. Provision lor all standard asset at

0.40% has been made during the year

towards the outstanding amount of principal
and interest as prescribed under IRACP
Norms. Facts have been duly disclosed in the
accompanying statement.
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Ke1 ;\ ud it Xlattcrs Ilol' :rrldrcsscd in Audit
(iii)As per GoK Order [GO(Ms) No

153/2023/ GAD dated l3- I 0-20231,
KIIFB was instructed to incur the
expenditure towards infrastructurc and

construction lacilities for the event
'Keraleeyam 2023' . The Chief Engineer
(CE), PWD was entrusted the
responsibility for conducting the event by
Program Committee ol Keraleeyam,
GoK.

Based on the above decisions. KIIFB
issued office order stating the condition
that CE buildings, PWD shall arrange to
tender the work following the due
procedures and do the evaluation of the
same and identification of successful

bidder for each work. The details of
successful bidder/s shall be intimated to
KIIFB.

An amount of Rs .1,295.46|akhs has been

incurred towards'Keraleeyam' event
organised by Government of Kerala
though Chief Engineer (CE), PWD.

However. the evidence in support of
compliance by PWD with the procedure

stipulated by KIIFB with respect to
tendering, identiflcation and evaluation
ofbidders was not seen insisted upon and

obtained.

The management has furnished to us a

specific representation that GoK has

entrusted the responsibility ofconducting the
event 'Keraleeyam 2023' to Chief Engineer,
PWD. Since PWD is a Government
Department, the compliance of stipulated
procedures w.r.t.tendering, identification
and evaluation of bidders is their sole
responsibility and KIIFB has no
responsibility in this regard.

All the payments made by KIIFB to the
vendors are based on approvals of The Chief
Engineer (CE), PWD.

We have placed reliance on the above

management representation and the facts are

disclosed in Note No 12.1 to the
accompanying statement.

(iv)Promotional and adveftisement expenses

includes an amount of Rs.538.80 lakhs
incurred towards nationwide media and
publicity campaign of the Government of
Kerala against restriction on borrowing
powers ol the State imposed by the

As stated in Note No. 12.3 to the

accompanying statement, such action by the
Central governrnent would gravely impact
the operations ol KIIFB which is built up as

a premier agency providing quality
infrastructure for the people of Kerala and
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Kcy Audit Matters Hory addresscd in Audit
Central Government. We had enquired
on relation of such expenditure with the
activities of KIIFB.

expenses flor building up a media campaign
against this was unavoidable to sustain the
existence of KIIFB .Moreover such
expenses incurred was within the overall
budget for promotional activities approved
by the General Body and the payment was

authorised by the Media Management
Croup(MMG) of KIIFB.

We have relied on the management
representation in this regard.

(v) Interest paid to Kerala Non-Resident
Keralites Welfare Board (KNRKWB) of
Rs.1,787.18 Lakhs is accounted fbr by
the management based on the scheme

workings furnished by KNRKWB which
is pending for reconciliation by KIIFB
due to certain practical difficulties as

explained to us. Steps are being taken for
reconciliation of the same.

Confirmation of balance from KNRKWB for
principal loan amount has been received as at

31.03.2024. Forthe purpose ofcalculation of
interest we have relied on the data set

provided by management and as per
management representation furnished, the
computation of interest as above is realistic
and correct. We have relied on the above
submission of the management

(vi)The corpus fund-revolving represents the
funds received every year from
Govemment of Kerala as part olstatutory
contribution provided for in the State

budget under financial support for
infrastructure development as stated in
Section 3( lA) r.w.s Section 7 of KIIFB
Act,20l6 towards the objectives based

on resolution ofthe general body and also
any amounts received additionally lrom
Government of Kerala to meet additional
lund requirements as per relative
govemment order. The amounts utilised 

]

towards direct cost of proiects are I

recouped lrom the revolving/ q6rpn5 
|

Fund lor the year and amount so utjrgd

The balances under statutory contribution
receivable f,rom GoK as ar 11.03.2024 ol
Rs. 10,62.129.01 Lakhs is considered good

and recoverable by the management.

The recoverability is based on financial
operational model of KIIFB as per the KIIF
Act, 1999 as such amounts are expected to be

recouped from the statutory contribution
receivable in f'uture as per the operational
model implemented by KIIFB as envisaged
in the KIIF Act.

Therefore, as per recovery model as above,

which is built into Asset Liability

-\4anagerrrenl (ALM). tlrcre is no unceftainty
t;\

hf,Gr.Xwy
TC 9ll5O4, Galaxy, SMRA-14, PO l0

Tel : O47l-2727345, 2727346, Email : trivandrum @ varmaandvarma.com
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Rcsponsibilities of Management and rhosc Charged lvith Govcrnancc for thc standalonc
Financial Result

These quarterly financial results as well as the year to date standalone financial results have
been prepared on the basis of the interim financial statements. Management (The Board) is
responsible for the preparation of these standalone financial results that give a true and fair
view ofthe state of affairs, results of operations and cash flows of KIIFB in accordance with
the accounting principles generally accepted in India and Accounting Standards issued by the
Institute of Charlered nccountants ollndia. This rcsponsihility also inclucles nraintcrrarrce 9f

TC 9ll5M, Galaxy, SMRA-14, P O, Thiruvananthapuram-6950 l0
Tel : O47l-2727345, 2727346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com

Kcy Audit Matters How addressed in Audit
are shown as contra item in the P&L alc
to reflect the activities undertaken to
meet the objectives as per the Act.

The revolving corpus fund is received on

an annual basis towards financial support
for Infrastructure Development by way
of statutory contribution being share ofl
KIIFB from Cess on petrol and share of
KIIFB lrom Motor Vehicle Tax as per

KIIFB Act.

The balances under statutory
contribution receivable from GoK as at

31.03.2024 is Rs. 10,62,129.01 lakhs
considered good and recoverable as the
same would be recouped from statutory
contribution receivable every year as per
operational model of KIIFB.

with regard to ultimate recovery ofthe above
amount due from GoK as per management
representation in this regard. We have placed
our reliance on the management
representation as above.

The ALM model is placed for overseeing and

monitoring at the periodical meetings of the
Fund Trustee and Advisorl Commil.lee
(FTAC) r.rhich comprises of eminent 

]

financial expens of the country har ing rich I

and wide experience in the field oi financial 
I

manaBement ro saleguard the best inrerest of 
I

KllFB. The status of latesr ALM r.ras also 
I

duly taken note ofby the Ceneral body in irs 
I

47rh meeting held on 04.03.2024 and as per 
]

presentalion made at the Board meering 
I

ALM has been found to be srable and sound I

as disclosed in Nore No. l5 ro the ]

accompanying starernent. 
I

We have placed reliance on the sun eillance 
I

being exercised utilising the technical expert ]

know ledge ol rhe FTAC cornmiuee in 
I

respect ol sound lunctioning ol the ALM 
]

Model and also the revier.l ol soundness of 
I

ALM by the Board ar irs meering as above. I

9
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adequate accounting records for safeguarding of the assets of KIIFB and for preventing and
detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting
policies; makingjudgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. This responsibility
includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial results that give a true and fair view and are free
from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial results, management (The Board) is responsible for
assessing KIIFBs ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
(The Board) either intends to liquidate KIIFB or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible lor overseeing KIIFBs financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Annual Financial Results

OLrr objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial results
as a whole are lree lrom material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level olassurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise frorr fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis ofthese financial results.

As part ofan audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

' Identify and assess the risks olmaterial misstatement ofthe standalone financial results,
whether due to lraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis fbr
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, m isrepresentalions, or the override ofinternal control.

' Obtain an understanding ofinternal control relevant to the audit in orderto design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the el'flectiveness of KIIFBs internal control.

TC 911504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, Sasthamangalam P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
Tel : O47l-2727345, 2127346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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' Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. (the Board)

. Conclude on the appropriateness ofmanagement's (the Board) use ofthe going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
KIIFBs ability to continue as a going concern. Ifwe conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's repoft to the related disclosures
in the financial results or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date ofour auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause KIIFB to cease to continue as

a going concern.

' Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial
results, including the disclosures, and whether the financial results represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves flair prescntation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial results that,
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions ofa reasonably
knowledgeable user of the standalone financial results may be influenced. we consider
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and
in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified
misstatements in the financial results.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing ofthe audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that wc identify during our audit.

we also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

Other Matters:

(a) The financial results for the quafter ended March 31,2024 and March 31,2023 are the
balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of full financial year and
special purpose financial statement for the period ended 31.12.20221 the unar"rdited year
to date figures upto the third quarter of the respective financial year which have been
subjected to limited review by us.

TC 911504, Galaxy, SMRA- 14, Sasthamangalam P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
Tel : 047 1 -2727345, 2727346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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(b) The rupee denominated external borrowings being Masala Bonds availed by KIIFB, in
the year 201 8-201 9 and repaid in full during the current year, which are fu lly secured
by the sovereign guarantee issued by the Government of Kerala and have the required
approval olthe Reserve Bank of India under the Foreign Exchange Management Act
1999. As explained to us by the management oIKIIFB (the Board), on other legal issues

relating to the said borrowings, as per the legal opinion received lrom a renowned jurist
and legal expert, the issue of Masala bonds made for the borrowings by KIIFB as above,

is neither illegal nor is in violation olany law, which, being a legal matter, no opinion
is expressed thereon.

For Vanna and Varma
Chartered Accountants

FRN.004532S

8*r.r*o.,
Partner

Menrbership No.0205 l2
UDIN: 240205 I 2BKGUXN3 I 61

Place : Thiruvananthapuram

Date : 25 .05.2024

TC 911504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, Sasthamangalam P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
Tel : M71-2727345, 2727346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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STATEMENT OF IMPACT OF AUDIT QUALIFICATIONS (FOR AUDIT REPORT WITH
QUALIFIED OPINION)

SUBMITTED ALONG WITH ANNUAL AUDITED FINANCIAL RESULTS. (STANDALONE)

Statement on lmpact of Audit Qualifications for the Financial Year end edMarch 31 2024

ISee Regulation 52 ofthe Listing Regulations]

Figures in Lukhs Rs.I

SI-nn

Particulars Audited Figures(as reported
before adjusting for
qualifications)

Audited Figures(as reported aftcr adjusting
for qualifications)

I
Tunover/Total Income 5,62.930.23

Since the qualification are of a proprietary

nature, we are unable to quantiry the effect o{

the qualification. In any case the amount
2 Total Expenditure 6,60,070. r l

, Net Profit(Loss) * (96,',771.09) involved as regards crpenditure,/ asset colered

br the qualification is not rclativcll substantial

or pcrvasivc ivhich could influerrce uscls

understanding of thc llnancial statements and

hence figurcs alter adjusting the ell'ect of

qualilication is not capable olbeing Iirnished

as such.

4 Earnings per Share NA

5 Total Assets 24,35,900.53

6
l'otal L iabilities 24,35,900.s3

7
Net Worth ** 3,32,701.92
* Net plofitiloss being Statutory contribution tiom CoK under Corpus fund utilised to nteet thc nct loss (dc'licit
liorn opcralions)tbr the )car in P& l, account transferred.
** The value ofnet uonh is to be read with the mattcrs stated in Note No Vl (i)to thc slatement ofstandalone
financial rcsults.

lt Audit Qualification

^ Details of Audit Qualiflcations: (scc para 1 to 3 under Basis for QLralified Opinion of Audit Rcporto 
zs.os.zoz+)

As statcd in Note No. 1 I to thc accompanving staterncnt. Invoices o1'first level service prol idcrs to rvhr
ccrtain activities havc been outsourced b1" KIIFB rclating to 'llnte Keralant' prograr'ume expenditr
amounting to Rs.6744.96 lakhs havc bccn made available to our vcrification as directed b1, thc hxccuti
committee al its mcctillg onoi.09.2023. Howevcr tlre management is not ablc to confirm \!hether fi

_ level scrvicc provider is final cnd service provider and intcrnal controls in this regard nccd toI strcngthened while entering into contracts fbr better transparencr' .'l he expenditurc incurred as above I

been charged to pro.iect costs sincc according to the managcment such costs are directll rclatable
projects and orr account olthis no provision has been rrade in the budgct for such direct project costs. I
abovc cxpcnscs have been ratificd b) tltc general hody at their mccting held orr 0'+.01.2024.

b. T1'pc of Audit Qualification : Qualified Opinion
c. Frequenc-"- of qualification: First Iime
d. For Audit Qualification(s) rvhere the impact is quantifled b1- the auditor: Nil
e. For Audit Qualification(s) u,herc the impact is not quantificd by the auditor:

Management's Views:
For Audit Qualification(s) $here the inrpact is not quanlilied bv lhe auditor:

F,i:l:b



l.Ente Keralam 2023 project was entrusted by Govemment for providing infrastructure facilities for
second-year anniversary of Govemment. Since the amount spend and the procedure adopted has
ratified by the General Body of KIIFB held on 04-03-2024, The issue underlying this qualification
been resolved and therefore does not hold relevance anymore. The Audit Committee has decided
only the first level of Bills of agencies entrusted by KIIFB shall be provided for audit and same has
made availahle to them.

i. Management's estimation on the impact of audit qualification:Nil
ii. If management is unable to estimate the impact, reasons for the same:NA
iii. Auditors' Comments on (i) or (ii) above: No comments

a. Details of Audit Qualification: (as reproduced from the audit report)

b.

d.

Details of Audit Qualification: (as reproduced from the audit report)
An amount ofRs.l592.79 lakhs has been incurred for promotion and media activities through
parties to whom works were outsourced on nomination basis ( single tender).This procedure is not
compliance with the stipulations in SOP for procurement of media services in force during the
requiring invitation of open tender for such works. In the absence of proper tendering,
reasonableness of the rates could not be verified by us. The above amount ofRs.l592.79 lakhs inc
an amount of Rs.745 lakhs incurred for promotional campaigns in social media, intemational S

services etc for which invoices offirst level service providers were made available to us as directed by
executive committee and management is not able to confirm whether such first level service provider
the final end service provider. Intemal controls in entering into contracts required to be strengthened
better transpa-rency. Further appropriate audit evidences to authenticate the receipt of the servi
provided as claimed in the invoices ofthe first level service provider were not available on record .W
have placed reliance on the authentication and altestation of receipt of scrviccs by the Nodal
rnedia management group rvith the approval ofpalnrent by CEO. The abore e\penses have been

u'ithin thc budget approved by the General Body.

Type of Audit Qualification :Qualified Opinion
Frequency of qualification: First Time
For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact is quantified by the auditor: Nil
For Audit Qualification(s) wiere the impact is lot quantilled by the auditor:
Managemcnt's Views:
For Audit Qualification(s) u,here thc impact is not quantified by the auditor:
The SOP mentioned in the qualification is related to the production ofcontent for media activities and
for content propagation. For the propagation of content, through different media agencies, the
process is not relevant since each media is charging different rates for the content propagation. It is

management decision through which agency the propagation has to be done. If for example, the
quoted by a premier channel will be higher than that quoted by a low viewership channel. So, if
management decides to use a high viewership media channel for propagation, then a tendering process
discover the price is not possible as each channel provides its own proprietary service. As stated
only the lirst level of Bills of agencies entrusted by KIIFB shall bc provided lbr audit and same has

rrade available to thern.

Management's estimation on the impact of audit qualification:N il
If management is unable to estimate the impact, reasons for the same:NA
Auditors' Comments on (i) or (ii) above: M domments ",.- 9f No L abrtL

l.

ii.
lll.

r.'T'h

"_ry.)



As stated in Note No. 13 to the accompanying statement, KIIFB had incurred an expenditure
Rs.936.66 Lakhs during the year towards KSFE Software expenses which includes amounts
through extemal agency (a Govemment PSU - KSIE Limited) to whom the activities for server
and licence renewal charges of KSFE Pravasi software have been outsourced by KIIFB on nomi
basis (single quote). The claims are supported by invoices of first level intermediary agencies and
management is not able to confirm whether such first level service provider is the end service
.Intemal controls needs to be strengthened while entering in to such contracts for
transparency.KSlE Limited has raised invoice on KIIFB at 3%o & l00Z over cost incurred depending
the nature of service provided through the internrediary agcnc) to u,hom the serviccs have been

contracted.

KIIFB has paid operating cost (Server hosting and License renewal charges) to KSIE Ltd during the
from 2020-21 to 2023-24 amounting to Rs.3,964.81 lakhs against the capital cost ofacquisition/

b. Wc are nol able to express our opinion on the authenticitl ofexpenses incurred during thc pcriod dcalt
c. T-vpe olAudit Qualification : Qualificd Opinion
d. Frequency ofqualification: First Time
c. For Audit Qualification(s) rvhcrc the impact is quantitied by thc auditor: Nil

For Audit Qualification(s) uiere thc impact is not quantifiecl by the auditor:
Management's Views:
For Audit Qualilication(s) uhere the irnpact is not quantilied by the auditor:
KSIE is a PSU under Govemment of Kerala and they are executing the works through their empane
agencies selected through their tender process. KIIFB has entrusted KSIE for providing services
lT also. On the Pravasi Chitti expenses through KSIE, the first level of Bills received by KSIE from
vendors have been provided for audit as per the decisions of the Audit Committee of KIIFB.
application development of Pravasi Chitti is still continuing and hence its development cost and
hosting and operating cost will continue incur.

Management's estimation on the impact of audit qualification:Nil.
If management is unable to estimate the impact, reasons for the same:NA
Auditors' Comments on above: *'Q r<vl A+2 'r'

ii.
iii.
III

Signatories:

/ch iel' Executive officer

rtoint Fund Manager

Executivc Commitlee Chairman

Auditor

{"*e'.
?,
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Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
Statement ofConsolidated Assets and Liabilities as 

^t 
31.03.2024

(Figures in Lakhs Rs.)

Particulars As at
31.03.2021

As at
3r.03.2023

Audited Audited
t.
I

2

3

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Initial Corpus Fund

Corpus Fund - Revolving ( shown on the asset side )

Non-current liabilities
(a) Long-term borrowings
(b) Deferred tax liabilities
(c) Other Long term liabilities

Curr€nt liabilities
(a) Short-term borrowings
(b) Trade payables

Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprise & Small
Enterprise

Others
(c) Other current liabilities
(d) Short{erm proYisions

II. ASSETS

I Non-current assets

(a) Property, plant and equipment and Intangible Asset
(i)Tangible assets

(ii)Intangible assets

(b) Non-current investments
(c) Long-term loans and advances

(d) Corpus fund revolving being the Statutory
contribution receivable from GoK -Non cu[ent
(e) Other Non Current Assets

2 Current assets
(a) Current inYestments
(b) Inventories

( i) Unbilled Revenue
(c) Trade receivables
(d) Cash and cash equivalents
(e) Short term loans and advanccs

(f) Corpus fund revolving being the Statutory
contribution receivable flom GoK -Current
(g) Other current assets

3,32,'701.92

r 7,88,950.02

7.099.67

2.85.203.82

26.65

39.17
,, 15' 7A

83.05

2,82,049.28

14,32,2s7 .88

368.79
5,401 .25

3,44,923.44

17,150.77

68.63
21,36,257.09 20,82,2s2.47

470.91

586.13

96.36

5,24,104.58

7,48,862.03

5,357.24

50.51

45 7.89

1.19.439.59

3. t3.000.00

6.686.3 7

485.2l
I .17 3 .66

120.97

4.86.9,16.0l

1,96,97 s.O2

5,981 .87

r,05, r75.02

160.54

5.92,979.08

2,80.900.00

5.3 3 5.7 8

21,36.257.09 20,,t2,252.1'7

J<fira
Hlac,,or *r"9



Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
Statem€nt of Consolidated Financial Results for the year ended 31.03.2024

(Figures in Lakhs Rs.)

Particulars For the Year ['or thr \ car
[-ndcd ]1.(ll.2ll2-l I,lnded J l.(].1.202J

.\ ud ilt d Audit€d

vi)

I. Revenue:

i) Recoupment ofstatulory contribution from Govemment of
Kerala from Corpus Fund for linancing of direct projcct
cost as pcr Contra

ii) Interest income from financjal assistance for revenue
generating projects

iii) Interest incom( lrum deposits and inrestment\

iv) Profit on Sale ofMutual Fund Investment
v) Revenue from operalions of subsidiary companl'

KIIFCON
Other income

Total Revenue (I)

Expenses:

Finarcing ofdirect cost ofprojects -Out ofCorpus Fund

Changes in invcntories of finished goods, work-in-
progress and stock-in-tradc
Employee benefi ts expense

Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation cxpense

Other expenses

Totalexpenses (lI)

Profit / (Loss) (I- II)
Prior Period Item
Profit / (l,oss) atler prior period item

Tax €xpense:
( l) Current tax of subsidiary company-KIIFCON
(2) Tar for Earlier years

(3) Defened tax(Expense)nncome

Less : Statutory contribution from GoK under Corpus
fund utilised to meet the net loss (deficit from
operations)for the year in P& L account transferred

Net Profit / (Loss) for the Year of Subsidiary/Associate
company transferred to Reserve & Surplus (Includes
share of loss in associate company Rs.24.61 lakhs,(P,Y-

4,64,194.51

55,8t0.59

17,196.92

r 7,r 03.06

913.r l

8,454.66

4,69,977.35

46,541.05

16,518.73

443.53

328.30

5,61,672.{itl 5,33,808.96

lI.
D

ii)

iit
ir)
v)
vi)

4,64,194.54

(50.51)

1,036.13

1.83,464.19

989.42
r0,939.40

4.69-97',7.35

803.57

r,,fl.696.48
1,100.04

5.286.18

6,60,513.17 6,18,ti6.1.62

(96,900.29) (85.054.66)
(26.33)

I\'.
(96,900.29)

(83.05)

368.79

96,822.71

(85,080.99)

(68.63)

(5.35)

85,333.03

161 . l6

vI.
(D

183.56

16.91 lakhs)

\et Il orth t,12,701.92 2;u2,019.28
l\etwotlh reprcsents the initial corpus fund shown separately in Balance Sheet which is backed fully by
earmarked funds in lhe Treasury accounL The deficit in revolving corpus fund as at 3 L03.2024 shown as
recoverable from GoK amou ting to P,s-10,61,862.03 lakhs is not considered for this purpose ds this is
expecled to be recouped from annual statutory cont bution receiv.lble from Goyerwnefi of Kerdld us pet
ptovisions of Section 3(2) read with section 7 of KI I F B Act, 1999 as amended by the Act of 201 6. Such
delcil in rcvolying corpus Jind representing the aggregati g of dertc in cash Jlo\t,s over the yeats upto
31.03.2021, being expenditure incurred for projects o\)er statutory contributions receiyed eyery year and
lhe cumulaltue et loss oyer the years upto 3l.03.2021.
According lo the managemenl the amount shown as recei'able from Govemment of Kerula vould be
recouped or)er the yedrs as slaled abore as per the dsset liability ,nanagement model prepared by the
management and is considered good and recowrable accordingly.
Networth is inclusi,e of atuounts revolving corpus fund to initial corpus fund as
Jittht:;.,1 it \orr \,t ti ri
governmenl orders relerred lo n

r trlt rlrc u1.1.roul t)/ Ct.'\r/nk,ttt ol L!rulu t,klt



Kerxh lnfrtstructure Investmcnt Fund Bo{rd
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for th€ y€arend€d Forthe ye..ended

3t.o3.2024 31.03.2023

Audited Audit€d
A. Crsh flow fmm op€rrting .ctiviti€s
Pmfit b€forc income trt
Adiustments {or:

D€precialion and amonisalion expense
Interesl incolrre

Finance Cosl

Profit on Sale ofMulual Fund lnvestrnent

Provision forconversion of loan into Non income generaling prqecl (incl
accrued interesr)

lnterest on incorn€ tax refirnd
Provision for Revenue genemting project written back
Loan Assel convened to non incorne generaling projectKINFRA

Receivable wrinen olI
Provision for TDS Asset FY 2019-20

Provision for standard ass€t

Op€rating pmfit/ (loss) beforr working c{pitrl changex

Ch.nqes in workins crpitrl:
AdJuslrlent' for I rncrease r Decrease rn operalrng assels'

Loans and Advances

Financial assistance made to Revenue Generating Projecls
Other Non Cunenl and Current Assets
Trade receivables

Adjustrnenls for increase /(Decrease) in operating liabililies:
Other CurrentNon currenl Liabililies
Trade Payables

NGt Chrrges in workitrg capit3l:
Crsh generrted from op€rations

Nel income tax (paid) / r€funds

Net crsh from/ (used in) oper.ring activities (A)

B. Crsh flow fmm investing activiries
Purchase ofPPE (including changes in CWIP.)
(Purchase/ disposal proceeds of Inveshents
Sal€ proceeds ofPPE
Inlerest income received out offixcd deposil
(Purchase)/ Sale proceeds of Investments

Net c.sh frorv (used in) investing ,ctivities (B)

C. Cash flow frum linrncing icrtivities

(i) Banks and Financial Institutions
(ii) Bonds
(iii) Pravasi Dividend Scheme

Bonds repaid dunng the year

l-oans repaid during the year

Slalutory contribulion from GoK
Additional Financial Suppon for Infrastucture Development

U.utilised ponion of LAC ADS share repaid
Recoupmenl by way of Slatutory coniribution from Govt of Kerala from Corpus
Fund for direct project cosr (oth€r than NABARD)
Interesl received during th€ period from Deposits mad€ out of corpus fund
Finance cost paid

Fund utilised for NABARD Proj€cts

Net crsh fronv (u!ed ir) fimncing scrivities (C)

Ncr incr€{s€ (d.crErs€) itr crsh ind crsh €quivrl€tr.s (A+B+C)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning oflhe financial year

Crsh rnd crsh equivrlents st end ofth€ yerr

(96,900 29)

989 42
(71,007 51)

1,83,464.19

(17,r03 06)

9.475.92

(45.0r )
(8,402.64)

2,565.78

r,0t6 80

t5.o42.65
(l I,455 85)
(r,730.03)

(297.3s)
(s0.51)

(12,243.65)

33 39

(9,664.55)
(9,664.s5)

969 41

(85,080.99)

1.100 04
(63,059.78)

r,41,696 48

39,384.84

o,o$ ui
164.56

37577

38.636 56

90.38
(45,998 59)

(401 0l)
(t60 53)

(2,125.33\

32 43

(9,926 09)

(9,926.09)

782_19

(8,695.08) (9.r.r.r.90)

(87.56)

17.196 92
1,22,278.O9

(2t5.10)

16.518.73

(45,175.02')

1,39,.387..1S (28.89t.19)

3,32.26r 68

2,66,868.00

I,507.7 7

(2,15,000 00)
(88,664 94)
42,250.00

2,80,828 9l
24 64

(94 39)

14,69.233 29)

4.486.69
(1,64,505.66)

5,038.73

4.73,204.78

26.433 00

3,520 62

(93,967 61)

2,47,876.35

436 30

(4.61,291.31)

I,163 7l
(r,34,962 1s)

(12,74r.68)
({,2.}r.86) 19.672.01

1,26,460.s1

5,92,979.08

t1,636_72

5,81,342.36

7,19,.1.]9.59 5.92.979.08

L The Above cash flow slatement has b€en prepared under indirect m€thod prescribed in
2 Components ofcash and cash equivalenls

arhnces with batrk
Cash in Hand

AS 3 "Cash FIow Statemenls "

Balance with Treasury

Term DeposilVSweep

012
0.02

t.82.383 7',7

53,35t 76

3,32,70192

0.03

0 0l
2.86.t56.72

24.',74998

2,82,O49 28

23 06

oiher delnsit, evings and crrreni
Other Bank balance in Treasury

In Masala Bond Sinking Fund Account f**s
,"d^,-):
> J{r{9

furr*."r0**'$

Fix€d D€posii wilh Ba*(Lien againsl 1.00
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Kerala lnfrastructure lnyestment Fund Board
Notes to Consolideted financial results for ihe quarter rnd yeer ended March Jl 2024

I The above consolidated financial results ofKerala Inliastructure Investment !'und Board (KIIFB) has becn revie\,,,ed by the executive commitec
and approved by members of the General Body in respective me€tings held on 25.05.2024.The statutory auditors ofHolding entiq have carried
out audit ofthese consolidated financial results.

2 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of KIIFB (the holding entity) ard its wholly ormed subsidiary
company KIII'CON P\,t Limited" and its associate company Kerala Infrastnrcture Fund Managcmcnl Limited (collectively known as '1he

Group'). The consolidated financial statemenls relate to KIIFB, its subsidiary and the entit,'s share ofprofit / loss in its .lssocrate company

Consol idated linancial statements are prepared as per AS 2 I under wh ich subsidiaries are consoldated on I ine-by-l ine basis liom the date the

control is transferred to the Group. Inter-entity lransactions, balances and unrealised gains/ Iosses on transactions between group entrtres are

eliminated. The carrying amount of the entity's interests and lhe non-conrolling intcrcsls ('NCI') are adjusted 1() reflect the changcs in thcir
rclative int€rests in the subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements include the share ofprofit / loss ofan associate entity which has been

accounlcd fior using 'cquily mcthod' as per AS 23 'Accounting for Investrnents in Associales in Consolidated Financial Statements'

Accordingly, the share ofprofit / Ioss ofthe associate entity (the loss being restricted to the cost ofinvestment) has been add€d to / deducted liom
the cost of inveshent.
The consolidated financial statemenls are prepared by appiying uniform accounting policies in use at the Group.

The Holding entity. Kerala lnfrastructure Investmenl Fund Board (referred to as KIIFB) \,r,as established on 11.11.1999 under the Kerala
Infrastrlrcture Investment ['und Act 1999 (Act 4 of 2000) with the main objective of financing the investment in critical and large
inliastructure projects in the State of Kerala. Comprehensive modificalion of the Act and Soheme has been made through an amendment
Ordinance in Augusl2016. The financial results ofthe Group have been prepared under the hislorical cost conlenlion, in accordancc \r,ilh thc
genemlly accepted accounting principles and as per Regulation 52 of the Securities a.nd Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015 ('Listing Regulations').Group follows Mercantile System ofAccounting and recognizes significanl
ilems of income and expenditure on accrual basis, except to the exent otherivise stated. Ilolding entity, bejng a body corporate and not a

company as defined under Companies Act. 2013 do not adopt the Ind AS prcscribed under Comparies (lndian Accounting Slandard) Rules,
2015 KIIFB adopted the Accounting Standards prescribcd by the Institute ofChartered Accountants oflndia.

Following subsidiaries and associate company have been considered in the preparation ofthe consolidated financial statements:

Nrm€ of lhe enlitv Itclationship 7" of Ilolding

Klll CON Pri\alc L-inrited Subsidiary Company 100%

Kemla Infrastructure Fund
Ma.nagement Limited(KIFML)

Associate Company 42.69yo

The gen€ral information olthe subsidiary and associate is as under :

KIIFCON" Privste Limited
KIIFCON P!t. Ltd. is a private Limited Company which is engaged in the business of providing consultancy services in the fields of
inlrastructure and related lechnologies and has commenced commercial operalions.

Kerale Infrastructure Fund Mansgement Ltd (KIFNTL)

Kerala Inliastructure Fund Management Limited ('the Company') is a public limited company incorporated under the provisions of the

Companies Act, 2013 which is mainly engaged in thc business of acting as the investrnent manager of Altemale Investment Funds $,hich are

r€gistered \vith SEBL

I)uring the year Holding entity has issued Listed Non -Conve(iblc Debentures (NCD's)/Bonds in pursuant to the provisions of SEBI Listing

Obligations and Disclosure Requirements,2ol5 (LODR) and the delails ofwhich are given below
Dom€stic Bond Series I
Domestic Bond Series I issued on 22.12.2023 amounting to Rs.149996 lakhs at a coupon rate ol8.95olo per annum payable quarterly. Non
convertible domeslic bond in nature of debenture comprising ofseven sub series 'A' through 'C' with maturity ranging liom 4- 10 years which is
lisl€d in Stock exchange BSE Limiled.

Domestic Bond Series II
Domestic Bond Series II issued on 26.03.2024 amounting to Rs.61166 lakhs at a coupon rate of 9.lo%per anflum payablc quarlerly. Non
conveflible domestic bond in nature of debcnture comprising of seven sub series 'A' through 'G' with maturity ranging from 4-10 y€ars which is
listed in Stock exchange BSE Limited.

Green Bond
Green bond issued on 03.07.2023 for an a.rnount ofRs.30002lakhs at coupon rate of8.4970per annum payable quarterly. Non convenible grcen
bond in nature of debenture mmprising of seven sub series 'A' through 'G' with maturity ranging from 4-10 years which is lislcd in Slock

3

r)

b)

c)

exchange BSE Limited.
The above bonds are bacled by guarantee ofcov€rrunent

L/-
\ >.-
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Maturity Profile of Bonds

.\mount in

\laluritv Profilc (in I ears) Green Ilond Series
Domestic Bond

Series I
Domestic

Bond Series lI
'l otal

I 4,286 21.128 8.738 34.152
5 4,286 21.428 8 7tR 34.452
6 :1.286 21.128 8,738 34,452
1 4,286 21.428 8.738 34.452
,t 4.286 21.128 8 7',t8 34.152
9 .1.286 2t,428 8.738 34.452
t0 4,286 2t.428 8.738 34.452

'Ibtal J0.002 1,,t9,996 61. t 66 2,JI,t6{

KIIFB had raised an arnount ofRs. 215000 lakhs through overscas Rup€e denominated Bond oltring (Masala Bond) with the due approval of
Reserve Bank oflndia as required under Foreign exchange management Act 1999 in the year 2018-19. KIIFB has also ensured compliance with
approvals or permissions, ifany required from other regulatory auliority or Govemment under oiher relevant laws /regulations as stated in the
Ietter of RBI in due consultation with eminent jurist and legal expen. These 5 year tenure bonds were issued at a coupon rate of 9.723yo p.a.
Tenure of the bond has expired during the year and liability towards principal and interest has been fully repaid as at the reporting dat€.

5 Pa].rnents towards direct pmjecl cost are accounted on actual paynent basis. Centage/ additional centage charges to SPVS are accounted based
on claims received. The centage charges are paid as a percentage of projecl cost to SPVS as per Govemmenl ord€r. 

_l 
he liability for c€ntage is

recognized based on claims submitled through invoices alier proper verification and authentications/ approval of claim by the managemcnt.
Ccntage is allocated to project cost based on Govemment Order and Ceneral tody approval.

Various expenses incurred which are directly attributable 1() projects such as Technical Resource Centre expenditure. Detailed Project Rcport
suppo( scrvices, Indep€ndent quality audit & design review charges. Land Acquisition unit expenses, 'festing cquipments and Centage
/additional centage charges $hioh are allocated to cost of projects. However. lhe samc are pending to be allocated to individual projecls as at
quarter end ftom lhe inceplion.

6 During the year, an arnounl of Rs.42,250 lakhs was received fiom (;oK vide GO No.5,1/2024lfin and GO no 92 | 0/2023lfin (read with Order No.
l' A-2/5034/2021IKIIFB dated I0.01.2024) towards balance ofmotor vchicle tax which was credited to Revolving Corpus Fund. Further. KSIDC
has repaid borrowing to extent of Rs.8402.64 lakhs , $hich was fully provided for in carlier years and accordingly, the provision lo exlent of
Rs.8402.64 lakls was wrillcn back to P&t, and c/fto Revolving Corpus Fund. The abov€ amounts ofRs.50652.64 lakls (Rs.42,250 lakis plus
Rs.8402.64 lakls) \lhich was lying in the Revolving Corpus Fund was transferred to Initial Corpus Fund by the managemen! and equivalenl fund
was directly crediled,/ transfened to special treasury account eamarked for inltial corpus. I he tra-nsflr as above has b€m approved by Go\.l of
Kerala vide GO Rt.No 4098/2024^iin dated I8.05.2024 (Rs.42250 lakis) and GO RT No.4099/2024lFin dated 18.05.2024 (Rs.8,102.64 lakls).

7 tlolding entity has introduced revised prudmtial norms on Income reco8nition. asset classitication a.nd provisioning rclcvant and applicable for
long term inli'astructure projects w.c.f 0l-04-2023 as per the decision of gencral body through circular resolution dated on 13 04.2023.Further
based on Prudential norms on Income recognilion. asset classification and provisioning (IRACP Norms) for long lerm inlraslruclure prqects $as
adopted by KIIFB w.e. f 0l -0,1-2023, vide circular resolulion stated above and the samc has been revised in the 46th General Body Meeting of
KIIFB held on 02.09.2023.

As per the revised IRACP norms, KIIFB has classified projects into four categories based on the viabiliry ofprojects into High. Medium. Low
and no commercial viability pro.jects. As pcr the provisions ofIRACP Norms- project identified and calegorised as Category I/ II earlier but latcr
re-calegorised as oategory III projec!, entire interest accrued in the past pcriods shall be reversed- H€nce for such projects IRACP Norms are not
applicable from the eflective date of classification till such time repa],rnent agrcement are executed or projccl identified as loan in book of
accounts $hichever is earlier.Provisioning ofnon performing assets is done as per noms as under :

a) The assels are classified as follows :

(i) Standard Assets - up to 12 months overdue
(ii) Substandard Assets - Beyond 12 months but less than 24 months overdue
(iii) Doubtful Assets - Beyond 24 months overdue
(iv) Loss Assets - fully to be uritten offsubjeca (o security value realisation
(v)In case ofrevenue generating projects (RGP)for which repa)rnent agr€cments are pending to be entered. and disbursement is more than 40o%:-

such RGP will be considered as substandard asset after 24 months fiom the dale 40% pa)rnent milestone has been reached or liom the date of
identification ofthe project as RCP in books ofaccounts, whichever is later.

ffi



b)

(,
(iD

Norms

TyW ofAssel Provision Req ired (/o)- E pected
Credit loss

Standard Asset 0.400

Substandard Asset

Beyond 12 months and up to 18

months overdue for repq.rnent
agreemenls executed and beyond
24 months and up to 30 months

overdue for not executed.

tovo

Beyond 18 months and up to 24

months overdue for repayment
agre€ments executed and beyond
30 months and up to 36 months

overdue for not executed.

250/o

(iv

Doubtful Assels

Up to One year 50%

More than three vears 100%

r00%
As per the IRACP norms provision for standard assets (tbr all revenue generating proiecls) at 0.40% on the outstimding loar balance and accrued
interest am ounting lo Rs.2.565. 78 t,akis h as becn provided in the books of accounts as at 3 I 03.2024.

8 There are no overdues in principal and inlcrcst outstanding as al J 1.03.2024 as per terms ofloan agrc€mcnl.

The calegorisalion ol-loans as per IRACP Normq and closinE balanccs are as follows.

Categor] 'I ype of Category \o. of I'roiecls

Loan (Rs. in
lakhs)

lnreresr
Accrued(Rs. in
Lakhs)

Totel(Rs. in
Lakhs)

Proiects which have high corffnercia 8 .1.96.6r0 56 1.25..166 03 6.22.07 6.59

l1 Proiects which have medium comme 6 17.461.56 1.906.48 19.368.04

I1 Projects which have low commercial 2 30,323.88 10.134.24 10.,15t1 l2

IV Proiects which have no commercial

5,{J,-}96.00 1..17.506.75 6,t ,902.75

gencral bod) ol KIll U. a proposal ii)r con\crsron ol lhe prolccl []ro 160 lilc sciencc park phase I \hich uas hitherlo fealcd as rc\cnulj
gL-ncralrng. into non rc\cnuc gcncraling proiccl Thc amoLrnl drsbursed lo lhe projecl till rhc.k)se oi thc \ear rs Rs 10.1170.1 lakhs and
ccrued inlcrcsl Rs.9.267.1i0 Lakhs uplo 31.032021.No ilrtcrcst has hc.n rrcogniscd on lhc prolecl subscqucnl lo ll0l202l pendinC

projcct DunDtr thc fc r. an anount of Rs 8.101 6.1 lakhs hernS lhe unuliliscd porlioD of loan has bcen retirndcd b\ KSIDC bascd (n1 thc
proceedinSs ol Spccial lahsildar l-A((;cncral).Tri\andrunt daled 05 02.201,1 Accorrlinglr the said renriltancc has hcen adiusled againsl rhc
principal anrcunl ol loan and correspondinS prorision lirr krss made in prior \car has hccn llrillen back in the hooks ofaccounls uDdcr olher

on ll-0.1-202,1 As pcr thc lcnns ol-agreen)rrtl inlerest rate Nrs rcduccd n) Ilxcd rale ol 59n lionr the cxislinS ACDL] rate On c\.cut(nr of'

interesl anrounlrrg to Rs.263.26 lakhs has hccrr rc\crscd () rDtcresl income ofthe \car.
Additional provision amounting to Rs-9475.92 lakls has been made in books ofaccounts towmds outstanding loan amount and accrued interest
till 31.03.2023 for LSG 007-01 project being classified to category III during the year. No interesr income has b€en recognis€d during the current
year for said project.

Tolal



93 on facts of the case, in respect of many of the revenue genemling projects financ€d, there halr been certain inhermt delays during
implementation which according to the management does not have adverse eflect on the recovery of loans grantcd considering the operational
model of KIIFB. Moreover, since thc borowers are govemment owned or controlled agencies, the loans are considered by ihe managcment as
good a.nd recoverable based on confirmations from the borrowers including for land acquisition projccts aggregating to Rs 2,87,972.40
I alhs (co\r rncurred ull I1.03.2024)

9.4 Loan agreements are pending to be executed with one SPV as al 3 L03.2024 lbr loan outstanding aggregaling 1() Rs.667 47 |akhs although more
than 40% stage of disbusement as per the terrns of the tripartite agrecmcnt between KIIFB, the SPV and the concemed Go\1 depanment has
becn cxcecded (which is less than one monlh) as at the year end. Steps are under process for execution ofloan agre€ment Ehich is pending the
requisite clearance lrom the concemed departments ofthe Govt of Kemla .

9.5 Interest income lbr Category I prcjecls are recognised at Average Cosl of Domestic Borro$ing (ACDB) of KIIFB reset every six months in a

calendar year with monlhly compounding (in some cases rale agreed at the time ofsanction), Category II prqccts al discounted rate of interest as

compared to oategory I and \!ith respect to olher lwo calegories interest income is not recognised in trcoks ofaccount.

l0 Balances under loan from Kcrala Non-Residenl Keralites Welfare Board (KNRKWB) amounls to Rs.33.800.56 lakhs. Revised Tripanite
agrcement is pending to bc executed between KNRKWB, KIIFB dnd GoK by incorporating matters relating 1() rrcalment / adjustment of lDS
receivable for KNRKWB. Loan amounl includes interest accrued on loan upon maturitv arnounting to Rs.1776.23 lakns (P.Y-1647.3i lakhs) as
pcr the terms of agreement and KNRKWB Schemc. Inlerest on loan are calculaled bascd on the records relating to loan balances (yearly basis)
tumished by KNRKWB.

Allo.ation of E\penses towards Pro.jects includes cosl incurred towards 'Ent€ Keralam' program during lhe year amounting to Rs.6744.96
lal(})s. Govemmenl ofKerala vide G O 2/2023,{&PRD dated 09.03.2023 has entrusted KIIFB ro incur infraslruclure and nredia publicit-v cost of
'Enle Kcralam'activities. The "Ente Keralam" program cxpenses arnounting to Rs.6,74,1.96 lakhs was incurred during the year through extemal
agencies mainly (Kerala State lndustrial Enterprises Limited (Rs. 1.545 36 Lakhs), Global Kerala lniriativc - GKI (Rs 1.861.53 Lakhs), Indian
Inslilule of Inliastructure & Construction referred lo as IIIC (Rs. 3.047.23 Lakns), $hich are govemment oBred or controlled entities/NCO) to
s.hom rhe ,.riviri.r/fi'n.ti^n< were outsourced by KIIFB. Such outsourced agmcies have been engagcd by thc CEO on nomination basis (single
quote) which has been ratified by the meeling ofthe general body held on 04.03.202,1. As directed by 24th executive committee the invoices of
first level service providers (intermediar-v agencies in some cases) lo whom such services have been oulsourced \lerc obtained w'r.t IIIC, GKI
and KSIE I-td. M/s IIIC has provided wilh an administralive and facilitalion charges at 209lo as provided in the MOU and KSII- Lrd has raised
invoice al 4olo higher on the cost incurred by th€m and with respect lo GKI such scnice charges is at 57o higher on cost incurred bv lhem. The
above expenses were incurred during the first quafler ended 30.06.2023, in the period on which such programme was undenaken and these have
been trealed as a part of project costs sho\lTl as conlra in the statement of P&L account . No specific budget provision was made for such
expenses since thcsc are direct expenses jncurred for various projects . Board has ralified the decision laken by CEO for a\a,ard of contracl on
single tender basis with respect to Ente kcralam expenses at their meeting held on 04.01.2024 (47th general body).

ll
12 Promotionel ,nd advertisement expenses

l2.l Promotional and advertisemeni expenses includes an amounl of Rs 1295.46 lakls incurred lowards providing inriastructure lacilities 10

"Keraleeyam" event as per GO 15312023 d1.13.10.2023. The work was undertaken by Chief engineer Building PWD as recommcnded by
programme committee of Keraleeyam. Tendering process. identification and evaluation of bidder, supervision and execution is done by Chief
engineer Building PWD. The delails ofsuccessful bidder/s arc intimarcd to KIIFB by CE, PWD.

12.2 Promotional and advertisement exp€nses also includes expense incurred towards media, promotional and advertisemenl cxpenses ofRs.l592.79
lakhs incuned through various pa(ies to whom such works were outsourced. 'fhe selection ofthe party u,as made on a negotiated basis on rates
considcrcd competitive considering the nature and exigency ofthe rl,ork involved and also laking into account the prior exp€rience wilh the party.
The above expenses are within the budgetary limit approved by general body

12.3 Out of the above an a.rnount of Rs 538.80 lalls incurred towards nalion wide media and publicity campaign of the Govemment of Kerala
against restriction on borrowing powers ofthe State imposed by the Central Covemment since it would gravely impact the opcrations of KIIFB
which is built up as a premier agency providing quality infrastnrcture for the People ofKerala. The expenses were fully budgeted and authoriscd
by the Media Manag€ment Croup(MMG) ofKIIFB.

13 KIIFB had incurred an expenditure of Rs.936.66 Lakhs during the year towards KSIE Software expenses which includes an amount of Rs
861.22 incurred through external agency (a Govemment PSU - KSII Limited) to which the activities for sencr hosting and licence renewal
charges of KSFE Pravasi software have b€en outsourced by KIIFB on nominalion basis (single quote) which are supported by invoices of first
level inlermediary agencies and invoic€ ofend service provider is not available. KSIE Limited has raised invoice on KIIFB at 3% & l0% over
mst incurred depending upon the nature of service provided through the intermediary agmcy to whom the services have been sub-contracted.
The aggiegate operating mst (Server hosting and License renewal charges) paid 10 KSIE Ltd during the years from 2020-21 to 2023-24 amounts
1() fu.3,9fl.81 lakhs against the capital cost of acquisitior/ development of software of Rs.3.037.94 l-aths (Gross carrying value). In lerms ofthe
MoA between KIIFB and KSFE dt.01.06.2019, a separate agreement is to be entered inlo between the parties for recovery of the tolal cost
(onerating and .apital) ofthe snftware from KSFF which is pendin8 to be erecuted. The Board had at its meeting held on 04.03.2024 direcred ro
expedite the steps to entcr into such trrr ogrccmcnt 0nd duc to ccrtain rcasons, thc sam€ is )'et to complied with.



14 The balances under statulory contribulion rcceivable fiom GoK ofRs.l0.6l.862 03 lakhs is considered Sood and recoverable and there is no
uncerlainty \,!ilh rcgard to ultimate recovery. based on financial opcralional model oIKIIFB as per lhc KllF Acl. 1999 as such amounls are

expected to be recouped from the slatulory contribution receivable in future \'czr and ire incorporated in the Asset Liability Management system
and represcnls net amounl spent as per the operational model implemcnted by KIIFB as envisaged in the KIIF Act.

15 KIIFB has put in place a syslem/ process ofcompulation ofAsset Liability Management A dclailed cxrcmal review ol the ALM system was
conducled by indcpendent lT oonsultants to assess the funclionality and ma agement offinancial risk ofKllFB and 1() conducl a comprehcnsive
scenario-based testing ofthe ALM System to cnsure its robustness on 15 02.2022 l he observalions ofthe revieBers uas duly considered b_v the
manaBemenl ofKllliB at the meeling held on l5th Februar),2022 and thc slalus of ALM was taken note of b) lhe Ceneral Bod). Irunhcr [ollow
up presentation of ALM \ras madc in thc 47th general body held on 04.03.202,1 The board has taken note of the same and as per thir
prcscntation. ALM has been plac€d on record to be sound/slabl(j. The ALM model is placed for overs!'€ing and moniloring a1 thc pcriodical
meetings ()1 lhe Fund Trustee and Advisory Comnlitlee (FTAC) ofKIIFB $hich comprises ofcminent financial experts ofthe country having
rich and $idc cxpenence in the field of financial managemcnt. 

-l hc committee reviews the sound Iunclioning of thc ALM Modcl and il lvas
lbund to be properly in placc 1() safcguard the best interest ofKllFB.

16 Ad\ance and reccivahle also inoludes im amount of Rs 916 73 Lakis incurred lowards expenses to be recovered from lnformalion & Public
Relations Department tbr which claims are raised and pending lbr more than one tear which is subject 1() confirmation as ar 31.032024.
Hoyvcvcr. (hc balanoc has been confirmed as at 3).03.2023. l, thc opinion ofmanagement such amount is considcrcd good and rccovcrable

l7 Reconciliation of Irorm 26 AS (as per Income Tax AcI.l96l ) ard Book of accounts - Reconciliation of Income for thc currcnt rcporiing pcriod
and credil as p€r Form 2645 r\ith books ofaccounts could not be done since Form 26A5 in income tax r\ch porlal is yel to be updated with the

succeedinB period/year upon such rcconcilialion

l8 lrinancc for Rcvcnuc (ienerating Prqects lreated as Loan rcccivablc from SPV in the books are appraised by thc Prgcct Appraisal Division and
implementat;on is closely monitored. The division comprise of high level technical cxpcrt team under the Executive Director, \lho is a senior
charlcred cngineer having vast experience in lhe lield ofconslruclion and intiastructure. Each Projecl is rcvicwcd h)- Projcct Manager as a Nodal
Ofiicer and supervised by Senior General Manager ofthe Division The delailcd project report is appraised by the division which places ils
detailed appraisal report befbre the EC/ General body of KIIFB. The detailed projecl rcporl conlarns conrnrents on rer iew from technical.
economic. linancial. environmenl, social and institutional angle. The frmctions as above is govenred by the norms stipulated in Standard
Operaling Pr@edures fbr pro.ject acceptanct and SPV on boarding. ln the opinion of managemcnt, thc appraisal lunction done is sound and
operating cfILclivcly.

l9 Associate company has appointed Shri. Dr Kamalalannan EllanBovan as Managing Direolor during the immediately preceding linancial year
\\.e.f.23.12.2022 and has paid managerial remuneration of fixed pay amounling 1() Rs. 24 lakhs Provision has been made in the accounts
lowards variahle pa) ofRs 24 lakhs and eamed leavc salary ofRs 159 lakhs The provision for lca\c salary is subject to approval ol the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and ACM of the Company. The actual amount of variable pay is based on perlbrmance criteria is
pending 1{) be fixed by the Nomination and Remuneralion Committee.

20 Associate company has used an accounling soft\,vare for maintaining ils books of account which has a feature ofrecording audit lrail (edil log)
f'acility. Ilowever, audit tmil feature rvas nol cnabled throughout the year.

2l (lonting€nt Li|bilities

2l . I The total income tax demands raised againsl K llFB of Rs I .594.88 Lakls \r'hich are unpaid pe(ains to AY 2018- 19 of Rs.I I2.57 Lakis, AY
2020-2lof Rs.79.59 lakhs and AY 2021-22 of Rs 1.212 42 I-akhs for which appeal is pcnding disposal with Commissioner of Income Tax
(Appcals) Writpetition against the income Tax den'rands of Rs. 190.30 Lakls towards TDS for IrY 2017- 18 1(.) 202G21 is pending disposal
before the Ilon'ble Iligh Courl of Kcrala. I he above amounts are not providcd for pending disposal ol appeals/\Tit petilion. The Incomc l lr\
Departmcnl has adjusted retirnd ofsucceeding years to thc extent ofRs 1297.39 lakis againsl thc abolc demands

2 1 .2 Income tax proceedings for A Y 2022-2 3 was com pleted during thc year vidc order u/s I 43 (3 ) dated 23 .03. 2024 and disallo\r.a, c.s wcrc made by
assessing authority to exlent ofRs 592.16 lalds. No demand has been raised since the addition made has been adjusted against the loss for thc
year. KIIFB has liled appeal against the addilion made iis above and is pending lor disposal

2 L3 GST department has issued a demand amounting to Rs | 633. 19 |akhs rowards ta\ Iiabiliry and Rs. I63.32 lakls rowards applicable p€nalty undcr
the act vide order No.10/2023-24 GST ADC Section 73(9) of CGST Acl 2017 pcrlaining to the period from 2017-18 to 2022-23 relating 1()

ccrlain tmnsaclions under reverse oharge mechanism palmcnts l-he matter is disputed by KIIFB bas€d on thc facts of the case and tiled an
appeal to GST appcllalc lribunal against the ord€r. The same is pcnding for disposal as at the reponing dale.

22 The Broup's activitics fal I w1lhin a single bus iness segment of in frastrucl ure development tinancing/consulling in lcrms o f AS- I 7 'Segment
Reporting'and hence there are no olher separate reportable business and gcographical segment as p€r AS 17 Segmenl Rcpo(ing



2:l Notes lo additional disclosures rs p€r regulrlion 52({) ol Securiti€s and Exchange Roard of lndia (l-isling Obligation rnd Disclosures
Rcquiremcnts) Rcgulation, 201 5 as rmcnded:

share capital as pcr Kll| Act I999 as anrended in 2016.

b I)ebl scr\icc covcragc ralio represenls eamings avail.tblc lbr dehl senrcing (Nel prolit alicr la\es + Non crsh operarins expenses likc
dcprccialion and amoaiTalions I I inancc costs + olhcr adjuslmenls likc loss on salc ol_ fixed asscts) i Dcbt senrce llnleresl pavnlentsl oplion
premiunr -lease pavnlcnts + priDcipal rcpavnrenls) Parl ofthe borro\\ing is rcpaid through rclinancing. so principil rcpa\nr(nr |r(rrarnrnts lo
such rclinanced borrowings are nol considerljd lnlerest palments also includcs oplion prcmiums and othcr borro\iltg costs capilaliscd during
conslruclioD phase

c. lnlercsl scr\ice co\crage ralio represcnls camings a\arlablc lbr inlercst senicrng. (Ncl prolll alicr taxcs + Non-cash operaling e\penses likc
depreciatron and amorliraliurs - Finance cosls I othcr ad.iusnncnls like loss onsalc ol ti\ed assels),r lnlercst scr\icr (inlcrcsl nJlnr.nl- uplron
prenriunr pavmcnt) Inlerest palnlenl also includcs opt()n premiums and olher borrotring cosls capilaliscd during conslrucliolr phase.

contflbutioD receiyahlc from (;o\1 ol Kerala

current malurilies oflong tenn borrowinSs)

liahiliiies on Iair !alue ol-cquil))

horrowiDgs)lt{na1 flsscls

0r K i,'

& Fund Manaoer
l(sala lnfalruclure lnreslmJ;t f*  A*,
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Independent Auditor's Report on Consolidated Financial Results of Kerala
Infrastructure Investment Fund Board in pursuant to the Regulation 52 ofSEBI

(Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,20l5 (as amended)

To

The Board of Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board (Holding Entity)

Thiruvananthapuram

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Results

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Annual Financial Results of Kerala
Infrastructure Investnrent Fund Board (hereinafter referred to as 'KIIFB'). and its subsidiary
company and its associate company (together referred to as 'the group') for the year ended 3l't
March 2024, attached herewith, being submitted by KIIFB pursuant to the requirement of
Regulation 52 of the SEBI (l.,isting Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015. as amended ('Listing Regulations').

In our opinion and to the best ofour information and according to the explanations given to us

and based on consideration ofrepoft ofother auditors on separate audited financial statements

ol subsidiary company, these consolidated fi nancial results:

a. includcs the annual financial results of the entities KIIFCON Pvt L.td (Subsidiary

Company) and Kerala Infrastructure Fund Management Limited, (Associate Company)

b. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 52 of the Listing
Regulations in this regard; and

c. except fbr the ellect olthe matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section
of our report, the accompanying Consolidated annual flnancial results give a truc and

lair view in contbrrnity with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in
the applicable accounting standards issued by the Institule ofChartered Accountants of
India (ICAI) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India of the

consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at March 31,2024 and its consolidated
profit and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

I . As stated in Note No. I I to the accompanying consolidated statement, invoices of flrst
level service providers to whom certain activities have been outsouiced by KIIFB
relating to 'Ente Keralam' programme expenditure amounting to Rs.6,74,1.96 lakhs
have been made available to our verification as directed bv the Executive committee at

its meeting on 01.09.2023. IIowev ement is not able to conflrm whether

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA- 14, O, Thiruvananthapuram-6950 1 0
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first level service provider is final end service provider, and internal controls in this
regard need to be strengthened while entering into contracts for better transparency.
The expenditure incurred as above has been charged to project costs since according to
the management such costs are directly relatable to projects and on account of this no
provision has been made in the budget for such direct project costs The above expenses
have been ratified by the general body at their meeting held on 04.03.2024.

An amount of Rs.1592.79 lakhs has been incurred fbr promotion and media activities
through various parties to whom works were outsourced on nomination basis (single
tender). This procedure is not in compliance with the stipulations in SOP for
procurement of media services in lorce during the year requiring invitation of open
tender lor such works. In the absence of proper tendering, the reasonableness of the
rates could not be verified by us. The above amount of Rs.l ,592.79 lakhs includes an
amount of Rs.745 lakhs incurred for promotional campaigns in social media,
international SMS services etc fbr which invoices of first level service providers were
made available to us as directed by the executive committee and management is not
able to confirm whether such first level service provider is the final end service
provider. [nternal controls in entering into contracts required to be strcngthened 1'or

better transparency. Further appropriate audit evidenccs to authenticate the receipt of
the services provided as claimed in the invoices ofthe first levcl service provider
were not available on record, explained to be due to practical difficulties. We have
placed reliance on the authentication and attestation ofreceipt ofservices by the Nodal
Officer media management group with the approval of payment by CEO. The above
expenses have been incurred within the budget approved by the General Body.

As stated in Note No. l3 to the accompanying consolidated statement, KIIFB had

incurred an expenditure of Rs.936.66 Lakhs during the year towards KSFE Software
expenses which includes amounts incurred through external agency (a Government
PSU - KSIE Limited) to whom the activities for server hosting and licence renewal
charges ofKSFE Pravasi software have been outsourced by KIIFB on nomination basis
(single quote). The claims are supported by invoices offirst level intermediary agencies

and the management is not able to confirm whether such first Icvel service provider is
the end service provider. Internal controls needs to be strengthened while entering into
such contracts for better transparency. KSIE Limited has raised invoice on KIIFB at

3o/o & l0o/o over cost incurred depending upon the nature of service provided through
the intermediary agency to whom the services have been sub-contracted.

KIIFB has paid operating cost (Server hosting and License renewal charges) to KSIE
Ltd during the years from 2020-21 to 2023-24 amounting to Rs.3,964.81 lakhs against
the capital cost of acquisition/ development of soflware of Rs.3,037.94 Lakhs (Gross

3.

TC 911504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, O, Thiruvananthapuram-6950 I 0
Tel : O47l-2127345, 2121346, @varmaandvarma.com



'%*** e of6,"**
()

Chartered Accountants

3

carrying value). The direction of the Executive Corrmittee meeting held on 01.09.2023
and also the General Body meeting held on 04.03.2024 to expedite steps to enter into
agreement with KSFE for recovery of the cost incurred on the software till date is
pending to be implemented. In our opinion, such delay in execution ofthe agreement
requires to be avoided/ minimised.

In view ofthe facts and circumstances dealt with in para I to 3 above, we are not able to express
our opinion on the authenticity ofexpenses incured during the period dealt with in the above
paragraphs.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by ICAI.
Our responsibilities under those standards are fudher described in the Auditor,s
Responsibilities for the Audit ofthe Consolidated Financial Results section ofour repoft. We
are independent of KIIFB in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have
f'ulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the said Code ol Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and other auditors in terms of their reports
referred to in "Other Matter" paragraph below is sufflcient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw aftention to the following matters described in the accompanying statement of
Consol idated fi nancial results.

(i) As stated in Note No.6 to the accompanying consolidated statement, during the year,
an amount of Rs.42,250 lakhs was received from GoK vide GO No.54l2024lfin and

GO no.921012023/fin (read with OrderNo. F A-2/503412024lKIIFB dated 10.01.2024)
towards balance of motor vehicle tax which was credited to Revolving Corpus Fund.
Further, KSIDC has repaid borrowing to extent of Rs.8402.64 lakhs, which was iully
provided for in earlier years and accordingly, the provision to extent of Rs.8,402.64
lakhs was written back to P&L and carried forward to Revolving Corpus Fund. The
above amounts of Rs.50,652.64 lakhs (Rs.42,250 lakhs plus Rs.8,402.64 lakhs) which
was lying in the Revolving Corpus Fund was transferred to Initial Corpus Fund during
the year by the management and equivalent fund was directly credited/ transferred to
special treasury account earmarked for initial corpus. The transfer as above has been

approved by Govt. of Kerala vide GO Rt.No 4098/2024lFin dated 18.05.2024
(Rs.42,250 lakhs) and GO Rt No.4099/2024lFin dated 18.05.2024 (Rs.8402.64 lakhs).

(ii) Intercst income has been recognised on revenue generating projects in cases where
there have been certain delays on implementation of the projects financed by such
Ioans, as detailed in Note no.9.3 to the accompanying consolidated statement.
According to the management, ceftain inherent delays which have occurred during

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, O, Thiruvananthapuram-6950 I 0
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implementation stage of inlrastructure does not have adverse et'fect on the recovery of
Ioans granted considering the operational model of KIIFB and these Ioans are expected
to be recovered lrom SPVs which are all government owned or controlled agencies and

hence considered by the management as good and recoverable. Such recovery however
would depend upon actual income generation from land acquisition ofprojects having
an aggregate cost incurred till31.03.2024 amounting to Rs.2,87,972.40 lakhs so faras
it relates to income accrued on such projects.

(iii) Loan agreements are pending to be executed as on date with one SpV for loan
outstanding aggregating to Rs.667.47 Lakhs although more than 40% stage of
disbursement (as per the terms of Tripartite Agreement between KIIFB, SpV and the
concerned Covernment department) has been exceeded requiring execution of such
Ioan agreement, as stated in Note no.9.4 to the accompanying consolidated statement.
As explained by the management, steps for execution of loan agreements is under
process, which is pending lor requisite clearance from the concerned departments of
the Govt of Kerala.

(iv) As stated in Note No 7 to the accompanying consolidated statement, Prudential norms
on Income recognilion, asset classification and provisioning lor long term infrastructure
projects was adopted by KIIFB w.e.f 0l -04-2023, vide circular resolution dated
13.04.2023 and the same has been revised in the 46th General Body Meeting of KIIFB
held on 02.09.2023. KIIFB has classified projects into four categories based on the
viability of,projects into High, Medium, Low and no commercial viability projects.

Based on the said norms, additional provision arnounting to Rs.9475.92 lakhs have been

made in books ofaccounts for KSEB -Nilavu project towards outstanding loan amount
and unrealised interest accrued tnl31.03.2023 sincethesaid projcct has been classified
to category Ill during the year. No interest income has been recognised during the
current year on the loans for said project as stated in Note No.9.2.

(r) As stated in Note No.l4 to the accompanying consolidated statement, the balances

under statutory contribution receivable from GoK of Rs.10,61,862.03 Lakhs upto
31.03.2024 is considered good and recoverable by the rnanagement. According to the
management there is no uncertainty with regard to ultimate recovery, based on financial
operational model of KIIFB as per the KIIF Act, 1999 (amended by act of20l6) as

such amounts are expected to be recouped from the statutory contribution receivable in
future. We have relied entirely on the management representation in this regard

considering the facts ofthe case.

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, Sasthamangalam P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
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(vi) As stated in Note No.l8 to the accompanying consolidated statement, the procedures
fbllowed for appraisal of projects by the project appraisal division offers scope for
improvement by documentation of the assumptions followed in making financial
projections relating to estimated costs and revenues.

(vii) As stated in Note No.l6 to the accompanying consolidated statement, receivable from
lnformation & Public Relations Department amounts to Rs.9l 6.73 lakhs for which
claims raised are pending for more than one year. However, the balance has been
confirmed as at 3 I .03.2023.

we also draw attention to the following matters reported in emphasis of matter paragraph ol
audit report ol subsidiary company as reported by other auditor. J'he below malters are not
disclosed in notes to accounts ol subsidiary company.

(i) Overseas Keralites investment and Holding Ltd (OKIH) had entered an MOU with
KSCU(KIIFB Consultancy Service Unit) on 01.03.2022.On formarion of KIIFCON pvt
Ltd, all the projects of KSCU were transferred to KIIFCON vide order No. FA_
715024/2022/KllFB dtd 27.I 1.2022. Hence the pro ject of OKIH was also transferred to
KIIFCON Pvt Ltd. The project was on hold due to the unavailability of land parcels
and the same was re-starled on confirmation on land availability at Thalapaady,
Kasargode district. This year KIIFCON has accounted Rs.0.28 lakhs as overtime
expenses for the project. A draft agreement is made between KIIFCON and OKIH,
however the same is not finalised till date.

(ii) KIIFCON has entered into a supplementary agreement lor consultant contract with
Cochin Smart Mission Limited on 17 .12.2022 with a validity lrom Ol .01 .2022 for 24
months which expired on 31.12.2023. The fbrmer organization of KIIFCON, i.e.,
KSCU (KIIFB Consultancy Service Unit) had already entered into an agreement with
CSML on 06.07.2022 and this agreement between KIIFCON and CSML includes all
the terms and conditions ofthe original agreement vide a clause "Except fbr the transfer
of projects from KSCU to KIIFCON, all other conditions of the original agreement dtd
06.07 .2022 shall remain the same.

Total cost of the project was for Rs.1,368 lakhs divided among 4 components with
weightage of amount. Later, the 2 components ol the project were said to have
subsumed to other 2 components with no change in total project cost. Owing to this
change, we had observed that invoices were raised in variation with the weightage given
to each component as per the agreement. These varied terms ofpayments are not backed
by any agreements between M/S CSML and Mis KIIFCON Pvt Ltd.

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA- 14, Sasthamangalam P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
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KIIFCON requested to CSML for the extension of pMC agreement with a flxed
monthly remuneration of Rs.l5 lakhs +GST in addition to the existing payment
conditions and the confirmation letter in this regard was received from GSML. The
supplementary agreement with the revised payment condition is under process with
CSML. Accordingly. company has raised invoice only till 31.12.2023, the invoice for
balance months shall be raised only on execution of supplementary agreement.
Company has quantified and provided unbilled revenue o1'Rs.50.51 lakhs in the books
of accounts for the period January to March 2024 in compliance with Accounting
Standards.

(iiDTDS deducted by clients is subject to reconciliation with 26 AS, as the same is nor
fully updated till date.

(iv)cEo and Director of KIIFCoN Mr. Satyajeet Rajan is a director in another company
SAIL-SCL Kerala Ltd. In the MCA website the said company has filed annual accounts
only till 31.03.2019 and the Company status is under CIRp. Mr. Satyajeet Rajan has
resigned from the directorship of M/s SAIL-SCL on January 2015, however the
requisite forms are not filed with ROC. Hence his status is still as director in the said
company. Principal Secretary has issued a Ietter to M/s SAIL on 21.02.2024 to ltle
requisite forms with ROC with eflect from his cessation of directorship from the
company i.e., January 2015. However, the same is yet to take place and the status is
same in MCA website till date.

(v) Company has undertaken a Pilot project of GIS rrapping at 8 wards of cochin
municipality for M/s CSML. Company has subrnitted a proposal of Rs.250.g3 lakhs +
GST@18% on 08.11.2022 and the sanction was accorded on 16.11.2022. Company
also submitted cost breakup on 23.02.2023 and the same was also accepted and
12.07.2023. On 06.02.2024, KIIFCON has submitred a MOp of 90% 250.83 lakhs i.e.
(225.80 lakhs + GST@ I 8%). However, the final invoice was raised for Rs.1 59.43
lakhs GST i.e., 7 5%o of 212.56 lakhs (taking 250.83 lakhs as inclusive of GST)
according to the communication from M/s CSML on 23.02.024 via email regarding
revision oftotal cost to Rs.250.83 lakhs including GST.

Our opinion is not modified in respect ofthese matters.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit mafters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial results of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial results as a whole, and in
foming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. we
have determined the matters described below key audit matters to be communicated
in our report.

TC 9ll5M, Galaxy, SMRA-14, 0, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
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Key Audit Mattcrs Horv addrcsscd in Audit

( ii)

(i) As stated in Note No. 7 to the
accompanying consolidated
statement, KIIFB has introduced
prudential norms on Income
recognition, asset classification and

provisioning relevant and applicable
for long term inlrastructure projects

w.e.f 0l -04-2023 as per the decision

of general body through circular
resolution dated on 13.04.2023. This
was amended in the 46th Ceneral

Body Meeting of KIIFB held on

02.09.2023. According to the revised

norms, KIIFB has classified projects

into four categories based on the

viability of projects into High
(Category I), Medium (Category II),
Low (Category III) and no

comnrercial viability projects

(Category IV).

Interest income for Category I projects

are recognised at Average Cost of
Domestic Borrowing (ACDB) of KIIFB
reset every six months in a calendar year

with monthly compounding (in some

cases rate agreed at the time of sanction),

Category II projects at discounted rate of
interest as compared to category I and

As per the principles laid down in AS 9

Revenue recognition, KIIFB has recognized
interest income on accrual basis as per the

terms of the loan agreement, wherever such

agreements have been entered into and fbr
which agreement is not executed upon

reaching 40yo stage of disbursement at rate

agreed as per terms of sanction. (At
discounted rate).

Based on revised IRAC Norms, 6 nos of
loans having principal of Rs.17,461.56
Lakhs and interest of Rs. I 906.48 lakhs have

been classified as Categorl II .

Based on revised IRAC Norms, 2 nos of
loans having principal of Rs.30,323.88

Lakhs and interest of Rs.10.134.24 lakhs

have been classified as Category III and this
has been firlly provided for as doubtt'ul and

income recognition has been discontinued

lrom the date ol such reclassification on

prudential basis as stated in Note no.7 to the

accompanying consolidated statement.

Recognition of interest revenue for projects

are as per the IRACP Norms adopted by

KIIFB in the general body. lncome has been

recognized based on the terms of the loan

sanctioned and categorization of loan.

There is no significant doubt as to realization
and recovery of interest at this stage for
category I and II loans. Loans categorized

under category I reckoned as Iow viability
has been fully provided for and recognition
of income also has been stopped. The loans

are given to State Government controlled
entities and there are no over dues in
principal and interest outstanding as at

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA- I
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Key Audit Mattcrs IIor atlrlrcsscd in,\rrdit

with respect to Category III and IV
projects interest income is not recognised
in books ofaccount.

On facts of the case, there have been

certain inherent delays in respect ofmany
of the projects financed with long
gestation periods. As per the terms of
the loan sanctioned, the repayment of
principal and interest commences on

complction of moratorium period.

Interest is payable by the borrower as per

terms of agreement as above regardless

of completion of project. According to

the management such delays in project

implementation is not likely to have any
adverse impact on recovery of finance
granted for revenue generating projects.

Such recovery however would depend

upon actual income generation from land

acquisition ol projects having an

aggregate cost incurred till 31.03.2024
amounting to Rs.2,87,972.40 lakhs in so

far as it is relatable to these projects.

3 I .03.2024 as per terms of loan agreement as

stated in Note No.8 ro lhe accompanying
consolidated statement. Provision for all
standard asset at 0.40%o has been made

during the year towards the outstanding
amount of principal and interest as

prescribed under IRACP Norms. Facts have

been duly disclosed in the consolidated
financial results.

(iii)As per GoK Order [GO( Ms) No
ls3/2023/ GAD dated 13-10-2023),

KIIFB was instructed to incur the
expenditure towards infrastructure and

construction facilities for the event
'Keraleeyam 2023' . The Chief Engineer
(CE), PWD was entrusted the
responsibility for conducting the event by
Program Committee of Keraleeyam,

GoK.

The management has furnished to us a

specific representation that GoK has

entrusted the responsibility of conducting the

event 'Keraleeyam 2023'to Chiel Engineer.

PWD. Since PWD is a Government
Department, the cornpliance of stipulated
procedures w.r.t.tendering, identification
and evaluation of bidders is their sole

responsibility and KIIFB has no

responsibility in th is regard.

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, SMRA-I4,
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Key Audit Matters Horv add ressed in Audit

Based on the above decisions. KIIFB
issued office order stating the condition
that CE buildings, PWD shall arrange to
tender the work following the due
procedures and do the evaluation of the
same and identification of successful
biddcr for each work. l'he details ol
successlul bidder/s shall be intimated to
KIIFB.

An amount of Rs .l.295.46lakhs has been

incurred towards'Keraleeyam' event
organised by Covernment of Kerala
though Chief Engineer (CE), PWD.

However, the evidence in support of
compliance by PWD with the procedure

stipulated by KIIFB with respect to
tendering, identification and evaluation
ofbidders was not seen insisled upon and

obtained.

All the payments made by KIIFB to the
vendors are based on approvals ofThe Chief
Engineer (CE), PWD.

We have placed reliance on the above
management representation and the facts are

disclosed in Note No l2.l rhe accornpanl ing
consolidated statement.

(iv)Promotional and advefiisement expenses

includes an amount of Rs.538.80 lakhs
incurred towards nationwide media and
publicity campaign of the Government of
Kerala against restriction on borrowing
powers of the State imposed by the
Central Government. We had enquired
on relation of such expenditure with the
activ ities of KIIFB.

As stated in Note No.l 2.3 to the
accompanying consolidated statement, such
action by the Central government would
gravely impact the operations of KIIFB
which is built up as a premier agencl
providing quality infrastructure for the
people of Kerala and expenses for building
up a media campaign against this was

unavoidable to sustain the existence of
KllFB. Moreover, such expenses incurred
was within the overall budget for
promotional activities approved by the
General Body and the payment was

authorised by the Media Management Group
(MMC) of KIIFB.

ffi
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We have relied on the management
representation in this regard.

(v) Interest paid to Kerala Non-Resident
Keralites Welfare Board (KNRKWB) of
Rs 1787.18 Lakhs is accounted lor by the
management based on the scheme

workings furnished by KNRKWB which
is pending for reconciliation by KIIFB
due to certain practical difficulties as

explained to us. Steps are being taken for
reconciliation of the same.

Confirmation of balance from KNRKWB for
principal loan amount has been received as at

31.03.2024. For the purpose ofcalculation of
interest we have relied on the data set

provided by management and as per

management representation f,urnished, the
computation of interest as above is realistic
and correct. We have relied on the above

submission of the management

(vi)The corpus fund-revolving represents the

funds received every year from
Govemment of Kerala as part of statutory

contribution provided for in the State

budget under financial support lor
infrastructure development as stated in
Section 3(lA) r.w.s Section 7 of KIIFB
Acr, 2016 towards the objectives based

on resolution ofthe general body and also

any amounts received additionally from
Government of Kerala to meet additional
fund requirements as per relative
govemment order. The amounts utilised
towards direct cost of projects are

recouped I'rom the revolving/ corpus

Fund for the year and amount so utilised
are shown as contra item in the P&L a/c

to reflect the activities undeftaken to
meet the objectives as per the Act.

The revolving corpus fund is received on

an annual basis towards financial support

for Infrastructure Development by way
of statutory contribution being share of
KIIFB from Cess on petrol and share of

The balances under statutory contribution
receivable from GoK as at 3l .03.2024 of
Rs. 10,61,862.03 Lakhs is considered good

and recoverable by the management.

The recoverability is based on financial
operational model of KIIFB as per the KIIF
Act, 1999 as such amounts are expected 10 be

recouped from the statutory contribution
receivable in future as per the operational
model implemented by KIIFB as envisaged

in the KIIF Act.

Therefore, as per recovery model as above,

which is built into Asset Liability
Management (ALM), there is no uncertainty
with regard to ultimate recovery ofthe above

amount due from GoK as per management

representation in this regard. We have placed

our reliance on the management
representation as above.

The ALM model is placed for overseeing and

monitoring at the periodical meetings of the
Fund Trustee and Advisory Committee
(FTAC) which comprises ol eminent
financial experts ol the country having rich

TC 9/1504, Galaxy, S P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
Tel : 047l-2727345, 2727346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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Responsibilities of Managcment and rhose charged with Governance for Consolidatetl
Financial results

'Ihese Consolidated financial results have been prepared on the basis ofthe consolidated annual
financial statements. The Management (the Board) ofKIIFB is responsible lor the preparation
ofthese Consolidated financial results that give a true and fair view ofthe consolidated state
of alfairs, consolidated results of operations and consolidated cash flows of the group in
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India and Accounting
Standards issued by the lnstitute of chartered Accountants of India. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records lor safeguarding of the assets of the
group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and presentation ofthe financial results that give a true and
fair view and are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated financial results, the respective management and board of
directors ofthe entities included in the group are responsible tbr assessing the group's abilily
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the respective management and board of
directors either intends to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

TC 9/15M, Galaxy, SMRA-14, P O, Thiruvananthapuram-69501 0
Tel : O471-2727 345, 2727 346, Email : trivandrum @ varmaandvarma.com

Key Audit Mattcrs Ilorv add rcsscd in Audit

KIIFB from Motor Vehicle Tax as per
KIIFB Act.

The balances under statutory
contribution receivable from CoK as at

31.03.2024 is Rs.10,61,862.03 lakhs
considered good and recoverable as the
same would be recouped from statutory
contribution receivable every year as per

operational model of KIIFB.

and wide experience in the field of financial
management to safeguard the best interest ol
KIIFB. The status of latest ALM was also
duly taken note ofby the General body in its
47th meeting held on 04.03.2024 and as per

presentation made at the Board meeting
ALM has been found to be stable and sound

as disclosed in Note No.l5 to the
accompanying consolidated statement.

We have placed reliance on the surveillance
being exercised utilising the technical expert
knowledge of the FTAC committee in
respect of sound functioning of the ALM
Model and also the review of soundness of
ALM by the Board at its meeting as above.
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The respective management and board of directors of the entities included in the group are
responsible for overseeing the group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated statement as

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's repoft that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise lrom fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions ofusers taken on the basis ofthese statements.

As part ofan audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

' Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated financial
results, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk ofnot detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

' Obtain an understanding ofinternal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group's internal control.

' Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management (the Board).

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material unceftainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on group's ability
to continue as a going concern. Ifwe conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date ofourauditor,s
report. However, luture events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue
as a going concem.

' Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated financial
results, including the disclosures, and whether the statement represent the underlying
transactions and events in a ach ieves thir presentation.

TC 911504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
^tel : 041 1 -2727 345, 2727346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial results, that,
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably
knowledgeable user of the Consolidated financial results may be influenced. We consider
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope olour audit work and
in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified
misstatements in the consolidated financial results.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the holding entity and such other
entities included in the consolidated financial results ofwhich we are the independent auditors
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing ofthe audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identif, during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguardi.

Othcr Mattcrs

a) The consolidated financial results include the audited financial results ofone subsidiary
company, whose financial statements reflect Group's share oftotal assets ofRs.l0g9.6g
lakhs as at March 31, 2024, Group's share of total revenue of Rs.922.45 lakhs and
Group's share of net cash outflows of Rs.380.27 rakhs fbr the year ended March 3 l,
2024 as considered in the consolidated financial results before consolidation
adjustments, which have been audited by their respective independent auditors. These
financial statements have been audited by other auditor whose report has been furnished
to us by the management (he Board) of KIIFB and our opinion on the consolidated
financial results, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect
of this subsidiary, and our report in so far as iI relates to the aforesaid subsidiary is
based solely on the reports cf such other auditor and the procedures performed by us
are as stated in paragraph above.

our opinion on the consolidated financial results is not modified in respect ofthe above
matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the rcpol.ts of the other
aud itors.

TC 911504, Galaxy, SMfiA-I4, Sasthamzurgalam P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
Tel : 047 1 -2727345, 2'127346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com
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In respect of the associate company, based on our examination which included test
checks, the company has used an accounting software for maintaining its books of
account which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility. However, audit
trail feature was not enabled throughout the year. Since audit trail f'eature was not
enabled, comment on tampering the audit trail is not applicable.

The rupee denominated extemal borrowings being Masala Bonds availed by KIIFB, in
the year 201 8-201 9 and repaid in full during the current year, which are fully secured
by the sovereign guarantee issued by the Govemment of Kerala and have the required
approval of the Reserve Bank of India under the Foreign Exchange Management Act
1999. As explained to us by the management of KIIFB (the Board), on other legal issues
relating to the said borrowings, as per the legal opinion received from a renowned.iurist
and legal expert, the issue ofMasala bonds made for the bo*owings by KIIFB as above,
is neither illegal nor is in violation ofany law, which, being a legal matter, no opinion
is expressed thereon.

For Varma and Varma
Charlered Accountants

FRN.004532S

b)

?^-*
C.G

partner

Mernbership No.0205I2
UDIN: 240205 I 28KGUXO546 I

Place : Thiruvananthapuram
Date : 25.05.2024

TC 9l I 504, Galaxy, SMRA-14, Sasthamzurgalam P O, Thiruvananthapuram-695010
Tel : 047 1-2727345, 27 27346, Email : trivandrum@varmaandvarma.com



STATEMENT Otr'IMPACT OF AUDIT QUALIFICATIONS (FOR AUDrT REPORT WITH
QUALIFIED OPINION)

SUBMITTED ALONG WITH ANNUAL AUDITED FINANCIAL RESULTS .
(coNsoLrDATED)

Statement on Impact of Audit Qualifications for the Financial Year ended March 31 2024

[See Regulation 52 ofthe Listing Regulations]

Figares in I- hs Rs.I

Sl.no

Particulars Audited Figurcs(as
reported before adjusting
for qualifications)

Audited Figures(as reportcd after
ad.justing I'or qualifi cations)

I Tunover/Total Income s,63,672.88
lSince the qualification are of a

lproprietary nature, we are unable to
quanti$/ the effect of the qualification. In2 Total Expenditure 6,60,573.17

J Net Profit/(Loss) * (96,639. r 6)
any case the amount involved as regards

expenditure / asset covered by the

qualification is not relatively substantial

or pervasive which could influence users

understanding of the financial statements

4 Eamings per Share NA

5 Total Assets 24,36,257.09

6 Total Liabilities 24,36,257.09
and hence figures after adjusting the

effect of qualification is not capable of
being fumished as such.

7 Net Worth ++ 3,32,701.92

II

* Net profit./loss bcing StatLrton contribution lronr GoK Lrnder (lorpus firnd rrtiliscd to meet the net loss
(deficit from opcrations)lor the lear in P& L account trlnslerred.

*+ I'he value ofnet \\'ortll is to be read uith thc matters statcd il Note No VI (i) to the statcntent of
consolidated fi nancial results.

Audit Qualification

Details of Audit Qualilications: (see para I to 3 under Basis lbr Qualilied Opinion of Audit
itcport dt 25.05.2024)

As statcd in Note No. ll to the acconrpanying statement" Invoiccs of llrst Ievel scrtice
providers to whom cefiain activitics have been outsourced by KIllts rclating to 'Ente Keralam'
programme expenditurc amounting to Rs.6744.96 lakhs havc been made available to our
verification as dircctcd by the llxecutive comrnitlee at its meeting on 01.09.2023. I Iow,ever thc
management is not able to conllrm whether flrst lcr.cl sen,ice provider is flnal end senicc
providcr. and internal controls in this regard need to be strengthened u,hile entering into
contracts tbr better transparencv .The cxpenditure incured as above has bccn charged to
proiect costs since according to thc manascment such costs are directll relatablc to projects and
on account ol'this no provision has bccn made in the budget 1br such dircct project cctsts.'l he
above cxpcnses have been ratilicd by the general body at their mccting held on 04.03.202;1.

b.

c.

d.

e.

Tlpe of Audit Qualification : Qualified Opinion

Frequency of qualification: First Time

For Audit Qualification( s, where rhe lmpact is2
For Audit Qualification(s.; where the impacftr,*

ed by the auditor:

\ified by the audi

6-!1u,tE,,tvr;4!e?
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Management's Views:
For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact is not quantified by the auditor:
I .Ente Keralam 2023 project was entrusted by Govemment for providing
facilities for the second-year anniversary of Govemment. Since the amount spend and
procedure adopted has been ratified by the General Body of KIIFB held on 04-03-2024,
issue underlying this qualification has been resolved and therefore does not hold rel
anyrnore. The Audit Committee has decided that only the first level of Bills of
entrusted by KIIFB shall be provided for audit and same has been made available to them.

Management's estimation on the impact of audit qualification:Nil
If management is unable to estimate the impact, reasons for the same:NA
Auditors' Comments on ii) above: No comments

a. Details ofAudit Qualification: (as reproduced from the audit report)
An amount of Rs.1592.79 lakhs has been incurred for promotion and media activities thro
various parties to whom works were outsourced on nomination basis ( single tender).
procedure is not in compliance with the stipulations in SOP for procurement of media
in force during the year requiring invitation of open tender for such works. In the absence o
proper tendering, the reasonableness of the rates could not be verified by us. The
amount of Rs.1592.79 lakhs includes an amount of Rs.745 lakhs incurred for promo
campaigns in social media, intemational SMS services etc for which invoices of first
service providers were made available to us as directed by the executive committee
management is not able to confirm whether such first level service provider is the final
service provider. Intemal controls in entering into contracts required to be strengthened fi
better transparency. Further appropriate audit evidences to authenticate the receipt of
services provided as claimed in the invoices of the first level service provider were
available on record .Wc have placed reliance on the authcntication and attestation ol receipt o

services by the Nodal Ofliccr media managenlent group with thc approval oi payment by (lEo
The above expenses have been incurred within thc budgct approved by the (ieneral Body.

b. T1,pe olAudit Qualification : Qualificd Opinion
c. Frequency ol'qualification: First Time
d. Iror Audit Qualification(s) where the impact is quar.rtified by the auditor: Nil
e. For Audit Qualification(s) r,"'here the impact is not quantificd by the auditor:

Management's Views:
For Audit Qualification(s) whcrc thc impact is not quantified by the auditor:
The SOP mentioned in the qualification is related to the production of content for
activities and not for content propagation. For the propagation of content, through
media agencies, the tender process is not relevant since each media is charging different
for the content propagation. It is the management decision through which agency
propagation has to be done. If for example, the rates quoted by a premier channel will be hi
than that quoted by a low viewership channel. So, if the management decides to use a
viewership media channel for propagation, then a tendering process to discover the price is
possible as each channel provides its own proprietary service. As stated above only the
level ol- Bills ol'agencics cntn-lsted bI KIIITB shall bc providcd for audit and sante has

made availablc to thcm.

lvlarragcrrrerrt's cstirnatiorr on the impact olaudit qualificalion:Nil
If management is unable to estimate thf fbr thc same:NA

1.

ll.
lll.

l.

ii.



Auditors' Comments on (i) or (ii) above: No comments
Details of Audit Qualification: (as reproduced from the audit report)
As stated in Note No. 13 to the accompanying statement, KIIFB had incurred an expenditure o
Rs.936.66 Lakhs during the year towards KSFE Software expenses which includes
incurred through extemal agency (a Govemment PSU - KSIE Limited) to whom the
for server hosting and licence renewal charges ofKSFE Pravasi software have been
by KIIFB on nomination basis (single quote). The claims are supported by invoices of
level intermediary agencies and the management is not able to confirm whether such first I
service provider is the end service provider .lntemal controls needs to be strengthened

KIIFB has paid operating cost (Server hosting and License renewal charges) to KSIE
during the years from 2020-21 to 2023-24 amounting to Rs.3,964.81 lakhs against the
cost of acquisition/ development of software of Rs.3,037.94 Lakhs (Gross carrying value).
direction of the Executive Committee meeting held on 01.09.2023 and also the General
meeting held on 04.03.2024 to expedite steps to enter into agreement with KSFE for reco
o1'the cost incurred on the solt*.arc till datc is pending to bc in.rplemented. In our opinion.
delay in execution olthe agreement requircs to be avoided/ minintiscd.

We are not able to cxprcss our opinion on the authenticitl,olerpenscs incurrcd during the
period dealt rvith in thc above paragraphs (1 to 3).

Type ol'Audit Qualification : Qualilied Opinion
Frequency of qualification: First Tinre
For Audit Qualification( s) whcrc thc impact is quantillcd b1,the auditor: Nil
Ifor Audit Qualification(s) w'here thc impact is not quantiflcd b1,the auditor:
Management's Views:
F'or Audit Qualilication(s) rvhere the impact is not quantilied by the auditor:
KSIE is a PSU under Govemment of Kerala and they are executing the works through thei
empanelled agencies selected through their tender process. KIIFB has entrusted KSIE fo
providing services under IT also. On the Pravasi Chitti expenses through KSIE, the first leve

1. of Bills received by KSIE from their vendors have been provided for audit as per the decisi
of the Audit Committee of KIIFB. The application development of Pravasi Chitti is sti
continuing and hence its development cost and its hosting and operating cost will conti
lncur.

Management's estimation on the impact of audit qualification:Nil.
ii. There is no impact on the qualification as all the works are undertaken after assessing the

requirements economically and analysing the market cost of such services.
If management is unable to estimate the impact, reasons for the same:NA

b.

c.

d.

iii.
III Auditors' Comments on ii) above: Iladomments ^^- 

g.-r,,r.r' 6ys t o*tt W
Signatories:

hief Executive Olllccr

Joint Fund Manager

Executive Committee Chairman
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ANNEXURE C 
 

KEY OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL PARAMETERS 

Particulars For the period 
ended 30 

September 2024 

For the financial 
year 2023-2024 

For the financial 
year 2022-2023 

For the financial 
year 2021-2022 

Unaudited Audited Audited Audited 

Assets     

Property, Plant and Equipment 4,67,69,028 4,70,91,013 4,85,21,852 4,54,71,773 

Financial Assets 1,39,63,80,97,041 52,45,30,10,107 48,73,71,53,659 44,13,98,27,385 

Non-financial Assets 
excluding property, plant and 
equipment 

1,09,03,43,12,975 1,91,08,99,52,620  1,59,42,02,72,638 1,22,64,24,64,685 

Total Assets 2,48,71,91,79,045 2,43,59,00,53,739  2,08,20,59,48,149 1,66,82,77,63,843 

     

Liabilities     

Financial Liabilities     

- Derivative financial 
instruments 

NIL  NIL NIL NIL 

- Trade payables NIL  NIL NIL NIL 

- Debt securities    
38,09,28,00,000.00  

 

35,79,81,00,000.00  30,61,13,00,000 27,96,80,00,000 

- Borrowings (other than 
debt securities) 

 

1,49,19,26,37,593 

1,43,09,69,02,515.
03 

1,12,61,44,87,446 98,48,66,52,814 

- Subordinated liabilities NIL NIL NIL NIL 

- Other financial liabilities 25,41,26,66,879 28,52,03,82,128 34,49,23,44,726 10,34,44,00,000 

Non-Financial Liabilities     

- Current tax liabilities 
(net) 

NIL NIL NIL NIL 

- Provisions NIL NIL NIL NIL 

- Deferred tax liabilities 
(net) 

NIL NIL 3,68,78,343 3,63,43,554 

- Other non-financial 
liabilities 

2,75,08,82,627 2,90,44,77,149 2,24,60,09,791 1,78,74,39,632 

     

Equity (Equity Share Capital 
and Other Equity) 

33,27,01,91,946 33,27,01,91,946  28,20,49,27,844 28,20,49,27,844 

Total Liabilities and Equity 2,48,71,91,79,045 2,43,59,00,53,739 2,08,20,59,48,149 1,66,82,77,63,843 
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Particulars For the period 
ended 30 

September 2024 

For the financial 
year 2023-2024 

For the financial 
year 2022-2023 

For the financial 
year 2021-2022 

Unaudited Audited Audited Audited 

Profit and Loss Profit and Loss    

Revenue from operations 4,08,94,99,000 7,29,98,18,090 6,30,59,78,695 4,09,95,73,610 

Other income 1,53,59,000 2,57,37,53,120 3,28,29,748 2,54,47,403 

Total income  

4,10,48,58,000 

9,87,35,71,210  6,33,88,08,442 4,12,50,21,013 

     

Total expense 10,30,67,13,716 19,58,75,55,985 14,86,89,35,990 9,74,33,93,165 

     

Profit after tax for the year  

-6,20,18,55,715 

-7,66,00,25,158 -8,53,01,27,548 -5,61,83,72,152 

Other comprehensive income NIL NIL NIL NIL 

Total comprehensive income  

-6,20,18,55,715 

-9,71,39,84,776) -8,53,01,27,548 -5,61,83,72,152 

     

Earnings per equity share 
(Basic) 

NIL NIL NIL NIL 

Earnings per equity share 
(Diluted) 

NIL NIL NIL NIL 

     

Cash Flow Cash Flow    

Net cash from / used in (-) 
operating activities 

 

-11,01,62,01,557 

-86,36,92,791 -93,94,46,073 -29,24,51,26,327 

Net cash from / used in (-) 
investing activities 

97,51,25,248 13,94,29,72,839 -2,91,49,45,646 1,28,73,33,338 

Net cash from / used in (-) 
financing activities 

 

2,26,18,59,260 

 

-42,31,83,351 4,96,72,02,478 13,10,58,73,154 

Net increase/decrease (-) in 
cash and cash equivalents 

-7,77,92,17,049.50 12,65,60,96,697 1,11,28,10,760 -14,85,19,19,835 

Cash and cash equivalents as 
per Cash Flow Statement as at 
end of Year 

64,12,39,25,950 71,90,31,42,577 59,24,70,45,880 58,13,42,35,120 
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Particulars For the period 
ended 30 

September 2024 

For the financial 
year 2023-2024 

For the financial 
year 2022-2023 

For the financial 
year 2021-2022 

Unaudited Audited Audited Audited 

Additional information Additional 
information 

   

Net worth 33,27,01,91,946 0 33,27,01,91,946 0 28,20,49,27,844 28,20,49,27,844 

Cash and cash equivalents 64,12,39,25,950 71,90,31,42,578  59,24,70,45,880 58,13,42,35,120 

Loans 1,49,19,26,37,593 1,39,71,68,46,092 1,12,61,44,87,446 98,48,66,52,814 

Loans (Principal Amount) 1,49,19,26,37,593 1,39,71,68,46,092  1,12,61,44,87,446 98,48,66,52,814 

Total debts to total assets 0.86 0.85 0.85 0.79 

Interest income 4,08,94,99,000 7,29,98,18,090  6,30,59,78,695 4,09,95,73,610 

Interest expense 9,79,33,19,000 18,34,64,15,031  14,16,96,48,958 9,14,47,01,453 

Impairment on financial 
instruments 

NIL NIL NIL NIL 

Bad debts to loans NIL NIL NIL NIL 

% stage 3 loans on loans 
(Principal amount) 

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 

% net stage 3 loans on loans 
(Principal amount) 

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 

Tier I capital adequacy ratio 
(%) 

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 

Tier II capital adequacy ratio 
(%) 

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 
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ANNEXURE D 
 

COVENANTS 

Capitalised terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms under the Debenture Trust 
Deed. 

(1) Affirmative Covenants 

The Issuer hereby covenants with the Debenture Trustee that the Issuer shall at all times while the 
Debentures are outstanding (except as may otherwise be previously agreed in writing by the Debenture 
Trustee) ensure compliance with the following provisions: 

(a) Authorisations 

(i) The Issuer shall obtain, comply with and do all that is necessary to maintain in full 
force and effect any Authorisation required under Applicable Law: 

(A) to enable it to perform its obligations under any Debenture Document; 

(B) to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability, and admissibility in evidence 
in its jurisdiction of incorporation of any Debenture Document. 

(ii) The Issuer shall promptly obtain, comply with and do all that is necessary to maintain 
in full force and effect any Authorisation required under Applicable Law otherwise 
required for carrying on its business at all times. 

(b) Status and Business 

(i) The Issuer shall carry out and conduct its activities/business with due diligence and 
efficiency and in accordance with sound engineering technical, managerial and 
financial standards and activities/business practices with qualified and experienced 
management and personnel in accordance with the KIIF Act. 

(ii) The Issuer shall diligently preserve its existence and status and all rights, contracts, 
privileges, franchises and concessions now held or hereafter acquired by it, in the 
conduct of its activities/business and that it will comply with each and every term of 
the said franchises and concessions and all acts, rules, regulations, orders and 
directions of any legislative, executive, administrative or judicial body applicable to 
its assets or any part thereof. 

(c) Dues, Stamp Duty and Taxes 

(i) The Issuer shall punctually pay all rents, royalties, taxes, rates, levies, cesses, insurance 
premium, assessments, impositions, governmental, municipal or otherwise imposed 
upon or payable by the Issuer, as and when the same shall become payable. 

(ii) The Issuer shall pay all such stamp duty (including any additional stamp duty), other 
duties, taxes, charges and penalties, if and when the Issuer may be required to pay, 
according to the laws for the time being in force in the State in which its properties are 
situated or otherwise, and in the event of the Issuer failing to pay such stamp duty, 
other duties, taxes and penalties, as aforesaid, the Debenture Trustee will be at liberty 
(but shall not be bound) to pay the same and the Issuer shall forthwith reimburse the 
same to the Debenture Trustee on demand. 
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(iii) The Issuer shall reimburse all reasonable sums paid or expenses (at actuals) incurred 
by the Debenture Trustee or any receiver, attorney, manager, agent or other person 
appointed by the Debenture Trustee for all or any of the purposes mentioned in these 
presents, immediately on receipt of a notice of demand from them in this behalf and 
all such sums shall carry interest at the rate as prescribed in the Debenture Trustee 
Agreement, as from the date when the same shall have been advanced, paid or became 
payable or due, and as regards the liabilities, the Issuer will on pay and satisfy or obtain 
the releases of such persons from such liabilities as per the amounts mutually agreed 
by the Issuer and the Debenture Trustee, and if any sum payable under these presents 
shall be paid by the Debenture Trustee, the Issuer shall forthwith, on demand, 
reimburse the same to the Debenture Trustee and until payment or reimbursement of 
any such sums, the same shall be a charge upon the assets of the Issuer. 

(d) Amendments to constitutional documents 

The Issuer shall not make any amendments or modifications to their scheme or KIIF Act or 
change their office or name, which is prejudicial to the interest of the Debenture Holders except 
with the prior written consent of the Debenture Trustee. 

(e) Compliances 

(i) The Issuer shall duly observe and perform all the terms, conditions, covenants, and 
stipulations in respect of the Debentures and ensure that it does not commit any breach 
of the terms of issue of Debentures or covenants of the Deed and take all steps as may 
be necessary to remedy any such breach. 

(ii) The Issuer shall exercise due diligence and ensure compliance with the provisions of 
the Debenture Documents and Applicable Law. 

(iii) The Issuer shall and shall ensure that it complies with all Applicable Laws including 
in relation to the Debentures (including without limitation, SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015), Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Issue and Listing of Non- Convertible Securities) Regulations, 2021 and other 
circulars and guidelines issued by SEBI from time to time) (each as may be 
applicable)). 

(iv) The Issuer shall, to the extent required under the Listing Agreement entered into 
between the Issuer and the Designated Stock Exchange, ensure submission to 
Designated Stock Exchange of all information required in respect thereof. 

(v) The Issuer shall ensure that the Hypothecated Assets are free from any other Security 
Interest, except those which are specifically agreed to by the Debentures Holders. 

(f) Arm’s length transactions 

The Issuer shall not enter into any arrangement, agreement or commitment with any Person or 
pay any fees, commissions or other sums on any account whatsoever to any Persons, which will 
in any manner impact the performance of the obligations undertaken by the Issuer in terms of 
the Debenture Documents, other than: (a) in the ordinary course at arm’s length and on normal 
commercial terms; or (b) as required or permitted by the Debenture Documents; or (c) as 
permitted under Applicable Law. 
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(g) Modification to Debentures’ terms 

The Issuer shall not make modification to the structure of the Debentures in terms of Coupon, 
conversion, redemption, or otherwise without the prior approval of the relevant Designated 
Stock Exchange and the Debenture Trustee. 

(h) Board members 

The Issuer shall not induct a person into its board if to its knowledge such person is a 
director/member of an entity identified as wilful defaulter in the RBI/credit information 
companies’ list. 

(i) Accounts 

(i) The Debenture Trustee shall be solely entitled to operate the KIIFB Bond Servicing 
Account V, the Debt Service Reserve Account V and the Upfront FD. The Issuer 
agrees and confirms to give such instructions to the Account Bank and to execute, sign 
and furnish all such deeds, documents, and writings (including power of attorney) as 
may be required by the Debenture Trustee for the aforesaid purposes. 

(ii) The Issuer shall provide Collection Account Standing Instructions to the Collection 
Bank with whom the Collection Account is maintained, and the Collection Bank shall 
have agreed to act as per the Collection Account Standing Instructions within the 
timelines stipulated under the Debenture Documents. Provided that if there is any 
change in/replacement of the scheduled commercial bank appointed as a Collection 
Bank pursuant to the terms of the Debenture Documents, the Collection Account 
Standing Instructions, as set out in Annexure II of the Accounts Agreement, will be 
issued to the scheduled commercial bank appointed as the new Collection Bank. All 
the terms of the Debenture Documents mutadis mutandis apply to/in respect of such 
scheduled commercial bank appointed as the new Collection Bank from the date of the 
appointment. 

(iii) The Issuer shall not close the Collection Account or deposit the Cashflows in any 
account other than the Collection Account maintained with the Collection Bank. 

(j) Information Covenants 

(i) The Issuer shall give to the Debenture Trustee or to such person(s), as specified by the 
Debenture Trustee, such information as they, or it, or any of them shall require as to 
all matters relating to the activities/business, property and affairs of the Issuer and 
furnish to the Debenture Trustee, 1 (one) copy of every report, balance sheet, profit 
and loss account, circulars or notices. 

(ii) The Issuer shall supply, upon request by the Debenture Trustee, certified copies to the 
Debenture Trustee of all necessary Authorizations: (A) required to enable it to perform 
its obligations under the Debenture Documents; (B) to ensure the legality, validity, 
enforceability, and admissibility of the Debenture Documents in evidence in India; and 
(C) to enable it to carry on its business as it is being conducted from time to time. 

(iii) The Issuer shall forthwith give notice in writing to the Debenture Trustee of all orders, 
directions and notices of a court or tribunal likely to affect the assets charged as 
Security in terms of any Debenture Documents. 

(iv) The Issuer will not do or voluntarily suffer or permit to be done any act or thing 
whereby its right to transact its activities/business might or could be terminated or 
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whereby payment of the Principal and/or Coupon on the Debentures might or would 
be hindered or delayed. 

(v) The Issuer shall inform the Debenture Trustee of any amalgamation, merger or scheme 
of arrangement or reconstruction proposed by the Issuer. 

(vi) The Issuer shall promptly inform the Debenture Trustee, if it has received notice of 
any application for winding up or insolvency resolution process having been made or 
any statutory notice of winding up or insolvency resolution process or other legal 
process intended to be filed or initiated against the Issuer or if a receiver is appointed 
in respect of any properties or activities/business or undertaking of the Issuer. 

(vii) The Issuer shall promptly inform the Debenture Trustee of the happening of any event 
likely to have a substantial effect on the Issuer’s activities with an explanation of the 
reasons thereof. 

(viii) The Issuer shall submit to the Debenture Trustee, its duly audited annual accounts after 
the finalization of the same within 60 (sixty) days from the last day of the financial 
year along with the audit report. 

(ix) The Issuer shall furnish quarterly reports to the Debenture Trustee (as may be required 
in accordance with SEBI Regulations and SEBI DT Regulations) containing the 
following particulars: 

(A) Updated list of the names and addresses of the Debenture Holders; 

(B) The number and nature of grievances received from the Debenture Holders, 
as and when the same becomes due (i) resolved by the Issuer; and (ii) 
unresolved by the Issuer and reasons for the same; and 

(C) a statement that the assets of the Issuer are sufficient to discharge the claims 
of the Debenture Holders as and when they become due. 

(x) The Issuer shall provide the Debenture Trustee promptly, any such information and 
relevant documents as may be required by it in terms of the SEBI DT Master Circular, 
to enable the Debenture Trustee to submit the reports/certifications stipulated in the 
SEBI DT Master Circular to the Designated Stock Exchange, within the timelines 
mentioned therein, more particularly: 

SI No. Reports/Certificates Timeline for submission of reports/ 
certifications by the Debenture Trustee to 

the Designated Stock Exchange 

1. A statement of value for 
Debt Service Reserve 
Account V or any other 
form of security offered 

On a quarterly basis within 75 days from end 
of each quarter except last quarter when 
submission is to be made within 90 days. 

2. Financials prepared on 
basis of audited financial 
statement etc. of the 
Guarantor 

Annual basis within 75 days from end of 
each financial year. 

3. Valuation report and title 
search report for the 

Once in three years within 75 days from the 
end of the financial year. 
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SI No. Reports/Certificates Timeline for submission of reports/ 
certifications by the Debenture Trustee to 

the Designated Stock Exchange 

immovable/movable 
assets, as applicable. 

 

(xi) The Issuer shall promptly intimate the Debenture Trustee of any major change in the 
composition of its board of members. 

(xii) The Issuer shall promptly, notify the Debenture Trustee of any Default (including any 
Material Adverse Effect) (and the steps, if any, being taken to remedy it) promptly 
upon becoming aware of its occurrence. 

(xiii) The Issuer shall promptly, notify the Debenture Trustee in the event there is a 
likelihood that the Cashflows are likely to depreciate. 

(xiv) The Issuer shall and shall ensure that the Guarantor submits all information and 
documents to the Debenture Trustee as may be required under Applicable Law 
(including the SEBI Regulations and SEBI DT Regulations) within the timelines 
stipulated under such Applicable Law. 

(xv) The Issuer shall have submitted by no later than 3 (three) days from the Deemed Date 
of Allotment or within such other timelines as prescribed under Applicable Law, a 
certificate signed by an authorized officer of the Issuer confirming credit of 
dematerialized Debentures into the depository accounts of the Debenture Holders 
within such timelines as may be prescribed under Applicable Law. 

(xvi) Upon a request by the Debenture Trustee, the Issuer shall supply to the Debenture 
Trustee, a certificate signed by a member or the member secretary of the Issuer 
certifying that no Default is continuing (or if a Default is continuing specifying the 
Default and the steps if any being taken to remedy it). 

(xvii) The Issuer intimate the Debenture Trustee of any downgrade or withdrawal or 
suspension of the outstanding credit rating of the Debentures by any Rating Agency, 
within 1 (one) calendar day of occurrence of such event. 

(xviii) The Issuer shall submit such other information or documents as the Debenture Trustee 
may request from time to time, in a form and manner satisfactory to the Debenture 
Trustee. 

(k) Further Assurances 

The Issuer shall execute all such deeds, documents and assurances and shall do all such acts, 
deeds, matters and things as the Debenture Trustee may reasonably require for exercising the 
rights under the Debenture Documents and the Debentures or for effectuating and completing 
the Security hereby created, and shall from time to time and at all times after the Guarantee 
hereby constituted shall become enforceable, execute and do all such deeds, documents, 
assurances, acts and things as the Debenture Trustee may require for facilitating realisation and 
for exercising all the powers, authorities and discretion hereby conferred on the Debenture 
Trustee. 
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(2) Financial Covenants 

The Issuer shall ensure that, in respect of any Relevant Period, the Liability Service Coverage Ratio for 
such Relevant Period shall not be less than 1.1 times.  

For the purposes of this sub-clause: 

"Liability Service Coverage Ratio" means the ratio of FC Cash Flow to Liability Service; 

"Relevant Period" means the period ending 12 months from the end of each financial quarter;  

"FC Cash Flow" means, with respect to any Relevant Period, the aggregate of (a) share of motor vehicle 
Taxes and cess levied on petroleum products received by the Issuer pursuant to KIIF Act; (b) any other 
amount appropriated by the Kerala State Government for the Issuer's sole usage; (c) any other payments 
to the Issuer other than proceeds from any Financial Indebtedness; and (d) the total amount of cash and 
cash equivalent investments controlled by the Issuer at the beginning of the Relevant Period, excluding 
any debt service reserve account and sinking fund or any other debt servicing account of similar intent 
(except those created towards the Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer payable during the Relevant 
Period); and 

“Liability Service” means, with respect to the Relevant Period, the aggregate of (a) all scheduled 
payments (including balloon payments) on account of principal and interest and other charges on all 
Financial Indebtedness, as applicable; and (b) any payment made or required to be made to any debt 
service account under the terms of any agreement providing for any Financial Indebtedness. For the 
avoidance of doubt, it is clarified that, any payments (including for principal and / or interest and 
payments in relation to debt service reserve account or any other debt servicing account of similar intent) 
in respect of borrowings availed by the Issuer in the Relevant Period shall be excluded in computation 
of Liability Service. 
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SCHEDULE I 
 

CONSENT LETTER OF THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE 

(Attached separately) 
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CL/DEB/24-25/730/003                                                                                                Date : 16-Dec-2024 

 

To, 
Sooraj T V, 
Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board, 
3, TC 26/56, Felicity Square, MG Road, 
Statue, THIRUVANANTHAPURAM, 
Thiruvananthapuram, 
Kerala, India 695001. 

    

 

Dear Sir/ Madam, 
 

  

    

Re: Consent to act as a Debenture Trustee for Private Placement of Fully Paid, Rated, Listed, 
Redeemable, Transferable, Secured, Non-Convertible Debentures aggregating upto ₹ 1999.98 Crores. 

 

 

    

We refer to your email dated 11.12.2024, requesting us to convey our consent to act as the Debenture 
Trustee for captioned issue of Debentures. 
 

 

 

    

 

              

We  hereby  convey  our acceptance  to  act  as Debenture  Trustees  for  the said  issue  Debentures, 
subject  to  execution  of  Debenture  Trustee  Agreement  as  per  Regulation 13 of  SEBI (Debenture 
Trustee) Regulations, 1993, thereby  agreeing  to  execute  Debenture Trust  Deed  and  to  create the 
security  if  applicable   within  the  timeline   as   per  relevant  Laws / Regulations  and   in  the  Offer 
Document  / Information   Memorandum / Disclosure  Document  /  Placement  Memorandum  and 
company  agreeing  /  undertaking   to  comply  with  the  provisions  of  SEBI  ( Debenture  Trustee  ) 
Regulations,  1993,  SEBI  ( Issue  and  Listing  of Non-Convertible  Securities)  Regulations  2021, SEBI 
(Listing  Obligations  &  Disclosure  Requirements)  Regulation  2015,  Companies Act, 2013 and Rules 
thereunder and other applicable laws as amended from time to time. 
 

 

              

  

Fee Structure for the proposed transaction will be as per annexure A. 
 

  

              

  

Assuring you of the best professional services. 
 

   

              

  

Thanking you. 
 

         

              

   

Yours faithfully, 
 

        

    

 

      

             

    

 

        

             

              

 

Name : Saish Bhayye 
 

     

              

  

Designation : Assistant Manager 
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Annexure A 

 

 

 
 

 

       

   

Fee Structure for transaction CL/DEB/24-25/730/003 
 

  

       

  

PERTICULARS AMOUNT 

Acceptance fees (one-time, non-refundable, payable on our 
appointment) 

₹ 00.00 

 Annually Trusteeship Fees(Amount/Percentage) ₹ 00.00 

 

   

  

     

         

 

Annually Fees are payable in advance each year from date of execution till termination of the 
transaction. Pro-rata charges would apply for the first year till FY end, as applicable. The taxes on 
above fee structure are payable at applicable rates from time to time.  
 

 
 

 

        

 

All out of pocket expenses incurred towards legal fees, travelling, inspection charges, etc shall be 
levied and re-imbursed on actual basis. 

 

 

        

  

Please return the second copy this letter duly signed by Authorized Officer from your company. 
 

 

        

  

Yours Faithfully, 
 

 
 

  

We accept the above terms. 
 

  

       

  

For Catalyst Trusteeship Limited  
 

    

   

For Kerala Infrastructure Investment 
Fund Board 

 

  

        
 

           

   

 

 

 

     

          

        

Name : 
 

Designation : 
 

 

          

  

Name : Saish Bhayye 
 

  

          

 

 Designation : Assistant Manager 
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SCHEDULE II 
 

CREDIT RATING LETTER(S) AND RATING RATIONALE FROM THE CREDIT RATING 
AGENCIES 

(Attached separately) 
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Rating Letter - Intimation of Rating Action

Acuit®  reserves the right to revise the rating(s), along with the outlook, at any time, on the basis of new 
information, or other circumstances which Acuit® believes may have an impact on the rating(s). Such 
revisions, if any, would be appropriately disseminated by Acuit® as required under prevailing  SEBI 
guidelines and Acuit® ôs policies.

This letter will expire on July 22, 2025 or on the day when  Acuit® takes the next rating action, whichever is 
earlier. It may be noted that the rating(s) is subject to change anytime even before the expiry date of this 
letter. Hence lenders / investors are advised to visit https://www.acuite.in/ OR scan the QR code given above 
to confirm the current outstanding rating(s).

Acuit® will re-issue this rating letter on  July 23, 2025  subject to receipt of surveillance fee as 
applicable. If the rating(s) is reviewed before July 22, 2025, Acuit® will issue a new rating letter.

Please note that under extant SEBI regulations and as per the terms of the rating agreement, once a 
rating is accepted and outstanding, the issuer is required to promptly furnish the óNo Default 
Statementô on the first working day of every month.

 Long Term Instruments Short Term Instruments

 Total Rated Quantum (Rs. Cr.)  3000.00 0.00

 Quantum of Enhancement (Rs. Cr.) 0.00 0.00

 Rating(s) ACUITE AA (CE) / ACUITE AA 
(CE) / ACUITE Provisional AA 

(CE)

Not Applicable

 Outlook Stable Not Applicable

 Most recent Rating Action(s) Assigned and Reaffirmed Not Applicable

 Date of most recent Rating Action(s) November 30, 2024 Not Applicable

 Rating Watch Not Applicable Not Applicable

Letter Issued on : November 30, 2024
Letter Expires on : July 22, 2025
Annual Fee valid till : July 22, 2025
KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD
3, TC 26/56, FELICITY SQUARE,
MG ROAD, STATUE, THIRUVANANTHAPURAM,
Trivandrum 695001
KERALA

Kind Attn.: Mr. Mr. Sooraj T v,  Manager it division (Tel. No.9605764359)  

Sir / Madam,

Sub.: Rating(s) Assigned and Reaffirmed  - Debt Instruments of KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE 
INVESTMENT FUND BOARD

Please note that the current rating(s) and outlook, instrument details, and latest rating action for the 
aforementioned instrument are as under:

Scan this QR Code to 
verify authenticity of this 

rating

Sd/-
Chief Rating Officer
 
This is a system generated document. No signature is required.

Acuit® Ratings & Research Limited
SEBI Registered | RBI Accredited
708, Lodha Supremus, Lodha iThink Techno Campus, Kanjurmarg (East), Mumbai - 400042 | +919930708000 | www.acuite.in | CIN: 
U74999MH2005PLC155683
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Annexures:             A. Details of the Rated Instrument
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Annexure A. Details of the rated instrument

Instruments Scale Amt.  
(Rs. Cr)

Rating Assigned (Outlook) | Rating 
Action

Bond Long-term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 57.12 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Proposed Bond Long-term 1907.27 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) (Stable)  
| Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 21.41 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | Assigned

Bond Long-term 21.41 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | Assigned

Bond Long-term 107.05 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Total Quantum Rated 3000.00 -

DISCLAIMER
An Acuit® rating does not constitute an audit of the rated entity and should not be treated as a recommendation or opinion that is 
intended to substitute for a financial adviser's or investor's  independent  assessment of  whether to buy , sell or hold any security.  
Acuit® ratings are  based on the data and information  provided  by the  issuer and obtained from other  reliable  sources.  Although 
reasonable care has  been taken  to ensure that the data and information is true,  Acuit® , in particular,  makes no representation or 
warranty, expressed or implied with respect to the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the information relied upon.  Acuit® is not  
responsible for any errors  or omissions and especially states that it has no financial liability whatsoever for any direct, indirect or 
consequential loss of any kind arising from the use of its ratings.Acuit® ratings are subject to a process of surveillance which may lead 
to a revision in ratings as and when the circumstances so warrant.  Please visit our website  (www.acuite.in)  for the latest information 
on any instrument rated by Acuit® ,  Acuit® ôs rating scale and its definitions.
Any inadvertent omission or error in the rating letter which is discovered or brought to the notice of Acuite shall be rectified as soon as 
reasonably practicable not later than 48 hours of such discovery or notice. Such error or omission shall not render Acuite liable to any 
person for any kind of loss or damage including, but not limited to, any special, incidental, indirect or consequential damages caused 
by errors or omissions, provided such omission or error is rectified as soon as possible after discovery/notice.
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Rating Letter - Intimation of Rating Action

Acuit®  reserves the right to revise the rating(s), along with the outlook, at any time, on the basis of new 
information, or other circumstances which Acuit® believes may have an impact on the rating(s). Such 
revisions, if any, would be appropriately disseminated by Acuit® as required under prevailing  SEBI 
guidelines and Acuit® ôs policies.

This letter will expire on February 16, 2025 or on the day when  Acuit® takes the next rating action, 
whichever is earlier. It may be noted that the rating(s) is subject to change anytime even before the expiry 
date of this letter. Hence lenders / investors are advised to visit https://www.acuite.in/ OR scan the QR code 
given above to confirm the current outstanding rating(s).

Acuit® will re-issue this rating letter on  February 17, 2025  subject to receipt of surveillance fee as 
applicable. If the rating(s) is reviewed before February 16, 2025, Acuit® will issue a new rating letter.

Please note that under extant SEBI regulations and as per the terms of the rating agreement, once a 
rating is accepted and outstanding, the issuer is required to promptly furnish the óNo Default 
Statementô on the first working day of every month.

 Long Term Instruments Short Term Instruments

 Total Rated Quantum (Rs. Cr.)  850.00 0.00

 Quantum of Enhancement (Rs. Cr.) 0.00 0.00

 Rating(s) ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) / 
ACUITE AA (CE)

Not Applicable

 Outlook Stable Not Applicable

 Most recent Rating Action(s) Reaffirmed Not Applicable

 Date of most recent Rating Action(s) November 30, 2024 Not Applicable

 Rating Watch Not Applicable Not Applicable

Letter Issued on : November 30, 2024
Letter Expires on : February 16, 2025
Annual Fee valid till : February 16, 2025
KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD
3, TC 26/56, FELICITY SQUARE,
MG ROAD, STATUE, THIRUVANANTHAPURAM,
Trivandrum 695001
KERALA

Kind Attn.: Mr. Mr. Sooraj T v,  Manager it division (Tel. No.9605764359)  

Sir / Madam,

Sub.: Rating(s) Reaffirmed  - Debt Instruments of KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND 
BOARD

Please note that the current rating(s) and outlook, instrument details, and latest rating action for the 
aforementioned instrument are as under:

Scan this QR Code to 
verify authenticity of this 

rating

Sd/-
Chief Rating Officer
 
This is a system generated document. No signature is required.

Acuit® Ratings & Research Limited
SEBI Registered | RBI Accredited
708, Lodha Supremus, Lodha iThink Techno Campus, Kanjurmarg (East), Mumbai - 400042 | +919930708000 | www.acuite.in | CIN: 
U74999MH2005PLC155683
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Annexure A. Details of the rated instrument

Instruments Scale Amt.  
(Rs. Cr)

Rating Assigned (Outlook) | Rating 
Action

Proposed Bond Long-term 0.06 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) (Stable)  
| Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Total Quantum Rated 850.00 -

DISCLAIMER
An Acuit® rating does not constitute an audit of the rated entity and should not be treated as a recommendation or opinion that is 
intended to substitute for a financial adviser's or investor's  independent  assessment of  whether to buy , sell or hold any security.  
Acuit® ratings are  based on the data and information  provided  by the  issuer and obtained from other  reliable  sources.  Although 
reasonable care has  been taken  to ensure that the data and information is true,  Acuit® , in particular,  makes no representation or 
warranty, expressed or implied with respect to the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the information relied upon.  Acuit® is not  
responsible for any errors  or omissions and especially states that it has no financial liability whatsoever for any direct, indirect or 
consequential loss of any kind arising from the use of its ratings.Acuit® ratings are subject to a process of surveillance which may lead 
to a revision in ratings as and when the circumstances so warrant.  Please visit our website  (www.acuite.in)  for the latest information 
on any instrument rated by Acuit® ,  Acuit® ôs rating scale and its definitions.
Any inadvertent omission or error in the rating letter which is discovered or brought to the notice of Acuite shall be rectified as soon as 
reasonably practicable not later than 48 hours of such discovery or notice. Such error or omission shall not render Acuite liable to any 
person for any kind of loss or damage including, but not limited to, any special, incidental, indirect or consequential damages caused 
by errors or omissions, provided such omission or error is rectified as soon as possible after discovery/notice.
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Rating Letter - Intimation of Rating Action

Acuit®  reserves the right to revise the rating(s), along with the outlook, at any time, on the basis of new 
information, or other circumstances which Acuit® believes may have an impact on the rating(s). Such 
revisions, if any, would be appropriately disseminated by Acuit® as required under prevailing  SEBI 
guidelines and Acuit® ôs policies.

This letter will expire on September 11, 2025 or on the day when  Acuit® takes the next rating action, 
whichever is earlier. It may be noted that the rating(s) is subject to change anytime even before the expiry 
date of this letter. Hence lenders / investors are advised to visit https://www.acuite.in/ OR scan the QR code 
given above to confirm the current outstanding rating(s).

Acuit® will re-issue this rating letter on  September 12, 2025  subject to receipt of surveillance fee as 
applicable. If the rating(s) is reviewed before September 11, 2025, Acuit® will issue a new rating letter.

Please note that under extant SEBI regulations and as per the terms of the rating agreement, once a 
rating is accepted and outstanding, the issuer is required to promptly furnish the óNo Default 
Statementô on the first working day of every month.

 Long Term Instruments Short Term Instruments

 Total Rated Quantum (Rs. Cr.)  800.00 0.00

 Quantum of Enhancement (Rs. Cr.) 0.00 0.00

 Rating(s) ACUITE AA (CE) Not Applicable

 Outlook Stable Not Applicable

 Most recent Rating Action(s) Reaffirmed Not Applicable

 Date of most recent Rating Action(s) November 30, 2024 Not Applicable

 Rating Watch Not Applicable Not Applicable

Annexures:             A. Details of the Rated Instrument

Letter Issued on : November 30, 2024
Letter Expires on : September 11, 2025
Annual Fee valid till : September 11, 2025
KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD
3, TC 26/56, FELICITY SQUARE,
MG ROAD, STATUE, THIRUVANANTHAPURAM,
Trivandrum 695001
KERALA

Kind Attn.: Mr. Mr. Sooraj T v,  Manager it division (Tel. No.9605764359)  

Sir / Madam,

Sub.: Rating(s) Reaffirmed  - Debt Instruments of KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND 
BOARD

Please note that the current rating(s) and outlook, instrument details, and latest rating action for the 
aforementioned instrument are as under:

Scan this QR Code to 
verify authenticity of this 

rating

Sd/-
Chief Rating Officer
 
This is a system generated document. No signature is required.

Acuit® Ratings & Research Limited
SEBI Registered | RBI Accredited
708, Lodha Supremus, Lodha iThink Techno Campus, Kanjurmarg (East), Mumbai - 400042 | +919930708000 | www.acuite.in | CIN: 
U74999MH2005PLC155683
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Annexure A. Details of the rated instrument

Instruments Scale Amt.  
(Rs. Cr)

Rating Assigned (Outlook) | Rating 
Action

Bond Long-term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 13.88 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Total Quantum Rated 800.00 -

DISCLAIMER
An Acuit® rating does not constitute an audit of the rated entity and should not be treated as a recommendation or opinion that is 
intended to substitute for a financial adviser's or investor's  independent  assessment of  whether to buy , sell or hold any security.  
Acuit® ratings are  based on the data and information  provided  by the  issuer and obtained from other  reliable  sources.  Although 
reasonable care has  been taken  to ensure that the data and information is true,  Acuit® , in particular,  makes no representation or 
warranty, expressed or implied with respect to the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the information relied upon.  Acuit® is not  
responsible for any errors  or omissions and especially states that it has no financial liability whatsoever for any direct, indirect or 
consequential loss of any kind arising from the use of its ratings.Acuit® ratings are subject to a process of surveillance which may lead 
to a revision in ratings as and when the circumstances so warrant.  Please visit our website  (www.acuite.in)  for the latest information 
on any instrument rated by Acuit® ,  Acuit® ôs rating scale and its definitions.
Any inadvertent omission or error in the rating letter which is discovered or brought to the notice of Acuite shall be rectified as soon as 
reasonably practicable not later than 48 hours of such discovery or notice. Such error or omission shall not render Acuite liable to any 
person for any kind of loss or damage including, but not limited to, any special, incidental, indirect or consequential damages caused 
by errors or omissions, provided such omission or error is rectified as soon as possible after discovery/notice.
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Rating Letter - Intimation of Rating Action

Acuit®  reserves the right to revise the rating(s), along with the outlook, at any time, on the basis of new 
information, or other circumstances which Acuit® believes may have an impact on the rating(s). Such 
revisions, if any, would be appropriately disseminated by Acuit® as required under prevailing  SEBI 
guidelines and Acuit® ôs policies.

This letter will expire on February 14, 2025 or on the day when  Acuit® takes the next rating action, 
whichever is earlier. It may be noted that the rating(s) is subject to change anytime even before the expiry 
date of this letter. Hence lenders / investors are advised to visit https://www.acuite.in/ OR scan the QR code 
given above to confirm the current outstanding rating(s).

Acuit® will re-issue this rating letter on  February 15, 2025  subject to receipt of surveillance fee as 
applicable. If the rating(s) is reviewed before February 14, 2025, Acuit® will issue a new rating letter.

Please note that under extant SEBI regulations and as per the terms of the rating agreement, once a 
rating is accepted and outstanding, the issuer is required to promptly furnish the óNo Default 
Statementô on the first working day of every month.

 Long Term Instruments Short Term Instruments

 Total Rated Quantum (Rs. Cr.)  1000.00 0.00

 Quantum of Enhancement (Rs. Cr.) 0.00 0.00

 Rating(s) ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) / 
ACUITE AA (CE) / ACUITE AA 

(CE)

Not Applicable

 Outlook Stable Not Applicable

 Most recent Rating Action(s) Assigned and Reaffirmed Not Applicable

 Date of most recent Rating Action(s) November 30, 2024 Not Applicable

 Rating Watch Not Applicable Not Applicable

Letter Issued on : November 30, 2024
Letter Expires on : February 14, 2025
Annual Fee valid till : February 14, 2025
KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD
3, TC 26/56, FELICITY SQUARE,
MG ROAD, STATUE, THIRUVANANTHAPURAM,
Trivandrum 695001
KERALA

Kind Attn.: Mr. Mr. Sooraj T v,  Manager it division (Tel. No.9605764359)  

Sir / Madam,

Sub.: Rating(s) Assigned and Reaffirmed  - Debt Instruments of KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE 
INVESTMENT FUND BOARD

Please note that the current rating(s) and outlook, instrument details, and latest rating action for the 
aforementioned instrument are as under:

Scan this QR Code to 
verify authenticity of this 

rating

Sd/-
Chief Rating Officer
 
This is a system generated document. No signature is required.

Acuit® Ratings & Research Limited
SEBI Registered | RBI Accredited
708, Lodha Supremus, Lodha iThink Techno Campus, Kanjurmarg (East), Mumbai - 400042 | +919930708000 | www.acuite.in | CIN: 
U74999MH2005PLC155683
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Annexure A. Details of the rated instrument

Instruments Scale Amt.  
(Rs. Cr)

Rating Assigned (Outlook) | Rating 
Action

Proposed Bond Long-term 92.73 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) (Stable)  
| Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 14.40 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | 
Reaffirmed

Bond Long-term 21.41 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | Assigned

Bond Long-term 21.41 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | Assigned

Bond Long-term 21.41 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | Assigned

Bond Long-term 21.41 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | Assigned

Bond Long-term 21.41 ACUITE AA (CE) (Stable)  | Assigned

Total Quantum Rated 1000.00 -

DISCLAIMER
An Acuit® rating does not constitute an audit of the rated entity and should not be treated as a recommendation or opinion that is 
intended to substitute for a financial adviser's or investor's  independent  assessment of  whether to buy , sell or hold any security.  
Acuit® ratings are  based on the data and information  provided  by the  issuer and obtained from other  reliable  sources.  Although 
reasonable care has  been taken  to ensure that the data and information is true,  Acuit® , in particular,  makes no representation or 
warranty, expressed or implied with respect to the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the information relied upon.  Acuit® is not  
responsible for any errors  or omissions and especially states that it has no financial liability whatsoever for any direct, indirect or 
consequential loss of any kind arising from the use of its ratings.Acuit® ratings are subject to a process of surveillance which may lead 
to a revision in ratings as and when the circumstances so warrant.  Please visit our website  (www.acuite.in)  for the latest information 
on any instrument rated by Acuit® ,  Acuit® ôs rating scale and its definitions.
Any inadvertent omission or error in the rating letter which is discovered or brought to the notice of Acuite shall be rectified as soon as 
reasonably practicable not later than 48 hours of such discovery or notice. Such error or omission shall not render Acuite liable to any 
person for any kind of loss or damage including, but not limited to, any special, incidental, indirect or consequential damages caused 
by errors or omissions, provided such omission or error is rectified as soon as possible after discovery/notice.
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Product Quantum (Rs.
Cr) Long Term Rating Short Term

Rating

BOND 149.87 ACUITE AA | CE | Stable | Assigned |
Provisional To Final -

BOND 3500.07 ACUITE AA | CE | Stable | Reaffirmed -

BOND 2000.06 Provisional | ACUITE AA | CE | Stable |
Reaffirmed -

Total Outstanding Quantum
(Rs. Cr) 5650.00 - -

Total Withdrawn Quantum
(Rs. Cr) 0.00 - -

 
Rating Rationale

Acuite has reaffirmed the long-term rating of ACUITE AA (CE) (read as ACUITE double A (Credit
Enhancement)) to the Rs.3500.07 Cr. unsecured non- convertible  bonds of KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE
INVESTMENT FUND BOARD (KIIFB). The outlook is 'Stable'.

Acuité has converted the provisional rating on the Rs. 149.87 Cr. unsecured non- convertible  bonds of KERALA
INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD (KIIFB) to final and assigned the long term rating
of ‘ACUITE AA (CE)’ (read as ACUITE double A (Credit Enhancement)). The outlook is ‘Stable’.

Acuite has reaffirmed the long term rating of Provisional ACUITE AA (CE) (read as  Provisional ACUITE
double A (Credit Enhancement)) to the Rs. 2000.06 Cr. unsecured non- convertible  bonds of KERALA
INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD (KIIFB). The outlook is 'Stable'.

The conversion from provisional rating to the final rating reflects the fulfilment of the appointment of a SEBI
registered debenture trustee, execution of debenture trust deed, receipt of the final term sheet and confirmation
from trustee regarding compliance with all the terms and conditions of term sheet.

The conversion of provisional rating of the remaining proposed bond of Rs. 2000.06 Cr. to final rating is subject
to:

Appointment of a SEBI registered Debenture Trustee
Execution of Debenture Trust Deed
Receipt of the final term sheet and confirmation from trustee regarding the compliance with all the terms
and condition of term sheet.

Rationale for the rating
The rating factors in the strategic importance of KIIFB to the Government of Kerala (GoKe), as it acts as the nodal
agency for infrastructure development in the state of Kerala. The rating also considers the complete ownership of
the GoKe and the strength of the  board of KIIFB with the Chief Minister as the chairperson and also include the
finance minister, chief secretary, and other civil servants and experts. The rating also takes in to consideration the
constitution of the Fund Trustee Advisory Commission (FTAC) which monitors the financial stability and fund
utilisation of KIIFB. GoKe has to make the necessary budgetary allocations to ensure KIIFB's revenue
stream. Transfers from GoKe to KIIFB are as provided for in Section 7 of KIIF Act (as amended in 2016). As per
Section 7, GOKe shall make budgetary allocations equivalent to share of MVT and entire quantum of fuel cess
collected in the state in the previous year. As per the KIIF Act 2016, all the borrowings made by KIIFB
are guaranteed by GoKe.
The final rating derives its strength from the structure, the escrow and payment mechanisms, DSRA and FD and
also the corpus fund of ~Rs.3327 Cr, all of which will be utilised only for the issue and hence assure enough
liquidity till the complete redemption of the issue. 
The rating previously assigned for the proposed bond issuance amounting to Rs. 3000.00 crs takes into account
strength from the structure, the escrow and payment mechanisms, DSRA and FD. Of this, bonds have been placed
to the extent of Rs. 1000.02 Cr in total and hence, the rating is converted to a final one on receipt of necessary
documents. Unlike the previous bond issue, this does not have a support of Corpus fund as a part of its credit
enhancement structure.

Press Release
KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD

Rating Assigned and Reaffirmed

101 



However, the credit enhancement is supported by GoKe’s explicit guarantee to replenish both upfront FD and
DSRA in case of shortfall/ impairment. Further as per Deed of Guarantee, GoKe is to infuse required funds to
Issuer to redeem bondholders in case a cross-default/ critical rating downgrade event. If such redemption is not
effected within the specified timelines, GoKe guarantee can be invoked by Debenture Trustee to redeem the
bonds.
The rating is partially offset by the financial constraints and widening revenue and fiscal deficits of the
Government of Kerala. Also, since KIIFB lends at the average cost of borrowings and also provides fund for the
social development of the state in the form of grants, profitability will remain impacted.

About the company
Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board (KIIFB) was established as the principal funding arm of Government
of Kerala on 11.11.1999 by the Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Act 1999 (Act 4 of 2000). Through various
functions provided in the act, KIIFB aims to channel funds for critical and large public infrastructure projects in
Kerala. Comprehensive modifications to the Act have been enacted through the Kerala Infrastructure Investment
(Amendment) Act, 2016. With the expanded scope and structure provided under the amended Act, KIIFB is now
mobilising and channelling funds for facilitating planned, hassle-free, and sustainable development of both physical
and social infrastructure, including major land acquisition needs that are integral to development and ensure all
round wellbeing and prosperity , using financial instruments approved by the Securities & Exchange Board of India
(SEBI) and the Reserve Bank of India (RBI).
KIIFB was established with the main objective of providing investment for critical and large infrastructure projects
in Kerala. It acts as the primary agency of the state government to facilitate the development of both the physical
and social infrastructure in Kerala and to assist the state government and its agencies in the development of
infrastructure in Kerala. KIIFB acts as the main agency of the state government for scrutinising, approving, and
funding major infrastructure projects. These infrastructure projects may be revenue generating or non-revenue
generating.
 
Unsupported Rating
Acuite A+/Stable
(Post notch up in view of the support from Government of Kerala)
 
Analytical Approach
Acuite has considered the standalone financial and operational figures of KIIFB and further notched it up for the
support from Government of Kerala and the credit enhancement and structured payment mechanisms in place for
the issue.
 

Key Rating Drivers

Strength
Support from the government of Kerala
KIIFB is the nodal agency for infrastructure development for the Government of Kerala. KIIFB was established
with the main objective of providing investment for critical and large infrastructure projects in Kerala. It acts as
the primary agency of the state government to facilitate the development of both the physical and social
infrastructure in Kerala and to assist the state government and its agencies in the development of infrastructure in
Kerala. It is fully owned by GoKe. The GoKe further extends its support in the form of board representation with
the Chief Minister as the chairperson, the Finance Minister, the chief secretary, key bureaucrats, and independent
members. Further, all the borrowings made by KIIFB are guaranteed by GoKe as per the KIIF Act. GoKe has to
make the necessary budgetary allocations to ensure KIIFB's revenue stream. Transfers from GOKe to KIIFB are as
provided for in Section 7 of KIIF Act (as amended in 2016). As per Section 7, GOKe shall make budgetary
allocations equivalent to the share of MVT and the entire quantum of fuel cess collected in the state in the previous
year. These revenues come to KIIFB on a daily basis and fully by the month of December in every financial year,
so that there are no liquidity crunches at the end of the financial year affecting the cashflows. The GoKe may
also  make any additional grants or loans to KIIFB so that KIIFB defrays its debt liabilities as per the KIIF Act.

Close monitoring by FTAC
The Fund Trustee and Advisory Commission (FTAC) monitors the financial stability and fund utilisation by KIIFB
closely. It acts as the trustee to ensure that all investments of the fund serve the purpose and intent of the KIIF
Act.The commission consists of eminent members like Shri. Vinod Rai, Chairman , Shri. R.A. Sankara Narayanan
and Smt. Uma Shankar. FTAC issues a “ Fidelity Certificate ” every six months certifying that the application of
funds and the investment of surplus funds are in conformity with the Act and KIIFB has adequate resources to meet
debt obligations arising in the next 6 months.

Strength of the  structure of the issue
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The structure will be closely monitored by the DT and DSRA and FD mechanisms are also in place. The tenure of
the bond is ten years, and the principal redemption will start in year four. The issuer would create a DSRA for an
amount equivalent to the interest obligation of one succeeding quarter and the principal redemption amount of one
quarter. The issuer would need to maintain the required DSRA amount on a rolling basis, and the initial DSRA
amount so calculated would need to be deposited at least one day prior to the date of pay in. On the first day of
every quarterly payment cycle, Issuer shall also maintain a fixed deposit in a scheduled public commercial bank, at
least to the extent of the interest obligation on the immediately succeeding quarterly payout date & principal
redemption amount of one quarter, and create, maintain, charge/lien on the same in favour of the Debenture
Trustee at all times. The current structure provides for two quarters of interest and repayment obligations through
the DSRA and FD mechanisms upfront.
The escrow mechanism is in place for the bond servicing account, where daily credit equivalent to 2% of the
upcoming servicing requirement will happen, from the daily credit of petroleum and MVT Cess share from GoKe.
For the last quarter of the financial year, the entire servicing requirement will be transferred upfront at the
beginning of the quarter. 
For the existing bond issue, the DT will check the availability of funds on the T-7th day and recover any shortfalls
through the liquidation of the FD. If the shortfall still remains on the T-5th day, DT will ask the issuer to bridge the
shortfall immediately. If the shortfall persists on the T-3rd day, the DT will transfer the funds from the DSRA to
bridge the gap. The DSRA utilisation should be notified to the GoKe by the next day.  If the impairment of DSRA is
not fully replenished on the payout day, on T+1th day, DT will ask the issuer to replenish the DSRA from the
corpus fund by T+ 6th day. There is the corpus fund amounting to Rs. 3327.01 Cr. which will only be used for the
replenishment of DSRA or redemption of the issue during any windfall event. The corpus fund has to be maintained
till the end of the issue period.  If the DSRA is not cured on that day, the DT will inform the GoKe its intention to
invoke the guarantee if the DSRA is not replenished in next 21 days. If the DSRA is not replenished by T+27th day,
DT will invoke the state guarantee. The GoKe has the obligation to replenish the DSRA within the next 30 days. If
the DSRA is not replenished on the T+58th day, it will be considered as an event of default.

The proposed issue, does not have a support of Corpus fund as a part of its credit enhancement structure. However,
the credit enhancement is supported by GoKe’s explicit guarantee to replenish both upfront FD and DSRA in case
of shortfall/ impairment. If the Guarantee obligations are not met by the State Government within 30 days of
Guarantee invocation i.e.  T+ 58 days, it would be construed as an Event of Default. Further as per Deed of
Guarantee, GoKe is to infuse required funds to Issuer to redeem bondholders in case a cross-default/ critical
rating downgrade event. If such redemption is not effected within the specified timelines, GoKe guarantee can be
invoked by DT to redeem the bonds. Accordingly for the cross-default/ critical rating downgrade if the Guarantee
obligations are not met by the State Government within 30 days of Guarantee invocation i.e.  t + 85 days, it would
be construed as an Event of Default.
Weakness
State of the financial health of Government of Kerala
Since the operations of KIIFB are supported by the GoKe and the revenue stream of KIIFB also derives from the
GoKe, the high revenue and fiscal deficits of Government of Kerala can disrupt the operations of KIIFB.  As per
2024(CAG Provisional), GoKe revenue deficit stood at 1.55 % of the GSDP with the fiscal deficit at 2.92 % of
the GSDP. The debt of the GoKe stood at 33.76% of the GSDP. Going forward, the ability of the GoKe to improve
its financial stability and the central government's intervention in state borrowing limits will be key monitorables.

Assessment of Adequacy of Credit Enhancement (Applicable only for CE Ratings)
Acuite believes that the DSRA structure, FD and escrow mechanism in the bond servicing account along with the
corpus fund and guarantee by the GoKe will help in maintaining ample liquidity and mitigating any risk in
repayment of the issue.
 
ESG Factors Relevant for Rating
KIIFB created its ESG policy in 2021. The main objective of this policy is to address any of the ESG risks and
impacts in the projects and make them ESG sustainable for KIIFB and its stakeholders and development partners.
KIIFB is committed to adopting global standards and principles of responsible investing, and integrating ESG
criteria into its investment approach and decision-making processes. Further, KIIFB also encourages Special
Purpose Vehicles (SPVs) or Project Implementation Agencies (PIAs) to manage risks responsibly by working
beyond regulatory requirements and moving towards enhanced social value creation. As part of this, KIIFB has
adopted a nine step mechanism that includes due diligence, monitoring, and grievance redressal mechanisms to
ensure proper ESG standards are maintained in each of its projects and the policy is updated as per the latest
trends.
KIIFB has a strong internal governance system in place. KIIFB is headed by the Chief Executive Officer, who also
acts as the fund manager of KIIFB. The Board is the highest decision-making body of KIIFB and comprises the
Chief Minister, the Finance Minister, the Chief Executive Officer, key bureaucrats, and independent members. The
board consists of 13 members, out of whom 6 are independent members.
 
Rating Sensitivity
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Changes in GoKe support
Changes in financial health of GoKe
Non adherence to the payment structure, for this particular issue
Deterioration  in DSRA, FD or corpus fund or invocation of guarantee, for this particular issue

 
All Covenants (Applicable only for CE & SO Ratings)
KIIFB is subject to the below mentioned financial covenant among other covenants as stipulated by the KIIF Act
and various term sheets.

The Issuer shall ensure that, in respect of any Relevant Period, the Liability Service Coverage Ratio for such
Relevant Period shall not be less than 1.1 times.

"Liability Service Coverage Ratio" means the ratio of FC Cash flow to Liability Service; 
"Relevant Period" means the period ending 12 months from the end of each financial quarter;
"FC Cash flow" means, with respect to any Relevant Period, the aggregate of
(a) share of motor vehicle Taxes and cess levied on petroleum products received by the Issuer pursuant to KIIF
Act;
(b) any other amount appropriated by the GoK for the Issuer's sole usage;
(c) any other payments to the Issuer other than proceeds from any Financial Indebtedness; and
(d) the total amount of cash and cash equivalent investments controlled by the Issuer at the beginning of the
Relevant Period, excluding any DSRA and sinking fund or any other debt servicing account of similar intent
(except those created towards the Financial Indebtedness of the Issuer payable during the Relevant Period); and
"Liability Service" means, with respect to the Relevant Period, the aggregate of
(a) all scheduled payments (including balloon payments) on account of principal and interest and other charges on
all Financial Indebtedness, as applicable; and
(b) any payment made or required to be made to any debt service account under the terms of any agreement
providing for any Financial Indebtedness.

Covenants customary to transactions of this nature including, but not limited to:
(a) Information covenants;
(b) Authorisations;
(c) Repayment;
(d) Status and Business;
(e) Compliances;
(f) Accounts;
(g) Arm’s length transactions;
(h) Taxes;
(i) Financial Covenants;
(j) Use of proceeds;
(k) Listing;
(l) Further assurances;
(m) Compliance with laws;
(n) Filings with the stock exchange;
(o) Issuance of Debentures.
as more particularly detailed in the Debenture Trust Deed.
Further, the following key covenants are also inter alia provided in the Debenture Documents:
(a) Unconditional and irrevocable guarantee from the Government of Kerala, for timely servicing of the
Debentures.
(b) DSRA and a fixed deposit to the extent of fully covering the servicing requirement of one quarter as liquidity
support.
(c) Corpus Fund covenant for replenishing any impairment of the DSRA, and repayment/redemption on downgrade
in credit rating of the Debentures below ‘AA-’ (i.e., A+ or below) and/or on occurrence of a cross
default/acceleration in respect of the Issuer (as enumerated above under the serial number 54 against the particular
“Corpus Fund”).
(d) Stipulation for invocation of the Deed of Guarantee for impairment in the DSRA to a level below the servicing
requirement for the immediate servicing quarter.
 
Liquidity Position
Adequate
KIIFB has maintained adequate liquidity with ~Rs. 7190 Cr. Of Cash and cash equivalents as on March 31, 2024.
Also, with the ~Rs. 3327 Cr. corpus fund along with the FD and DSRA, there is adequate liquidity maintained for
the issue.
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Outlook: Stable
Acuite believes that KIIFB will maintain 'stable' outlook for the near to medium term.
 
Other Factors affecting Rating
None
 
Key Financials - Standalone / Originator
Particulars Unit FY24 (Actual) FY23 (Actual)
Total Assets Rs. Cr.     24,359.01 20,820.60
Total Income* Rs. Cr.       3,710.63 3,886.69
PAT Rs. Cr.        (967.71) (853.33)
Net Worth Rs. Cr.       3,327.02 2,820.49
Return on Average Assets (RoAA) (%)           (4.28) (4.55)
Return on Average Net Worth (RoNW) (%)          (31.48) (30.25)
Debt/Equity Times             6.23 6.30
Gross NPA (%)  - -
Net NPA (%)  - -
*Total income equals to Net Interest Income plus other income
 
Status of non-cooperation with previous CRA (if applicable):
Not applicable
 
Any other information
Supplementary disclosures  for Provisional Ratings
A. Risks associated with the provisional nature of the credit rating
In case there are material changes in the terms of the transaction after the initial assignment of the provisional
rating and post the completion of the issuance (corresponding to the part that has been issued) Acuite will
withdraw the existing provisional rating and concurrently, assign a fresh final rating in the same press release, basis
the revised terms of the transaction.

B. Rating that would have been assigned in absence of the pending steps/ documentation
The rating would be equated to the standalone rating of the entity: ACUITE A+/ Stable
 
C. Timeline for conversion to Final Rating for a debt instrument proposed to be issued:
The provisional rating shall be converted into a final rating within 90 days from the date of issuance of the
proposed debt instrument. Under no circumstance shall the provisional rating continue upon the expiry of 180 days
from the date of issuance of the proposed debt instrument.
 
Applicable Criteria
• Application Of Financial Ratios And Adjustments: https://www.acuite.in/view-rating-criteria-53.htm
• Default Recognition: https://www.acuite.in/view-rating-criteria-52.htm
• Explicit Credit Enhancements: https://www.acuite.in/view-rating-criteria-49.htm
• Non-Banking Financing Entities: https://www.acuite.in/view-rating-criteria-44.htm

Note on complexity levels of the rated instrument
In order to inform the investors about complexity of instruments, Acuité has categorized such instruments in three
levels: Simple, Complex and Highly Complex. Acuite’s categorisation of the instruments across the three
categories is based on factors like variability of the returns to the investors, uncertainty in cash flow patterns,
number of counterparties and general understanding of the instrument by the market. It has to be understood that
complexity is different from credit risk and even an instrument categorized as 'Simple' can carry high levels of
risk. For more details, please refer Rating Criteria “Complexity Level Of Financial Instruments” on www.acuite.in.
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Rating History

Date Name of
Instruments/Facilities Term Amount (Rs.

Cr) Rating/Outlook

23 Oct
2024

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 57.12 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 13.88 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Long
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Bond Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 121.45 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 92.73 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 2057.14 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 0.06 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Long
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26 Aug
2024

Bond Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 57.12 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 13.88 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 3000.00 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Assigned)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 0.06 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 0.02 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 13.88 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)
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22 Jul
2024

Bond Long
Term

71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 34.04 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 57.12 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 0.06 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)
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Proposed Bond
Long
Term 0.02

ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable
(Reaffirmed)

11 Apr
2024

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 57.12 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 13.88 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 87.38 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Long ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable
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Proposed Bond Term 238.34 (Reaffirmed)
Proposed Bond

Long
Term 0.02

ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable
(Reaffirmed)

14 Mar
2024

Bond Long
Term 57.12 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 13.88 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 71.00 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 850.00 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Assigned)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 0.02 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)
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11 Jan
2024

Bond Long
Term

42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond
Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 143.28 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 413.42 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 83.60 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

02 Nov
2023

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Reaffirmed)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 800.00 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Assigned)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 699.98 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)

30 Sep
2023

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Bond Long
Term 42.86 ACUITE AA (CE) | Stable (Assigned)

Proposed Bond Long
Term 699.98 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable

(Reaffirmed)
28 Sep
2023 Proposed Bond Long

Term 1000.00 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable
(Assigned)

25 May
2023 Proposed Bond Long

Term 1000.00 ACUITE Provisional AA (CE) | Stable
(Assigned)
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Annexure - Details of instruments rated

Lender’s
Name ISIN Facilities Date Of

Issuance
Coupon

Rate
Maturity

Date
Quantum
(Rs. Cr.)

Complexity
Level Rating

Not
Applicable INE658F08144 Bond 22 Dec

2023 8.95 22 Dec
2032 57.12 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08086 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 22 Dec

2027 71.00 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08128 Bond 22 Dec

2023 8.95 22 Dec
2028 71.00 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08110 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 21 Dec

2029 71.00 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08102 Bond 22 Dec

2023 8.95 20 Dec
2030 71.00 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08094 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 22 Dec

2031 71.00 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08144 Bond 22 Dec

2023 8.95 22 Dec
2032 13.88 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08136 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 22 Dec

2033 71.00 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08151 Bond 26 Mar

2024 9.10 26 Mar
2028 87.38 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08169 Bond 26 Mar
2024 9.10 26 Mar

2033 87.38 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08177 Bond 26 Mar

2024 9.10 26 Mar
2029 87.38 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08185 Bond 26 Mar
2024 9.10 26 Mar

2032 87.38 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08193 Bond 26 Mar

2024 9.10 26 Mar
2031 87.38 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08201 Bond 26 Mar
2024 9.10 26 Mar

2030 87.38 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08219 Bond 26 Mar

2024 9.10 26 Mar
2034 87.38 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08219 Bond 26 Mar
2024 9.10 26 Mar

2034 34.04 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08201 Bond 26 Mar

2024 9.10 26 Mar
2030 34.04 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08193 Bond 26 Mar
2024 9.10 26 Mar

2031 34.04 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08185 Bond 26 Mar

2024 9.10 26 Mar
2032 34.04 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08151 Bond 23 Apr
2024 9.10 26 Mar

2028 34.04 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08177 Bond 26 Mar

2024 9.10 26 Mar
2029 34.04 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08169 Bond 26 Mar
2024 9.10 26 Mar

2033 34.04 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08037 Bond 03 Jul

2023 8.49 02 Jul
2027 42.86 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08011 Bond 03 Jul
2023 8.49 03 Jul

2028 42.86 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08045 Bond 03 Jul

2023 8.49 03 Jul
2029 42.86 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08029 Bond 03 Jul
2023 8.49 03 Jul

2030 42.86 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08052 Bond 03 Jul

2023 8.49 03 Jul
2031 42.86 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
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Not
Applicable

INE658F08078 Bond 03 Jul
2023

8.49 02 Jul
2032

42.86 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08060 Bond 03 Jul

2023 8.49 04 Jul
2033 42.86 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08086 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 22 Dec

2027 143.28 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08128 Bond 22 Dec

2023 8.95 22 Dec
2028 143.28 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08110 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 21 Dec

2029 143.28 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08102 Bond 22 Dec

2023 8.95 20 Dec
2030 143.28 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08094 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 22 Dec

2031 143.28 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08144 Bond 22 Dec

2023 8.95 22 Dec
2032 143.28 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08136 Bond 22 Dec
2023 8.95 22 Dec

2033 143.28 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08243 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2034 14.40 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08250 Bond 08 Oct
2024 9.49 08 Oct

2033 121.45 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08268 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2032 121.45 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08276 Bond 08 Oct
2024 9.49 08 Oct

2031 121.45 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08284 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2030 121.45 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed
Not

Applicable INE658F08235 Bond 08 Oct
2024 9.49 08 Oct

2029 121.45 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08227 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2028 121.45 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |

Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable INE658F08243 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2034 21.41 Simple

ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Assigned |

Provisional To Final

Not
Applicable INE658F08250 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2033 21.41 Simple

ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Assigned |

Provisional To Final

Not
Applicable INE658F08268 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2032 21.41 Simple

ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Assigned |

Provisional To Final

Not
Applicable INE658F08276 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2031 21.41 Simple

ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Assigned |

Provisional To Final

Not
Applicable INE658F08284 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2030 21.41 Simple

ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Assigned |

Provisional To Final

Not
Applicable INE658F08235 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2029 21.41 Simple

ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Assigned |

Provisional To Final

Not
Applicable INE658F08227 Bond 08 Oct

2024 9.49 08 Oct
2028 21.41 Simple

ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Assigned |

Provisional To Final
Not

Applicable INE658F08243 Bond 08 Oct
2024 9.49 08 Oct

2034 107.05 Simple ACUITE AA | CE |
Stable | Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable

Not avl. / Not
appl.

Proposed
Bond

Not avl. /
Not appl.

Not avl.
/ Not
appl.

Not avl. /
Not appl. 0.06 Simple

Provisional | ACUITE
AA | CE | Stable |

Reaffirmed

Not Not avl. / Not Proposed Not avl. /
Not avl.

Not avl. /
Provisional | ACUITE
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Applicable appl. Bond Not appl. / Not
appl.

Not appl. 1907.27 Simple AA | CE | Stable |
Reaffirmed

Not
Applicable

Not avl. / Not
appl.

Proposed
Bond

Not avl. /
Not appl.

Not avl.
/ Not
appl.

Not avl. /
Not appl. 92.73 Simple

Provisional | ACUITE
AA | CE | Stable |

Reaffirmed
About Acuité Ratings & Research
Acuité is a full-service Credit Rating Agency registered with the Securities & Exchange Board of India
(SEBI). The company received RBI Accreditation as an External Credit Assessment Institution (ECAI) for
Bank Loan Ratings under BASEL-II norms in the year 2012. Acuité has assigned ratings to various
securities, debt instruments and bank facilities of entities spread across the country and across a wide
cross section of industries. It has its Registered and Head Office in Kanjurmarg, Mumbai.

Disclaimer: An Acuité rating does not constitute an audit of the rated entity and should not be treated as a
recommendation or opinion that is intended to substitute for a financial adviser's or investor's independent
assessment of whether to buy, sell or hold any security. Ratings assigned by Acuité are based on the data
and information provided by the issuer and obtained from other reliable sources. Although reasonable care
has been taken to ensure that the data and information is true, Acuité, in particular, makes no
representation or warranty, expressed or implied with respect to the adequacy, accuracy or completeness
of the information relied upon. Acuité is not responsible for any errors or omissions and especially states
that it has no financial liability whatsoever for any direct, indirect or consequential loss of any kind, arising
from the use of its ratings. Ratings assigned by Acuité are subject to a process of surveillance which may
lead to a revision in ratings as and when the circumstances so warrant. Please visit our website
(www.acuite.in) for the latest information on any instrument rated by Acuité. Please visit
https://www.acuite.in/faqs.htm to refer FAQs on Credit Rating.

Note: None of the Directors on the Board of Acuité Ratings & Research Limited are members of any rating
committee and therefore do not participate in discussions regarding the rating of any entity.
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To,
Ajosh Krishna Kumar
GM
Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board
2nd floor, Felicity Square, Koder Ln, Palayam, 
Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala 695001

November 28, 2024

Dear Sir/Madam,

Re: Rating Letter for NCD of Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board

India Ratings and Research (Ind-Ra) has taken the following rating actions on Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board’s (KIIFB)
non-convertible debentures (NCDs):

Instrument Type Size of Issue (million) Rating assigned along with
Outlook/ Watch

Rating Action

Non-convertible debentures*$# INR1,498.70 IND AA(CE)/Stable Assigned

Proposed non-convertible
debentures $^

INR19,999.79 (reduced from
INR21,498.49)

Provisional IND AA(CE)/Stable Affirmed

Non-convertible debentures*$ INR35,000.70 IND AA(CE)/Stable Affirmed

$Credit ratings with (CE) suffix indicates that the instruments are supported by an external explicit credit enhancement (CE).

#The assignment of the final rating follows the receipt of key executed transaction documents conforming to the information already
received by Ind-Ra and the creation of a debt service reserve and fixed deposit (FD) on 28 October 2024 and 29 October 2024,
respectively. The final rating is, therefore, the same as the provisional rating assigned on 21 August 2024. The key documents received
are information memorandum, debenture trustee deed, deed of guarantee, deed of hypothecation, and accounts agreement. A detailed
break-up of the NCDs is mentioned in the annexure.

^The rating on the proposed non-convertible debentures (NCDs) is provisional and contingent upon the execution of certain documents
and/ occurrence of certain steps.

*Details in Annexure

In issuing and maintaining its ratings, India Ratings relies on factual information it receives from issuers and underwriters and from other
sources India Ratings believes to be credible. India Ratings conducts a reasonable investigation of the factual information relied upon by
it in accordance with its ratings methodology, and obtains reasonable verification of that information from independent sources, to the
extent such sources are available for a given security.

The manner of India Ratings factual investigation and the scope of the third-party verification it obtains will vary depending on the
nature of the rated security and its issuer, the requirements and practices in India where the rated security is offered and sold, the
availability and nature of relevant public information, access to the management of the issuer and its advisers, the availability of pre-
existing third-party verifications such as audit reports, agreed-upon procedures letters, appraisals, actuarial reports, engineering reports,
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legal opinions and other reports provided by third parties, the availability of independent and competent third-party verification sources
with respect to the particular security or in the particular jurisdiction of the issuer, and a variety of other factors.

Users of India Ratings ratings should understand that neither an enhanced factual investigation nor any third-party verification can ensure
that all of the information India Ratings relies on in connection with a rating will be accurate and complete. Ultimately, the issuer and
its advisers are responsible for the accuracy of the information they provide to India Ratings and to the market in offering documents
and other reports. In issuing its ratings India Ratings must rely on the work of experts, including independent auditors with respect to
financial statements and attorneys with respect to legal and tax matters. Further, ratings are inherently forward-looking and embody
assumptions and predictions about future events that by their nature cannot be verified as facts. As a result, despite any verification of
current facts, ratings can be affected by future events or conditions that were not anticipated at the time a rating was issued or
affirmed.

India Ratings seeks to continuously improve its ratings criteria and methodologies, and periodically updates the descriptions on its website
of its criteria and methodologies for securities of a given type. The criteria and methodology used to determine a rating action are those
in effect at the time the rating action is taken, which for public ratings is the date of the related rating action commentary. Each rating
action commentary provides information about the criteria and methodology used to arrive at the stated rating, which may differ from the
general criteria and methodology for the applicable security type posted on the website at a given time. For this reason, you should
always consult the applicable rating action commentary for the most accurate information on the basis of any given public rating.

Ratings are based on established criteria and methodologies that India Ratings is continuously evaluating and updating. Therefore, ratings
are the collective work product of India Ratings and no individual, or group of individuals, is solely responsible for a rating. All India
Ratings reports have shared authorship. Individuals identified in an India Ratings report were involved in, but are not solely responsible
for, the opinions stated therein. The individuals are named for contact purposes only.

Ratings are not a recommendation or suggestion, directly or indirectly, to you or any other person, to buy, sell, make or hold any
investment, loan or security or to undertake any investment strategy with respect to any investment, loan or security or any issuer.
Ratings do not comment on the adequacy of market price, the suitability of any investment, loan or security for a particular investor
(including without limitation, any accounting and/or regulatory treatment), or the tax-exempt nature or taxability of payments made in
respect of any investment, loan or security. India Ratings is not your advisor, nor is India Ratings providing to you or any other party
any financial advice, or any legal, auditing, accounting, appraisal, valuation or actuarial services. A rating should not be viewed as a
replacement for such advice or services. Investors may find India Ratings ratings to be important information, and India Ratings notes
that you are responsible for communicating the contents of this letter, and any changes with respect to the rating, to investors.

It will be important that you promptly provide us with all information that may be material to the ratings so that our ratings continue to
be appropriate. Ratings may be raised, lowered, withdrawn, or placed on Rating Watch due to changes in, additions to, accuracy of or
the inadequacy of information or for any other reason India Ratings deems sufficient.

Nothing in this letter is intended to or should be construed as creating a fiduciary relationship between India Ratings and you or
between India Ratings and any user of the ratings.

In this letter, “India Ratings” means India Ratings & Research Pvt. Ltd. and any successor in interest.

We are pleased to have had the opportunity to be of service to you. If we can be of further assistance, please email us at
infogrp@indiaratings.co.in

Sincerely,

India Ratings

KeralaInfrastructureInvestmentFundBoard 28-November-2024
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Annexure: Facilities Breakup

Annexure: ISIN

Instrument ISIN Date of Issuance Coupon Rate Maturity Date Ratings Outstanding/Rated Amount(INR million)

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08037 03/07/2023 8.49 02/07/2027 IND AA(CE)/Stable 428.6

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08011 03/07/2023 8.49 03/07/2028 IND AA(CE)/Stable 428.6

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08045 03/07/2023 8.49 03/07/2029 IND AA(CE)/Stable 428.6

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08029 03/07/2023 8.49 03/07/2030 IND AA(CE)/Stable 428.6

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08052 03/07/2023 8.49 03/07/2031 IND AA(CE)/Stable 428.6

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08078 03/07/2023 8.49 02/07/2032 IND AA(CE)/Stable 428.6

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08060 03/07/2023 8.49 04/07/2033 IND AA(CE)/Stable 428.6

Non-convertible debentures INE658F08086 22/12/2023 8.95 22/12/2027 IND AA(CE)/Stable 2142.8

Non-convertible debentures INE658F08128 22/12/2023 8.95 22/12/2028 IND AA(CE)/Stable 2142.8

Non-convertible debentures INE658F08110 22/12/2023 8.95 21/12/2029 IND AA(CE)/Stable 2142.8

Non-convertible debentures INE658F08102 22/12/2023 8.95 20/12/2030 IND AA(CE)/Stable 2142.8

Non-convertible debentures INE658F08094 22/12/2023 8.95 22/12/2031 IND AA(CE)/Stable 2142.8

Non-convertible debentures INE658F08144 22/12/2023 8.95 22/12/2032 IND AA(CE)/Stable 2142.8

Non-convertible debentures INE658F08136 22/12/2023 8.95 22/12/2033 IND AA(CE)/Stable 2142.8

Non-convertible debentures $ INE658F08151 26/03/2024 9.10 26/03/2028 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1214.2

Non-convertible debentures $ INE658F08177 26/03/2024 9.10 26/03/2029 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1214.2

Non-convertible debentures $ INE658F08201 26/03/2024 9.10 26/03/2030 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1214.2

Non-convertible debentures $ INE658F08193 26/03/2024 9.10 26/03/2031 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1214.2

Non-convertible debentures $ INE658F08185 26/03/2024 9.10 26/03/2032 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1214.2

Non-convertible debentures $ INE658F08169 26/03/2024 9.10 26/03/2033 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1214.2

Non-convertible debentures $ INE658F08219 26/03/2024 9.10 26/03/2034 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1214.2

Non-convertible debentures # INE658F08227 08/10/2024 9.49 08/10/2028 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1428.6

Non-convertible debentures # INE658F08235 08/10/2024 9.49 08/10/2029 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1428.6

Non-convertible debentures # INE658F08284 08/10/2024 9.49 08/10/2030 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1428.6

Non-convertible debentures # INE658F08276 08/10/2024 9.49 08/10/2031 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1428.6

Non-convertible debentures # INE658F08268 08/10/2024 9.49 08/10/2032 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1428.6

Non-convertible debentures # INE658F08250 08/10/2024 9.49 08/10/2033 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1428.6

Non-convertible debentures # INE658F08243 08/10/2024 9.49 08/10/2034 IND AA(CE)/Stable 1428.6

* NCDs are green bonds. As per NSDL records, the issue size of each green bond is INR1,428.5 million, which is on the basis
of issue size of INR10,000.0 million. However, KIIFB has raised INR3,000.2 million (seven strips of INR428.6 million). KIIFB has
taken up this matter with NSDL.

$NCDs amounting to INR2,382.8 million broken into seven sub-series of INR340.40 million were allotted on 23 April 2024 with

KeralaInfrastructureInvestmentFundBoard 28-November-2024
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temporary ISIN and merged with existing ISIN having issuance date of 26 March 2024.

# NCDs amounting to INR1,498.70 million broken into seven sub-series of INR214.10 million were allotted on 30 October 2024 with
temporary ISIN and merged with existing ISIN having issuance date of 08 October 2024.

Source: KIIFB, NSDL

KeralaInfrastructureInvestmentFundBoard 28-November-2024
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India Ratings Assigns Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board’s NCDs Final ‘IND AA(CE)’/Stable; Affirms Existing
Ratings

Nov 28, 2024 | Development Authority

India Ratings and Research (Ind-Ra) has taken the following rating actions on Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Board’s (KIIFB) non-convertible debentures (NCDs):
 

Details of Instruments

Instrument Type Date of issuance Coupon Rate
(%)

Maturity Date Size of Issue (million) Rating assigned along with
Outlook/ Watch

Rating Action

Non-convertible debentures*$# - - - INR1,498.70 IND AA(CE)/Stable Assigned

Proposed non-convertible
debentures $^

- - - INR19,999.79 (reduced from
INR21,498.49)

Provisional IND AA(CE)/Stable Affirmed

Non-convertible debentures*$ - - - INR35,000.70 IND AA(CE)/Stable Affirmed

$Credit ratings with (CE) suffix indicates that the instruments are supported by an external explicit credit enhancement (CE). Please refer to section DISCLOSURES FOR CE RATING for
additional details as per The Securities and Exchange Board of India’s (SEBI) master circular dated 6 July 2023.
#The assignment of the final rating follows the receipt of key executed transaction documents conforming to the information already received by Ind-Ra and the creation of a debt service
reserve and fixed deposit (FD) on 28 October 2024 and 29 October 2024, respectively. The final rating is, therefore, the same as the provisional rating assigned on 21 August 2024. The
key documents received are information memorandum, debenture trustee deed, deed of guarantee, deed of hypothecation, and accounts agreement. A detailed break-up of the NCDs is
mentioned in the annexure.
^The rating on the proposed non-convertible debentures (NCDs) is provisional and contingent upon the execution of certain documents and/ occurrence of certain steps. Please refer to
section DISCLOSURES FOR PROVISIONAL RATING for additional details as per SEBI master circular.
*Details in Annexure I

Analytical Approach
Ind-Ra continues to take a standalone view of KIIFB to arrive at the ratings. Ind-Ra classifies KIIFB as a dependent entity of the government of Kerala (GoKe) under its Criteria of Rating
Public Sector Entities. The ratings draw comfort from the credit profile of the GoKe, which has extended an unconditional and irrevocable guarantee for the debt issuance. The bond rating
is notched up on the basis of the pledged revenue, the strength of the structured payment mechanism based on the draft term sheet, and the likely adequate debt service coverage.

Detailed Rationale of the Rating Action
The instrument ratings are based on the continued strong legal and financial linkages between KIIFB and the GoKe, and Ind-Ra has notched them up based on the structured payment
mechanism, which is working as it was hypothesised. The collections from the unrestricted pledged receivables, in the form of motor vehicle tax (MVT) and cess on petroleum receipts,
allocated to KIIFB by the GoKe, are in line with Ind-Ra’s expectations. Resultantly, neither the debt service reserve account (DSRA) has been used nor the GoKe guarantee and DSRA
guarantee have been invoked.

Ind-Ra has rated the new and proposed NCDs at the same level as the existing ones on the basis that a similar structured payment mechanism will be followed for them except for the
corpus fund. However, unlike in the earlier structure where a recourse to the corpus fund was made in instances such as DSRA impairment/cross default, the current structure takes a
recourse to the GoKe to replenish the shortfall in the DSRA as well as infusing funds to meet any shortfall in redeeming NCDs to the bondholders in case of a cross default. In the new
structure, the GoKe takes the responsibility of replenishing the upfront fixed deposit (FD) and infusing funds to KIIFB for redeeming bondholders in case of a cross default, along with the
responsibilities as per the earlier transaction structure. For the new and proposed bonds, Ind-Ra takes comfort from the unconditional, irrevocable and continuing pre-default guarantee
agreement executed between the GoKe and KIIFB, which will remain in force and effect until the NCDs are fully redeemed as per draft the deed of guarantee. Basis the pre-default
guarantee and enforceability of the guarantee, Ind-Ra has assigned a CE suffix to the NCD rating, and the base rating of the transaction is linked to the credit profile of GoKe for the new
and proposed bonds.

For the existing NCDs, Ind-Ra takes comfort from the unconditional, irrevocable and continuing pre-default guarantee agreement executed between the GoKe and KIIFB, which will
remain in force and effect until the NCDs are fully redeemed. The guarantee is also available to replenish the DSRA, if it is utilised to meet debt payment obligations. Basis the pre-default
guarantee and enforceability of the guarantee, Ind-Ra has assigned a CE suffix to the NCD rating, and the base rating of the transaction is linked to the credit profile of GoKe for the
existing bonds.

The ratings of the new, proposed and existing NCDs are further notched up based on the transaction structure. The ratings also factor in the legal and financial strengths of the transaction
structure, which will be monitored and controlled by the debenture trustee (DT). The payment mechanism of all new, proposed and existing bonds is backed by a bond servicing account
(BSA), a pre-funded (initial DSRA and FD to be created one day before the pay-in date) one-quarter DSRA and an FD sufficient to meet one-quarter of interest and principal obligations
throughout the bond tenor. The DSRA and FDs are liened in favour of the trustee and can be used only for debt servicing.

List of Key Rating Drivers
Strengths
- Adequacy of pledged revenue 
- DSRA and corpus fund
- Structured payment mechanism
- Transaction structural features
- Shortfall guarantee from GoKe
- GoKe’s ownership and control of KIIFB
- Fiscal prudence in FY24 and FY25
 
Weaknesses
- Potential revenue risk during an adverse economic situation
- Kerala’s moderate economic performance
- State’s high debt burden
 

Detailed Description of Key Rating Drivers
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Adequacy of Pledged Revenue: Ind-Ra expects the pledged revenue to comfortably meet the debt service obligations of the bonds throughout the tenor. Under the transaction structure,
the MVT and petroleum cess received in KIIFB’s collection account daily during April to December every year, will be deposited in KIIFB’s BSA. The interest servicing and repayment of
the bonds will be made from the build-up of such allocated cash flows, through regular transfers, in the bond servicing escrow account. Ind-Ra expects the revenue pledged to adequately
provide a minimum cover of 1.2x of its debt service payments under the rating case scenario without using liquidity buffers in the medium term. The NCDs will be issued at a fixed rate of
interest that mitigates the interest rate risk.
 
The transfer to BSA will be done in a manner such that the amount required for servicing NCDs gets fully built-up at least seven days prior to the quarterly servicing date. The MVT and
cess allocation by the GoKe increased at a CAGR of 11% during FY20-FY24. The GoKe is required to ensure that the funds allocated to KIIFB grow at least 10% yoy. For any shortfall in
cash flow during a financial year, the structure draws support from the statutory obligation of the government to cover the shortfall under the KIIF Act 2016.
 
DSRA and Corpus Fund: A one-quarter DSRA and an FD sufficient to meet one-quarter interest and principal obligations throughout the bond tenor has been created and will be created
one day before the pay-in date for all the existing, and new and proposed bonds, respectively. Also, the terms of the new and proposed bonds are similar as the existing set of bonds,
basis the draft term sheet and draft NCD documents except for the availability of the corpus fund. The corpus fund has been enhanced to INR33,270 million as of February 2024 from
INR28,204.90 million to adhere to the condition that the bond issuance is kept at maximum of 80% of the corpus fund for existing issuances.
 
Structured Payment Mechanism:  Ind-Ra expects the structured payment mechanism overseen by the trustees to protect the interest of bondholders. As per the draft documents
received from the management, the structure remains similar for the proposed bonds as well except for the corpus fund. Unlike in the earlier structure where a recourse to the corpus fund
was made in instances such as a DSRA impairment/in case of cross default, the current structure takes a recourse to the GoKe to replenish the shortfall in the DSRA as well as infusing
funds to meet any shortfall in redeeming NCDs to the bondholders in case of a cross default. In the new structure, the GoKe takes responsibility of replenishing the upfront FD and
infusing funds to KIIFB for redeeming bondholders in case of a cross default in addition to the responsibilities as per the earlier transaction structure.
 
Under the structured payment mechanism, from the first day of each quarterly servicing cycle, an amount equivalent to 2% of the aggregate quarterly servicing requirement of the
outstanding bonds will be transferred to KIIFB’s BSA, by way of an irrevocable standing instruction to the collection bank, until the required debt servicing amount is fully built up (pay-out
date (T)) T-7 days before the due date of the payment. This transfer will continue each working day from April to December. For the period of 1 January to 31 March, KIIFB shall transfer
an upfront amount on 1 January each year to KIIFB’s BSA. The upfront amount will be equivalent to the amount required towards the aggregate daily transfer amounts for the said period.
 
The DT would monitor the adequacy of the availability of funds in BSA, and in case of any inadequacy, would fund the same through liquidation of FD to the extent of such shortfall (T-7
days). In case of a shortfall in the BSA by T-5 day, DT would advise KIIFB to immediately bridge the shortfall, under intimation to the state government. If the shortfall persists on T-3 day,
DT will transfer the requisite funds from the DSRA to bridge the gap.
 
In case the funds available in DSRA are lower than the servicing requirement for the immediate next servicing date (T + 91), DT would serve a notice to KIIFB on T+ 1 day to fully
replenish the DSRA impairment through the transfer of requisite amount from the corpus fund within T+6 days for the existing bonds.
 
The structure payment mechanism is provided in detail for the new and proposed NCDs in the Any Other Information section below.
 
Transaction Structural Features: All existing, new and proposed bonds are also secured by an exclusive charge on KIIFB’s BSA, DSRA and FD in favour of DT. The GoKe has agreed to
unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee the bonds raised by KIIFB; the guarantee is continuing in nature and through the tenor of the bonds for the principal and interest as per the deed
of the guarantee for existing bonds and the executed deed of guarantee for the new bonds to the tune of INR10,000.20 million, including the reissue of INR1,498.70 million for which the
final rating is being assigned. The guarantee deed will be executed in due time for the proposed bonds. The corpus fund is unavailable for the proposed bonds and in the new structure,
the GoKe takes the responsibility of replenishing the upfront FD/DSRA and infusing funds to KIIFB for redeeming the bondholders in case of a cross default in addition to the
responsibilities as per the earlier transaction structure.
 
Separately, for the existing bonds, KIIFB has extended an unconditional and irrevocable undertaking that in the event the DSRA is utilised for meeting any debt servicing requirement for
NCDs, it would arrange to release the requisite amount from the corpus fund to replenish DSRA. As per the undertaking, KIIFB would not impair this corpus fund in any way during the
tenor of the NCDs and an amount of INR33,270.19 million (FYE24) would always be maintained as the corpus to fully reinstate the DSRA. There would be no charge or lien on the corpus
fund in favour of DT. However, DT would monitor the corpus fund. The corpus fund was enhanced in FY24 for a further fund raise through the NCDs route.
 
For the existing bonds, in case of a cross default/acceleration under agreements (subject to relevant cure periods) for any financial indebtedness of KIIFB or its subsidiaries, KIIFB would
repay bondholders the entire amount of the outstanding bonds from the corpus fund within seven days from the date of occurrence of such cross-default/acceleration, failing which it shall
constitute an event of default for the existing bonds. For the new and proposed bonds, the bondholders are provided a put option in case of cross default.
 
Shortfall Guarantee from GoKe: For the new and proposed bonds, the GoKe has extended a guarantee to fund DSRA and FD shortfall within the specified timeline. Unlike in the earlier
structure where a recourse to the corpus fund was made in instances such as a DSRA impairment/ in case of cross default, the current structure takes a recourse to the GoKe to replenish
the shortfall in DSRA, FD as well as infusing funds to meet any shortfall in redeeming NCDs to the bond holders in case of cross default.
 
The deed of guarantee would specifically provide obligation on the part of the GoKe to fund the shortfall in DSRA and FD when called upon by DT, as per the stipulated timeline, in case of
new and proposed bonds. The structure payment mechanism is provided in detail for the new and proposed NCDs in the Any Other Information section below.
 
The GoKe has extended a guarantee to fund only DSRA shortfall within the specified timeline for the existing bonds. In the event of the DSRA not getting fully reinstated by T+6 days, DT
would notify the state government about its intention for an invocation of the guarantee if the shortfall were not fully bridged by T+27 days. The deed of guarantee specifically provides
obligation on the part of the GoKe to fund the shortfall in DSRA when called upon by DT, as per the above stipulated timeline. If the guaranteed obligations are not met by the GoKe within
30 days of the guaranteed invocation, it would be construed as an event of default, as per the terms of the transaction. Ind-Ra, in its analysis, has stressed the GoKe’s credit profile by
considering a sizeable portion of the guarantee to devolve. As per Ind-Ra's analysis, the guarantor, even in the stress scenario, is likely to meet all the guaranteed debt obligations.
 
GoKe’s Ownership and Control of KIIFB:  Ind-Ra has classified KIIFB as a dependent public sector entity under its Rating of Public Sector Entities criteria. The GoKe exercises
significant control over KIIFB’s policy objective and governs the composition and functioning of the board. Moreover, KIIFB is fully owned by the GoKe. The government has enacted the
necessary legislation to enable the board to mobilise funds for the infrastructure development of Kerala. The GoKe also exercises significant control over the working of KIIFB through its
board, which comprises senior state government officials along with independent members. As per section 7 of Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund (Amendment) Act, 2016 on
budgetary allocation for repayment, the GoKe from time to time will provide in its annual budget the expenses incurred for the payment of annuity and other obligations of KIIFB in the form
of MVT and petroleum cess. The GoKe may further make grants, loans and advances available to the fund as it may deem fit.
 
Fiscal Prudence in FY24 and FY25: As per the provisional accounts by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, in FY24, there was a shortfall in total receipts (INR132.66 billion)
which led to a cut down of the total expenditure (INR199.52 billion). The shortfall in receipts largely emanated from the receipts from the union government (grants: INR44.25 billion & tax
devolution: INR73.32 billion) as own revenues were marginally lower (SOTE: INR5.0 billion and SONTR: INR7.7 billion). On the other hand, there was curtailment of current expenditure to
the tune of INR196.19 billion in FY24 (P) compared to budget estimates. Favourably, the capex target was broadly met as it was 98.0% of the FY24 (Budget Estimate) in FY24. All this
resulted in the revenue deficit of the state improving to 1.5% of GSDP in FY24 (P) (FY24 (BE): 2.1%). Consequently, the fiscal deficit stood at 2.8% of GSDP in FY24 (P) much lower than
3.5% as per FY24BE.
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For FY25, the state government expects the revenue deficit to be 2.1% and the fiscal deficit to be 3.4% of GSDP. The overall gross market borrowings of the state amounted to INR424.38
billion (3.6% of GSDP) in FY24. The state borrowed INR136.08 billion in March 2024, by way of dated securities of various tenors, with a weighted average yield of 7.42%, closer to that of
dated securities issued by other states. The net market borrowings stood at INR266.38 billion (2.3% of GSDP) in FY24.
 
 
Potential Revenue Risk during Adverse Economic Situation: Ind-Ra does not rule out the possibility of a reduction of MVT due to an adverse economic situation, which may pan out
during the bond tenor, and a reduction in petroleum cess due to a shift to electrical vehicles. However, the liquidity buffers by way of FD and DSRA and an unconditional, irrevocable and
continuing guarantee by the GoKe towards DSRA replenishment for both the bonds and FD replenishment for new and proposed bonds under the transaction structure mitigate the risk
from inadequate cash flows for debt payments. Ind-Ra believes the GoKe would ensure the budgetary allocation to KIIFB by way of MVT and cess is adequate to meet its debt servicing
obligations and fund infrastructure development activity.
 
Kerala’s Moderate Economic Performance: The share of agriculture and industry in the state economy is lower while that of services is higher than their respective shares in the
national economy. The share of industry in Kerala was lower at 28.9% than 30.2% of the national level in FY23. The share of services was higher at 62.6% than the sector’s share in the
national economy of 54.4% in FY23. With a CAGR of 4.3%, Kerala’s economy grew slower than the nation’s gross value-added growth rate of 5.6% during FY12-FY23. The state’s
contribution to the national economy was 3.8% in FY23 (FY12: 4.1%).
 
State’s High Debt Burden: The debt of the state has been budgeted at 34.2% of GSDP in FY25 which would be higher than the corresponding indicative debt estimate of 32.8% of
GSDP for the state government, as per the 15th financial commission. The guarantees stood at INR503.7 billion in FY23, growing 13.5% yoy, and once included in the state debt, the
combined liabilities of the state stood at 39.4% of GSDP in FY23 (FY21: 43.2%).
 

Liquidity
Adequate: Liquidity is supported by daily transfers of MVT and petroleum cess, which are escrowed for debt servicing. KIIFB had surplus liquidity of INR33,270 million by way of the
corpus fund at FYE24 (audited). It is likely to receive INR31,300 million during FY25 as  the share of MVT and petroleum cess from the GoKe. Any shortfall in the said funds would be
supported by the state government in the form of additional support as required.
 
The total liquidity available with KIIFB, including cash and bank balances, DSRA deposits for existing debt, corpus fund and investments, was INR71,903.14 million at FYE24. The NCDs
benefit from the liquidity buffers by way of a one-quarter pre-funded DSRA and an FD to the extent of interest obligations of one succeeding quarter and a principal redemption amount of
one quarter upfront that would be maintained throughout the tenure of NCDs.
 
The company is required to maintain a DSRA equivalent of one-quarter interest and principal obligations throughout the tenor of NCDs.  In accordance with the terms of the structure, a
one-quarter DSRA and a one-quarter interest and principal obligations in the form of FDs worth INR2,233.39 million have been created cumulatively (for the existing and new bonds).
 
The corpus fund can be utilised for replenishing DSRA, put option on a critical rating downgrade notice, cross default mandatory redemption and early redemption only in case of the
existing bonds (in the event KIIFB is required to replenish any shortfall in the DSRA for the third consecutive quarter). Ind-Ra expects the cash debt service coverage ratio for FY25 to be
comfortably above 1.3x of the debt service payments, based on the rating case scenario (FY24: 2.31x; FY23: 3.13x; including liquidity buffers such as cash and bank balances and
investments). Total debt servicing obligation for FY25 and FY26 as per agency's projections are INR44,375.34 million and INR52,599.28 million, respectively, which can be comfortably
covered by the existing cash reserves and the budgetary allocation to be received of MVT and petroleum cess from the GoKe.
 

Rating Sensitivities
Positive: Any improvement in the credit profile of the GoKe will be positive for the ratings.
 
Negative: The following developments could, individually or collectively, lead to a negative rating action:

deterioration in the credit profile of the GoKe;
the debt service coverage ratio falling below 1.2x for two consecutive years during the bond tenor;
continuous dipping into liquidity buffers for two consecutive quarters;
the invocation of the GoKe’s guarantee; and
a failure or breach to comply with Securities and Exchange Board of India’s listing requirements with regard to timely disclosure on a sustained basis.
 

Disclosures for CE Rating
1) UNSUPPORTED RATING
 
Ind-Ra has affirmed the unsupported rating at ‘IND A-’/Stable.
 
ANALYTICAL APPROACH
 
The NCD ratings are supported by the credit profile of the GoKe, the nature of the pledged revenue, the strength of the structured payment mechanism based on the term sheet for
existing and new bonds, and draft term sheet for the proposed bonds, and the likely adequate debt service coverage ratio.
 
DETAILED RATIONALE OF THE RATING ACTION
 
Ind-Ra has classified KIIFB as a dependent public sector entity under its Rating of Public Sector Entities criteria. The unsupported rating considers the legal status of the entity, the
significant control exercised by the GoKe over its policy objective, and the composition and functioning of the board.
 
LIST OF KEY RATING DRIVERS
 
Strengths
- GoKe’s ownership and control of KIIFB
- Fiscal prudence in FY24 and FY25
 
Weaknesses
- Potential revenue risk during adverse economic situation
- Kerala’s moderate economic performance
-  State’s high debt burden
 
DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF KEY RATING DRIVERS
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GoKe’s Ownership and Control of KIIFB:  Ind-Ra has classified KIIFB as a dependent public sector entity under its Rating of Public Sector Entities criteria. The GoKe exercises
significant control over KIIFB’s policy objective and governs the composition and functioning of the board. Moreover, KIIFB is fully owned by the GoKe. The government has enacted the
necessary legislation to enable the board to mobilise funds for the infrastructure development of Kerala. The GoKe also exercises significant control over the working of KIIFB through its
board, which comprises senior state government officials along with independent members. As per section 7 of Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund (Amendment) Act, 2016 on
budgetary allocation for repayment, the GoKe from time to time will provide in its annual budget the expenses incurred for the payment of annuity and other obligations of KIIFB in the form
of MVT and petroleum cess. The GoKe may further make grants, and loans and advances available to the fund as it may deem fit.
 
Fiscal Prudence in FY24 and FY25: As per the provisional accounts by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, in FY24, there was a shortfall in total receipts (INR132.66 billion)
which led to a cut down of the total expenditure (INR199.52 billion). The shortfall in receipts largely emanated from the receipts from the union government (grants: INR44.25 billion, tax
devolution: INR73.32 billion) as own revenue was marginally lower (SOTE: INR5.0 billion and SONTR: INR7.7 billion). On the other hand, there was curtailment of current expenditure to
the tune of INR196.19 billion in FY24 (P) compared to budget estimates. Favourably, the capex target was broadly met as it was 98.0% of the FY24 (BE)  in FY24. All this resulted in
revenue deficit of the state improving to 1.5% of GSDP in FY24 (P) (FY24 (BE): 2.1%). Consequently, the fiscal deficit stood at 2.8% of GSDP in FY24 (P) much lower than 3.5% as per
FY24BE.
 
For FY25, the state government expects the revenue deficit to be 2.1% and the fiscal deficit to be 3.4% of GSDP. The overall gross market borrowings of the state amounted to INR424.38
billion (3.6% of GSDP) in FY24. The state borrowed INR136.08 billion in March 2024, by way of dated securities of various tenors, with a weighted average yield of 7.42%, closer to that of
dated securities issued by other states. The net market borrowings stood at INR266.38 billion (2.3% of GSDP) in FY24.
The debt of the state has been budgeted at 34.2% of GSDP in FY25 which would be higher than the corresponding indicative debt estimate of 32.8% of GSDP for the state government,
as per the 15th financial commission (FC). The guarantees stood at INR503.7 billion, growing 13.5% in FY23, and once included in the state debt, the combined liabilities of the state
stood at 39.4% of GSDP in FY23 (FY21: 43.2%).
 
Potential Revenue Risk during Adverse Economic Situation: Ind-Ra does not rule out the possibility of a reduction of MVT due to an adverse economic situation, which may pan out
during the bond tenor, and a reduction in petroleum cess due to a shift to electrical vehicles. However, the liquidity buffers by way of FD and DSRA and an unconditional, irrevocable and
continuing guarantee by the GoKe towards DSRA replenishment under the transaction structure mitigate the risk from inadequate cash flows for debt payments. Ind-Ra believes the GoKe
would ensure the budgetary allocation to KIIFB by way of MVT and cess is adequate to meet its debt servicing obligations and fund infrastructure development activity.
 
Kerala’s Moderate Economic Performance: The share of agriculture and industry in the state economy is lower while that of services is higher than their respective shares in the
national economy. The share of industry in Kerala was lower at 28.9% than 30.2% of the national level in FY23. The share of services was higher at 62.6% than the sector’s share in the
national economy of 54.4% in FY23. With a CAGR of 4.3%, Kerala’s economy grew slower than the nation’s gross value-added growth rate of 5.6% during FY12-FY23. The state’s
contribution to the national economy was 3.8% in FY23 (FY12: 4.1%).
 
State’s High Debt Burden: The debt of the state has been budgeted at 34.2% of GSDP in FY25 which would be higher than the corresponding indicative debt estimate of 32.8% of
GSDP for the state government, as per the 15th financial commission (FC). The guarantees stood at INR503.7 billion, growing 13.5% yoy, in FY23, and once included in the state debt,
the combined liabilities of the state stood at 39.4% of GSDP in FY23 (FY21: 43.2%).
 
The liquidity profile for the unsupported rating are the same as that for the NCDs.
 
RATING SENSITIVITIES
 
Positive: Any improvement in the credit profile of the GoKe will be positive for the ratings.
 
Negative: A negative rating action could result, individually or collectively, from the following
- a weakening of the linkages with the GoKe
- deterioration in the GoKe’s credit profile
 
2) INSTRUMENT COVENANTS
 
For Existing and Proposed Bonds
The issuer shall ensure that, in respect of any relevant period, the liability service coverage ratio for such relevant period shall not be less than 1.1x. The liability service coverage ratio
means the ratio of FC cash flow to liability service;
 
FC cash flow means, with respect to any relevant period, the aggregate of: (a) a share of MVT and cess levied on petroleum products received by the issuer pursuant to KIIF Act; (b) any
other amount appropriated by the GoKe for the issuer's sole usage; (c) any other payments to the issuer other than proceeds from any financial indebtedness; and (d) the total amount of
cash and cash equivalent investments controlled by the issuer at the beginning of the relevant period, excluding any DSRA and sinking fund or any other debt servicing account of similar
intent; and
 
Liability service means, with respect to the relevant period, the aggregate of: (a) all scheduled payments (including balloon payments) on account of principal and interest and other
charges on all financial indebtedness, as applicable and (b) any payment made or required to be made to any debt service account under the terms of any agreement providing for any
financial indebtedness.
 
3) ADEQUACY OF CE STRUCTURE
 
1. Shortfall Guarantee from GoKe:  For the new and proposed bonds the GoKe takes the responsibility of replenishing the upfront FD and infusing funds to KIIFB for redeeming
bondholders in case of cross default in addition to the responsibilities as per the earlier transaction structure. The GoKe has extended a guarantee to fund DSRA and FD shortfall within
the specified timeline. Unlike in the earlier structure where a recourse to the corpus fund was made in instances such as a DSRA impairment/ in case of cross default, the current structure
takes a recourse to the GoKe to replenish the shortfall in DSRA, FD as well as infusing funds to meet any shortfall in redeeming NCDs to the bond holders in case of cross default. The
deed of guarantee would specifically provide obligation on the part of the GoKe to fund the shortfall in DSRA and FD when called upon by DT, as per the stipulated timeline. The structure
payment mechanism is provided in detail for new and proposed NCDs in the Any Other Information section below.
 
The GoKe has extended a guarantee to fund only DSRA shortfall within the specified timeline for the existing bonds. In the event of DSRA not getting fully reinstated by T+6 days, DT
would notify the state government about its intention for an invocation of the guarantee if the shortfall were not fully bridged by T+27 days. The deed of guarantee would specifically
provide obligation on the part of the GoKe to fund the shortfall in DSRA when called upon by DT, as per the above stipulated timeline. If the guarantee obligations are not met by the GoKe
within 30 days of guarantee invocation, it would be construed as an event of default, as per terms of the transaction. Ind-Ra, in its analysis, has stressed the GoKe’s credit profile by
considering a sizeable portion of the guarantee to devolve. As per Ind-Ra's analysis, the guarantor, even in the stress scenario, is likely to meet all the guaranteed debt obligations.
 
2. State Government Guarantee:  The guarantee is unconditional and irrevocable and is a continuing obligation. The guarantee will remain in force and effect until the NCDs are fully
redeemed.
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Ind-Ra, in its analysis, has stressed the GoKe’s credit profile by considering a sizeable portion of the guarantee to devolve. As per Ind-Ra's analysis, the guarantor, even in the stress
scenario, is likely to meet all the guaranteed debt obligations.
 

Disclosures for Provisional Rating
1)     RATING THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN ASSIGNED IN ABSENCE OF THE PENDING STEPS/ DOCUMENTATION

 Ind-Ra would have assigned 'IND A-'/Stable in the absence of the pending steps/documentation.

 2)     PENDING STEPS/ DOCUMENTATION CONSIDERED WHILE AFFIRMING PROVISIONAL RATING AND RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROVISIONAL NATURE OF THE
CREDIT RATING:
 

S.no. Pending Critical Documentation while Affirming
Provisional Rating*

Risks Associated with Provisional Nature of Credit Rating in  the Absence of Completed
Documentation or Change in Documentation

1 Final term sheet In the absence of executed documents or the final executed documents deviating from the draft documents
submitted at the time of provisional rating, the transaction structure would be weak.2 Deed of hypothecation

3 Debenture trust deed
4 Deed of guarantee
5 Accounts agreement
6 Creation of DSRA and fixed deposit Non-creation of DSRA and FD would increase the vulnerability to cashflow mismatches and the risk of

timely debt servicing.
   *Additionally, any other relevant documents executed for the transaction should be provided to the agency. 
 
3)     VALIDITY PERIOD
The final rating, upon the receipt of executed documents consistent with the draft documents, shall be assigned within 90 days from the date of issuance of the instrument. The provisional
rating may be extended by another 90 days, subject to Ind-Ra’s policy, if the execution of the documents is pending.
 

Any Other Information
For New and Proposed Bonds

Interest/principal payment mechanism
T - Interest/Principal payment date

Day  
T-7 DT shall independently monitor the amounts required for servicing of the bonds (principal and/or interest as the case may be) in KIIFB’s BSA III 7 days prior to the relevant

servicing date (T-7).
T-7 DT should independently monitor the adequacy of availability of such fund in KIIFB’s BSA III seven days prior to the relevant servicing date (T-7), and in case of any

inadequacy, fund the same through liquidation of FD to the extent of such shortfall.
T-5 However, if due to any reason, it is not possible to fully fund KIIFB’s BSA III by T-5th day, DT should advise KIIFB to immediately bridge the shortfall, under intimation to the

GoK.
T-3 In the event of shortfall persisting on T-3rd day, DT would transfer the requisite funds from the DSRA III to bridge the gap.
T-2 This event of DSRA impairment should be immediately notified to the GoKe by DT on the next day.
T Interest/principal payment is done

 
Remedial Action Consequential to Impairment of Upfront FD

Day  
T-6 In case of any impairment of upfront FD on T-7 to meet the servicing obligation on any payout date (T) resulting in the amount available in the upfront FD less than the

stipulated amount for the next quarter, DT shall give a notice to KIIFB on T-6 days to fully replenish such shortfall within the next five days i.e. T-1.

T+1 DT shall check the amount in the upfront FD on due date -T and notice is issued on T+1st day in the event of any shortfall, DT shall notify KIIFB to fund the shortfall within
five days (T+6).

T+7 DT shall check the amount available in the upfront FD on T+7th day and in the event of any shortfall, DT shall notify the GoKe of its intention for invocation of the government
guarantee to the extent of such shortfall if the same is not fully bridged within 21 days (T+27).

 T+28 If the irregularity continues beyond the above timeline, DT shall invoke the guarantee from the GoKe on the next day (T + 28) to the extent of such shortfall in the upfront FD
from the stipulated level.

T+58 The deed of guarantee would specifically provide obligation on the part of the state government to replenish the upfront FD when called upon by DT, as per the above
stipulated timeline. If the guaranteed obligations are not met by the state government within 30 days of guarantee invocation, it would be construed as an event of default.

   
Remedial Action Consequential to Impairment of DSRA

Day  
T+1 In case of any impairment of DSRA to meet the servicing obligation on any payout date (T) resulting in the amount available in DSRA less than the stipulated amount, DT

shall give a reminder notice to KIIFB on T+1 days to fully replenish such shortfall within the next five days.
T+7 DT shall check the amount available in DSRA on T+7th day and in the event of any impairment still persisting, DT shall notify the GoKe of its intention for invocation of the

government guarantee to the extent of such impairment/shortfall if the same is not fully bridged within the 21 days (T+27).
T+28 If the irregularity continues beyond the above timeline, DT shall invoke the state government guarantee on the next day (T + 28) to the extent of such shortfall in DSRA III

from the stipulated level.
T+58 The deed of guarantee would specifically provide obligation on the part of the state government to fund the shortfall in DSRA III when called upon by DT, as per the above

stipulated timeline. If the guaranteed obligations are not met by the state government within 30 days of guaranteed invocation, it would be construed as an event of default.

 

ESG Issues
ESG Factors Minimally Relevant to Rating: Unless otherwise disclosed in this section, the ESG issues are credit neutral or have only a minimal credit impact on KIIFB, due to either
their nature or the way in which they are being managed by the entity. For more information on Ind-Ra’s ESG Relevance Disclosures, please click here. For answers to frequently asked
questions regarding ESG Relevance Disclosures and their impact on ratings, please click here.

About the Company
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KIIFB, a body corporate created by the Kerala Infrastructure Investment Fund Act 1999 (Act 4 of 2000), came into existence on 11 November 1999 as the principal funding arm of the
GoKe. The main objective of KIIFB is to provide investments for critical and large infrastructure projects in the state. Later, comprehensive modifications to the Act have been made
through the KIIF (Amendment) Act, 2016. With the expanded scope and structure, KIIFB dynamically mobilises funds for the infrastructure development of Kerala. This also includes major
land acquisition needs for infrastructure development. KIIFB resorts to the advanced financial instruments approved by the SEBI and the Reserve Bank of India to ensure the development
of sustainable infrastructure in Kerala.

Key Financial Indicators
Particulars (INR billion) - KIIFB FY24 FY23
Total income 56.29 53.34
EBITDA 8.73 5.75
EBITDA margins (%) 15.51 10.77
Debt/EBITDA(x) 20.49 24.92
Adjusted interest service coverage (x)* 6.58 5.45
*Adjusted ISCR is calculated basis cash ISCR (including liquidity buffers such as cash and bank balances and investments).
Source: KIIFB, Ind-Ra

 

Particulars (as % of GSDP) - GoKe FY24RE FY25BE
Revenue balance -2.10 -2.10
Fiscal balance -3.40 -3.40
Total debt 34.30 34.20
Source: GoKe FY25 Budget, Ind-Ra

 

Status of Non-Cooperation with previous rating agency
Not applicable
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Complexity Level of the Instruments
Instrument Type Complexity Indicator

Non-convertible debenture Moderate

Note: The complexity indicator has been assigned as moderate because of the  pre-default guarantee agreement executed between the GoKe and KIIFB.

For details on the complexity level of the instruments, please visit https://www.indiaratings.co.in/complexity- indicators.

 

Annexure
Instrument ISIN Date of Issuance Coupon Rate (%) Maturity Date Size of Issue (million) Rating/Outlook

Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08037 3 July 2023 8.49 2 July 2027 INR428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08011 3 July 2023 8.49 3 July 2028 INR428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08045 3 July 2023 8.49 3 July 2029 INR428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08029 3 July 2023 8.49 3 July 2030 INR428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08052 3 July 2023 8.49 3 July 2031 INR428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08078 3 July 2023 8.49 2 July 2032 INR428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures * INE658F08060 3 July 2023 8.49 4 July 2033 INR428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures INE658F08086 22 December 2023 8.95 22 December 2027 INR2,142.80 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures INE658F08128 22 December 2023 8.95 22 December 2028 INR2,142.80 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures INE658F08110 22 December 2023 8.95 21 December 2029 INR2,142.80 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures INE658F08102 22 December 2023 8.95 20 December 2030 INR2,142.80 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures INE658F08094 22 December 2023 8.95 22 December 2031 INR2,142.80 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures INE658F08144 22 December 2023 8.95 22 December 2032 INR2,142.80 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures INE658F08136 22 December 2023 8.95 22 December 2033 INR2,142.80 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures$ INE658F08151 26 March 2024 9.10 26 March 2028 INR1,214.20 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures$ INE658F08177 26 March 2024 9.10 26 March 2029 INR1,214.20 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures$ INE658F08201 26 March 2024 9.10 26 March 2030 INR1,214.20 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures$ INE658F08193 26 March 2024 9.10 26 March 2031 INR1,214.20 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures$ INE658F08185 26 March 2024 9.10 26 March 2032 INR1,214.20 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures$ INE658F08169 26 March 2024 9.10 26 March 2033 INR1,214.20 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures$ INE658F08219 26 March 2024 9.10 26 March 2034 INR1,214.20 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures# INE658F08227 8 October 2024 9.49 8 October 2028 INR1,428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures# INE658F08235 8 October 2024 9.49 8 October 2029 INR1,428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures# INE658F08284 8 October 2024 9.49 8 October 2030 INR1,428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures# INE658F08276 8 October 2024 9.49 8 October 2031 INR1,428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures# INE658F08268 8 October 2024 9.49 8 October 2032 INR1,428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures# INE658F08250 8 October 2024 9.49 8 October 2033 INR1,428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable
Non-convertible debentures# INE658F08243 8 October 2024 9.49 8 October 2034 INR1,428.60 IND AA(CE)/Stable

Total         INR36,499.40  
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*NCDs are green bonds. As per NSDL records, the issue size of each green bond is INR1,428.5 million, which is on the basis of issue size of INR10,000.0 million. However, KIIFB has raised INR3,000.2 million (seven strips of INR428.6
million). KIIFB has taken up this matter with NSDL.
$NCDs amounting to INR2,382.8 million broken into seven sub-series of INR340.40 million were allotted on 23 April 2024 with temporary ISIN and merged with existing ISIN having issuance date of 26 March 2024.
# NCDs amounting to INR1,498.70 million broken into seven sub-series of INR214.10 million were allotted on 30 October 2024 with temporary ISIN and merged with existing ISIN having issuance date of 08 October 2024.
Source: KIIFB, NSDL
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KERATA INFRASTRUCTURE INYESTMENT FUND BOARD
(A Stalulory Body uwler Fintnte l)epartment, Golernment ol Kerala)

Finance and Administration Division
websitr: ww.kii r.rirg

De&4n4, ilz /ataz

KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND

Circular Resolution No.6/2024
Dated12.07.2024

BOARD

Issuance of Domestic Bonds.

The 48s General Body of KIIFB authorized the Chief Executive Officer to raise up to

Rs 10,000 Cr for the period till March 2025 for project payments and for ensuring a

suffi cient liquidity buffer.

It is essenhal for KIIFB to have diversified borrowing mix (of term loans from banks,

financial institutions and domestic bonds), so that KIIFB is able to avail funding when

required. Accordingly, it is proposed to establish a Domestic Bond program for

availing financing of Rs 3000 Cr (in one or more tranches) through the debt capital

markets in F\ 2024-25 with a robust transaction structure which could ensure a

competitive pricing for the following end-use:

(a) providing financing to infrastructure projects in the State of Kerala as approved

by KIIFB's board of members including but not limited to for acquisition of

immoveable assets for setting up such infrastructure proiects;

(b) repayment of any financial indebtedness availed by KIIFB; and

(c) any other objectives of KIIFB pursuant to the KIIF Act, 1999 (as amended).

KIIFB with the current transaction structure (which includes an undertaking with

regard to Corpus Fund) has successfully raised funds amounting to INR 2649.92 Cr

through the issuance of domestic bonds and accordingly has fully exhausted the limit

in terms of funds that could be availed by issuing bonds on the current transaction

structure (the upper limit was 80% of Corpus Fund balance maintained in Treasury

2'd Il00r, Ieli(ity Square, M.G.ftoad, Stalue Thiruvananthapuram - 69500[
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Deposit Account. Current Balance is Rs 3327.02 Cr).

KIIFB's existing structure (which is rated " AA " by both India Ratings & Research

Pvt Ltd and Acuite Ratings Pvt Ltd) was devised with assistance from transaction

advisors, i.e., AK Capital and Trust investment advisors, which are among the Top

10 SEBI registered Merchant Banks as per League Table (Prime Database) for FY 2022-

?3.

Accordingly, to revise the transaction structure for the Domestic Bond Program for

FY 2024-25 ar.d for availing other advisory services in this regard, KIIFB management

had appointed both AK Capital and Trust investment advisors as the transaction

advisors on a pro bono basis.

On the basis of discussions with Transaction Advisors, a draft term sheet indicating

the broad terms and the transaction structure of the proposed generic domestic bond

is enclosed as Annexure- A for Board's kind perusal and approval.

Once the proposal is approved, KIIFB management shall

. appoint the rating agencies and initiate the rating exercise for the domestic bond

program

. commence other documentation work such as preparation of information

memorandum, other bond documents et al.

. initiate the hiring of relevant third parties/ intermediaries to the issue

including Legal Counsel, Account Bank, RTA, Trustee, et al.

Once the provisional rating is in place, KIIFB management shall initiate the

appointment of arrangers to the issue through a competitive process as was done

during the earlier bond issuances.

It is proposed to engage both India Ratings & Research and Acuite Ratings &

Research as rating agencies, State Barrk of India as the account bank, Trilegal as the
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Legal Counsel, M/S Catalyst Trusteeship Ltd as the Trustee and M/S Cameo

Corporate Serwices Ltd as the Registrar for the proposed Domestic Bond Program. It

may kindly be noted that except State Bank oflndia (new account bank proposed in

place of Bank of Baroda), all other third parties indicated above were associated with

KIIFB for the domestic bonds issued earlier.

It may be noted that the indicative pricing of the Generic Bond will be known closer

to the issuance date based on inputs from the market participants and conditions

prevailing in the financial markets. Further, to ensure price discovery of the coupon

and arrangers fee, KIIFB shall adopt the same competitive process as was followed

in case of the recent Domestic Bond Issuance.

Resolution of the Board

1. The Board approved the issuance of unsecured, rated, listed, redeemable,

taxable, non-convertible bonds in the nature of debentures in one or multiple

tranches, comprising seven sub-series of a face value of INR 1,00,000/- (lndian

Rupees One Lakh only) each, up to INR 3000 Crores.

The Board approved the term sheet for the proposed domestic bonds.

The Board authorized the Chief Executive Officer to engage all required market

intermediaries like Rating agencies, Trustee, Legal Counsel, RTA, et al for the

proposed Domestic Bonds.

The Board ratified the appointment of AK Capital Services Ltd and Trust

Investment Advisors Pvt Ltd as the transaction advisors on pro bono basis.

The Board approved the admission of the Debentures in the depository system

of Cenhal Depository Services (India) Limited ('CDSL") and/or National

Securities Depository Limited ("NSDL", collectively, "Depository") for

issuance of Domestic Bonds in dematerialized form.

The Board approved that the Domestic Bonds shall be secured by security

interest created by the Board on inter alia identified escrow accounts viz, KIIFB

bond servicing account, debt service reserve account, upfront fixed deposit and

2.

3.

4.

5.
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permitted investments therefrom and guaranteed by a guarantee issued by the

Government of Kerala for the benefit of holders of the Domestic Bonds.

7. The Board approved opening of the escrow account(s) viz., KIIFB bond

servicing account and debt service reserve account required in connection with

the Domestic Bonds and to appoint State Bank of India, as the account bank

(the "Account Bank") for operation of the escrow account(s) and to make

payment of mutually agreed remuneration to the Account Bank.

8. The Board approved listing of the Domestic Bonds with BSE Limited and

approved the payment of fees for the issuance and listing of the Domestic

Bonds.

9. The Board authorized CEO to appoint any other intermediaries, for the

proposed issuance of the Domestic Bonds.

10. The Board approved the appointment of the compliance officer, KIIFB as a

compliance officer for compliance related to regulatory/statu tory issues and

for redressal of any pre-issue/post-issue investor problems/ grievances such

as non-credit of letters of allotment / bond certificates in the demat account,

non-receipt of refund orders, interest warrants, etc, for the proposed issuance

of the Domestic Bonds;

11. The Board authorized jointly and severally, the Chief Executive Officer or the

Joint Fund Manager (in the absence of Chief Executive Officer) to:

(a) negotiate, finalize, execute, make amendments, sign and submit all

necessary papers, certificates, affidavits, declarations, memorandum of

understanding, undertakings and all necessary transaction documents

(including but not limited to an information memorandum, debenture trust

deed, accounts agreement, debenfure trustee agreement, deed of

hypothecation and other undertakings in respect of the Domestic Bonds

including with the relevant intermediaries;

(b) draw-up, finalize and sign on behalf of the Board the financial

statements/disclosure document/information memorandum/offer

document and other documents for the bond issue and file the same with

Securities and Exchange Board of India and/or BSE Limited as may be

required;
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(c) enter into any agreements with Depository and Registrar and Transfer

Agent for the dematerialization of Debentures;

(d) obtain prior approvals, consents and authorisations from relevant third

parties and other governmental authorities including the stock exchanges,

the Securities and Exchange Board of India and undertaking any acts

required in connection with the procedure of electronjc book mechanism

for issuance of the Domestic Bonds;

(e) sign, file ald submit the necessary forms with other relevant governmental

au thorities and in termed iaries;

(1) do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as may be required and to sign

all such papers and documents as may be necessary to implement the

decision and/or as may be required from the Board in respect of the

Domestic Bonds and/are as are incidental thereto;

(g) puy stamp duty as per the applicable laws including statutes and

regulations; and;

(h) to provide a certified true copy of these resolutions to any person who

may rely upon it and be requested to act thereupon.

Signature of authorized person:

12. The Board authorized the Investment Management Committee to:

(a) approve any changes in the transaction documents including the terms and

conditions of the Domestic Bonds;

Name of the Authorized

Signatory

Dr. K M Abraham

Shri. Reji lohn
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(b) Approve any changes to the RFP for the selection of merchant bankers.

(c) finalize and approve the final coupon / interest rate of the proposed

Domestic Bonds;

(d) approve the fees to be paid to the arrangers

(e) approve the allotment of the Domestic Bonds (or any part thereo0; and

(f) take all other actions as may be required pursuant to the foregoing and to

do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as may be required in respect of

the Domestic Bonds.

tt t
'u;: -

Dr.KM.Abraham, CFA
Chief Executive Officer
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SCHEDULE IV 
 

DUE DILIGENCE CERTIFICATE FROM THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE 

(Attached separately) 
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CL/24-25/12410                                                                                                            (Annexure IIA) 
 

DUE DILIGENCE CERTIFICATE TO BE GIVEN BY THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE AT THE TIME OF FILING THE 
DRAFT OFFER DOCUMENT/ INFORMATION MEMORANDUM 

 
[In reference to Chapter II, Clause 2.2.4 of SEBI Master Circular for Debenture Trustees dated May 16, 2024] 

 
To, 
The Manager, 
BSE Limited 
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 
Dalal Street,  
Mumbai- 400001. 
 
Dear Sir / Madam, 
 

 
SUB:   ISSUE OF  UNSECURED, RATED, REDEEMABLE, TAXABLE, LISTED NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

(“DEBENTURES”) BY WAY OF ISSUANCE, COMPRISING SEVEN STRPPs 'A' THROUGH 'G' OF FACE 
VALUE OF INR 1,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES ONE LAKH ONLY) EACH (“FACE VALUE”) WITH EACH 
BOND AGGREGATING TO A VALUE OF INR 7,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES SEVEN LAKH ONLY), FOR 
AMOUNTS OF UP TO INR 500,01,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES FIVE HUNDRED CRORES AND ONE LAKH 
ONLY), WITH A GREEN-SHOE OPTION TO RETAIN OVERSUBSCRIPTION OF UP TO INR 
1499,96,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES ONE THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED AND NINETY NINE CRORES 
AND NINETY SIX LAKHS ONLY), BY KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND BOARD 
(“ISSUER”) AND COUPON OF 9.42% PER ANNUM PAYABLE QUARTERLY FOR A TENOR OF 
APPROXIMATELY 4 - 10 YEARS, AT PAR AGGREGATING TO TOTAL ISSUE SIZE NOT EXCEEDING INR 
1999,97,00,000 (INDIAN RUPEES ONE THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED AND NINETY NINE CRORES 
AND NINETY SEVEN LAKHS ONLY) BY WAY OF PRIVATE PLACEMENT BY KERALA INFRASTRUCTURE 
INVESTMENT FUND BOARD (“ISSUER”). 

  
We, the debenture trustee(s) to the above-mentioned forthcoming issue state as follows:  
 
1) We have examined documents pertaining to the said issue and other such relevant documents, 

reports and certifications.  

 

2) On the basis of such examination and of the discussions with the Issuer, its directors and other 

officers, other agencies and on independent verification of the various relevant documents, reports 

and certifications:  

We confirm that:  
 

a) The Issuer has made adequate provisions for and/or has taken steps to provide for adequate 

security for the debt securities to be issued and listed. – Not Applicable. 

 

b) The Issuer has obtained the permissions / consents necessary for creating security on the said 

property(ies). – Not Applicable. 
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c) The Issuer has made all the relevant disclosures about the security and its continued obligations 

towards the holders of debt securities. – Not Applicable. 

 

d) Issuer has adequately disclosed all consents/ permissions required for creation of further charge 

on assets in offer document / information memorandum and all disclosures made in the offer 

document / information memorandum with respect to creation of security are in confirmation 

with the clauses of debenture trustee agreement. – Not Applicable. 

 
e) Issuer has given an undertaking that charge shall be created in favour of debenture trustee as per 

terms of issue before filing of listing application. – Not Applicable. 

 

f) Issuer has disclosed all covenants proposed to be included in debenture trust deed (including any 

side letter, accelerated payment clause etc.), offer document / placement memorandum. 

 
We have satisfied ourselves about the ability of the Issuer to service the debt securities. 

 
 

Place:  Mumbai 
Date:   December 24, 2024 
              For Catalyst Trusteeship Limited 
 

 
 

                                                                                                                               
                                                                                                                                  Ms. Kalyani Pandey  
                                                                                                                                  Compliance Officer 
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SCHEDULE V 
 

IN-PRINCIPLE APPROVAL FROM THE STOCK EXCHNAGE 

(Attached separately) 
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SCHEDULE VI 
 

CONSENT LETTER OF REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT 

(Attached separately) 
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‘Subramanian Building', No.1, Club House Road, Chennai-600 002.  
Phone: 2846 0390 (5 lines), E-mail:cameo@cameoindia.com 

CIN: U67120TN1998PLC041613 
 

 

 
 

CAMEO CORPORATE SERVICES LIMITED 
 
 

Ref: CAM/DIR/KIIFB/Debentures/2024-25                                13th Dec, 2024 

 

 

                                   TO WHOMSOEVER IT MAY CONCERN 
 

We understand that our client Kerala Infrastructure Investment 
Fund Board had appointed us as Registrar and Transfer Agent for their 
proposed issue of Domestic Bonds to the extent of Rs.2000 Cr.  

We have no objection for the company including our name as Registrar and 
Transfer Agents in the information Memorandum. 
 
 
 
 
 

Yours faithfully, 
For Cameo Corporate Services Ltd 
 
 
 
Sreepriya.K 
EVP & Company Secretary  
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SCHEDULE VII 
 

GUARANTEE ORDERS 

(Attached separately) 
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SCHEDULE VIII 
 

PEER REVIEWED CERTIFICATE OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR(S) 

(Attached separately) 
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